Chemistry of Complex Equilibria MT.BECK-I.NAGYPÁL

AKADÉMIAI KIADÓ, BUDAPEST







Chemistry of Complex Equilibria



Chemistry of Complex Equilibria

M. T. Beck Ph. D., D. Sc.

Member of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences Professor of Physical Chemistry Kossuth Lajos University Debrecen, Hungary

I. Nagypál Ph. D., D. Sc.

Professor of Physical Chemistry József Attila University Szeged, Hungary



Akadémiai Kiadó · Budapest 1990

507761

This book is the enlarged and completely revised version of "Chemistry of Complex Equilibria" (M. T. Beck) published by Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest and Van Nostrand Reinhold Company Ltd., London

Translated by **D. A. Durham, Ph. D.**

MAGYAR TUDOMÁNYOS AKADÉMIA KÖNYVTÁRA

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced by any means, or transmitted or translated into machine language without the written permission of the copyright owners.

ISBN 963 05 5234 5

© M. T. Beck-I. Nagypál 1990

© English translation D. A. Durham 1990

Joint edition published by Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest and Ellis Horwood Limited Publishers, Chichester

Printed in Hungary by Akadémiai Kiadó és Nyomda Vállalat, Budapest

4	A service of a service service and the service service and the service of the service service service and the service of the service servi
1	W TIM AVADENDA USANA
1	THE TOWN PROPERTY AND RUNYVIARA
2	Convubitér 101 - 100 9
Ą	Commenter and a state of the Anna I want and I Bread Our a fill I
1	Contrasted by the second second a process store about the second second and the second se

Contents

Preface to Preface to	o the first edition o the second edition	ix xi
Chapter 1	Introduction References	1 6
Chapter 2	Complex equilibria and equilibrium constants	7
2.1	Types of complex equilibria in solution	7
2.2	Types of complex equilibrium constants	11
2.3	Equilibrium constants involving concentrations and activities	14
2.4	The concept of microconstants	20
2.5	The lower and upper limits of stability constants	22
	References	24
Chapter :	3 General characterization of complex equilibrium systems	25
3.1	Introduction	25
3.2	Definitions, basic equations	27
3.3	Transformation of the composition matrix	31
3.4	Description of interactions of components	34
3.4.1	One-component systems	34
3.4.1.1	Dimerization of one component	36
3.4.1.2	Di- and trimerization of one component	37
3.4.1.3	Polymerization of one component	39
3.4.2	Two- and multicomponent systems	41
3.5	The complex formation function	44
3.5.1	The formation function for stepwise association	44
3.5.1.1	Definitions, basic equations	44
3.5.1.2	Statistical considerations	48
3.5.1.3	Characteristic points of the formation curve	54
3.5.1.3.1	Half-value points of the formation curve	54
3.5.1.3.2	Integer points of the formation curve	58
3.5.2	Formation function of polynuclear complexes	59
3.6	Rules of concentration distribution in complex equilibrium systems	61
361	Introduction	01

0				4			1.1
(0	a t	٦	т	е	n	IS
0	~		ж		~	**	10

362	Two component systems	61
3621	Concentration distribution during stenwise complex formation	61
2622	Concentration distribution ultring stepwise complex formation	70
3.0.2.2	Concentration distribution when polynuclear complexes are formed	70
3.0.3	Infee-component systems	74
3.0.4	Unusual concentration distribution in three-component systems	/8
3.0.4.1	Classification of three-component systems	19
3.6.4.1.1	The number of two-component subsystems	79
3.6.4.1.2	Additivity of subsystems	80
3.6.4.1.3	Symmetry and asymmetry	80
3.6.4.2	Mathematical considerations	81
3.6.4.3	Further analysis of rules of unusual concentration distribution	85
3.6.4.3.1	Stoichiometric asymmetry in mixed ligand equilibrium systems	85
3.6.4.3.2	Stoichiometric asymmetry due to polynuclear complex formation	87
3.6.4.3.3	General asymmetry of the H-L-Me systems	89
3.6.4.3.4	I hermodynamic asymmetry	98
3.6.4.3.5	Model system with five extrema	101
3.6.4.4	Algorithm of the analysis of concentration distribution	102
3.6.4.5	Conclusions	103
	References	103
Chapter	4 Experimental methods	106
4.1	Measurement of colligative properties	107
4.2	Optical methods	109
4.2.1	Photometric study of two-component systems	110
4.2.1.1	The continuous variation method	112
4.2.1.2	The mole ratio methods	118
4.2.1.3	The method of corresponding solutions	121
4.2.1.4	The method of stoichiometric dilution	123
4.2.1.5	Photometric study of ligand protonation	124
4.2.2	Photometric study of systems with three or more components	126
4.2.2.1	Photometric study of mixed complexes of non-protonating ligands	126
4.2.2.2	Study of the Me-L interaction in three-component equilibrium systems	120
	H–L–Me	132
4.2.2.2.1	Measurements at constant pH	132
4.2.2.2.2	Photometric measurements as a function of pH	134
4.2.2.3	Competition methods	136
4.3	NMR and ESR methods	141
4.3.1	Equilibrium measurements relating to slow exchange	142
4.3.2	Equilibrium measurements relating to fast exchange	142
4.3.3	Simultaneous determination of equilibrium and kinetic constants	14/
4.4	Calorimetry	153
4.5	Determination of equilibrium constants via kinetic measurements	150
4.5.1	Stoichiometric (uncatalysed) reactions	159
4.5.2	Catalytic reactions	160
4.5.2.1	Ligand catalysis	162
4.5.2.2	Metal ion and complex catalysis	162
		163

	Contents	VII
4523	Central atom exchange reactions	165
46	Extraction methods	166
461	Partition of the ligand	167
462	Partition of the metal complexes	168
463	Competitive extraction	170
4.6.4	Synergism and antagonism	174
4.6.5	Specific problems of extraction equilibrium studies	178
4.7	Solubility studies	181
4.7.1	Study of two-component systems	186
4.7.2	Competition solubility studies	187
4.8 -	Study of ion-exchange equilibria	188
4.8.1	Application of cation-exchangers	189
4.8.2	Application of anion-exchangers	190
4.9	Potentiometry	192
4.9.1	pH-metric equilibrium studies	194
4.9.1.1	Calibration of the electrode system	195
4.9.1.2	Planning of pH-metric measurements	197
4.9.1.2.1	Determination of protonation constants	198
4.9.1.2.2	pH-metric study of formation equilibria of metal complexes	200
4.9.2	Application of metal and ion-selective electrodes	213
4.9.3	Measurements with two electrodes	219
4.10	Polarography	220
4.11	Other methods	223
	References	226
Chapter	5 Evaluation of experimental data	243
5.1	Determination of compositions of complexes formed	244
5.1.1	Experimental considerations	244
5.1.2	Applications of auxiliary functions	245
5.1.2.1	Application of the formation function	246
5.1.2.2	Application of other auxiliary functions	254
5.1.3	Direct methods	260
5.2	Computer evaluation of equilibrium measurement data	263
5.2.1	Historical survey	264
5.2.2	Evaluation methods based on auxiliary functions	265
5.2.3	Calculation of equilibrium concentrations	267
5.2.3.1	Calculation of equilibrium concentrations when the stability constants	
	are known	267
5.2.3.2	Calculation of the equilibrium concentrations when the equilibrium	2.5
	model is unknown	270
5.2.4	Calculation of formation constants	273
5.2.4.1	Selection of the function to be minimized	274
5.2.4.2	Checking and evaluation of the goodness of fitting	276
5.2.4.3	Estimation of errors in constants	279
5.2.5	Determination of microconstants	280
	References	282

VIII

Contents

Chapter	6 Factors determining the compositions and stabilities of	
	metal complexes	287
6.1	Solvation and complex formation	288
6.2	The hydration numbers of ions and the stabilities of aqua complexes	294
6.3	Water as a component of complex formation equilibria	298
6.4	Classification of metal complexes on the basis of composition	303
6.5	The chelate effect and the macrocyclic effect	300
6.6	Factors determining the ratios of the equilibrium constants	315
6.6.1	Statistical considerations	316
6.6.2	The statistical considerations in practice	321
6.6.3	Specific factors influencing the ratios of the constants	326
6.6.3.1	Structural changes	320
6.6.3.2	Interaction between coordinated ligands	320
6.7	Factors determining the values of stability constants	222
6.7.1	Critical evaluation of stability constants	224
6.7.2	Effects of external factors on the values of stability constants	225
6.7.2.1	Roles of ionic strength and the ionic medium	333
6.7.2.2	Effect of temperature	333
6.7.2.3	Effect of pressure	341
6.7.3	Connection between equilibrium constants and parameters describe	344
	the properties of the central ion and the ligand	245
6.7.3.1	Connection between metal ion properties and complex agailibring	345
	constants	
6.7.3.1.1	Effect of ionic radius	346
6.7.3.1.2	Effect of ionization potential and electronegativity	346
6.7.3.1.3	Effect of electronic configuration of metal ion	346
6.7.3.2	Connection between donor atom properties and servel	348
	constants	14117
6.7.3.3	Interpretation of formation constants with the head and d	351
6.8	Correlations of equilibrium constants via the hard-soft theory	351
6.8.1	Paradoxes in correlations	354
6.8.2	Correlation between protonation constants of light in the	355
	structures and the formation constants of their same t	
6.8.3	Correlation between stability constants of energy	357
01010	with ligands with similar structures	
684	Correlation between formation constants of the literation	360
0.0.1	structures with different metal ison	
685	Other correlations	362
69	Equilibrium conditions of outer ach	363
610	Equilibrium conditions of outer sphere complexes	364
0.10	References	366
	Activitiences	368
Chapter 7	7 Prospects	377
	Reference	379
Appendix		
		380
Index		305

Preface to the first edition

During the last two decades an enormous amount of information concerning complex equilibria has been published. Many experimental methods have been devised to obtain quantitative data on complex formation, and calculation methods have been developed for the evaluation of stability constants from such data. In addition, thousands of important papers, and some excellent reviews and books have appeared. The most comprehensive of these books is The Determination of Stability Constants by F. J. C. Rossotti and H. Rossotti, a fundamental mathematical treatment of most aspects of complex equilibria in solution, with which I in no way intend to compete here. I feel, however, that perhaps none of these publications gives a sufficiently broad and realistic account of complex equilibria, the chemistry often remaining hidden behind the algebraic equations. One fact in particular has not been adequately pointed out, viz. that the formation of mononuclear complexes with one kind of ligand only, a problem considered in most of the papers, occurs only under fairly artificial conditions. In fact, the only complex equilibrium which does not involve species other than mononuclear complexes with a completely homogeneous co-ordination sphere is the formation of a co-ordinatively saturated complex in a single step. In the present treatment, therefore, a much stronger emphasis is laid on mixed ligand, protonated, polynuclear and outer sphere type complexes, which are treated in some detail. These species are still frequently regarded as somewhat exotic, but their existence must be taken into consideration in general.

This book is based on a Hungarian version originally published in 1965, but has been completely rewritten and the literature intended to be covered up to 1968.

I should like to express my gratitude to *Professor P. Huhn* for many discussions, to *Professor J. Bjerrum* for his critical comments on a considerable part of the manuscript, to *Professor J. Rydberg* for an unpublished figure, to *Dr. R. A. Chalmers* and *Dr. D. A. Durham* for improving the English text and to *Mrs. E. K. Kállay-Tóth* for her careful editorial work.

My thanks are due to many Publishing Houses and many authors for their permission to reproduce previously published figures. Acknowledgement of the source is given under the appropriate figures.

I am much obliged to all those authors who have kindly provided me with reprints and preprints of their papers.

Debrecen, March, 1969

Mihály T. Beck

Perface to the second edition

The first edition of this book is out of print for many years. Since progress in this field is still continuous, and in the meantime no other book was published to provide a balanced treatment of the theoretical and practical aspects of complex equilibria, we have decided to prepare a new edition.

Based on the results published in the past two decades it has become possible to give a unified treatment of all types of complex equilibria and, as a result of the computational revolution, it was necessary to change some parts of the former book fundamentally. Based on a long scientific cooperation and considering that our knowledge and interest in this vast field are complementary, we have decided to prepare this new version jointly.

The structure of the first edition has been essentially retained, but the polynuclear, mixed ligand, protonated and outer sphere complexes are not treated in separate chapters. Twenty years ago it was necessary to lay particular emphasis upon these species, since at that time they were regarded as curiosities and not as the most common ingredients of solutions. In the meantime, the ubiquitous nature of these species have been generally recognized, and as the same experimental and computational methods can be applied for any type of complexes, we deem that separate treatment is no longer justified.

We are much obliged to Professors Kálmán Burger and David R. Williams for their valuable comments, to Dr. David Durham for the translation, and to Mrs. E.K. Kállay-Tóth for her superb editorial work. Technical assistance by Mrs. Katalin Bíró and Mrs. Ágnes Juhász is gratefully acknowledged.

Our thanks are due to a number of publishers and authors for their permission to reproduce previously published figures. Acknowledgements of the sources are given under the appropriate figures.

We are greatly obliged to all the colleagues who provided us with reprints and preprints of their papers.

Mihály T. Beck and István Nagypál



Chapter 1 Introduction

The tremendous development in inorganic chemistry following the Second World War surprised even those working in this field. The main factor involved in this upswing was undoubtedly the wide-ranging research relating to coordination chemistry*.

The foundations of complex chemistry were laid primarily by Alfred Werner. His work was mainly preparative in nature, though his conductivity studies too made a significant contribution to the application of physical chemical methods in complex chemical research. His investigations of isomerism in complex compounds shed light on the structure of such substances.

Werner dealt almost exclusively with inert** complexes; in the course of his work, therefore, equilibrium problems did not arise at all, or at most gave rise only to minor difficulties. The event most strongly connected with the sudden impetus in the chemistry of complex equilibria was the publication in 1941 of the thesis of Jannik Bjerrum [3].

Bjerrum provided a general method of determination of the stability constants of metal-ammine complexes. Complex formation and dissociation equilibrium constants had been determined earlier too. As concerns the history of science, it would be extremely interesting to establish why we had to wait so long for

* The treatment of coordination chemistry as part of inorganic chemistry is not an exact reflection of the actual situation. The vast majority of coordination compounds contain organic ligands, and a sharp boundary cannot be drawn between complex compounds and organometallic compounds either. Investigative methods based on the various physical chemical principles are particularly important in the study of complex equilibria. Similarly to quantum chemistry, therefore, coordination chemistry is a branch of science tending to integrate the whole of chemistry [1].

** The expression inert serves to characterize the kinetic behaviour of the complexes; it is not to be confused with the stability, which is a thermodynamic concept [2]. The everyday meaning of inert is that the kinetic properties of the complex in question can be studied by means of the classical methods.

Introduction

a solution to this problem, even though the conditions were already given for a quantitative treatment of complex equilibria.

The problem of complex equilibria is naturally inseparable from that of the structure of electrolyte solutions. Preconditions for the treatment of complex equilibria included recognition of the principle of electrolytic dissociation and the law of mass action. Nevertheless, even before these were known, results were found which showed that the formation of some form of 'complex'* must be considered in solutions of certain metal salts. The discovery by Hittorf [5] is certainly the most important of these. The transport numbers he defined are concentration-dependent and may also be negative. In more modern terminology, this means that, under given conditions, a negatively charged complex is formed from the positive metal ion on the action of anions, by charge overcompensation, the complex migrating to the anode on electrolysis.

Ostwald [6] combined the Arrhenius theory of electrolytic dissociation with the law of mass action, and calculated the dissociation constants of various weak acids from the results of conductivity measurements. The existence of complex ions could be deduced from distribution experiments [7], solubility behaviour [8] and kinetic properties too.

Some of these early studies even provided data on the stability of complex ions. The formation of a complex ion MeL_n is expressed by the following equation

$$Me + nL \rightleftharpoons MeL_n$$
.

Applying the law of mass action to this

$$K_n = \frac{[\mathrm{MeL}_n]}{[\mathrm{Me}][\mathrm{L}]^n} \cdot$$

Of course, in a solution containing the central ion Me and the ligand L, not only one specific complex, but a whole series of complexes may exist, their compositions being given in general by Me_aL_r .

It is obvious that the usual chemical methods do not permit us to determine all of the large number of constituents in a given equilibrium solution, and thus the corresponding equilibrium constants cannot be calculated directly either. In light of this, in the early work Bodländer and his school [9] in particular strived to determine the composition of the complex predominating under the given conditions. For this, Bodländer [10] gave a method based on potentiometric measurements. The essence of this method is that the free metal ion concentration is calculated from the EMF of an appropriately constructed concentration cell. If the law of mass action is applied to the dissociation of

* The history of the introduction of the expression "complex" is discussed by Szabadváry and Beck [4].

Introduction

Me_aL_r

$$K = \frac{[\mathrm{Me}]^{q}[\mathrm{L}]^{r}}{[\mathrm{Me}_{q}\mathrm{L}_{r}]} \cdot$$

For two solutions with different concentrations, therefore

$[Me]_1^q$		$[Me_qL_r]_1$	$[L]_2'$	
[Me] ⁹ / ₂	-	$[Me_aL_r]_2$	[L]'1	

Let the ligand be present in large excess in both cases, i.e. let us take a high ligand concentration and a very low central ion concentration. Then

Accordingly

$$\begin{bmatrix} L \end{bmatrix}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} L \end{bmatrix}_2$$
$$\frac{[Me]_1^q}{[Me]_2^q} = \frac{[Me_qL_r]_1}{[Me_qL_r]_2} \cdot$$

The EMF of the concentration cell is

$$E = \frac{RT}{nF} \log \frac{[\text{Me}]_1^q}{[\text{Me}]_2^q} = \frac{RT}{nF} \log \frac{[\text{Me}_q L_r]_1}{[\text{Me}_q L_r]_2}.$$

Since $[Me_qL_r] = qT_{Me}$, i.e. the high ligand excess means that practically the total amount of the central ion is present in complex form, the value of q can be calculated; the value of r/q may be determined through variation of the ligand concentration at constant T_{Me} .

Naturally, with this method no information is obtained at all on the composition and stability of the complexes present in solution under different conditions.

It was first pointed out by Jaques [11], in the appendix to a book that appeared in 1914, that the stability constants of the various complexes can in principle be calculated from electrode potential measurements. The total concentration of the central ion is clearly the sum of the concentrations of the free ion and its different complex ions

$$T_{Me} = [Me] + [MeL] + \ldots + [MeL_N]$$

where N is the maximum number of ligands that can bind to the central ion. Utilizing the equations expressing the dissociation of the complex MeL_n

$$T_{Me} = [Me]_{1} \left(1 + \frac{[L]_{1}}{K_{1}} + \frac{[L]_{1}^{2}}{K_{1}K_{2}} + \dots + \frac{[L]_{1}^{N}}{K_{1}K_{2}\dots K_{N}} \right)$$
$$T_{Me} = [Me]_{2} \left(1 + \frac{[L]_{2}}{K_{1}} + \frac{[L]_{2}^{2}}{K_{1}K_{2}} + \dots + \frac{[L]_{2}^{N}}{K_{1}K_{2}\dots K_{N}} \right)$$
$$\vdots$$
$$T_{Me} = [Me]_{N} \left(1 + \frac{[L]_{N}}{K_{1}} + \frac{[L]_{N}^{2}}{K_{1}K_{2}} + \dots + \frac{[L]_{N}^{N}}{K_{1}K_{2}\dots K_{N}} \right)$$

Thus, to be able to calculate N unknown constants, it is sufficient to determine the free central ion concentration at N different ligand concentrations. Jaques was aware of the difficulties of the procedure, which are primarily due to the fact that the free ligand concentration is not known; the measurements must therefore be carried out at a high ligand excess, in order that the quantity of ligand bound in the complexes be negligibly small. However, the principle was not applied until the 1940's. Jaques' name did not reappear after 1914. His book was published immediately before the outbreak of the First World War, which may explain why it did not arouse as much interest as it deserved. The stepwise formation of aluminium chloro complexes was observed by Heyrovsky [12] while following the hydrolysis of aluminium chloride potentiometrically. The fact that a whole series of complexes must indeed be considered in the event of stepwise complex formation was first demonstrated with absolute certainty by the experiments of Niels Bjerrum [13]. Bjerrum investigated the thiocyanato complexes of chromium(III). As chromium(III) complexes generally, the thiocyanates are formed and decompose in slow reactions, i.e. they belong in the inert group. If suitable procedures are used, this permits removal of the individual constituents from an equilibrium solution, without any change occurring in the equilibrium concentrations of the other constituents during the time of the experiment. In this exceptional case, therefore, a possibility emerged for direct calculation of the stepwise equilibrium constants from the concentrations of the constituents.

The fundamentally important result from Bjerrum's research was the unambiguous proof of stepwise complex formation. He dealt only briefly with a mathematical description of the equilibrium correlations; since "to him it was quite obvious, that once one knows what the law of mass action is and knows the formation constants for the various complexes, it is a matter of simple algebra to calculate the concentration of each complex in any solution, and it would be a waste of paper, and an insult to the reader to give any detail of the calculations" [14]. After the First World War, however, studies relating to electrolyte solutions were directed primarily to clarification of the activity problem. Here too, Niels Bjerrum took the pioneering steps [15]. These investigations soon led to imposing results, and the success of the Debye-Hückel theory [16] quite overshadowed [17] the study of complex equilibria; it was considered that the latter need be taken into account only exceptionally, and that deviations from the laws for solutions could be interpreted not through the chemical equilibria described by the law of mass action, but in terms of the long-range interactions between the ions. In 1928, however, it was pointed out by McBain and Van Rysselberghe [18] that the primary object of studies on solutions was to determine the natures and concentrations of the ionic species present.

Introduction

Thus, relatively little quantitative work was reported in the period between the two wars. The most important publications were those of Jannik Bjerrum [19] on copper(II)-ammine complexes, and of Møller [20] on iron(III)-thiocyanate complexes, but even to these there was almost no response.

The discovery of the glass electrode facilitated the measurement of pH substantially, and this gave Jannik Bjerrum the idea of studying complex equilibria pH-metrically [3]. In the same year as Bjerrum's thesis, Leden [21] described a method, based on the measurement of electrode potentials, for determination of the stability constants of halogeno complexes of cadmium(II); this essentially solved the problem raised by Jaques. The significance of the work of Jannik Bjerrum is illustrated by the extremely rare situation that his doctoral thesis was published in a second edition, in 1957.

Following the publications by Jannik Bjerrum and Leden, developments took place at a rate virtually unparalleled in the history of inorganic chemistry. This is at once obvious if the small number of quantitative equilibrium data determined prior to 1941 is compared with the still exponentially growing mass of data relating to a huge number of systems, to be found in the thick volumes of Stability Constants. In this revival of coordination chemistry the discovery of new elements, the preparation of a host of compounds of new types, and, perhaps to the greatest extent, the new and very high demands on analytical chemistry have played an important role. The results achieved during studies on the chemistry of complex equilibria were used productively to develop other fields of coordination chemistry too. This led in turn to important discoveries concerning the structures of complexes, the rates of their reactions, and their reactivities. The present status of coordination chemistry is best illustrated by the dual meaning of coordination. First, coordination refers to the structural arrangement of the atoms in a compound, and it also reflects the connections between the various branches of chemistry. In this latter respect, the role of coordination chemistry is important, indeed.

Finally, it may be mentioned that the chemistry of simultaneous equilibria developed in fact in three independent ways. Practically in parallel with the already outlined development in stepwise complex equilibria, a method was elaborated for treatment of the equilibria of multicomponent gas reactions [22, 23]; mathematically, this is essentially equivalent to the description of simultaneous complex equilibria. As concerns both the mathematical treatment and a number of chemical aspects, work on successive complex equilibria is closely related to studies on the complex equilibria of biopolymers [24].

This three-pronged advance had the obvious consequence that numerous important and mutually valuable results were attained independently of one another. This is yet a further example of the fact that progress in science does not always follow the most economical route.

References

- 1. Nyholm, R. S., J. Chem. Educ., 34, 166 (1957).
- 2. Taube, H., Chem. Rev., 50, 69 (1950).
- 3. Bjerrum, J., Metal-Ammine Formation in Aqueous Solution, Haase, Copenhagen, 1941. 4. Szabadváry, F. and Beck, M. T., Chelates in Analytical Chemistry. (Eds.: Barnard,
- A. J. and Flaschka, H. M.), Dekker, New York, Vol. 1, p. 1, 1967.
- 5. Hittorf, J. H., Pogg. Ann., 89, 177 (1853).
- 6. Ostwald, W., Z. phys. Chem. 2, 36 (1888).
- 7. Dawson, H. M. and McCrae, J., J. Chem. Soc., 77, 1239 (1900).
- 8. Bodländer, G., Z. phys. Chem., 9, 770 (1882).
- 9. Bodländer, G. and Eberlein, W., Ber., 36, 3945 (1903).
- 10. Bodländer, G., Festschrift zum 70. Geburtstag von R. Dedekind, Brunswick, 1901.
- 11. Jaques, A., Complex Ions in Aqueous Solutions. Longmans, London, 1914.
- 12. Heyrovsky, J., J. Chem. Soc., 97, 27 (1920).
- 13. Bjerrum, N., Kgl. Danske Videnskab. Selskab. Naturvidenskab. math. Afdel., (7) 12, 147 (1915).
- 14. Sillén, L. G., in *Essays in Coordination Chemistry*. (Eds.: Schneider, W., Anderegg, G. and Gut, R.), Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, p. 24, 1964.
- 15. Bjerrum, N., Fys. Tidsskr., 15, 59 (1916).
- 16. Debye, P. and Hückel, E., Phys. Z., 24, 185, 305 (1923).
- 17. Sillén, L. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 8, 176 (1958).
- 18. McBain, J. W. and Van Rysselberghe, P. J., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 50, 3009 (1928).
- Bjerrum, J., Kgl. Danske Videnskab. Selskab. Mat.-fys. Medd., 11, No. 5 (1931); 11, No. 10 (1932); 12, No. 15 (1934).
- 20. Møller, M., Studies on Aqueous Solutions of the Iron Thiocyanates, Dana Bogtrykkeri, Copenhagen, 1937.
- 21. Leden, I., Z. phys. Chem., A188, 160 (1941).
- 22. Klein, M., Practical Treatment of Coupled Gas Equilibria, Physical Chemistry (Ed.: Jost, W.), Academic Press, New York, London, Vol. 1, p. 489, 1971.
- 23. Smith, W. R., Ind. Eng. Chem. Fundam., 19, 1 (1980).
- 24. Poland, D., Cooperative Equilibria in Physical Biochemistry. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1978.

Chapter 2

Complex equilibria and equilibrium constants

In the following chapters the different aspects of the chemistry of complex equilibria will be dealt with in detail. It seems appropriate to give first of all a survey of complex equilibria and to treat some fundamental concepts in connection with equilibrium constants.

2.1. Types of complex equilibria in solution

Considering the charge and the size of the metal ions it is obvious that in solution they cannot exist 'freely', but that they are associated with the counter ion(s) or other components of the solution having non-bonding electron pair(s). The term *ligand** refers to any anion or neutral molecules which can be co-ordinated to a metal ion. In nearly all cases the donor property of the solvent itself is considerable. If so, the solvated metal ions are well defined chemical species: *solvo complexes*. If the solvent is water, *aquo complexes* are formed. The number of directly coordinated water molecules is usually equal to the *maximum coordination number* N.

If the solution also contains another ligand, the stepwise substitution of the ligand molecules for the co-ordinated water molecules occurs. If this second ligand is also a neutral molecule, the charge of the successive complexes is the same as that of the central ion. For example, increasing the concentration of ammonia in the solution of cobalt(II) perchlorate causes the following reactions to take place

$$C_0(H_2O)_6^{2+} + NH_3 \rightleftharpoons C_0(H_2O)_5 NH_3^{2+} + H_2O$$
 (2.1)

$$Co(H_2O)_5NH_3^{2+} + NH_3 \rightleftharpoons Co(H_2O)_4(NH_3)_2^{2+} + H_2O$$
 (2.2)

$$C_0(H_2O)(NH_3)_5^{2+} + NH_3 \Longrightarrow C_0(NH_3)_6^{2+} + H_2O.$$
 (2.3)

* For the origin and dissemination of the term see Ref. [1].

2*

The intermediate species $Co(H_2O)_n(NH_3)_{(6-n)}^{2+}$ where n=1, 2, 3, 4, 5, are in fact mixed ligand complexes. However, as will be pointed out later, in dilute solutions the coordination of the solvent molecules need not be considered, so this type of complex is regarded as a mononuclear binary complex and the water molecules are omitted from the formulae. Nevertheless, we have to bear in mind that it means a simplification which cannot always be applied: the coordination of the solvent molecule has always to be considered in the case of inert complexes, but only under certain conditions in the case of labile complexes. It may be mentioned that it is not necessarily true that the binding of one unidentate (see later for definition) ligand results in the displacement of one solvent molecule. For brevity the mononuclear binary complexes may be termed parent complexes; all types of complexes can be derived from these species.

If the ligand is an anion, then during stepwise complex formation the positive charge of the metal ion is gradually neutralized, and it often happens that an overcompensation of the charge of the central ion occurs and complex anions are formed

$$Al^{3+} + F^{-} \rightleftharpoons AlF^{2+}$$
(2.4)

$$AIF^{2+} + F^{-} \rightleftharpoons AIF_{2}^{+}$$
(2.5)

$$AlF_5^{2-} + F^- \rightleftharpoons AlF_6^{3-}. \tag{2.6}$$

If the ligand has more than one atom or group with donor properties (*multidentate ligands*), complexes of cyclic structure may be formed. This kind of complex was termed by Morgan and Drew [2] a *chelate* ($\chi\eta\lambda\eta$ = crab's claw). (Originally the term was used for the ring itself *chelate ring*, but soon also to describe the entire structure [*metal chelate* or simply *chelate*]; nowadays it is even used as a verb.) The chelate-forming ligands may be either anions, as for example oxalate, or neutral molecules, e.g. ethylene diamine or may contain both ionic and neutral donor groups as in the case of glycine. Naturally the number of different chelating agents is extremely large, and day by day dozens of new compounds are prepared.

In the case of multidentate ligands the maximum number of ligands which may be co-ordinated is evidently smaller than the maximum co-ordination number. If the number of donor groups is big enough and their steric arrangement is suitable, very stable complexes with 1:1 metal: ligand ratio may be formed.

The successive complex formation is quite analogous to the stepwise protonation of the ligands

$$OOC-COO^- + H^+ \rightleftharpoons HOOC-COO^-$$
 (2.7)

$$HOOC-COO^{-} + H^{+} \rightleftharpoons HOOC-COOH.$$
(2.8)

From this fact two important conclusions must be drawn.

(1) The mathematical treatment of the acid-base equilibria is the same as that of the successive complex equilibria.

(2) There is a competition between protons and metal ions for the ligand.

In the case of a few ligands the conjugate acids are so strong (e.g., HCl, HBr, HI) that this competition can be disregarded. In general, however, the dissociation of the conjugate acids of the ligands is of fundamental importance in the treatment of complex equilibria.

The protonation of a co-ordinated ligand does not necessarily mean the breaking of the bond between the metal ion and the ligand. Thus there is a possibility for the formation of *protonated complexes*. For example, the protonation of the complexes of multidentate ligands may take place according to the following reaction



Protonation of complexes of unidentate ligands may also occur. For example, the protonation of hydroxo complexes results in the formation of aquo complexes, because of the donor property of the water — the conjugate acid of the hydroxide ion

$$Fe(H_2O)_5OH^{2+} + H^+ \rightleftharpoons Fe(H_2O)_6^{3+}$$
. (2.10)

It follows from this reaction that the aquo complexes (aquo cations) are weak acids. The aquo cations, however, are much stronger acids than the water itself. This increasing acidity is the result of the repulsion between the central ion and the protons of the co-ordinated water.

The donor capacity of the ligand is frequently not exhausted by being co-ordinated to a certain metal ion. Thus, there is a possibility of it forming a co-ordinative bond with another metal ion. The ligand acts as a *bridge* between the two central ions. The complexes having more than one central ion are termed *polynuclear complexes*. (In the most recent literature the term *multicentre* is sometimes used, to avoid the confusion between the atomic nucleus and the central ion of the complex.) Both unidentate and multidentate ligands may

9

(2.9)

serve as bridges in polynuclear complexes

$$H$$

$$I$$

$$ZnOH^{+} + Zn^{2+} \rightleftharpoons [ZnOZn]^{3+}$$
(2.11)

$$NH_2 - CH_2 - CH_2 - NH_2Ag^+ + Ag^+ \rightleftharpoons [AgNH_2 - CH_2 - CH_2 - NH_2Ag]^{2+}.$$
(2.12)

In naming these polynuclear complexes the Greek letter μ is written before the bridging ligand.

The polynuclear complexes may be *homo-* or *heteropolynuclear* depending on whether the metal centres are the same or different.

Association between a co-ordinatively saturated complex and a ligand may also occur

$$Co(NH_3)_6^{3+} + Cl^- \rightleftharpoons Co(NH_3)_6 Cl^{2+}$$
 (2.13)

$$Co(en)_{3}^{3+} + S_2O_{3}^{2-} \rightleftharpoons Co(en)_3S_2O_{3}^{+}$$
. (2.14)

These species are the *outer sphere complexes*. Their formation also takes place in a stepwise manner.

Besides all these formation reactions the so-called substitution reactions are very frequent and important. In the case of a *ligand substitution reaction* the displacement of one coordinated ligand by another occurs

$$HgCl_4^2 + 4I^- \rightleftharpoons HgI_4^4 + 4Cl^-. \tag{2.15}$$

(As was pointed out, even the simple formation reactions mean the displacement of the coordinated solvent molecules.) The central ion may also be displaced by another suitable metal ion

$$CdI^{+} + Hg^{2+} \rightleftharpoons HgI^{+} + Cd^{2+}.$$
(2.16)

As appears from this brief summary, in a solution of several metal ions and ligands a fairly large number of different species may exist*. As the physical, chemical and biological properties of a given solution are determined by the nature and the quantity of the different constituents, the fundamental importance of reliable methods to establish the composition and the concentration of these species is obvious. The quantitative treatment of these equilibria is based on the law of mass action.

* Even more equilibria have to be considered if two (or more) phases are involved. This is the case when the ligand is volatile, or one of the complexes forms a solid phase, or ion-exchange resins are applied, or in the case of liquid-liquid distributions. These more complicated systems will be treated in detail in the subsequent chapters.

2.2 Types of complex equilibrium constants

The law of mass action strictly determines the concentration relations of the reactants and products in every reversible chemical reaction. The numerical value of the equilibrium constants depends on the concentration scale applied. Let us regard the simplest complex formation reaction*

$$Me + L = MeL. \qquad (2.17)$$

According to the law of mass action

$$K = \frac{[MeL]}{[Me][L]}.$$
 (2.18)

The dimensions of the equilibrium constant (K) are therefore the reciprocal of those of the concentration. In complex equilibrium studies the most frequently used concentration scale is the molarity (moles of solute per 1000 ml of solution); sometimes, however, the molality scale (moles of solute per 1000 g of solvent) and the dimensionless mole-fraction scale is also used. In the case of dilute solutions ($<10^{-1}$ M) the difference between the molarity and molality is negligible; in more concentrated solutions molarity (M) can be simply obtained from molality (m) by using the relationship

$$M = \frac{1000 \ dm}{1000 + m \cdot w} \tag{2.19}$$

where d is the density of the solution and w is the molecular weight of the particular solute. For fairly dilute solutions the mole-fraction of a certain solute can be simply converted into molarity by multiplying the mole-fraction (x) by the molarity of the pure solvent (M_s)

$$M = M_s x . (2.20)$$

In dilute aqueous solutions M = 55.51 x.

The interconversion of the equilibrium constants based on different concentration scales can be made accordingly, taking into account the resultant power to which the concentration is raised.

The stepwise formation of parent complexes can be described by the following set of equilibrium constants

$$K_1 = \frac{[Me]}{[Me][L]}$$
(2.21)

* Me is the metal ion, L is the ligand, charges are omitted, and [X] is the concentration of X.

2 Complex equilibria and equilibrium constants

$$K_2 = \frac{[MeL_2]}{[MeL][L]}$$
(2.22)

$$K_N = \frac{[\mathrm{MeL}_N]}{[\mathrm{MeL}_{N-1}][\mathrm{L}]}.$$
(2.23)

These equilibrium constants characterize the stability of the complexes and are usually called *stability constants*. Sometimes, especially in the older literature, the reciprocal values of these constants are used and these are called instability constants. The products of the individual stability constants also give characteristic constants, called overall or cumulative formation constants or stability products, usually denoted by

$$\beta_1 = K_1 = \frac{[MeL]}{[Me][L]}$$
(2.24)

$$\beta_2 = K_1 K_2 = \frac{[MeL_2]}{[Me][L]^2}$$
 (2.25)

$$\beta_N = K_1 K_2 \dots K_N = \frac{[\operatorname{MeL}_N]}{[\operatorname{Me}][L]^N}.$$
(2.26)

In general $\beta_n = \prod_{i=1}^n K_i$.

Unfortunately, there is no unified symbolism in connection with even these simplest complex equilibrium constants. Instead of K, k or b is also frequently used and the stability product is sometimes denoted by K or κ . Although to the present authors it seems to be more logical to use K and κ for the stability constant and product, respectively, it is proposed to use the symbols recommended by the IUPAC Commission on Equilibrium Data [3]. The meaning of the subscripts and superscripts may differ from author to author and it is always very important to define the symbols used.

For reactions in which the metal ion reacts with the protonated ligand

$$MeL_{n-1} + HL \rightleftharpoons MeL_n + H^+$$
 (2.27)

or

$$Me + nHL \rightleftharpoons MeL_n + nH^+$$
 (2.28)

it is sometimes practical to use the following constants

$${}^{*}K_{n} = \frac{[MeL_{n}][H^{+}]}{[MeL_{n-1}][HL]}$$
(2.29)

2.2 Types of complex equilibrium constants

and

$$*\beta_n = \frac{[MeL_n][H^+]^n}{[Me][HL]^n}.$$
 (2.30)

These constants are composite ones, K_n being the product of the stability constant and the acidity constant (see later)

$$*K_n = K_n \cdot K_a \tag{2.31}$$

$$^*\beta_n = \beta_n \cdot K_a^n \,. \tag{2.32}$$

The equilibrium constant of the ligand substitution reaction

$$MeL + X \rightleftharpoons MeX + L \tag{2.33}$$

is evidently the ratio of the corresponding stability constants

$$K = \frac{[\text{MeX}][\text{L}]}{[\text{MeL}][\text{X}]} = \frac{K_{\text{MeX}}}{K_{\text{MeL}}}.$$
(2.34)

Analogously, the equilibrium constant of the central ion exchange reaction

$$MeL + M \rightleftharpoons ML + Me$$
 (2.35)

is the ratio of the stability constants of the complexes in question

$$K = \frac{[\text{ML}][\text{Me}]}{[\text{MeL}][\text{M}]} = \frac{K_{\text{ML}}}{K_{\text{MeL}}}.$$
(2.36)

Just as complex equilibria can be characterized by stability and instability constants, the acid-base equilibria of the ligands can be treated by *protonation* and *acidity constants*, respectively. The *acidity constant* $(K_{a,n})$ is the equilibrium constant for the splitting off the *n*th proton from a charged or uncharged acid, to be defined. The *protonation constant* $(K_{H,n})$ is the equilibrium constant for the *n*th proton to a charged or uncharged ligand, to be defined. The following equations define these constants and show their interrelation

$$K_{a,1} = \frac{[H_{Z-1}L][H]}{[H_Z L]} = \frac{1}{K_{H,Z}}$$
(2.37)

$$K_{a,2} = \frac{[H_{Z-2}L][H]}{[H_{Z-1}L]} = \frac{1}{K_{H,Z-1}}$$
(2.38)

$$K_{a,Z+1-n} = \frac{[H_{n-1}L][H]}{[H_nL]} = \frac{1}{K_{H,n}}$$
(2.39)

2 Complex equilibria and equilibrium constants

$$K_{a,Z} = \frac{[L][H]}{[HL]} = \frac{1}{K_{H,1}}.$$
(2.40)

The value of Z, the number of dissociable protons, is not free from some ambiguity. For example, tartaric acid has two carboxyl and two alcoholic hydroxyl groups. These latter groups are such weak acids that their acidic character is usually not considered. In complex formation reactions, however, they play an important role, so it is not permitted to disregard these equilibria. The following abbreviations are variously used for the tartrate ion as ligand and for its conjugate acid

$$T^{2-}, T^{4-}, H_2T, H_2T^{2-}, H_4T$$
.

The interrelation between the acidity and protonation constant depends on the value of Z. If tartaric acid is defined as H_4T , the relations are as follows

$$K_{a,1} = \frac{1}{K_{H,4}}; \quad K_{a,2} = \frac{1}{K_{H,3}}; \quad K_{a,3} = \frac{1}{K_{H,2}}; \quad K_{a,4} = \frac{1}{K_{H,1}}.$$
 (2.41)

However, if tartaric acid is defined as H2T, the following relations are valid

$$K_{a,1} = \frac{1}{K_{\rm H,2}}; \quad K_{a,2} = \frac{1}{K_{\rm H,1}}.$$
 (2.42)

To avoid confusion it is imperative to define the formula of the ligand and its conjugate acid unambiguously.

2.3. Equilibrium constants involving concentrations and activities

The law of mass action is strictly valid only when activities are used instead of concentrations. Because the activity of a species is equal to the product of its concentration and its activity coefficient, there is a simple relationship between the stoichiometric equilibrium constants (involving concentrations) and the thermodynamic equilibrium constants (involving activites), K_n°

$$K_{n}^{\circ} = \frac{\{\text{MeL}_{n}\}}{\{\text{MeL}_{n-1}\}\{L\}} = K_{n} \frac{f_{\text{MeL}_{n}}}{f_{\text{MeL}_{n-1}} \cdot f_{L}}$$
(2.43)

where the activities are written in $\{ \}$ brackets, and f denotes an activity coefficient. The activity of a particular solute approaches the concentration as the system approaches a certain limiting state chosen arbitrarily. In the case of the standard activity scale this limiting state is the pure solvent. Thermodynamically, equally well defined and useful activity scales can be obtained by choosing a mixed solvent or a solution of a salt as the limiting state. Of course,

14

only equilibrium constants referring to the same activity scale can be directly compared.

The different experimental methods provide information on either concentration or activities. In general it can be said that electrochemical methods give activities, while optical methods give concentrations. In the evaluation of the results the conversion between activities and concentrations has to be carried out by means of the activity coefficients. Sometimes it is useful to apply mixed equilibrium constants, which were first recommended by Brønsted. In this case the concentration of one of the species is replaced by its activity. This species is most frequently the proton because its activity can be directly obtained from potentiometric pH determination.

It is evident that the calculation of thermodynamic equilibrium constants requires either the knowledge of the activity coefficients or at least that they should be kept constant. If the constancy of the activity coefficients, or more correctly the constancy of their combination written in Eq. (2.43), is secured, K_n° is proportional to K_n .

Thermodynamic equilibrium constants referring to the standard activity scale can be obtained by (1) studying very dilute solutions (total electrolyte concentrations less than 10^{-3} M) in which the combinations of the activity coefficients are practically equal to unity; (2) studying fairly dilute solutions where the activity coefficients can be obtained theoretically or semiempirically; (3) determining the equilibrium constants at different ionic strengths and then extrapolating to infinite dilution.

The applicability of the first method is evidently limited to the investigation of very stable complexes. The basis of the second and third methods is the Lewis-Randall principle [4] according to which in dilute solutions the activity coefficient of a given solute is the same in all solutions of the same ionic strength. The ionic strength is defined by the equation

$$I = \frac{1}{2} \sum c_i z_i^2$$
 (2.44)

(where c_i is the concentration and z_i the charge of the *i*th species). This principle was later theoretically corroborated by the Debye-Hückel theory. If the concentration of the complexes in the system is not negligible in comparison with the concentration of the inert electrolyte, the change of the ionic strength due to complex formation has to be considered. This change may be quite large. For example, in a 0.1 *M* solution of cadmium chloride the ionic strength calculated by assuming total dissociation is 0.3, whereas if complex formation is taken into account the value is only 0.11.

When the value of K_n° is obtained by extrapolation of a series of K_n values determined at different ionic strengths, the problem arises as to which function of the ionic strength should be used in the extrapolation, that is, are the log K_n

values to be plotted against I, $I^{1/2}$ or $I^{1/3}$ etc*. The deviation of the values of K_n° obtained by different extrapolation methods may amount to several hundred per cent [5]!

The validity of the original and of the different extended forms of the Debye-Hückel equation is fairly limited. The most frequently applied formulae are summarized in Table 2.1. High ligand concentrations must be used when

Equation	Range of validity	Author	Ref.
$-\log f_{\pm} = A Z_+ Z \sqrt{I}$	$< 10^{-3} M$	Debye and Hückel	[6] [†]
$-\log f_{\pm} = A Z_+Z \frac{\sqrt{I}}{1 + Ba \sqrt{I}}$	<10 ⁻² M	Debye and Hückel	[6]§
$-\log f_{\pm} = A Z_{+}Z_{-} \frac{\sqrt{I}}{1 + B_{a}^{*} \sqrt{I}} + B'I$	up to a few molar	Hückel	[8]‡
$-\log f_{\pm} = A Z_{+}Z_{-} \frac{\sqrt{I}}{1 + \sqrt{I}}$	< 0.1	Güntelberg	[9]
$-\log f_{\pm} = A Z_{+}Z_{-} \frac{\sqrt{I}}{1 + \sqrt{I}} + B'I$	< 0.5	Guggenheim	[10] [‡]
$-\log f_{\pm} = A Z_{+}Z_{-} \left(\frac{\sqrt{I}}{1+\sqrt{I}} - 0.2 I\right)$	< 0.2	Davies	[11, 12]
$-\log f_{\pm} = A Z_{+}Z_{-} \frac{\sqrt{I}}{1 + 1.5\sqrt{I}}$	< 0.2	Scatchard	[13]
$-\log f_{\pm} = A Z_{+}Z_{-} \frac{\sqrt{I}}{1 + \sqrt{I}} + B'I + C'I^{3/2}$	< 0.2	Datta and Grzybowski	[14]‡

Table 2.1 Equations	for the	e calculation	of	mean	activity	coefficients*
---------------------	---------	---------------	----	------	----------	---------------

* f_{\pm} is the geometric mean of the thermodynamically indeterminate individual ionic activity coefficients.

[†] A is a constant. $A = (2N\pi e^{6})^{1/2}/2.3026 (10k \varepsilon T)^{3/2}$ where N is Avogadro's number. For aqueous solutions at 25 °C, A = 0.509.

[§] B is a constant. $B = 50.3 (\varepsilon T)^{-1/2}$. For aqueous solutions at 25 °C B = 0.328. å an adjustable parameter, and represents the mean effective diameter of the hydrated ions in Ångström units. The value of å was estimated by Kielland [7] for 130 ions.

[‡] B' and C' are adjustable parameters. The values of B' and C' are different in the different equations.

* Evidently, in the case of uncharged ligands $\log K_n$ must be plotted against 1.

16

working with weak or moderately stable complexes and so reliable activity coefficients cannot be calculated. It is frequently necessary to work with a high concentration of an inert electrolyte present, i.e., to use another activity scale. Moreover, this is the only effective method for the majority of complex systems, and in principle, if the necessary precautions are taken, it is as sound theoretically as the study of dilute solutions where the standard activity is applied. The basis of the constant ionic medium method (first used by Bodländer) is Brønsted's principle of the constant ionic environment [15], which states that the activity coefficient of all solutes present as small fractions of the total electrolyte concentration. For the development and detailed analysis of the constant ionic medium method the fundamental paper by Biedermann and Sillén [16] should be consulted. The inert electrolyte has to meet the following requirements:

(1) it must be a strong electrolyte;

(2) its cation must not associate with the ligand and with the complex species;

(3) its anion must not associate with the central metal ion and with the complex species;

(4) redox reaction must not occur between the constituents of the inert electrolyte and the central ion or ligand;

(5) its solubility has to be large enough;

(6) its contribution to the measured physical or chemical property must be negligible.

Among the very few salts which satisfy these demands sodium perchlorate is most frequently used. According to experiments, up to 20% of the sodium perchlorate may be replaced by the salt (or the conjugate acid) of the ligand anion without considerable change in the activity coefficients, if the total electrolyte concentration is kept at 3 M. The potential oxidizing property of the perchlorate ion has always to be borne in mind. For a while it was thought that perchlorate is not co-ordinated by any metal ion at all. However, it was found that Fe(III) [17], Ce(III) [18], Hg(I) and Hg(II) [19], Nd(III) [20], La(III), Tl(I), Cd(II), Mg(II) and Mn(II) [21] form weak complexes with perchlorate ions. The interaction is, however, so small that even in the case of most of the metal ions mentioned above there is no appreciable complex formation in a 3 M sodium perchlorate solution. In the evaluation of results obtained with such concentrated solutions it must be reckoned that not only the sodium perchlorate present in high concentration is responsible for the observed effect, but also some of its impurities. In sodium perchlorate 'low in chloride', produced by BDH, the maximum amount of chloride is less than 0.002% [22]. This means, that in a 3 M sodium perchlorate solution the chloride ion concentration may amount to 2.4×10^{-4} M, and the concentration of sulphate may be much higher. These concentrations are not always negligible, especially considering

the increase of the stability of complexes in highly concentrated solutions, due to the much lower water activity [23].

Just as the study of dilute solutions cannot furnish data on the water content of the species, the constant ionic medium method cannot provide any information on the number of units of either constituent of the medium associated with the complex species [24, 25]. In equilibrium analysis the concentration of MeL_n is the sum of the concentrations of all the mononuclear species in which the ratio L: Me equals *n*. For example, the concentration of the copper(II) diammine complex in a sodium perchlorate medium is as follows

$$[Cu(NH_3)_2^{2+}] = \sum \sum \sum [Cu(NH_3)_3(H_2O)_x(Na^+)_y(ClO_4^-)_z^{2+y-z}]. \quad (2.45)$$

There are two immediate consequences of this situation: (1) the equilibrium constants (K_n) determined in different ionic media do not refer to the same chemical species MeL_n; (2) the relation of the different ligands and the corresponding conjugate acids, i.e., the distribution of the protons among the different constituents associated with the metal ion, is not exactly defined. For example, the quantity Hg(NH₃)₂²⁺ in the equilibrium analysis made in a constant concentration ammonium nitrate medium in fact includes the whole group of species Hg(NH₃)₂(H₂O)_x(NH₄⁺)_y(NO₃⁻)_z. By choosing z=0, and (x, y)=(2, -2), (1, -1) or (0, -1) one finds that such different species as Hg(OH)₂, HgNH₃OH⁺ and HgNH₂⁺ cannot be distinguished on the basis of a study performed in a single ionic medium [25, 26].



Fig. 2.1. The absorbance of Pu(VI) at 948 mµ as a function of nitrate concentration for several aqueous nitrate salt solutions.

Curve $1 - Ca(NO_3)_2$; Curve $2 - NaNO_3$; Curve $3 - NH_4NO_3$; Curve $4 - LiNO_3$; Curve $5 - Al(NO_3)_3$; Curve $6 - HNO_3$ [28] (Reproduced with permission from J. Phys. Chem., 65, 1099 (1961))

18





The complexes to be studied are sometimes so weak that is not possible to work with a constant ionic medium. In such cases the introduction of the *effective activity coefficient quotient* and the *effective stability constant* may be expedient [27]. The thermodynamic stability constant is the product of a concentration quotient (K_n) and of an activity coefficient quotient (F_n)

$$K_n^{\circ} = K_n F_n. \tag{2.46}$$

The effective activity coefficient (F'_n) is the product of the activity quotient and the mean ionic activity coefficient of the salt of the ligand (CL)

$$F'_n = F_n \cdot f_{\pm \text{CL}}. \tag{2.47}$$

Marcus [27], who developed the concept of the effective stability constant, suggested calculating F'_n by using Hückel's equation, and derived the following approximate equation

$$\log F'_{n} = -[2(n-m)-1] \frac{A\sqrt{C_{\rm CL}}}{1+B_{a}^{0}\sqrt{C_{\rm CL}}} + C_{\rm CL} \sum b_{i}z_{i}$$
(2.48)

where *m* is the charge on the metal ion, C_{CL} is the concentration of the ligand and *b* is the adjustable parameter of Hückel's equation. This method was successfully applied in a number of cases. Nevertheless, the chemical meaning of the constants obtained by this method is not clear and these constants may be regarded as apparent ones which allow description of the behaviour of a given system. However, if the counter ion of the ligand is varied, the same function cannot be applied to describe the system.

This is evident from Ryan's experiments [28] on the formation of nitrate complexes of plutonium(VI). In Fig. 2.1 the absorbance at 948 mµ is plotted against nitrate molarity. In Fig. 2.2 the absorbance at the same wavelength is plotted against the product of the nitrate molarity and the mean ionic activity coefficient. If the concept of effective stability constant were correct all the experimental points would be on the same curve, which is far from being the case.

2.4 The concept of microconstants

In many types of complex equilibria it is possible that chemically different species of the same composition are formed. The equilibrium analysis cannot distinguish between isomeric species and in such cases some of the equilibrium constants are, in fact, composite constants and their resolution into constants characterizing a single species requires always some extrathermodynamical data. There are many types of systems where the formation of isomeric species should be considered:

(1) the simultaneous formation of inner and outer sphere complexes;

(2) complex formation involving ambidentate ligands;

(3) complex formation involving ligands occurring as different conformers;

(4) the stepwise complex formation involving geometrical isomers;

(5) protonation of multidentate ligands;

(6) protonation of metal complexes.

Strictly speaking, the inner and outer sphere complexes $Me(H_2O)_5L$ and $Me(H_2O)_6L$ are not isomeric species, but since water is in high excess they cannot be distinguished by equilibrium analysis. Therefore the equilibrium constant K_1 is in fact the sum of the stability constants of the inner sphere and outer sphere species

$$K_1 = K_o + K_i.$$

If the isomerization reaction is considered between the two species

$$Me(H_2O)_6L_{(aq)} \rightleftharpoons Me(H_2O)_5L_{(aq)}$$

one can introduce the isomerization constant which is the ratio of the two stability constants

$$K_{i,o} = \frac{K_o}{K_i}$$
A system where $Me(H_2O)_6L$ and $Me(H_2O)_5L$ are simultaneously formed can be fully characterized by any pair of the four constants K_1 , K_o , K_i , $K_{i,o}$.

If an ambivalent ligand, e.g. CN⁻, forms a complex two different 1:1 species can be formed

In most cases the carbon complex is formed exclusively, but there are indications that in certain cases both species are present in comparable concentrations [29]. As in the former case, K_1 , is then the sum of the two corresponding microconstants.

When the ligand, e.g. β -alanine, exists in different conformers, the stability constants of the metal complexes are composite constants involving the corresponding microconstants. Some comparative studies with ligands of fixed conformation can give information which conformer is dominating, but so far no microconstants could be evaluated [30].

The simplest case of the formation of *cis* and *trans* isomers is provided by the stepwise formation of a series of square planar complexes.



This is a two component system consisting of five complex species and the complete equilibrium characterization requires five independent constants. K_c and K_t are the microconstants

$$K_c = \frac{[cis-MeL_2]}{[MeL][L]}; \quad K_t = \frac{[trans-MeL_2]}{[MeL][L]}$$

 K_2 , the constant obtained by the equilibrium analysis, is the sum of the two microconstants, while the relation between K_3 and the corresponding microconstants $K_{2,3}$ and $K_{1,3}$

$$K_{2,3} = \frac{[\text{MeL}_3]}{[\text{cis-MeL}_2][\text{L}]}; \quad K_{1,3} = \frac{[\text{MeL}_3]}{[\text{trans-MeL}_2][\text{L}]}$$

3 Beck-Nagypál

2 Complex equilibria and equilibrium constants

is as follows

$$\frac{1}{K_3} = \frac{1}{K_{2,3}} + \frac{1}{K_{1,3}}.$$

Introducing the isomerization constant, $K_{c,t}$

$$K_{c,t} = \frac{[cis-MeL_2]}{[trans-MeL_2]}$$

the following relations can be written

$$K_{c,t} = \frac{K_c}{K_t} = \frac{K_{1,3}}{K_{2,3}}$$
$$K_c = \frac{K_2 \cdot K_{c,t}}{1 + K_{c,t}}; \quad K_t = \frac{K_2}{1 + K_{c,t}}$$
$$K_{1,3} = K_3 (1 + K_{c,t}); \quad K_{2,3} = K_3 \left(1 + \frac{1}{K_{2,3}}\right)$$

For the complete description of the equilibria in the system the first four and any of the following five constants are necessary and sufficient

$$K_1, K_2, K_3, K_4, K_c, K_t, K_{1,3}, K_{2,3}, K_{c,t}$$

The problems concerning the microconstants of the protonation of multidentate ligands and of metal complexes will be discussed in Subchapters 5.2.5 and 6.8. It is already noted, however, that the formation of hydrogen bond formation decreases the number of chemically different species and consequently the number of independent equilibrium constants needed for the complete description of the systems. Noszál and Burger introduced in the case of multidentate ligands the concept of group constant [31], assuming that the only reason of the difference of the macroconstants referring to the same functional group is statistical. This assumption decreases the number of the equilibrium constants needed to describe the system and, in favourable cases, this approach permits the estimation of number of hydrogen bridges of the ligand.

2.5 The lower and upper limits of stability constants

The lower and upper limits of stability constants are important both conceptually and practically. From the definition of an equilibrium constant it follows only that its value is a positive number

 $0 < K < \infty$.

2.5 The lower and upper limits of stability constants

It is obvious, however, that the Gibbs energy change of any chemical reaction must be in the range of chemical energies and since the relation between ΔG and K

$$\Delta G = -RT \ln \mathbf{K},$$

the Gibbs energy of any complex formation reaction and the corresponding stability constant must be between two limiting values

$$-\Delta G_{\min}^{\circ} < -\Delta G^{\circ} < -\Delta G_{\max}^{\circ}$$
$$K_{\min} < K < K_{\max}.$$

For the limiting values of Gibbs energies and thus those of the stability constants one can make a reasonable assumption by considering, what was mentioned at the beginning, that any complex formations in fact are substitution reactions. In an aqueous solution coordinated water molecules are successively substituted by other ligands and the Gibbs energy change per substituted water molecule is given by the difference of the Gibbs energy of a given Me—OH₂ bond and that of a Me—L bond. An approximate value can be obtained by neglecting the entropy changes and considering the enthalpy changes only. By considering the available bond energies, for the minimum value $-\Delta G_{min} \sim 40$ kJ/mole/bond, while for the maximum value $-\Delta G_{max} \sim 150$ kJ/mole/bond are obtained and thus for the stability constants defined by Eq. (2.21) the limiting values of K_1 are as follows

$$K_{\rm min} \sim 10^{-8} - 10^{-9} M$$

 $K_{\rm max} \sim 10^{25} - 10^{26} M.$

The smallest experimentally determined stability constant has been determined by Swaddle and Guastalla [32]

$$K_1 = \frac{[\mathrm{Cr}(\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O})_5\mathrm{I}^{2+}]}{[\mathrm{Cr}(\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O})_6^{3+}][\mathrm{I}^{-}]} = 7 \times 10^{-5} M.$$

Some of the highest published values of K_1 referring to a single bond formation approach this upper limit.

Measured property	K_{\min}/M	$K_{\rm max}/M$
Colligative properties Absorbance	10	10 ⁴ 10 ⁶
EMF	1	1022

Table 2.2 The lower and upper limits of stability constants determined by different methods

It should be borne in mind, however, that different methods applied for the determination of stability constants usually impose much more severe limitations, as shown by Table 2.2.

References

These limiting values refer to labile complexes. In case of inert complexes extrathermodynamic data, e.g. molar absorbance of some species, are independently available. In such cases stability constants of much less stable complexes can be reliably determined. This is the case with the extreme small stability constant of the monoiodochromium(III) complex.

References

- Brock, W. H., Jensen, K. A., Jørgensen, C. K. and Kauffman, G. B., J. Coord. Chem., 11, 261 (1982); Brock, W. H., Jensen, K. A., Jørgensen, C. K. and Kauffman, G. B., Ambix, 28, 171 (1981).
- 2. Morgan, T. and Drew, H. D. K., J. Chem. Soc., 117, 1456 (1920).
- 3. IUPAC Information Bulletin No. 26., P. 25, (August 1966).
- 4. Lewis, G. N. and Randall, M., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 43, 1140 (1921).
- 5. Aditya, S., Nanda, R. K. and Das, R. C., Z. physik. Chem. Frankfurt, 48, 126 (1966).
- 6. Debye, P. and Hückel, E., Phys. Z., 24, 185, 305 (1923).
- 7. Kielland, J., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 59, 1675 (1937).
- 8. Hückel, E., Phys. Z., 26, 119 (1925).
- 9. Güntelberg, E., Z. phys. Chem., 123, 199 (1926).
- 10. Guggenheim, E. A., Phil. Mag., 19, 588 (1935).
- 11. Davies, C. W., J. Chem. Soc., 2093 (1938).
- 12. Davies, C. W., Ion Association. Butterworths, London, p. 41, 1962.
- 13. Scatchard, G., Chem. Rev., 19, 309 (1936).
- 14. Datta, S. P. and Grzybowski, A. K., Trans. Faraday Soc., 54, 1179 (1958).
- 15. Brønsted, J. N. and Pedersen, K., Z. phys. Chem., 103, 307 (1922).
- 16. Biedermann, G. and Sillén, L. G., Arkiv Kemi, 5, 425 (1952).
- 17. Sykes, K. W., J. Chem. Soc., 2473 (1959).
- 18. Heidt, L J. and Berestecki, J., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 77, 2049 (1954).
- 19. Hietanen, S. and Sillén, L. G., Arkiv Kemi, 10, 103 (1956).
- 20. Krumholz, P., J. Phys. Chem., 63, 1313 (1959).
- 21. Jones, M. M., Jones, E. A., Harmon, D. F. and Semmes, R. T., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 83, 2083 (1961).
- 22. BDH Laboratory Chemicals Catalogue p. 233, 1964.
- 23. Coll, H., Naumann, R. V. and West, P. W., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 81, 1284 (1959).
- 24. Leden, I., Potentiometrisk Undersökning av några kadmiumsalters komplexitet, Gleerupska Univ. Bokhandeln, Lund, pp. 40-41, 1943.
- 25. Sillén, L. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 8, 176 (1958).
- 26. Bjerrum, J., Metal Ammine Formation in Aqueous Solution, Haase, Copenhagen, p. 15, 1941.
- 27. Marcus, Y., Record Chem. Progr., 27, 105 (1966).
- 28. Ryan, J. L., J. Phys. Chem., 65, 1099 (1961).
- 29. Dirk, J. P. and Espenson, J. H., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 90, 1153 (1968).
- 30. Gaizer, F., Göndös, G. and Gera, L., Polyhedron, 5, 1149 (1986).
- 31. Noszál, B. and Burger, K., Acta Chim. Hung., 100, 275 (1979).
- 32. Swaddle, T. W. and Guastalla, G., Inorg. Chem., 7, 1915 (1968).

Chapter 3

General characterization of complex equilibrium systems

3.1 Introduction

The mathematical description of complex equilibrium systems is based on equations derived from the law of mass action and from the mass balances. Even in the simplest case, however, this is a rather complicated procedure, requiring the solution of a non-linear equation or system of equations.

As an example, let us consider the aqueous solution of a weak acid (HL). From the law of mass action we have

$$K_D = \frac{[\mathrm{H}][\mathrm{L}]}{[\mathrm{HL}]} \tag{3.1}$$

$$K_w = [H] [OH] \tag{3.2}$$

and for the mass balance

$$T_{\rm H} = T_{\rm L} = [{\rm L}] + [{\rm H}{\rm L}] = [{\rm H}] + [{\rm H}{\rm L}] - [{\rm O}{\rm H}].$$
 (3.3)

Rearrangement of (3.1)-(3.3) leads to

$$[H]^{3} + K_{D}[H]^{2} - (K_{D}T_{L} + K_{w})[H] - K_{D}K_{w} = 0.$$
(3.4)

Exact calculation of the equilibrium hydrogen ion concentration necessitates the solution of cubic equation (3.4). The calculation may be simplified if certain terms are neglected, considering chemical conditions, such as the actual value of T_L , and the ratios of T_L and K_D and of K_D and K_w . Nevertheless, this relationship draws attention to the relative complexity of calculation of the concentrations (or constants) in equilibrium systems.

If the law of mass action and the mass balances are applied to systems containing several components, together with various associations formed, a system of nonlinear equations is unavoidable.

Attempts have been made to simplify the calculations by using specific correlations for equilibrium systems of various types. This has led to the introduction of various auxiliary functions, application of which has appreciably facilitated the description of equilibrium systems and the evaluation of the experimental results. The most important of these auxiliary functions is the formation function introduced by N. Bjerrum [1]. This assumed a particularly momentous role in equilibrium chemistry when J. Bjerrum [2] developed a pH-metric experimental procedure for determination of the formation function. (A detailed analysis of the function is given in Section 3.5.)

The advent of computers resulted in huge changes in the evaluation of the experimental data. One essential consequence was that the auxiliary functions were replaced by the original correlations, and numerous programs are now available [3–9] for calculations on equilibrium systems of any arbitrary complexity, without the need for correlations specifically characterizing the individual systems.

In this chapter we discuss the basic correlations for equilibrium systems, and present a general description. It should be noted that numerous authors have given general descriptions of equilibrium systems, in connection with the development of the various computerized evaluation methods. Such a description of the gaseous equilibrium systems is also to be found in a handbook [10]. It is worth mentioning, however, that, despite the complete identity of the thermodynamic and mathematical bases, the computational method relating to gas-phase and solution-phase equilibrium systems developed virtually independently of each other. The computational methods used to describe the equilibrium conditions in biological systems developed very similarly, but again practically independently [11]. A mutual application of the results that have been attained would certainly be fruitful in all three fields.

The present analysis begins with an account of the definitions and basic equations, and examples are then given to illustrate the various possibilities for the mathematical description of equilibrium systems. A detailed treatment is presented on the interactions between the components, the functions describing the interactions, and their differential connections.

The formation function provides such illustrative information in equilibrium chemistry that it has remained an important auxiliary function, even in the age of the computer. Accordingly in Section 3.5 it is presented and analysed. The connection between the formation function and the functions generally describing the interactions of the components is also discussed. Section 3.6 deals with the general rules governing the concentration distribution in complex equilibrium systems.

The discussion necessitated a notational system suitable alike for descriptions of the equilibrium systems, the interactions of the components, and the rules of concentration distribution. None of the previous notations were completely appropriate for this purpose, and we have therefore developed a new system, which naturally contains the elements of the earlier ones. The chemical aspects of the characterization of equilibrium systems are stressed in the present chapter, some of the more complicated mathematical derivations are given in the Appendix.

3.2 Definitions, basic equations

The first step in the description of equilibrium systems is the definition of the components. In the chemistry of complex equilibria, it is obvious to choose the free ligand(s) and species (proton, metal ion(s)) not capable of further dissociation as the components.

The components of some m-component equilibrium system are denoted by $k_1, \ldots, k_i, \ldots, k_m$, and their total concentrations by $T_1, \ldots, T_i, \ldots, T_m$. The number of species (metal ions(s), ligand(s), proton, proton complexes, mononuclear and polynuclear complexes, etc.) is n, and they are denoted by $A_1, \ldots,$ A_i, \ldots, A_n . In a species A_j , the number of component *i* is given by the stoichiometric number α_{ji} . The series $A_1, \ldots, A_i, \ldots, A_n$ is chosen so that its first m members are the same as the components k_1, \ldots, k_m , i.e. $A_i = k_i$ if $i \le m$. The stoichiometric numbers for the components are therefore 1 if j=i, and 0 if $j \neq i$.

To illustrate the notations, let us consider a system containing a metal ion Me, a ligand L, H⁺ and OH⁻ ions, proton complexes HL and H₂L, parent complexes MeL and MeL₂, a protonated complex MeLH, and a mixed hydroxo complex MeL(OH). The compositions of the species A1, ..., A10 in this three-component system are given by the α_{ji} values in Table 3.1.

The arrangement of the α_{ji} data in Table 3.1 is termed the composition matrix of the equilibrium system. The first m rows of the composition matrix contain the m-order unit matrix relating to the components, while the other rows refer to the associations in the system, in an arbitrary arrangement. For ease of

	Components						
inconcil in the section of the section	k ₁	k ₂	k ₃				
	Н	L	Me				
Species	α _{ji}						
	1	0	0				
$k_1 \equiv A_1 = H$	0	1	0				
$k_2 \equiv A_2 = L$ $k_1 \equiv A_3 = Mc$	0	0	1				
	1	1	0				
$A_4 = HL$	2	1	0				
$A_5 = H_2 L$	0	1	1				
$A_6 = MeL$	0	2	1				
$A_7 = MeL_2$	1	1	1				
$A_8 = MeLH$ $A_0 = MeL(OH) \equiv MeLH_{-1}$	-1	1	1				
$A_{10} \equiv OH^-$	-1	0	0				

Table 31 a. values	for an eq	uilibrium	system	conta	aining
components H. L. M	and the	association	ns HL,	H_2L ,	MeL,
MeL2, Mel	H and M	eL(OH) =	MeLH	- 1	

survey, however, it is advisable to follow some definite sequence. Since the components of the system are given in the title of the Table, it is not necessary to reiterate them among the species. Their repetition is merely justified by the fact that the mathematical description of the system then becomes simpler.

The complex MeLH₋₁ is given as species A_9 in Table 3.1. The negative sign of the stoichiometric number for the proton in this complex indicates that, when the complex is formed from Me and L, the coordination causes one of the protons of the molecule to become free; this proton does not dissociate in the absence of the metal ion or the ligand. The proton in question may be associated with the ligand, e.g. in the case of certain ligands containing —OH, —CONH₂ or —CONH— groups. Frequently, however, a proton is lost by a water molecule remaining in the coordination sphere of the complex MeL, and thus the notation MeLH₋₁ may also refer to a mixed hydroxo complex MeL(OH). In effect, therefore, the negative stoichiometric number stems from the fact that the solvent molecules are not shown in the composition matrix, even for solvents tending to undergo autoprotolysis. Consequently, the OH⁻ ion too features in Table 3.1; its stoichiometric number with respect to the proton is -1.

With the exception of the first *m* rows and the final row relating to OH^- , each row of the composition matrix corresponds to a chemical reaction. The stoichiometric numbers give the numbers of the various components in the composition of the given species. Thus, the equilibrium reaction describing the formation of the individual associations may be written in the form

$$\alpha_{i1}k_1 + \alpha_{i2}k_2 + \ldots + \alpha_{im}k_m \rightleftharpoons A_i. \tag{3.5}$$

As an example, for MeLH in Table 3.1

 $H+L+Me \rightleftharpoons MeLH$.

On application of the law of mass action to the individual formation processes, the *formation constant* of some species A_i is defined by

$$\beta_{j} = \frac{[A_{j}]}{[k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}}[k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}\dots[k_{m}]^{\alpha_{jm}}}.$$
(3.6)

In the sense of this definition, the value of the formation constant relating to the components of the system is unity. Hence, for a full description of the equilibrium system, a knowledge of n-m formation constants is necessary.

If Eq. (3.6) is applied to the OH^- ion, characterized by a stoichiometric number of -1 with respect to the proton

$$\beta_{10} = \beta_{\text{OH}^-} = \frac{[\text{OH}]}{[\text{H}^+]^{-1}} = [\text{H}^+][\text{OH}^-] = K_w.$$
(3.7)

It thus emerges that in this concept the formation constant of the OH⁻ ion corresponds to the ionic product of water.

For the association $MeLH_{-1}$, the definition equation is

$$\beta_{9} = \beta_{MeLH_{-1}} = \frac{[MeLH_{-1}]}{[Me][L][H]^{-1}} = \frac{[MeLH_{-1}][H]}{[Me][L]}.$$
 (3.8)

However, the composition $MeLH_{-1}$ may also denote a mixed hydroxo complex. A more illustrative datum on the stability of the association is obtained if the formation constant is given in the form

$$\beta_{MeL(OH)} = \frac{[MeL(OH)]}{[Me][L][OH]}$$
(3.9)

corresponding to the process

 $Me + L + OH \rightleftharpoons MeL(OH).$

A comparison of Eq. (3.8) and Eq. (3.9) reveals that the equilibrium constants defined in these two ways are connected by the ionic product of water

$$\beta_{\text{MeL}(\text{OH})} = \beta_{\text{MeL}(\text{OH})} [\text{H}] [\text{OH}] = \beta_{\text{MeL}(\text{OH})} \kappa_w$$
(5.10)

$$\log \beta_{\text{MeLH}_{-1}} = \log \beta_{\text{MeL(OH)}} - pK_w. \tag{3.11}$$

The notations used so far provide a simple possibility for expressing the total concentrations of the components k_1, \ldots, k_n . Since the number of component *i* in some optional species A_j is α_{ji} , A_j contributes to the total concentration of component *i* with α_{ji} -times of its own concentration, i.e.

$$T_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{ji} [A_{j}].$$
(3.12)

Expressing the concentration of A_j from Eq. (3.6), substituting into Eq. (3.12), and considering every component, we obtain the following system of equations

$$T_{1} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{j1} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} \cdots [k_{i}]^{\alpha_{ji}} \cdots [k_{m}]^{\alpha_{jm}}$$

$$T_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{ji} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} \cdots [k_{i}]^{\alpha_{ji}} \cdots [k_{m}]^{\alpha_{jm}}$$

$$T_{m} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{jm} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} \cdots [k_{i}]^{\alpha_{ji}} \cdots [k_{m}]^{\alpha_{jm}}.$$
(3.13)

Equation (3.13) is the most important in describing complex equilibrium systems. It is essentially the mass balance expressed in terms of the concentrations of the components, the formation constants of the associations, and the stoichiometric numbers.

(3.10)

For the descriptions of special equilibrium systems, use is frequently made of the charge balance too, which reflects the principle of electroneutrality. However, the charge balance is always applied *instead of* the mass balance for some component. Supplementation of Eq. (3.13) with the charge balance would lead to a redundant equation system.

The left-hand side of Eq. (3.13) features the total concentrations; these are usually termed the analytical concentrations. However, the total and analytical concentrations relating to the proton are not identical concepts, though they are often confused. In the subsequent discussion, the analytical concentration of the proton refers to the proton concentration *added* to the system, and the total concentration is the quantity defined by Eq. (3.13). Therefore, the total proton concentration may be negative as a result of the negative stoichiometric numbers.

A similar procedure is advisable in all cases when the solvent undergoes autoprotolysis, and the ions formed take part in the equilibrium processes.

If the Equations (3.6) and (3.13) are used for the full description of the system in Table 3.1, we obtain the expressions given in Table 3.2.

Table 3.2	Complete characterization of the system containing the components H,	L and
	Me, the associations HL, H ₂ L, MeL, MeL ₂ , MeLH and MeLH ₋ ,	

		Componen	ts	The first sample pre-harments
	k ₁	k ₂	k ₃	and in a constant of the
	Н	L	Me	- tel March un formerktris (Lashod
Species	Con	nposition m	natrix	Formation constants
$k_1 = A_1 = H$	1	0	0	$\beta_{1} = 1$
$k_2 = A_2 = L$	0	1	0	$\beta_2 = 1$
$k_3 = A_3 = Me$	0	0	1	$\beta_3 = 1$
$A_4 = HL$	1	1	0	$\beta_A = [HL]/[H][L]$
$A_5 = H_2L$	2	1	0	$\beta_s = [H_2 L]/[H]^2[L]$
$A_6 = MeL$	0	1	1	$\beta_{e} = [MeL]/[Me][L]$
$A_7 = MeL_2$	0	2	1	$\beta_2 = [MeL_2]/[Me][1]^2$
$A_8 = MeLH$	1	1'	- 1	$\beta_s = [MeLH]/[Me][L][H]$
$A_9 = MeLH_{-1}$	-1	1	1	$\beta_9 = [MeLH_{-1}]/[Me][L][H]^{-1}$
$A_{10} = OH$	-1	0	0	$\beta_{10} = [OH][H] = K_w$

 $T_1 = T_H = \sum \alpha_{j1} [A_j] = [H] + [HL] + 2[H_2L] + [MeLH] -$

-[MeLH_1]-[OH]

 $T_2 = T_L = \sum \alpha_{j2} [A_j] = [L] + [HL] + [H_2L] + [MeL] + 2[MeL_2] +$

$+[MeLH]+[MeLH_{-1}]$

 $T_3 = T_{Me} = \sum \alpha_{j3} [A_j] = [Me] + [MeL] + [MeL_2] + [MeLH] + [MeLH_{-1}]$

3.3 Transformation of the composition matrix

The starting-point for the considerations in the previous section was to regard the components of the system as species not capable of further dissociation. This manner of selecting the components corresponds to the chemical viewpoint, i.e. the resulting total concentrations are the same as the concentrations found with the appropriate analytical methods. (See the previous section for considerations on the total concentration of the proton.)

From the thermodynamic interpretation of the concept of the components, however, it is clear that the components may be chosen in many other ways. m species can be selected from a total of n such species in

$$\binom{n}{m} = \frac{n!}{m!(n-m)!} \tag{3.14}$$

different ways. However the number of combinations in Eq. (3.14) is the number of possible component series only if species with linearly independent compositions are obtained in every case.

The mathematical criterion of linear independence is that the determinant of the composition matrix relating to the *m* species in question should not be zero. For the equilibrium system described by the correlations in Table 3.2 (disregarding the OH⁻ ion), the number of combinations is $\binom{9}{3} = 84$. The

corresponding determinants, however, reveal that 13 species-triplets from among these can not be components of the system, for the determinant of the matrix is zero.

The chemical meaning of a zero determinant is that, as a result of some equilibrium reaction, there is a definite fixed correlation between the concentrations of the species concerned, and accordingly they can not assume optional concentrations relative to one another. Table 3.3 lists those species which cannot be components of the model system. Table 3.3 also gives the equilibrium reactions through which two of the concentrations of the species unambiguously define the third.

Apart from the 13 triplets in Table 3.3, all the other combinations are suitable, i.e. there are 84 - 13 = 71 different possibilities for the mathematical descriptions of the given system.

The right-hand column in this Table gives the correlations between the various concentrations. These equations obviously always hold, independently of the values of the total concentrations. This provides a possibility for establishment of the correlations relating to the individual points of the concentration distribution curves, without a knowledge of the actual concentration distribution. The correlations in Table 3.3 lead to the following findings:

concentrations	
interdependent	
with	
Species-triplets	
3.3	
able	

F

Concentration correlation	$[HL] = \beta_{A}[H][L]$	$[H_2L] = \beta_5 [H]^2 [L]$	$[H_2L] = (\beta_5/\beta_4)[H][HL]$	$[MeLH] = (\beta_8/\beta_6) [MeL] [H]$	$[MeLH_{-1}] = (\beta_9/\beta_6) [MeL] [H]^{-1}$	$[MeLH_{-1}] = (\beta_9/\beta_8) [MeLH] [H]^{-2}$	[MeL] $=\beta_6$ [Me] [L]	$[MeL_2] = \beta_{\gamma} [Me] [L]^2$	$[HL] = \sqrt{(\beta_4^2/\beta_5)} [H_2L] [L]$	$[MeL_2] = (\beta_7/\beta_6) [MeL] [L]$	[MeHL] = (β_8/β_4) [Me] [HL]	[MeL] = $\sqrt{(\beta_6^2/\beta_7)}$ [MeL ₂] [Me]	$[MeL] = \sqrt{(\beta_6^2/\beta_8\beta_9)} [MeLH_{-1}] [MeLH]$
Equilibrium	H+L≓HL	2H+L≓H ₂ L	H+HL≓H ₂ L	H+MeL≓MeLH	MeL = MeL + H	MeLH=MeLH_1+2H	Me+L=MeL	$Me + 2L \rightrightarrows MeL_2$	$H_2L + L \rightleftharpoons 2HL$	MeL+L=MeL ₂	Me+HL=MeHL	MeL ₂ + Me=2MeL	MeLH ₋₁ + MeLH → 2MeL
Species triplet	H, L, HL	H, L, H ₂ L	H, HL, H ₂ L	H, MeL, MeLH	H, MeL, MeLH ₋₁	H, MeLH, MeLH ₋₁	L, Me, MeL	L, Me, MeL ₂	L, HL, H ₂ L	L, MeL, MeL ₂	Me, HL, MeLH	Me, MeL, MeL ₂	MeL, MeLH, MeLH ₋₁
	A1, A2, A4	A1, A2, A5	A1, A4, A5	A1, A6, A8	A1, A6, A9	A1, A8, A9	A2, A3, A6	A2, A3, A7	A2, A4, A5	A2, A6, A7	A3, A4, A8	A3, A6, A7	A ₆ , A ₈ , A ₉
	1.	5	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8	.6	10.	11.	12.	13.

(1) The concentrations of HL and L are equal at $pH = \log \beta_4 = \log \beta_{HL}$.

(2) The concentrations of H₂L and L are equal at pH = $0.5 \log \beta_5 = 0.5 \log \beta_{H_2L}$.

(3) The concentrations of H₂L and HL are equal at pH = log (β_5/β_4).

(4) If MeLH is regarded as a weak acid, its dissociation constant is β_6/β_8 . Therefore the concentrations of MeL and MeLH are equal at pH = $-\log(\beta_6/\beta_8)$.

(5) The acidic dissociation constant of the complex MeL is β_9/β_6 . Therefore the concentrations of MeL and MeLH₋₁ are equal at pH = $-\log(\beta_9/\beta_6)$.

(6) The concentrations of MeLH and MeLH₋₁ are equal at pH = $0.5 \log (\beta_8/\beta_9)$.

(7) At the point of intersection of the concentration distribution curves for Me and MeL, we have $pL = -\log [L] = \log \beta_6$.

(8) At the point of intersection of the concentration distribution curves for Me and MeL₂, we have $pL = -\log [L] = 0.5 \log \beta_7$.

(9) The constant for the equilibrium process $H_2L + L \rightleftharpoons 2HL$ expresses the stability of the proton complex HL against its rearrangement into the species H_2L and L. This stability is the higher, the larger the value of β_4^2/β_5 . Since β_4 is the constant for the protonation process $H + L \rightleftharpoons HL$, while β_5/β_4 is the corresponding constant for $H + HL \rightleftharpoons H_2L$, it follows that the *relative stability* of HL against the species L and H_2L is governed by the ratio of the equilibrium constants of the two processes, i.e. β_4^2/β_5 .

This draws attention to the fact that the formation of some species in appreciable concentration depends not only on its formation constant, but also on its stability against various 'disproportionation' reactions.

(10) The concentrations of the complexes MeL and MeL₂ are equal at the free ligand concentration corresponding to $pL = 0.5 \log (\beta_7/\beta_6)$.

(11) The affinity of the metal ion Me for the monoprotonated ligand is characterized by the constant β_8/β_4 . The concentrations of Me and MeLH are equal at [HL] = β_4/β_8 .

(12) From an analogous analysis to that in point 9, it emerges that the stability of the complex MeL against the "disproportionation" reaction $2MeL \rightleftharpoons Me + ML_2$ is governed by the ratio of the constants for the equilibrium processes $Me + L \rightleftharpoons MeL$ and $MeL + L \rightleftharpoons MeL_2$.

(13) Similarly, its stability against the 'disproportionation' $2MeL \rightleftharpoons MeLH_{-1} + MeLH$ is governed by the ratio of the constants for the equilibrium processes $MeLH_{-1} + H \rightleftharpoons MeL$ and $MeL + H \rightleftharpoons MeLH$. The formation of ML in appreciable concentration is therefore to be expected only if the formation constant β_6 and the reciprocals of the constants for the equilibrium processes discussed in points 12 and 13 are relatively large.

In practice, the compositions and stabilities of the associations formed in complex equilibrium systems are studied in a definite interval of total concentrations. It is not sure (and in general it is not even probable) that the compositions of the main associations in the system will remain unchanged at concentration ratios considerably different from those studied experimentally. The change of the concentration range may mean that species which were not detected under the experimentally studied conditions will now be present in significant concentration. However, the above findings (which can also be derived for any optional system) still hold true. In other words, no matter what equilibrium system is involved, if any of the species-triplets listed in Table 3.3 are present, then the given correlations hold between their concentrations.

We have seen that 13 of the 84 possible species-triplets can not be components of the system. The other 71 triplets can be components, i.e. the concentrations of any three of them (together with the formation constants) are sufficient for a complete mathematical description of the system. If the choice of components differs from the customary one, there will naturally be modifications in the composition matrix for the system, and also in the formation constants and the expression for the mass balance. An example is given in the Appendix of the matrix algebraic operations for the transformation between two different component series, and they are presented in connection with the model system in Table 3.2.

3.4 Description of interactions of components

We have already presented general correlations suitable for a description of equilibrium systems, together with the conclusions drawn from an analysis of the composition matrix. We shall now examine the basic correlations from the aspect of a description of the interactions between the components.

3.4.1 One-component systems

The study of one-component equilibrium systems is of minor importance in the chemistry of complex equilibria. The only justification for its treatment is that the correlations and functions introduced also prove valuable in the description of systems of two or more components.

In one-component homogeneous equilibrium systems, only the dimerization, trimerization, ..., polymerization of the component need be considered. This situation is encountered in concentrated solutions of certain organic acids, for instance, where the molecules are linked by hydrogen-bonds:



34

3.4 Description of interactions of components

Two remarks must be made in connection with the above process:

Processes of this type are generally studied in some solvent present in great excess. In the strict thermodynamic sense of the concept of components, therefore, these systems are at least two-component ones. The solvent naturally interacts with both the monomer and the dimer, while the dimerization automatically involves a transformation of the solvation sphere. However, this is neglected during the mathematical description of the system, and no attention is paid to the solvent molecules that play a fundamental chemical role in the equilibrium. By virtue of this simplification, such systems are characterized as one-component systems.

The process $2HL \rightleftharpoons (HL)_2$ can be conceived of as a dimerization in a one-component system only in the concentration interval where the dissociation of HL may be neglected. If there is an overlap of the concentration intervals for the dimerization and the dissociation process $HL \rightleftharpoons H+L$, these systems too must be treated as two-component systems. The system is naturally also regarded as a two-component one if only the dissociation is studied: in the sense of the Brønsted theory, one condition of dissociation is that there should be an independent proton acceptor in the system.

It follows that, in the strict thermodynamic sense, a one-component homogeneous equilibrium system can occur only in the gas phase. A classical example is the gas-phase dimerization of NO₂; $2NO_2 \rightleftharpoons N_2O_4$.

From the aspect of the mathematical description of equilibrium systems, however, those systems may be regarded as one-component ones in which the composition of the species can be given by a column vector. Since *i* (the index of the component) is always 1 in this case, α_{ji} is replaced by α_{j} .

As customary in the chemistry of polymers, the species not capable of further dissociation in a one-component system will be termed a monomer, while the associations formed from this will be termed dimers, trimers, etc.

A single equation defining the total concentration describes the onecomponent systems $\sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{n} a_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{i} \sum_{j=1}^{n}$

$$T = \sum \alpha_j [\mathbf{A}_j] = \sum \alpha_j \beta_j [\mathbf{k}]^{\alpha_j} \,. \tag{3.15}$$

A good choice for the description of the degree of dissociation is the ratio of the free and total concentrations of the component (r), which may be expressed as follows

$$r = \frac{[k]}{T} = \frac{[k]}{\sum \alpha_j \beta_j [k]^{\alpha_j}}$$
(3.16)

As [k] decreases, the value of r tends to a limiting value of 1; as [k] increases, r tends to 0. It is recommended to plot the value of r as a function of the logarithm (or the negative logarithm) of the free monomer concentration. We first consider the case when we are concerned only with dimerization in the system, i.e. the maximum degree of association is 2.

3.4.1.1 Dimerization of one component

For the dimerization of one component, the r function may be written as

$$r = \frac{[k]}{T} = \frac{[k]}{[k] + 2\beta_2[k]^2} = \frac{1}{1 + 2\beta_2[k]}.$$
 (3.17)

It follows immediately from Eq. (3.17) that if r = 0.5, $2\beta_2[k] = 1$, i.e.

$$\beta_2 = \frac{1}{2[k]_{r=0.5}}.$$
(3.18)

Equation (3.17) may be differentiated with respect to log [k]

$$\frac{dr}{d\log [k]} = 2.303 \frac{dr}{d\ln [k]} = 2.303 \frac{dr}{d[k]} [k]$$
(3.19)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{d}[k]} = \frac{2\beta_2}{(1+2\beta_2[k])^2}$$
(3.20)

Substitution of Eq. (3.20) into Eq. (3.19) gives

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{dlog}\,[\mathrm{k}]} = -2.303 \frac{2\beta_2[\mathrm{k}]}{(1+2\beta_2[\mathrm{k}])^2} = -2.303 \cdot r \cdot (1-r) \tag{3.21}$$

It can be seen from Eq. (3.21) that this differential quotient depends only on the value of r. It follows directly from this that all systems in which only the



Fig. 3.1 $r = f(\log [k])$ functions at various β_2 values for the dimerization of one component

3.4 Description of interactions of components

dimerization of one component need be considered, are described by curves of the same shape. The position of the curve on the log [k] scale naturally depends on the dimerization constant β_2 , but its shape is independent of this. It is also evident from Eq. (3.21) that the curve is symmetrical about its mid-point (r = 0.5), the differential quotients at identical distances from the mid-point being the same. Figure 3.1 shows the theoretically calculated $r = f(\log \lfloor k \rfloor)$ curves for various β_2 values to illustrate the above statements.

3.4.1.2 Di- and trimerization of one component

When both di- and trimerization of one component are considered, the r function can be given by

$$r = \frac{[k]}{T} = \frac{1}{1 + 2\beta_2[k] + 3\beta_3[k]^2}$$
(3.22)

Differentiating

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{d}\log[k]} = 2.303 \frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{d}[k]} [k] =$$

= $-2.303 \frac{2\beta_2[k] + 6\beta_3[k]^2}{(1+2\beta_2[k] + 3\beta_3[k]^2)^2}.$ (3.23)

This may be rearranged to

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{dlog}\,[\mathrm{k}]} = -2.303 \cdot r \cdot (1 - r + r \cdot 3\beta_3[\mathrm{k}]^2) \,. \tag{3.24}$$

In order to rearrange the final term, [k] is expressed as the solution of the quadratic equation (3.22)

$$[k] = \frac{\sqrt{4\beta_2^2 + 12\beta_3 \frac{1-r}{r} - 2\beta_2}}{6\beta_3}.$$
 (3.25)

Substitution of Eq. (3.25) into Eq. (3.24) gives

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{dlog}\,[k]} = -2.303r \bigg\{ 1 - r + r \bigg(\frac{2}{3} \frac{\beta_2^2}{3} + \frac{1 - r}{r} - \sqrt{\frac{4}{9}} \cdot \frac{\beta_2^4}{\beta_3^2} + \frac{4}{3} \cdot \frac{\beta_2^2}{\beta_3} \cdot \frac{1 - r}{r} \bigg) \bigg\}.$$
(3.26)

If β_2^2/β_3 is denoted by x, after simplification Eq. (3.26) becomes

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{dlog}\,[\mathrm{k}]} = -2.303r \bigg(2 - 2r + \frac{2}{3}rx - \sqrt{\frac{4}{9}x^2r^2 + \frac{4}{3}xr(1-r)} \bigg). \tag{3.27}$$

4 Beck-Nagypál

3 General characterization of complex equilibrium systems

This equation shows that at a given r value the shape of the function $r = f(\log \lfloor k \rfloor)$ depends only on the value of x, i.e. it is a function only of the quotient β_2^2/β_3 .

For an explanation of the chemical meaning of this result, let us consider first the equations defining β_2 and β_3

$$2k \rightleftharpoons k_2 \quad \beta_2 = \frac{[k_2]}{[k]^2} \tag{3.28}$$

$$\beta_3 = \frac{[k_3]}{[k]^3}.$$
 (3.29)

For the quotient, therefore, we have

$$x = \frac{[k_2]^2[k]^3}{[k_3][k]^4} = \frac{[k_2]^2}{[k_3][k]}.$$
(3.30)

The expression on the right-hand side of Eq. (3.30) is the equilibrium constant of the 'disproportionation' process $k_3 + k \Rightarrow 2k_2$. Thus, x expresses the stability of the dimer against transformation into the monomer and the trimer. Accordingly, a high x value means that a dimer is first formed as the concentration of the component is increased, this association being stable in a relatively broad concentration interval. Transformation of the dimer to the trimer occurs only if [k] (and T) is elevated considerably. A low x value, however, means that no matter how large β_2 is, only a slight amount of dimer is formed, and the elevation of [k] is accompanied by conversion to the trimer in a narrow concentration interval.



Fig. 3.2 [k]/ $T = f(\log [k])$ functions at various $x = \beta_2^2/\beta_3$ values for the di- and trimerization of one component

38



Fig. 3.3 Partial molar percentage of the dimeric species as a function of log [k] at various $x = \beta_2^2/\beta_3$ values for the di- and trimerization of one component

To illustrate all this, Fig. 3.2 presents the function $[k]/T = f(\log [k])$ at various x values, the value of β_2 being chosen as 1. Figure 3.3 shows the percentage concentration distribution of the dimer molecule as a function of log [k], at various x values.

3.4.1.3 Polymerization of one component

In one-component systems containing associations with a polymerization degree of more than three, the function $[k]/T = f(\log [k])$ becomes more complicated. However, the considerations in the preceding point can be generalized to these more complex systems. The concentration of any member of the series can be expected to be the higher, the greater its stability against disproportionation into the two neighbours, i.e. the greater the value of the $k_{n-1} + k_{n+1} \rightleftharpoons 2k_n$ equilibrium constant

$$\frac{[k_n]^2}{[k_{n-1}][k_{n+1}]} = \frac{\beta_n^2}{\beta_{n-1}\beta_{n+1}}.$$
(3.31)

One of the important questions in equilibrium chemical studies on polymerization processes is the establishment of the composition of the association with the maximum polymerization degree, i.e. the value of α_{jmax} . The previously defined and analysed function $r=f(\log \lfloor k \rfloor)$ can not be used directly for this purpose, for the limiting value of r is always 1 or 0, independently of the maximum polymerization degree. Therefore the following function is defined for establishment of the composition of the association with maximum

4*

39

polymerization degree

$$p = \frac{\sum \alpha_j^2 \beta_j [\mathbf{k}]^{\alpha_j}}{T} = \frac{\sum \alpha_j^2 \beta_j [\mathbf{k}]^{\alpha_j}}{\sum \alpha_j \beta_j [\mathbf{k}]^{\alpha_j}}.$$
 (3.32)

Similarly to r, function p describes the degree of association, but there are essential theoretical and practical differences between the two functions. From a practical aspect, the greatest difference is that, in the knowledge of the total concentration, r can readily be determined experimentally by measuring the free concentration, whereas the equilibrium concentration of all associations must be known for the direct calculation of p.

The *p* function has the advantage that, as revealed by Eq. (3.32), the value of *p* tends to a limiting value of $\alpha_{j\max}$ as [k] is increased, and thus it can be used directly for the determination of $\alpha_{j\max}$.



Fig. 3.4 Differential connection of the r and p functions describing the polymerization of one-component systems

3.4 Description of interactions of components

A fairly simple connection can be derived between the two functions; this permits determination of the data of the function $p=f(\log \lfloor k \rfloor)$ into the knowledge of $r=f(\log \lfloor k \rfloor)$, and vice versa. Derivation of this connection begins with the differentiation of Eq. (3.16) with respect to $\lfloor k \rfloor$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{d}[\mathrm{k}]} = \frac{\sum \alpha_j \beta_j [\mathrm{k}]^{\alpha_j} - \sum \alpha_j^2 \beta_j [\mathrm{k}]^{\alpha_j}}{(\sum \alpha_j \beta_j [\mathrm{k}]^{\alpha_j})^2}.$$
(3.33)

On multiplication by $[k]/r = \sum \alpha_j \beta_j [k]^{\alpha_j}$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}r}{\mathrm{d}[\mathrm{k}]}\frac{[\mathrm{k}]}{r} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\log r}{\mathrm{d}\log [\mathrm{k}]} = 1 - p \tag{3.34}$$

or

$$p = 1 - \frac{\mathrm{dlog}\,r}{\mathrm{dlog}\,[\mathrm{k}]}\,.\tag{3.35}$$

Thus, on the basis of Eq. (3.35), the value of p can be calculated directly from the differential quotients at various points of the plotted curve $\log r = f(\log \lfloor k \rfloor)$. The desired value of α_{imax} is the upper limiting value of p.

This is illustrated in Fig. 3.4, which presents the transformation $r = f(\log \lfloor k \rfloor) \rightarrow p = f(\log \lfloor k \rfloor)$, for a model system with $\alpha_{j \max} = 6$.

3.4.2 Two- and multicomponent systems

Two-component equilibrium systems are investigated most frequently in solution chemistry. This is readily understandable: the study of the pair-wise interactions of the ligand(s), the metal ion(s) and the proton (i.e. the study of the protonation of the ligands, the hydrolysis of the metal ion and the formation of metal complexes with non-protonating ligands) is itself a very important field, but such studies must also be carried out if the equilibrium constants are required as auxiliary data in studies of more complicated equilibrium systems.

The r function can be applied to describe the interactions of the components in two-component equilibrium systems, in much the same way as discussed earlier. There is an essential difference, however: the r function must be defined for both components, and a two-variable function is obtained in both cases

$$r_1 = \frac{[k_1]}{T_1} = \frac{[k_1]}{\sum \alpha_{j1} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}}$$
(3.36)

$$r_{2} = \frac{[k_{2}]}{T_{2}} = \frac{[k_{2}]}{\sum \alpha_{j2}\beta_{j}[k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}}[k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}}.$$
(3.37)

The r function is characteristic of self-association in one-component systems. This is also true for two-component systems, but with a modified chemical content. In one-component systems, the association means the formation of a 3 General characterization of complex equilibrium systems

chemical bond between two molecules (ions) of component k. In contrast, in two-component systems the 'self-association' generally occurs through the binding of more than one ion (molecule) of one component to the other component. In an aqueous solution of phosphoric acid, for instance, a trimeric proton species H_3^{3+} is not formed, whereas the species H_3PO_4 predominates in the phosphate-proton equilibrium system, at appropriately low pH. Accordingly, although Eqs (3.36) and (3.37) suggest that r_1 and r_2 express merely the self-association of k_1 and k_2 , respectively, they are in fact functions which also characterize the *interaction between the two components*.

The new p functions are defined similarly to that for one-component systems

$$p_{11} = \frac{\sum \alpha_{j1}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}}{T_1} = \frac{\sum \alpha_{j1}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}}{\sum \alpha_{j1} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}}$$
(3.38)

$$p_{22} = \frac{\alpha_{j2}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}}{T_2} = \frac{\sum \alpha_{j2}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}}{\sum \alpha_{j2} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}}.$$
(3.39)

Like the r functions, the p_{11} and p_{22} function are characteristic not only of self-association, but also of the interaction of the two components. The interaction of the two components alone is expressed by the function in the numerator of which the associations containing both components feature. The weighted sums of the concentrations of these can also be referred to the total concentrations T_1 and T_2 , leading to the definitions

$$p_{12} = \frac{\sum \alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j2} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}}{T_{1}} =
= \frac{\sum \alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j2} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}}{\sum \alpha_{j1} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}}$$

$$p_{21} = \frac{\sum \alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j2} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}}{T_{2}} =
= \frac{\alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j2} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}}{\alpha_{j2} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}}.$$
(3.40)
$$(3.41)$$

It follows from Eqs (3.40) and (3.41) that there is a simple connection between p_{12} and p_{21}

$$p_{12}/p_{21} = T_2/T_1 \,. \tag{3.42}$$

In order to demonstrate some of the details of the chemical meaning of Eqs (3.36)-(3.41), we shall discuss some examples.

During the study of proton – ligand and ligand – metal ion interactions, the case is frequently encountered where the column vector relating to one of the components can only be 0 or 1. In the case of the protonation processes of ligands containing several functional groups (e.g. ethylenediamine or ethylenediaminetetraacetate) or the conjugate base ligands of weak acids, capable of

the uptake of several protons (e.g. CO_3^{3-} or PO_4^{3-}), associations containing more than one ligand are not formed at all, or at extremely high concentrations only. In the composition matrix describing the protonation processes, therefore, every element of the column vector relating to the ligand as component (with the exception of the zero element for the proton) is 1.

A similar situation is encountered with the halo complexes of certain metal ions, for instance, in the concentration range where associations containing more than one metal ion (polynuclear complexes) are not yet formed. In these systems, the stoichiometric numbers for the metal ions as components are always 1, with the exception of 0 for the halide ion. The processes taking place in systems of the above two types are termed stepwise association. The numerator and denominator of the r and p functions relating to the ligand in such systems, and to the metal ion in the case of metal complexes, can be divided by the equilibrium concentration of the ligand or the metal ion. If the row number of these components is 1, Eqs (3.36), (3.38) and (3.40) are modified to

$$r_1 = \frac{[k_1]}{T_1} = \frac{1}{\sum \alpha_{j1} \beta_j [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}}$$
(3.43)

$$p_{11} = 1$$
 (3.44)

$$p_{12} = \frac{\sum \alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j2} \beta_j [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}}{\sum \alpha_{j1} \beta_j [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}}.$$
(3.45)

It is clear from Eqs (3.43) and (3.45) that in these cases r_1 depends only on the proton concentration in the case of ligand protonation processes, and only on the ligand concentration in the case of stepwise complex formation. Equation (3.44) means that an association containing more than one ligand is not formed even in the presence of protons, and an association containing more than one metal ion is not formed even in the presence of halide ligands. (Stepwise metal complex formation occurs not only with halides, but also in those systems where the ligand is the conjugate base of an acid. In the latter case, however, the systems are three-component ones, which will be dealt with in the following section. It will be seen in Section 3.5 that in these systems p_{12} corresponds to the formation function.)

If the conditions of stepwise association (stepwise protonation or stepwise complex formation) do not hold then r_1, r_2, p_{11}, p_{21} and p_{22} are real two-variable functions. In this case a three-dimensional plot of the functions would be necessary for a complete picture of the equilibrium system. In practice, however, the equilibrium or total concentration of one of the components being fixed. The fixed concentration is indicated in brackets after the lower index of the functions. $r_{1(T_1)}$ therefore means the r_1 function at fixed T_1 concentration. In this case the variation of $[k_1]$ (or r_1) is possible only with the variation of $[k_2]$ and the closely connected T_2 . Since any of the r functions may be defined by

fixing four different quantities ($[k_1], [k_2], T_1$ and T_2), a total of eight r functions may be given.

The independent variable of the *r* functions may be one of the three non-fixed total or equilibrium concentrations. This means a total of $3 \times 8 = 24$ different functions, characterizing the two-component systems. The functions and their differential correlations are illustrated in the Appendix on the H⁺-B(OH)₄⁻ polynuclear two-component system [12].

In systems, containing more than two components, the r and p functions describing the interaction of the components can be given as follows

$$r_i = \frac{[k_i]}{T_i} \tag{3.46}$$

$$p_{ik} = \frac{\sum \alpha_{ji} \alpha_{jk} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} \dots [k_m]^{\alpha_{jm}}}{T_i}.$$
(3.47)

The number of the possibility of the different plotting modes (functions) increases enormously with the increase of the number of components. The differential connections between these functions [13–18], however, can be relatively easily derived as it is illustrated in the Appendix. The examples in the Appendix have been selected as to pertain to the principles of the various experimental and computational procedures applied in the study of equilibrium systems.

3.5 The complex formation function

3.5.1 The formation function for stepwise association

3.5.1.1 Definitions, basic equations

The phenomenon of stepwise association was touched on in Section 3.4. We speak of stepwise association in an equilibrium system containing a metal ion and a ligand, Me and L, when the interaction between them can be characterized by the following series of equilibrium processes and the corresponding series of equilibrium constants

$$Me + L \rightleftharpoons MeL \quad K_1 = \frac{[MeL]}{[Me][L]}$$
(3.48)

$$MeL + L \rightleftharpoons MeL_2 \quad K_2 = \frac{[MeL_2]}{[MeL][L]}$$
(3.49)

$$\operatorname{MeL}_{N-1} + L \rightleftharpoons \operatorname{MeL}_{N} \quad K_{N} = \frac{[\operatorname{MeL}_{N}]}{[\operatorname{MeL}_{N-1}][L]}.$$
(3.50)

These equilibrium constants are termed *stepwise stability constants*. In Eq. (3.50), N is the maximum number of ligand that can be taken up by a metal ion.

In the case of stepwise association, the composition matrix introduced in Section 3.2 can be given as in Table 3.4.

$$M_{e} = [Me] + [MeL] + [MeL_{2}] + \dots + [MeL_{N}] = \sum \beta_{MeL_{j}}[Me] [L]^{j} =$$

$$= [Me] \sum \beta_{MeL_{j}}[L]^{j}$$

$$T_{L} = [L] + [MeL] + 2[MeL_{2}] + \dots N[MeL_{N}] =$$

$$= [L] + \sum j\beta_{MeL_{j}}[Me] [L]^{j} = [L] + [Me] \sum j\beta_{MeL_{j}}[L]^{j}.$$

Niels Bjerrum [1] introduced the concept of the average ligand number to characterize the extent of complex formation; this is the average number of

no uestro	Comp	onents	an in the calculation of the	
Species	Me	L	Formation constants	Stepwise stability constants
Me L MeL MeL ₂	1 0 1 1	0 1 1 2	$\beta_{Me} = 1$ $\beta_{L} = 1$ $\beta_{MeL} = [MeL]/[Me] [L]$ $\beta_{MeL_2} = [MeL_2]/[Me] [L]^2$	$K_0 = 1$ $K_1 = K_{MeL} = \beta_{MeL}$ $K_2 = K_{MeL_2} = \beta_{MeL_2} / \beta_{MeL}$
MeL _j MeL _N	1	j N	$\beta_{MeL_{j}} = [MeL_{j}]/[Me] [L]^{j}$ $\beta_{MeL_{N}} = [MeL_{N}]/[Me] [L]^{N}$	$K_{j} = K_{\text{MeL}_{j}} = \beta_{\text{MeL}_{j}} / \beta_{\text{MeL}_{j-1}}$ $K_{N} = K_{\text{MeL}_{j}} = \beta_{\text{MeL}_{j}} / \beta_{\text{MeL}_{j-1}}$

Table 3.4 Composition matrix describing stepwise complex formation, with equations defining formation constants, stepwise stability constants and total concentrations

ligands coordinated to one metal ion in a system containing the series of complexes Me, MeL, ..., MeL_N. Accordingly, the defining equation is

$$\bar{n} = \frac{T_{\rm L} - [{\rm L}]}{T_{\rm Me}} = \frac{[{\rm MeL}] + 2[{\rm MeL}_2] + 3[{\rm MeL}_3] + \dots + N[{\rm MeL}_N]}{[{\rm Me}] + [{\rm MeL}] + [{\rm MeL}_2] + \dots + [{\rm MeL}_N]} (3.51)$$

where T_L and T_{Me} are the total concentrations of ligand and metal ion, respectively, and [L] is the equilibrium concentration of the ligand. The difference between T_L and [L] is therefore the concentration of bound ligand. In a discussion of the stepwise complex formation processes, the constants β_{Me} , β_{MeL} , β_{MeL_j} , ..., β_{MeL_N} describing the series of complexes Me, MeL, ..., MeL_j, ..., MeL_N are denoted by β_0 , β_1 , ..., β_j , ..., β_N .

Using the equations for the total ligand and total metal ion concentrations \bar{n} can be expressed by means of the formation constants or the stepwise stability

constants

$$\bar{n} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N} j\beta_{j}[L]^{j}}{\sum_{j=0}^{N} \beta_{j}[L]^{j}}$$
(3.52)
$$\bar{n} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N} j\prod_{i=1}^{j} K_{i}[L]^{j}}{\sum_{j=0}^{N} \prod_{i=0}^{j} K_{i}[L]^{j}}$$
(3.53)

where

 $\prod_{i=0}^{j} K_{i} = K_{0}K_{1}K_{2} \dots K_{j} = \beta_{j} \text{ and } K_{0} \equiv \beta_{0} \equiv 1.$

Equations (3.52) and (3.53) lead to two important consequences. It may be seen that there is a possibility for the calculation of the values of the formation constants through the experimental determination of at least N different \bar{n} and [L] data pairs. It is also clear that the average ligand number is independent of both the total concentration of the ligand and the total concentration of the metal ion, and depends only on the equilibrium concentration of the ligand. Solutions in which the values of $T_{\rm L}$ and $T_{\rm Me}$ differ, but [L] and consequently \bar{n} are the same, are known as corresponding solutions [19].

Another concept used to describe an equilibrium system in the case of stepwise complex formation is the degree of formation of the system of compounds; this is defined by

$$\alpha = \frac{\bar{n}}{N}.$$
(3.54)

The degree of formation of the individual members in the series of complexes Me, MeL, ..., MeL_N can be given by

$$\alpha_{\text{MeL}_j} = \alpha_j = \frac{\beta_j [L]^j}{\sum\limits_{k=0}^N \beta_k [L]^k}.$$
(3.55)

 α_{MeL_j} is generally called the mole fraction of the complex MeL_j. This name is ambiguous, however, for it does not have the same meaning as mole fraction in the strict thermodynamic sense. In the present book, α_{MeL_j} and similar quantities will be named *partial mole fractions*, the word partial indicating that the reference basis is not the total number of moles, but the total concentration of the metal ion. It may be seen from Eq. (3.55) that the partial mole fraction of the complex MeL_j is also dependent on the equilibrium concentration of the ligand only.

3.5 The complex formation function

At the same time, it is also clear that α_{MeL_1} is a function of all the formation constants; thus, if the partial mole fraction of any of the member of the series Me, MeL, ..., MeL_N is measured for at least N different [L] values, the β_i values can be calculated.

The partial mole fraction relating to the metal ion can be given by

$$\alpha_{\rm Me} = \alpha_0 = \frac{1}{\sum\limits_{j=0}^{N} \beta_j [L]^j}.$$
(3.56)

Some remarks were made in connection with stepwise association in Section 3.4, during the discussion of the interactions of the components. It was seen that the r_1 and p_{12} functions (among others) are applicable to describe the degree of association. A comparison of Eqs (3.43) and (3.45) with Eqs (3.53) and (3.56) demonstrates that for stepwise complex formation $p_{12} = \bar{n}$ and $r_1 = \alpha_{Me}$. The differential connection of p_{12} and r_1 is derived in the Appendix. This correlation can be written as

$$\frac{\mathrm{dlog}\,\alpha_{\mathrm{Me}}}{\mathrm{dlog}\,[\mathrm{L}]} = -\bar{n}.\tag{3.57}$$

The significance of Eq. (3.57) is that it creates a link between the two characteristic functions of stepwise complex formation. Thus, in the knowledge of the data on one of these functions, the data on the other can readily be calculated (by means of appropriate numerical of graphical integration or differentiation).

The correlations describing stepwise association, and their connections with one another, have been presented through the series of formation of the complexes Me, MeL, ..., MeL_N. A phenomenon that is chemically basically

Table 3.5 Formation constants and stepwise protonation constants describing the stepwise protonation processes of ethylenediaminetetraacetate, and the equations

Bioreson	Comp	onents	tern Screekane Law render	
Species	L	Н	Formation constants	Stepwise stability constants
L	1	0	$\beta_{\rm L} = 1$	$K_0^{\rm H} = L = 1$
HL	1	1	$\beta_{\rm HL} = [\rm HL]/[\rm H][L]$ $\beta_{\rm HL} = [\rm HL]/[\rm H][L]$	$K_1^{\rm H} = K_{\rm HL} = \beta_{\rm HL}$
H ₂ L H ₃ L	1	3	$\beta_{H_{2L}} = [H_2L]/[H]^4[L]$ $\beta_{H_{3L}} = [H_3L]/[H]^3[L]$	$K_{2}^{H} = K_{H_{2}L} = \beta_{H_{2}L} / \beta_{HL}$ $K_{3}^{H} = K_{H_{3}L} = \beta_{H_{3}L} / \beta_{H_{2}L}$
H ₄ L H ₅ L	1	4 5	$\beta_{H_{4L}} = [H_4L]/[H]^4[L]$ $\beta_{H_{5L}} = [H_5L]/[H]^5[L]$	$K_{4}^{H} = K_{H_{4L}} = \beta_{H_{4L}} / \beta_{H_{3L}}$ $K_{5}^{H} = K_{H_{5L}} = \beta_{H_{5L}} / \beta_{H_{4L}}$
H ₆ L	1	6	$\beta_{\text{HaL}} = [H_6 L] / [H]^6 [L]$	$K_6^{\rm H} = K_{\rm H_6L} = \beta_{\rm H_6L} / \beta_{\rm H_6L}$

defining the total concentrations

different, but which is formally identical, is encountered in the protonation of ligands capable of taking up more than one proton. To illustrate this formal identity, Table 3.5 presents a composition matrix describing the protonation processes for a ligand (e.g. ethylenediaminetetraacetate) capable to take up 6 protons, with the formation constants of the proton complexes H_jL , the corresponding stepwise stability constants of the proton complexes, and the equations defining the total concentrations

$$\begin{split} T_{\rm L} &= [{\rm L}] + [{\rm H}{\rm L}] + [{\rm H}_{2}{\rm L}] + [{\rm H}_{3}{\rm L}] + [{\rm H}_{4}{\rm L}] + [{\rm H}_{5}{\rm L}] + [{\rm H}_{6}{\rm L}] = \\ &= \sum_{j=0}^{6} \beta_{{\rm H}_{j}{\rm L}} [{\rm H}]^{j} [{\rm L}] = [{\rm L}] \sum_{j=0}^{6} \beta_{{\rm H}_{j}{\rm L}} [{\rm H}]^{j} \\ T_{\rm H} &= [{\rm H}] + [{\rm H}{\rm L}] + 2 [{\rm H}_{2}{\rm L}] + 3 [{\rm H}_{3}{\rm L}] + 4 [{\rm H}_{4}{\rm L}] + 5 [{\rm H}_{5}{\rm L}] + 6 [{\rm H}_{6}{\rm L}] = \\ &= [{\rm H}] + \sum_{j=0}^{6} j \beta_{{\rm H}_{j}{\rm L}} [{\rm L}] [{\rm H}]^{j} = [{\rm H}] + [{\rm L}] \sum_{j=0}^{6} \beta_{{\rm H}_{j}{\rm L}} [{\rm H}]^{j} \\ &\bar{n}_{\rm H} = \frac{T_{\rm H} - [{\rm H}]}{T_{\rm L}} = \frac{\sum_{j=0}^{6} j \beta_{{\rm H}_{j}{\rm L}} [{\rm H}]^{j}}{\sum_{j=0}^{6} \beta_{{\rm H}_{j}{\rm L}} [{\rm H}]^{j}} \,. \end{split}$$

The formal identity is seen strikingly if Tables 3.4 and 3.5 are compared; the only differences are that H takes the place of L, and L takes the place of Me. Accordingly, with these same substitutions, Eqs (3.48)-(3.57) are suitable for the description of stepwise protonation too.

To differentiate between the parameters in these two types of systems, the constants K_j and β_j are replaced by $K_j^{\rm H}$ and $\beta_j^{\rm H}$, \bar{n} by $\bar{n}_{\rm H}$, and $\alpha_{\rm MeL_j}$ by $\alpha_{\rm H_jL}$ in the case of protonation processes.

3.5.1.2 Statistical considerations

The complex formation function was analysed in detail by Jannik Bjerrum [2]. His considerations were extended by Sen [20], who took into account the properties of the chelate-forming ligands and the various geometrical arrangements of the coordination sites of the metal ions. The values of the formation constants and the ratios of the stepwise constants depend on numerous factors. However, if it is assumed that the coordination sites are strictly equivalent, and that this equivalence is maintained during stepwise complex formation, then the ratios of the stepwise stability constants are governed only by the statistical laws. This means that the probability of release of a monodentate ligand L from the complex MeL_j is proportional to the number of occupied coordination sites (j), while the probability of uptake of a ligand L is proportional to the

number of available coordination sites (N-j). Under these conditions, the following equation holds

$$K_1: K_2 = \frac{N}{1}: \frac{N-1}{2}; \qquad K_j: K_{j+1} = \frac{(N-j+1)(j+1)}{j(N-j)}$$
(3.58)

In the case of multidentate ligands, these ratios will naturally be different. For bidentate ligands, with the assumption of an octahedral configuration, the following expression arises for the ratio of the three stepwise stability constants

$$K_1: K_2: K_3 = \frac{12}{5}: \frac{5}{2}: \frac{4}{15}.$$
 (3.59)

Table 3.6 gives the quotients of the stepwise stability constants, calculated with Eq. (3.58) for various N values. The final column of the Table contains the quotients of the stability constants K_1 and K_N . It is interesting to observe that the value of K_1/K_N calculated on a statistical basis coincides with N^2 .

It can be seen that the statistical values of K_j/K_{j+1} vary regularly, in an interval with almost the same order of magnitude. Table 3.7 lists the ratios of some stepwise stability constants in the equilibrium systems of certain metal complexes.

1	able 3.6 St	tatistically	calcu	lated	ratios of	stepwis	se stab	ility	constant	ts
---	-------------	--------------	-------	-------	-----------	---------	---------	-------	----------	----

Ν	K_1/K_2	K_{2}/K_{3}	K_{3}/K_{4}	K_{4}/K_{5}	K_{5}/K_{6}	K_1/K_N
2	4	_	22-		6-4	4
3	3	. 3		- 12	-	9
4	2.67	2.25	2.67	-	-	16
5	2.50	2	2	2.50		25
6	2.40	1.88	1.78	1.88	2.40	36
	- 10 March		A COSTO / N	Contraction of the local division of the	and the second	a service of

Table 3.7 Stepwise stability constant ratios in the equilibrium systems of some complexes

all no davig a	Ν	K_{1}/K_{2}	K_{2}/K_{3}	K_{3}/K_{4}	K_{4}/K_{5}	K_5/K_6
Ag ⁺ -NH ₃	2	0.23	-			
$Ag^+ - SO_4^{2-}$	2	1.51			-	-
$Hg^{2+} - SO_4^{2-}$	2	1.50	- 11	-	-	-
$TiO^{2+} - SO_4^{2-}$	2	15.8		-		1011211
Cd2+-1-	4	20.4	0.04	4.67		
$Hg^{2+} - I^{-}$	4	83.5	1.9×10^{7}	20.0	-	- 10
VO ²⁺ -F ⁻	4	10.5	3.02	29.5	7,00 <u>-</u> 2010	1 3 <u>1</u>
$Pd^{2+} - Cl^{-}$	4	6.31	7.24	10.0	-	-
$Al^{3+} - F^{-}$	6	12.9	14.8	12.9	12.9	14.45
Zr4+-F-	6	30.2	31.6	9.33	1.58	4.67
Hf4+-F-	6	16.6	5.01	1.58	16.6	10.2
Bi ³⁺ – Cl ⁻	6	16.6	0.19	12.6	1.35	6.02

number of carbon atoms		
[$K_{1}^{ m H}/K_{2}^{ m H}$	
n	Diamines	Dicarboxylates
2	363	275
3	55	339
4	16	16
5	8.7	7.4
6	5.5	5.2

Table 3.8 Ratios of stepwise protonation constants of some α , ω -diamines and α , ω -dicarboxylates, as functions of the number of carbon atoms

Table 3.8 gives the ratios of the two protonation constants for some α , ω -diamines and α , ω -dicarboxylates. It is clear from the tabulated data that as the number of carbon atoms increases, the value of $K_1^{\rm H}/K_2^{\rm H}$ approaches the value of 4 corresponding to the statistical case. (The well-known 'sawtooth' dependence can be seen too for the quotients for the dicarboxylic acids.)

The data in Tables 3.7–3.8 reveal that the ratios of the stepwise stability constants do not agree in general with the statistical values. Thus, besides the statistical effect, other factors too must be considered.

J. Bjerrum took these factors into account by means of the spreading factor x

$$\frac{K_j}{K_{j+1}} = f_j x^2 \tag{3.60}$$

where f_j is the value of the quotient of the constants to be expected on a statistical basis.

The spreading factor may assume a value between 0 and ∞ . If the statistical conditions hold, x = 1. It may also occur that the value of the distribution factor is constant for all of the constant ratios in a stepwise equilibrium system. Before a discussion of this general case, some considerations will be given on the simplest stepwise complex equilibrium system (N = 2). Applying Eq. (3.60) to systems with N = 2.

$$\frac{K_1}{K_2} = 4x^2. ag{3.61}$$

 K_1 and K_2 can also be expressed by means of the spreading factor and the average stability constant

$$\log K = (\log K_1 + \log K_2)/2 \qquad \bar{K} = \sqrt{K_1 K_2} \tag{3.62}$$

as follows

$$K_1 = 2x\bar{K}$$
 $K_2 = \bar{K}/2x$. (3.63)

From Eqs (3.63) and (3.62)

$$\bar{n} = \frac{2x\bar{K}[L] + 2\bar{K}^{2}[L]^{2}}{1 + 2x\bar{K}[L] + \bar{K}^{2}[L]^{2}}.$$
(3.64)

It follows from Eq. (3.64) that at $\bar{n} = 1$ the product of the equilibrium ligand concentration and the average stability constant has a value of 1, i.e. the average stability constant is the reciprocal of the equilibrium ligand concentration at the point $\bar{n} = 1$.

The shape of the complex formation curve $\bar{n} = f(\log L)$ depends on the value of the spreading factor. The connection between the shape of the curve and the spreading factor is illustrated in Fig. 3.5, where \bar{n} is plotted against log [L]



Fig. 3.5 Average ligand number as a function of the negative logarithm of the free ligand concentration, with $\vec{K} = 1$, at various values of the spreading factor (x)

at various x values, with $\overline{K} = 1$ and N = 2. At x > 100, the complexes are formed in two completely separate steps; as x decreases, the separation of the two steps decreases. At x = 4, the three inflexion points coalesce into one inflexion point. Here, therefore, the separation of the two steps ceases. Then, at x = 0, where the uptake of the two ligands proceeds in one step, the formation curve attains the limiting value corresponding to the highest possible slope.

The chemical interpretation of the events in Fig. 3.5 is similar to that discussed in connection with di- and trimerization in one-component systems (Section 3.4.1.2). The similarity can be seen well if it is considered that the distribution factor x is directly proportional to the stability of the complex MeL against "disproportionation" into the metal ion Me and the complex MeL₂. The

3 General characterization of complex equilibrium systems

equilibrium constant of the process

$$Me + MeL_2 \rightleftharpoons 2MeL \qquad K^* = \frac{[MeL]^2}{[Me][MeL_2]}$$

can be given by means of the appropriate formation constants, stepwise stability constants and spreading factor

$$K^* = \frac{\beta_1^2}{\beta_2} = \frac{K_1}{K_2} = 4x^2.$$
(3.65)

A high value of x therefore means that as the ligand concentration is increased, the complex MeL is formed, \bar{n} assuming a value of 1. Conversion of MeL into MeL₂ occurs only if the ligand concentration is elevated considerably. In a broad range of ligand concentrations, therefore, \bar{n} remains at around 1; it gradually rises in the second step.

Figure 3.5 shows the connection between x and the shape of the curve at an arbitrarily selected value $\overline{K} = 1$. However, the shape of the curve does not change if some other value is given to \overline{K} . It is merely shifted parallel to the log [L] axis, so that the correlation

$$\bar{K} = \frac{1}{[L]_{\bar{n}=1}}$$
 log $\bar{K} = -\log [L]_{\bar{n}=1}$ (3.66)

should be satisfied.

Figure 3.5 further suggests that the formation curve is symmetrical about the mid-point, i.e. the slopes have the same value at $\bar{n} = 1 - d$ and at $\bar{n} = 1 + d$.

The symmetry of the formation curve and its independence on the value of \bar{K} can be confirmed by deriving the function $d\bar{n}/d(\log [L])$. If Eq. (3.53) is differentiated with respect to log [L] in the case N = 2, and [L] in the differential function is replaced by the inverse function of Eq. (3.53), together with the substitutions $\bar{n} = 1 + d$ and $\bar{n} = 1 - d$, the following equation is obtained in both cases

$$\frac{d\bar{n}}{d\log[L]} = 2.303 \cdot \frac{1 - d^2 + x^2 d^2 - \sqrt{x^4 d^2 + (1 - d^2)x^2}}{1 - x^2}.$$
 (3.67)

Equation (3.67) demonstrates that the slopes at distances d in both directions from the mid-point are the same, i.e. the function is symmetrical. At the same time, the value of the slope does not depend on the value of \overline{K} , but merely on the spreading factor x. Thus, a variation in \overline{K} results in a parallel shift only At d=0, i.e. at the mid-point of the curve, Eq. (3.67) simplifies to the correlation derived by Bjerrum

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{n}}{\mathrm{dlog}\left[\mathrm{L}\right]} = 2.303 \frac{1-x}{1-x^2} = \frac{2.303}{1+x}.$$
(3.68)

52

Accordingly, it appears that the position of the formation curve on the log [L] scale depends on the value of \overline{K} , and its shape on the value of x, i.e. K_1/K_2 . Hence, all those parameters of the experimentally determined formation curve which are connected with the position on the log [L] scale or with the shape, can be utilized to determine the numerical values of the constants. At the beginning of the 1950's, a number of graphical procedures were developed on this basis, for calculation of the stability constants. The most significant of these were the correction term [21], projection strip [22] and curve fitting [23] methods.

For systems with N > 2, the correlation between the slope of the formation curve and the spreading factor can be obtained from the rearranged and differentiated form of (3.52)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{n}}{\mathrm{d}[L]} \left(1 + \sum_{1}^{N} \beta_{j}[L]^{j} \right) + \bar{n} \sum_{1}^{N} j\beta_{j}[L]^{j-1} = \sum_{1}^{N} j^{2}\beta_{j}[L]^{j-1}.$$
(3.69)

By rearrangement of Eq. (3.69)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\bar{n}}{\mathrm{d}\ln\left[\mathrm{L}\right]} = \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N} j(j-\bar{n})\beta_{j}[\mathrm{L}]^{j}}{1+\sum_{j=1}^{N} \beta_{j}[\mathrm{L}]^{j}}.$$
(3.70)

Assuming that the whole system can be described by a single spreading factor, i.e. Eq. (3.60) holds, the stepwise stability constants and formation constants are given by

$$K_{j} = \frac{(N-j+1)}{j} \, \bar{K} \cdot x^{(N+1-2j)} \tag{3.71}$$

$$\beta_{j} = \frac{N!}{j!(N-j)!} \, \bar{K}^{j} \cdot x^{j(N-j)} = \binom{N}{j} \, \bar{K}^{j} x^{j(N-j)}. \tag{3.72}$$

If Eq. (3.72) is substituted into Eq. (3.53), the formation function is as follows

$$\bar{n} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N} j \frac{N!}{(N-j)!j!} \bar{K}^{j}[L]^{j} x^{j(N-j)}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} \frac{N!}{(N-j)!j!} \bar{K}^{j}[L]^{j} x^{j(N-j)}}.$$
(3.73)

Analysis of Eq. (3.73) reveals that at the mid-point of the formation curve $(\bar{n} = N/2)$ the product of the free ligand concentration and the average stability constant is 1, just as for systems with N=2. Consequently, the following

5 Beck-Nagypál

equation is obtained for the slope at the mid-point

$$\Delta = \frac{\sum_{1}^{N} j \left(j - \frac{N}{2} \right) {\binom{N}{j}} x^{j(N-j)}}{1 + \sum_{1}^{N} {\binom{N}{j}} x^{j(N-j)}}.$$
(3.74)

3.5.1.3 Characteristic points of the formation curve

3.5.1.3.1 Half-value points of the formation curve

If two consecutive steps of the complex formation process are separated, i.e. if $x \ge 100$, then only two complexes can exist in significant concentration in the presence of each other

$$T_{\rm Me} = {\rm MeL}_{i-1} + {\rm MeL}_i.$$
 (3.75)

If

$$\bar{n} = j - \frac{1}{2} = \bar{n}^x$$
 (3.76)

i.e. the average ligand number has its half-value, then

$$[MeL_{i-1}] = [MeL_i]$$
(3.77)

i.e.

$$K_j = \frac{1}{[L]_{\bar{n}^{\star}}}.$$
(3.78)

It can readily be seen that Eq. (3.77) will also hold if the distribution factor is not too large, but the value of the average ligand number for the other complexes

at the half-value point is also $j - \frac{1}{2}$

$$\frac{\sum_{j=1 \neq i \neq j}^{N} i[MeL_i]}{\sum_{j=1 \neq i \neq j}^{N} [MeL_i]} = j - \frac{1}{2}.$$
(3.79)

The following two correlations must then hold

$$\beta_{j}[L]_{\bar{n}^{x}}^{j} = \beta_{j-1}[L]_{\bar{n}^{x}}^{(j-1)}$$
(3.80)

$$\frac{\sum_{j=1\neq i\neq j}^{N} j\beta_{j}[L]_{\bar{n}^{\times}}^{j}}{\sum_{j=1\neq i\neq j}^{N} j[L]_{\bar{n}^{\times}}^{j}} = j - \frac{1}{2}.$$
(3.81)

3.5 The complex formation function

Consequently, for all j values $1/K_j$ is the root of the equation

$$\sum_{i=0}^{N} (2j - 1 - 2i)\beta_i [L]_{\bar{n}^x}^i = 0.$$
(3.82)

From Eqs (3.82) and (3.78)

$$\sum_{i=0}^{N} (2j - 1 - 2i) \frac{\beta_i}{K_j^i} = 0.$$
(3.83)

Thus, Eq. (3.78) will hold if the spreading factor is very large, or if there is a definite correlation between the stability constants. This correlation is particularly simple if \bar{n}^* is the same as \bar{n} for the complexes MeL_{j-1-i} and MeL_{j+1} . This means that the stepwise stability constants form a geometric series

$$\beta_{j}[L]_{\bar{n}^{x}}^{j} = \beta_{j-1}[L]_{\bar{n}^{x}}^{j-1}$$

$$\beta_{j+1}[L]_{\bar{n}^{x}}^{j+1} = \beta_{j-2}[L]_{\bar{n}^{x}}^{j-2}$$
(3.84)

i.e.

and

$$\left(\frac{\beta_j}{\beta_{j-1}}\right)^{2i+1} = \frac{\beta_{i+j}}{\beta_{j-1-i}}$$
(3.86)

which are equivalent to

$$K_j^2 = K_{j-1} \cdot K_{j+1} \tag{3.87}$$

and

5*

$$K_{j}^{(2i+1)} = \prod K_{j-1} \dots K_{j+i}.$$
 (3.88)

The meaning of these equations is that the ratio of the stepwise constants is constant for the whole system. Instead of the usual N, such systems can be described by two constants: one of the stepwise constants, and the quotient of the constants. This condition is the basis of the Dyrssen–Sillén two-parameter equation [24] and some other methods used for calculation of the stepwise constants. Van Panthaleon van Eck [25] found that the following correlation holds for a number of complex equilibrium systems

$$\log K_{j} = \log K_{1} - 2\lambda(j-1).$$
(3.89)

Equation (3.89) expresses the constancy of the quotient of the stepwise constants

$$\frac{K_j}{K_{j+1}} = 10^{2\lambda}, (3.90)$$



Fig. 3.6 (a) log K_n as a function of *n* in various Hg²⁺-halide systems; (b) log β_n/n as a function of *n* in various Hg²⁺-halide systems \rightarrow

If Eq. (3.58) held, then the value of $\log K_j$ would be given by the following equation

$$\log K_{i} = \log K_{1} - \log N \cdot j + \log (N - j + 1).$$
(3.91)

It is clear from Figs 3.6 (a) and 3.6 (b) that the Van Panthaleon van Eck equation holds instead of Eq. (3.91) for the systems depicted. This means that in these and similar systems the statistical factors are compensated by other effects, the product of the corresponding statistical factor and the spreading factor remaining constant

$$\frac{K_j}{K_{j+1}} = f_j x_j^2 = 10^{2\lambda}.$$
(3.92)

Equation (3.89) generally holds only when the polarization effects are not too significant. Even in these systems, however, the correlation may in part be true, as can be seen for the mercury(II)-halide systems in Figs 3.6 (a) and 3.6 (b). These Figures depict the correlations corresponding to both Eqs (3.89) and (3.93). The latter can be derived from Eq. (3.89) by taking into consideration the formation constants

$$\frac{\log \beta_j}{j} = \log \beta_1 - (j-1).$$
(3.93)


It is worthwhile mentioning that in systems where Eqs (3.89) and (3.91) do not hold, i.e. where covalent bonding predominates, the ratio K_j/K_{j+1} varies much more with temperature than in systems where the coordinate bonds are mainly electrostatic in nature. Figures 3.7 (a) and 3.7 (b) demonstrate that in the tin(II)-chloride and cadmium(II)-chloride systems the correlation holds only at certain temperatures. The number of systems satisfying the relation $K_j < K_{j+1}$ is fairly small. This sequence generally holds for the silver-ammine complexes [26–29], and it has also been reported to hold for Hg(II)-OH⁻ [30], Zn(II)-NH₃ [31], Co(II)-thioglycollic acid [32], Cu(II)-diethylbiguanidine [33], Cd(II), Mg(II) and Ni(II)-o-ethylthiobenzoic acid [34], Co(II)-1-nitroso-2-naphthol [35], and in the equilibrium systems of divalent transition metal ions with certain pyrazolone derivatives [36–38], Fe(II)-1,10-phenanthroline [39–40], Fe(II)-1,10-phenanthroline derivatives [41–42], Cu(II)-dimethylglyoxime [43–44] and Cu(II)-dimethylglyoxime derivatives [45].

Experimental data smaller than the statistically calculated K_j/K_{j+1} value have recently been found in a number of equilibrium systems [46–61]. A constant ratio smaller than the statistical value means that the filling of some coordination site of the metal ion increases the possibility of incorporation of the next ligand.

3 General characterization of complex equilibrium systems



Fig. 3.7 log K_n as a function of *n* at various temperatures. (a) Sn(II)-Cl⁻ system; (b) Cd(II)-Cl⁻ system

This phenomenon can primarily occur if the back-coordination is important in the coordinate bonds, and thus the coordination of the first ligand causes the electron density on the metal ion not to increase, but to decrease. This is mainly to be expected with the complexes of d^{10} (or close to d^{10}) metal ions with ligands containing a sulphur donor atom and/or an aromatic π -system.

A constant quotient smaller than statistical is also found if the coordination of the first ligand alters the geometry of the coordination sphere of the metal ion, thereby facilitating the entry of the next ligand.

This phenomenon is observed with complexes of Ag^+ and Hg^{2+} . A similar consideration relates to stepwise protonation processes [55].

It should be noted that if the value of K_1/K_2 is small, the complex MeL is formed only in low concentration and consequently the stepwise constants K_1 and K_2 can generally be determined only with appreciable inaccuracy [62]; the value of β_2 can only be calculated accurately.

3.5.1.3.2 Integer points of the formation curve

We have seen that the chemical meaning of the half-value points on the formation curve depends on the ratio of the stability constants.

The integer points, however, always have a definite physical content, independently of the quotient of the constants: at the integer points $j = \bar{n}$, the partial mole fraction of the complex MeL_j always has a maximum. This can readily be seen after differentiation and rearrangement of Eq. (3.55)

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\alpha_{j}}{\mathrm{d}[L]} \left(1 + \sum_{1}^{N} \beta_{k}[L]^{k} \right) + \alpha_{j} \sum_{1}^{N} k \beta_{k}[L]^{k-1} - j \beta_{j}[L]^{j-1} = 0.$$
(3.94)

3.5 The complex formation function

We also have

$$\frac{\mathrm{dlog}\,\alpha_j}{\mathrm{dlog}\,[\mathrm{L}]} = \frac{[\mathrm{L}]\mathrm{d}\alpha_j}{\alpha_j\mathrm{d}[\mathrm{L}]}.\tag{3.95}$$

From Eqs (3.52) and (3.94), (3.95) can be written in the form

$$\bar{n} = j - \frac{\mathrm{dlog}\,\alpha_j}{\mathrm{dlog}\,[\mathrm{L}]}.\tag{3.96}$$

It is obvious that the second term on the right-hand side will be zero if the partial mole fraction has a maximum. Equation (3.57) can readily be seen to be a special case of Eq. (3.96). In Section 3.6, which examines the rules relating to the concentration distribution of equilibrium systems, this same correlation is obtained as a special case of the general rules.

3.5.2 Formation function of polynuclear complexes

We speak of polynuclear complex formation if associations containing more than one central ion are formed in the equilibrium system. This phenomenon is particularly frequent during the hydrolysis of metal ions. The hydrolysis of metal ions was studied very comprehensively and in great detail by Sillén and his coworkers [63], and a large proportion of the findings on the formation functions of polynuclear complexes are due to the Sillén school.

In the course of the discussion on formation curves describing stepwise equilibria, it was seen that \bar{n} is independent of the concentration of the central ion, the corresponding r and p functions are single-variable functions, r coincides with α_{Me} and p with \bar{n} . The r and p functions are naturally also suitable for describing polynuclear equilibrium systems. For this purpose, however, use may also be made of the correlations corresponding to the equations defining the formation functions $\bar{n} = (T_L - [L])/T_{Me}$ and $\bar{n}_H = (T_H - [H])/T_L$. By definition, \bar{n} is the average number of ligands (protons) bound to a central ion. If the central ion is chosen as the first component, and the ligand as the second one, the formation function can be given in general by

$$\bar{n} = \frac{\sum \alpha_{j2} \beta_j [\mathbf{k}_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [\mathbf{k}_2]^{\alpha_{j2}} - [\mathbf{k}_2]}{\sum \alpha_{j1} \beta_j [\mathbf{k}_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [\mathbf{k}_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}}.$$
(3.97)

The value of \bar{n} is directly related to r_2

$$\bar{n} = \frac{T_2 - [k_2]}{T_1} = \frac{T_2}{T_1} \left(1 - \frac{[k_2]}{T_2}\right) = \frac{T_2}{T_1} (1 - r_2).$$
(3.98)

Via Eq. (3.98), therefore, if r_2 is known, \bar{n} can be calculated, and vice versa. If the differential connection of the two functions is derived at $T_2 = \text{constant}$ or

3 General characterization of complex equilibrium systems





 $T_1 = \text{constant}$, the formation function of polynuclear complexes too can readily be fitted into the overall system of differential connections discussed in the Appendix.

The formation function for polynuclear complexes differs fundamentally from the formation function for stepwise association in that the shape of the curve depends on the total concentration of the central ion too. This is illustrated in Fig. 3.8, which shows the formation curves in the borate-proton equilibrium system at various total borate concentrations. Figure 3.8 reveals that as the total borate concentration decreases, the curves tend towards the formation curve describing the one-step protonation process ($H + B \rightleftharpoons HB$).

The shapes of the formation curves for polynuclear complexes and their dependence on the metal ion concentration are characteristic of the compositions of the associations predominating in the system. Accordingly, the compositions of the predominant associations can be estimated to a good approximation from certain parameters of the curves. This is very important prior to the computer evaluation of the experimental results, during the setting-up of a suitable chemical model. The shapes and concentration-dependences of these curves, the compositions of the main associations, and the correlations between them will therefore be surveyed in Chapter 5.

3.6 Rules of concentration distribution in complex equilibrium systems

3.6.1 Introduction

The equilibria in complex systems are most often illustrated by the concentration distribution curves. These are obtained by plotting the concentrations of the complexes formed as a function of the equilibrium concentration, or of the negative logarithm of the equilibrium concentration of one of the components.

The rules of concentration distribution for the stepwise formation of mononuclear complexes (and the stepwise protonation of ligands not forming polyacids) are well known; they were dealt with in Section 3.5.

The rules of concentration distribution relating to more complicated equilibrium systems (polynuclear complexes, mixed ligand complexes, protonated complexes and hydroxo complexes) have been clarified in recent years [64–71]; primarily these results will be discussed in the following Section.

3.6.2 Two-component systems

3.6.2.1 Concentration distribution during stepwise complex formation

In the case of stepwise complex formation, the increase of the ligand concentration is accompanied by a monotonous decrease of the metal ion concentration and by a monotonous increase of the concentration of the complex containing the maximum number of ligands, while the concentrations of the intermediate complexes vary according to maximum curves. The maximum concentrations of the intermediate complexes are to be found at the integer points on the formation curve. The concentrations of the complexes MeL_{j-1} and MeL_j are equal at the ligand concentration agreeing with the equilibrium constant for the process $MeL_{j-1} + L$.

One essential feature of the concentration distribution of complexes formed in a stepwise equilibria is that the partial mole fractions (α_j) referred to the total metal ion concentration depend only on the equilibrium concentration of the ligand. Thus, if the equilibrium concentration of the ligand is known, the concentration distribution can be read off directly at any total metal ion or total ligand concentration. From a practical, and mainly an analytical chemistry aspect, however, a knowledge of the distribution curves is not always sufficient: in general, we know not the equilibrium concentration of the ligand, but the total concentrations of the components. If the concentration distribution is to 3 General characterization of complex equilibrium systems

be calculated, the equations

$$T_{\rm Me} = \sum_{0}^{N} \left[{\rm MeL}_j \right] = \left[{\rm Me} \right] \sum_{0}^{N} \beta_j \left[{\rm L} \right]^j$$
(3.99)

and

$$T_{\rm L} = [{\rm L}] + [{\rm Me}] \sum_{0}^{N} j\beta_{j} [{\rm L}]^{j} = [{\rm L}] + \bar{n}T_{\rm Me}$$
(3.100)

must be solved first for [L] and [Me] by some iteration procedure, then the concentration distribution of the complexes can be calculated.

Equations (3.99) and (3.100) also give the possibility for the construction of nomograms from which the equilibrium concentration of the ligand can be read off directly. Figure 3.9 (taken from Butler [77]) depicts a nomogram for the $Cd^{2+}-Cl^{-}$ system.

The dashed line denotes a $0.1 M \text{ CdCl}_2$ solution; from this, the equilibrium concentration of the chloride ion can be read off directly as 0.09 M. This can



Fig. 3.9 Nomogram between total concentrations of Cd²⁺ and Cl⁻ and equilibrium concentration of Cl⁻ [77] (Reproduced with permission from: Butler, J. N., *Ionic Equilibrium*, Addison-Wesley, Reading, 1964, p. 335)





(a) Formation curve and concentration distribution of complexes; (b) $\log T_{cd} = f(\log [Cl^-])$ functions at various concentration ratios $q = T_{cl^-}/T_{cd}$ [64] (Reproduced with permission from *Talanta*, **29**, 473 (1982))

be used with explicit formulae to calculate the partial mole fractions of the individual complexes.

However, the distribution of the complexes can similarly be read off directly, without separate calculation, if the \bar{n} , $\alpha_j = f(\log [L])$ curves are given supplemented with the total concentrations [64].

One possibility for this supplementation is given by the fact that at the constant concentration ratio $q = T_L/T_{Me}$ the parameter T_{Me} too can be expressed as a function of the equilibrium concentration of the ligand

$$q = \frac{T_{\rm L}}{T_{\rm Me}} = \frac{[{\rm L}]}{T_{\rm Me}} + \bar{n} \,. \tag{3.101}$$

Substitution of Eq. (3.52) into Eq. (3.101) gives

$$T_{\rm Me} = \frac{\sum_{0}^{N} \beta_j [L]^{j+1}}{\sum_{0}^{N} (q-j)\beta_j [L]^j}.$$
 (3.102)

For comparative purposes, it is recommended that \bar{n} , $\alpha_j = (\log [L])$ and $\log T_{Me} = f(\log [L])$ should be plotted jointly at various q values, as in Fig. 3.10.

Figure 3.10 depicts the supplemented distribution curves for the $Cd^{2+}-Cl^{-}$ system. The upper part (a) shows the formation curve and the distribution curves as usual, while the lower part (b) gives the log $T_{Cd} = f(\log [Cl^{-}])$ curves at various T_{Cl}/T_{Cd} values. The thick line denotes the equilibrium conditions in the aqueous solution of $CdCl_2$. The curves clearly demonstrate that increase of the total concentrations is accompanied by an increase in the degree of complex formation. For instance, it can be read off directly from the curves that in 0.1 *M* CdCl₂ solution the predominant species are CdCl⁺ (44%), CdCl₂ (31%) and free Cd²⁺ (23%). If a solution is required, for example, in which the partial mole fraction of the complex CdCl₂ has a maximum, then about 0.4 *M* KCl must be added to the solution (see: dashed line, q=6).

The complexes formed in the $Cd^{2+}-Cl^{-}$ equilibrium system are comparatively weak. For comparative purposes, Fig. 3.11 shows the distribution curves of the



Fig. 3.11 Extended concentration distribution diagram of the $Hg^{2+}-Cl^-$ equilibrium system.

(a) Formation curve and concentration distribution of complexes; (b) $\log T_{Hg} = f(\log [Cl^-])$ functions at various concentration ratios $q = T_{Cl^-}/T_{Hg}$ [64] (Reproduced with permission from *Talanta*, **29**, 473 (1982))

stable complexes formed in the Hg²⁺–Cl⁻ system, together with the log $T_{\text{Hg}} = = f(\log [\text{Cl}^-])$ curves calculated at various q values.

Figure 3.11 reveals that, no matter whether HgCl₂ or K₂[HgCl₄] is dissolved in 10⁻³ *M* concentration, practically the total amount of metal ion is to be found in the form HgCl₂. It can also be seen that if the relation $T_{Cl}/T_{Hg} < 4$ holds, the curves in the bottom part of the Figure approach asymptotically a given log [Cl⁻] value. The asymptotically vertical lines denote that complex formation is practically quantitative; further increase of the total concentrations (at constant T_{Cl}/T_{Hg}) does not influence the concentration distribution of the complexes.

The nearly quantitative complex formation means that $\bar{n} \sim T_{\rm Cl}/T_{\rm Hg}$ if $T_{\rm Cl}/T_{\rm Hg} < 4$, and $\bar{n} \sim 4$ if $T_{\rm Cl}/T_{\rm Hg} > 4$. Accordingly, the log [Cl⁻] values to which the log $T_{\rm Me} = = f(\log [\rm Cl^-])$ curves tend relate to the points of the formation curve at which $\bar{n} \sim q = T_{\rm Cl}/T_{\rm Hg}$. This has a defined value only at $\bar{n} < 4$; thus, the asymptotically vertical curves are characteristic only for solutions with $q = T_{\rm Cl}/T_{\rm Hg} < 4$. If $T_{\rm Cl}/T_{\rm Hg} > 4$, then log [Cl⁻] increases monotonously with the increase of $T_{\rm Hg}$.

The diagrams in Figs 3.9 and 3.10 are much more useful from a practical aspect than the distribution curves alone. It must be taken into account however, that the β_j values used for the calculation are valid only for a given standard state, and accordingly the diagrams can only be utilized under the same conditions. The variation of the total concentrations along the log $T_{Me} = f(\log [L])$ curves also alters the ionic strength; the curves can therefore be used only in that concentration range in which this change is negligible compared to the concentration of the background electrolyte. This restriction means that the log $T_M = f(\log [L])$ curves correctly describe the variation in the concentration distribution only in the case of dilution with the background electrolyte; concentration of the solution (evaporation of the solvent) unavoidably alters the standard state too.

It frequently occurs during the stepwise formation of complexes that an electrically neutral member of the series of complexes yields a sparingly soluble precipitate. In this case, the diagrams should be supplemented with the solubility curve. This possibility is dealt with in Section 4.7, in connection with the application of solubility measurements for the determination of equilibrium constants.

The above correlations also hold for the pH-dependent distribution curves in the event of the stepwise protonation of the ligands. However, the shape of the log $T_{\rm L} = f(\rm pH)$ curves is different from that of the log $T_{\rm Me} = f(\log [\rm L])$ curves: on dilution these curves tend to the value $\rm pH = pK_w/2$ [65], and in the sense of the definitions discussed in Section 3.2 the concentration ratio $q = T_{\rm H}/T_{\rm L}$ may even be negative.

The differences are illustrated in Fig. 3.12, on the example of the distribution curves and log $T_L = f(pH)$ curves for the citrate-proton equilibrium system.





(a) Concentration distribution of species protonated to various extents; (b) log $T_{\rm H} = f(\rm pH)$ functions at various concentration ratios $q = T_{\rm H}/T_{\rm C}$ [64] (Reproduced with paraminian from Talanta 20, 472 (1982))

(Reproduced with permission from Talanta, 29, 473 (1982))

During calculation of the concentration distribution, it must be borne in mind that the formation constants can only be determined with an error of some hundredths, or in some cases some tenths of a logarithmic unit, and this variation of the constants whithin the error may mean a considerable modification of the concentration distribution of the complexes.

This is shown in Figs 3.13 (a)–(d), on the example of the distribution curves for the $Cd^{2+}-Cl^{-}$ system.

It is apparent from the Figures that an increase in the formation constant of some complex MeL_j leads to increases in the α_j values, primarily at the expense of α_{j-1} and α_{j+1} ; however, if there is appreciable overlap of the equilibria, the change may also show up in the concentration distribution curves of the 'more distant' complexes. This effect is an automatic consequence of the fact that an increase in β_j leads to increases in the equilibrium constant of the



Fig. 3.13 (a) (b) Variation in concentration distribution of complexes formed in the $Cd^{2+}-Cl^{-}$ system in response to increase of the log β_j values by 0.2 log unit

'reproportionation' reactions $MeL_{j-1} + MeL_{j+1} \rightleftharpoons 2MeL_j$, $MeL_{j-2} + MeL_{j+2} \rightleftharpoons 2MeL_j$, etc.

It is an important feature of the distribution curves that their relative positions are controlled by the quotient of the stepwise constants K_j/K_{j+1} . If all of the K_j/K_{j+1} values are the same in two equilibrium systems, then distribution curves of the same shape are obtained, independently of the value of β_1 . This is illustrated in Fig. 3.14, where the distribution curves are plotted for the $Cd^{2+}-Cl^-$ system, the K_j/K_{j+1} values being retained, with the log β'_1 value changed by 4 units. A simple derivation leads to the following correlation between the formation constants for the $Cd^{2+}-Cl^-$ system and those for the



model system described by the distribution curves in Fig. 3.14

$$\log \beta'_{i} = \log \beta_{i} + j \cdot 4. \tag{3.103}$$

The identity of the K_j/K_{j+1} data means that the equilibrium constants of any of the 'reproportionation' reactions $y \operatorname{MeL}_{j-x} + x \operatorname{MeL}_{j+y} \rightleftharpoons (x+y) \operatorname{MeL}_j$ are also the same; this identity explains the coincidence of the distribution curves.

Let us confirm the coincidence of the distribution curves for identical K_j/K_{j+1} values in the case N = 4 the α_2 function describing the distribution of MeL₂. The partial mole fraction α_2 is expressed in terms of the stepwise constants

$$\alpha_2 = \frac{K_1 K_2 [L]^2}{1 + K_1 [L] + K_1 K_2 [L]^2 + K_1 K_2 K_3 [L]^3 + K_1 K_2 K_3 K_4 [L]^4} . (3.104)$$



Fig. 3.14 Concentration distribution curves for a model system with the same K_j/K_{j+1} ratios as for the Cd²⁺-Cl⁻ system, but with different β_j data

The notation

$$[L] = \frac{1}{\sqrt{K_1 K_2}} x \tag{3.105}$$

is introduced, and the distribution is examined as a function of x. (On a logarithmic scale, this notation means a parallel shift by 0.5 log β_2 .) If Eq. (3.105) is substituted into Eq. (3.104)

$$\alpha_{2} = \frac{x^{2}}{1 + \left(\frac{K_{1}}{K_{2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}x + x^{2} + \left(\frac{K_{2}}{K_{3}}\right)^{-1} \left(\frac{K_{1}}{K_{2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}x^{3} + \left(\frac{K_{2}}{K_{3}}\right)^{-2} \left(\frac{K_{1}}{K_{2}}\right)^{-1} \left(\frac{K_{3}}{K_{4}}\right)^{-1} x^{4}}.$$
(3.106)

Only the ratios of the stepwise constants feature in Eq. (3.106). The identical values of these means that on the log x scale (by horizontal shifting of the log [L] scale) the α_2 functions can be made to overlap, i.e. they coincide. The general correlation between the shape of the distribution curves and the ratio K_j/K_{j+1} can be derived in a similar manner, by means of the substitution (parallel shift) $[L] = \beta_j^{(-1/j)}$

6 Beck-Nagypál

3.6.2.2 Concentration distribution when polynuclear complexes are formed

When polynuclear complexes are formed, the shape of the concentration distribution curves is influenced basically by the total concentration of the central ion. Figure 3.15 shows the concentration distribution of the complexes formed in the $H^+-B(OH)_4^-$ system at various total borate concentrations.

Figures 3.15 (a)–(e) reveal that decrease of the total borate concentration is accompanied by a gradual decrease in the maximum of the partial mole fraction of the polynuclear complexes; at a total borate concentration of 10^{-2} M, all of the polynuclear species have maxima below 0.05. (The mole fractions of



Fig. 3.15 Distribution of partial mole fractions of species formed in the $H^+-B(OH)_4^$ system at various total borate concentrations. $I - B; 2 - HB_3; 3 - H_2B_3; 4 - H_3B_5; 5 - H_4B_5; 6 - HB;$ where $B = B(OH)_4^-$

species not attaining the values of $\alpha_{j\max} = 0.05$ are not shown in Figures 3.15 (a)-(e)).

The formation of polynuclear complexes means that the log $T_{Me} = f(\log [L])$ function can not be calculated so easily as for systems described by stepwise complex formation. However, it is still true that, at given $q = T_L/T_{Me}$ or $q = T_H/T_L$, T_{Me} (or T_H) is a function of [L] (or [H]) only [65].

In the case of polynuclear complex formation, we may write

$$T_{\rm H} = \sum \alpha_{j\rm H} \beta_j [{\rm H}]^{\alpha_{j\rm H}} [{\rm L}]^{\alpha_{j\rm L}}$$

$$T_{\rm L} = \sum \alpha_{j\rm L} \beta_j [{\rm H}]^{\alpha_{j\rm H}} [{\rm L}]^{\alpha_{j\rm L}}.$$
(3.107)



Fig. 3.16 (a) $\log[B] = f(pH)$ functions at various total borate concentrations. $a - T_B = 0.5$; $b - T_B = 0.3$; $c - T_B = 0.2$; $d - T_B = 0.1$; $e - T_B = 0.05$; $f - T_B = 0.02$; $g - T_B = 0.01$; $h - T_B = 0.005$; $i - T_B = 0.002$; $j - T_B = 0.001$; (b) $T_B = f(pH)$ functions describing the H⁺-B(OH)⁴₄ system at various concentration ratios $q = T_H/T_B$

6*

At $q = T_{\rm H}/T_{\rm L}$, the following implicit function can be derived between [L] and [H]

$$\sum \left(\alpha_{jH} - q^{\alpha_{jL}} \right) \beta_j [H]^{\alpha_{jH}} [L]^{\alpha_{jL}} = 0.$$
(3.108)

 $T_{\rm L}$ can be calculated by solving Eq. (3.108) for [L] at various hydrogen ion concentrations. Figure 3.16 presents log $T_{\rm B} = f({\rm pH})$ curves for the H⁺-B(OH)⁻₄ system at various q values. Figure 3.16 (a) gives the log [B] = $f({\rm pH})$ functions at various total borate concentrations. In the knowledge of the total concentrations, the equilibrium concentrations of both components (H⁺ and B(OH)⁻₄) can be read off from the Figure. Thus, the concentrations of the different species can be calculated through direct formulae, without an iterative procedure.

The dashed line in Figure 3.16 (a) shows the conditions for a 0.1 M solution of disodium tetraborate ($T_{\rm B} = 0.4, q = 0.5$). The pH of the solution ($-\log[{\rm H}^+] = 9.1$) and the free borate concentration ($\sim 0.1 M$) can be read off via the dashed line.

It is interesting to observe in Figure 3.16 (b) that (in contrast with the proton-citrate system in Fig. 3.12) a vertically asymptotic log $T_{\rm B} = f({\rm pH})$ curve is obtained only at one given q value (~0.61). At q values lower than this, dilution causes a monotonous decrease in the pH; at higher q values, however, it first increases, and then (as expected) decreases.

A particularly noteworthy point in connection with this system is that at q=0.1 or q=0.9, for instance, a 10-fold dilution may lead to a pH change of more than one unit, i.e. to a greater extent than in solutions of strong acids or



Fig. 3.17 Distribution of mole fractions of species formed in the $H^+-B(OH)_4^-$ system, on the log $\alpha_j = f(pH)$ scale, at a total borate concentration of 0.01 *M*. $I - B; 2 - HB_3; 3 - H_2B_3; 4 - H_3B_5; 5 - H_4B_5; 6 - HB;$ where $B = B(OH)_4^-$

strong bases. (The 10-fold dilution of solutions of weak acids or weak bases means a pH change of 0.5 log unit.) The explanation of the unusual pH change is that the protonation constant of HB₃ ($10^{9.4}$) is larger than that of H₃B₅ ($10^{7.25}$), but smaller than that of the borate ion ($10^{8.87}$).

Dilution is therefore accompanied by a pH increase in the pH interval corresponding to the formation of H_3B_5 , and by a pH decrease in the interval corresponding to the formation of HB₃ and H₂B₃.

In order to illustrate the relative concentrations of the species formed in very low concentration, it is useful to plot the $\log \alpha_j = f(\log [L])$ curves: the logarithmic scale allows a concentration change of several orders of magnitude to be followed.

A logarithmic scale is used in Fig. 3.17 to show the concentration distribution of the complexes formed in the $H^+-B(OH)_4^-$ system at a total borate concentration of 0.01 *M*. Figure 3.17 demonstrates that the mole fraction of the polynuclear complex formed in highest concentration has a maximum below 0.01 (log $\alpha_{j, max} < -2$), but nevertheless the pH-dependence of the concentrations of the individual species is clearly seen.

If the differential coefficient $d\log [k_2]/d\log [k_1]$ describing the logarithmic distribution curves of two-component systems is derived in accordance with the rules for differentiation of implicit functions

$$\frac{\mathrm{dlog}\left[\mathbf{k}_{2}\right]}{\mathrm{dlog}\left[\mathbf{k}_{1}\right]} = -\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j2} [\mathbf{A}_{j}]}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{j2}^{2} [\mathbf{A}_{j}]}$$
(2.1)

(3.109)

$$\frac{\mathrm{dlog}\left[\mathrm{A}_{j}\right]}{\mathrm{dlog}\left[\mathrm{K}_{1}\right]} = \alpha_{j1} + \alpha_{j2} \frac{\mathrm{dlog}\left[\mathrm{K}_{2}\right]}{\mathrm{dlog}\left[\mathrm{K}_{1}\right]}$$

$$\frac{\operatorname{dlog}\left[A_{j}\right]}{\operatorname{dlog}\left[k_{1}\right]} = \alpha_{j1} - \alpha_{j2} \frac{\sum\limits_{m=1}^{m} \alpha_{m1} \alpha_{m2} \left[A_{m}\right]}{\sum\limits_{m=1}^{n} \alpha_{m2}^{2} \left[A_{m}\right]}.$$
(3.110)

Equation (3.109) shows that the function $[k_2] = f([k_1])$ decreases monotonously; at the maximum in the concentration of any ionic species A_j , Eq. (3.110) indicates the relationship

$$\left(\frac{\operatorname{dlog}\left[k_{2}\right]}{\operatorname{dlog}\left[k_{1}\right]_{\left[A_{j}\right]=\max}}\right) = -\alpha_{j1}/\alpha_{j2}.$$
(3.111)

i.e.

The validity of Eq. (3.110) is clearly illustrated in Fig. 3.17. At high pH, where the form $B(OH)_4^-$ predominates in the $H^+-B(OH)_4^-$ equilibrium system, and where there is practically no change in its concentration with variation of the pH, slopes dlog $[A_j]/dlog [k_1] = -dlog [B]/dpH$ of the logarithmic distribution curves for the individual species coincide with the corresponding α_{j1} values.

As the pH is decreased, the slope increases; then, after the maximum (since the limiting value of dlog [B]/dlog [H] in the given system is -1) the slope approaches the limiting value $\alpha_{j1} - \alpha_{j2}$. Equation (3.111) shows that the maxima in the concentrations of the individual species follow one another in the sequence of the quotients α_{j1}/α_{j2} , as can be seen in Fig. 3.16.

If Eq. (3.110) is differentiated with respect to $\log [k_1]$

$$\frac{d^{2} \log [A_{j}]}{d \log [k_{1}]^{2}} = -\alpha_{j2} \frac{\sum_{m=1}^{n} \alpha_{m2} (\alpha_{m1} + \alpha_{m2} x)^{2} [A_{m}]}{\sum_{m=1}^{n} \alpha_{m2}^{2} A_{m}}$$
(3.112)

where $x = -d\log [k_2]/d\log [k_1]$. Equation (3.112) reveals that the second derivative is always negative, i.e. the logarithmic concentration distribution curves for two component systems are always concave.

3.6.3 Three-component systems

It was seen in the preceding section that the concentration distribution in two-component systems can be plotted in two dimensions only if mononuclear complexes are formed. The possibility for this is provided by the fact that the partial mole fractions of the complexes are independent of the equilibrium concentration of the metal ion, and depend only on the equilibrium concentration of the ligand.

The formation of polynuclear complexes would necessitate a three-dimensional plot of the complete concentration distribution. Two-dimensional diagrams require that the total or equilibrium concentration of one of the components is fixed. In this case, however, the concentration distribution also depends on the value of the fixed total or equilibrium concentration (see Fig. 3.15).

The complete concentration distribution in three-component systems can in principle be plotted only in four dimensions. If the usual two-dimensional plotting is to be achieved, two total concentration must be fixed. The concentrations of all the species then depend only on the equilibrium concentration of the third component. In some practically important cases, however, there is no need to fix the total concentrations, as the concentration distribution can be illustrated in a simpler way.

In a considerable proportion of three-component systems the ligand is the conjugate base of a weak acid, which does not form a polyacid; at the same time, only mononuclear metal complexes are formed, while the protonation of the complexes and the formation of mixed hydroxo complexes can be neglected.

Under such conditions, the relevant equations simplify to

$$T_{\rm H} - [{\rm H}] + [{\rm OH}] = [{\rm L}] \sum_{i=0}^{Q} i\beta_i^{\rm H} [{\rm H}]^i$$
$$T_{\rm L} = [{\rm L}] \sum_{i=0}^{Q} \beta_i^{\rm H} [{\rm H}]^i + \bar{n} \cdot T_{\rm M}$$
(3.113)
$$T_{\rm Me} = [{\rm Me}] \sum_{i=0}^{N} \beta_j^{\rm H} [{\rm L}]^j.$$

The third equation in this equation system clearly shows that the partial mole fractions of the metal complexes depend on the equilibrium concentration of the ligand only, as if the system were a two-component one. At the same time, the total and equilibrium concentrations of the proton unambiguously govern the equilibrium concentration of the ligand. Systems of this type are generally studied at fixed $T_{\rm L}$ and $T_{\rm Me}$, through variation of $T_{\rm H}$ (and the pH). However, because of the connection between the equilibrium concentrations, the concentration distribution of the metal complexes is plotted as a function of the equilibrium concentration of the ligand. The correlations discussed in Section 3.6.2.1 naturally apply to these distribution curves.

Another example of the possibilities of simplification is when the mixed ligand complex formation processes $i \operatorname{MeX}_N + j \operatorname{MeY}_N \rightleftharpoons N \operatorname{MeX}_i Y_j$ (i+j=N) are studied at such high ligand concentrations that only the coordinatively saturated complexes are formed. In this case, the stepwise uptake of the ligand Y is accompanied by stepwise dissociation of X.

The rules governing the mole fraction distribution of the complexes are therefore similar to those observed in the analysis of the $\alpha_j = f$ (log [L]) curves for two-component systems; here, however, the independent variable is not the equilibrium concentration of Y, but (because of the dissociation of X) [Y]/[X] or log ([Y]/[X]). A concentration distribution of this type may be seen in the following Chapter, in Fig. 4.15.

If similar possibilities of simplification are not available, the concentration distribution curves are usually calculated and plotted with two fixed total concentrations. In this respect, however, attention must be drawn to the fact that the distribution curves correctly reflect the equilibrium relations only in that total concentration range in which the constants were determined.



Fig. 3.18 Concentration distribution of complexes formed in the copper(II)-glycine system; photometric data of Beattie *et al.* [78], calculated at a total glycine concentration of (a) 1 M, (b) 0.01 M. Potentiometric data at a total glycine concentration of (c) 0.01 M, (d) 1 M

(Fig. 3.18 (a): Reproduced with permission from J. Am. Chem. Soc., 98, 500 (1976))

As an example, Figs 3.18 (a)–(d) depict the distribution curves for the Cu(II)-glycine system, which has been investigated by a number of authors, including Beattie *et al.* [78].

Figure 3.18 (a) gives the distribution curve calculated with the equilibrium data of Beattie *et al.* [78], obtained photometrically at a total glycine concentration of 1 M. If these data are used at a comparable total ligand and total metal ion concentration, the character of the distribution curves changes radically and the partial mole fractions of the protonated complexes become virtually negligible (Fig. 3.18 (b)).



With the pH-potentiometric method most often applied for study of the system (at comparable total concentrations), formation of the protonated complex can not even be detected; only the formation constants of the complexes CuG^+ and CuG_2 can be determined. The distribution curves calculated with the constants obtained with the potentiometric method are presented in Fig. 3.18 (c); there is good agreement with Fig. 3.18 (b), calculated from the photometric data.

Figure 3.18 (d) shows the concentration distribution of the complexes, calculated via the potentiometric data, but at a total glycine concentration of 1 M.

Comparison of Figs 3.18 (a) and 3.18 (d) clearly demonstrates how misleading the distribution curves can be if the distribution of the complexes is calculated at concentrations differing considerably from those used in the determination of the constants.

The curves of Fig. 3.18 (a), are similar in nature (saturation or bell-shaped curves), like the distribution curves for two-component systems. However, this is not a general rule in systems with three or more components. Indeed, as will be seen in the detailed discussion in the following section, under certain conditions a minimum may occur in the distribution curves.

3.6.4 Unusual concentration distribution in three-component systems

During the past decade, a number of examples have demonstrated that several extrema may be found in the concentration distribution curves of the complexes. The following possibilities have been revealed:

(1) The complexes are formed at ligand concentrations so high as to cause an appreciable change in the medium; with the advance of the complex formation process, therefore, the numerical values of the formation constants change too. Such an unusual concentration distribution was found by Vértes, Gaizer and Beck [72] in a Mössbauer spectroscopic study of the interaction of dimethylformamide and SnI_4 dissolved in carbon tetrachloride. The phenomenon was later interpreted by Nagypál and Beck [67] by means of simplified model calculations.

(2) Unusual concentration distribution may develop as a consequence of specific competitive equilibria in systems with three or more components; the following discussion will be restricted to this type.

The first distribution curve displaying several extrema was reported by Agarwall and Perrin [73], who found three extrema in the pH-dependent concentration distribution curve of the bis-glycinatocopper(II) complex formed in the copper(II)-glycine-diglycine mixed ligand complex equilibrium system (see Fig. 3.19).

Unusual concentration distributions (with several extrema) have since been observed in other systems. The increasing number of the systems, and the efforts made to establish the rules of concentration distribution, have led to a deeper understanding of the phenomenon, and to a classification of three-component systems (with regard to the nature of the concentration distribution).





3.6.4.1 Classification of three-component systems

Four different types of three-component systems may be encountered in complex equilibrium systems:

- (1) metal ion-ligand-proton;
- (2) metal ion-two different ligands;
- (3) ligand-two different metal ions;
- (4) proton-two different ligands.

Any of these may be classified from three aspects:

- (1) number of two-component subsystems;
- (2) additivity of subsystems;
- (3) symmetry-asymmetry.

3.6.4.1.1The number of two-component subsystems

Any three-component system may contain two or three two-component subsystems, depending on the number of interacting component pairs. In metal ion-ligand-proton systems, for instance, if complex formation is accompanied by protonation of the ligand and hydrolysis of the metal ion, three twocomponent subsystems can be distinguished: the ligand-proton, the metal ion-proton (hydroxide ion) and the metal ion-ligand subsystems. If either the hydrolysis of the metal ion or the protonation of the ligand can be disregarded, only two subsystems can be distinguished.

3.6.4.1.2 Additivity of subsystems

If a species containing all three components is not formed in the system, then the system may be regarded as an additive one. In this case, the three-component system can be described unambiguously with the equilibrium constants describing the two-component subsystems. In the opposite case, the system is not an additive one.

Classification on these two aspects is illustrated in the following scheme



3.6.4.1.3 Symmetry and asymmetry

The triangles in the foregoing scheme can also be used to characterize the compositions of the species formed in the system. Each of the species $A_iB_jC_k$ is represented by a point with coordinates i/m, j/m, and k/m, where m=i+j+k. Thus, the components are situated at the vertices of the triangle, the species containing two components on the sides, and the species containing three components inside the triangle. The coordinates of the individual points give the ratios of the stoichiometric numbers, and accordingly the species and their polymeric forms are denoted by points with the same coordinates.

The concept of symmetry-asymmetry refers to the locations of the points on the triangle diagram. In case of the highest possible symmetry, the diagram has three twofold axes, i.e. it may be denoted by the symbol D_{3h} . However, such a degree of symmetry can rarely be attained. From the aspect of the concentration distribution, it is sufficient to examine the possibility of C_{2v} symmetry. Only one common component is to be found in the majority of three-component systems. As a consequence of complex formation, hydrolysis of the metal ion may be disregarded in most metal ion-ligand-proton systems, and hence the ligand is the common component. The metal ion is the common component in equilibrium systems of mixed ligand complexes. If the common component is situated at the upper vertex of the triangle, those systems are regarded as symmetric which have a vertical twofold axis. In the opposite case, the system is stoichiometrically asymmetric.

It is obvious that a metal ion-ligand-proton equilibrium system can be symmetric only in an exceptional case. Two complex series, MeL_i $(0 < i \le N)$ and H_jL $(0 < j \le Q)$, are generally formed in these systems. The system can be symmetric only when MeL and HL are formed only, i.e. Q = N = 1. Similarly, the metal ion-two ligands equilibrium system can only be symmetric if the maximum number of ligands is the same in the two series of complexes. It is possible, however, that some intermediate complex is missing from one of the series (or is formed in very low concentration), which likewise causes asymmetry.

The results of studies on a number of systems permit the conclusion that the asymmetry of the system is a necessary (but not sufficient) condition for the occurrence of several extrema.

3.6.4.2 Mathematical considerations

The derivation of the dlog $[k_3]/dlog [k_1]$ functions describing three-component systems is given in the Appendix. The products of various concentration sums feature in both the numerator and the denominator of Eq. (A.22). With a view to further transformation of this equation, we take two species, A_p and A_q , and denote their stoichiometric numbers by p_1 , p_2 , p_3 and q_1 , q_2 , q_3 . Their roles in the numerator and denominator may be given as

$$((p_2)^2[A_p] + (q_2)^2[A_q])(p_1p_3[A_p] + q_1q_3[A_q]) - (p_1p_2[A_p] + q_1q_2[A_q])(p_2p_3[A_p] + q_2q_3[A_q]) = = -(p_1q_2 - q_1p_2)(p_2q_3 - q_2p_3)[A_p][A_q]$$
(3.114)

and

$$((p_2)^2[A_p] + (q_2)^2[A_q])((p_3)^2[A_p] + (q_3)^2[A_q]) - (p_2p_3[A_p] + q_2q_3[A_q])^2 = (p_2q_3 - q_2p_3)^2[A_p][A_q].$$
(3.115)

It may be seen from Eq. (3.114) that the concentration products in the numerator must be multiplied by the determinant formed from the first and last two columns of the stoichiometric matrix

$$\begin{array}{cccc} p_1 & p_2 & p_3 \\ q_1 & q_2 & q_3 \end{array}.$$

At the same time, the concentration products in the denominator are to be multiplied by the square of the determinant formed from the last two columns of the matrix. If Eqs (3.114) and (3.115) are substituted into Eq. (A.22)

$$\frac{\mathrm{dln}\,[k_3]}{\mathrm{dln}\,[k_1]} = \frac{\sum_{p=1}^n \sum_{q=p}^n (p_1 q_2 - q_1 p_2)(p_2 q_3 - q_2 p_3)[A_p][A_q]}{\sum_{p=1}^n \sum_{q=p}^n (p_2 q_3 - q_2 p_3)^2 [A_p][A_q]}.$$
(3.116)

Through a similar, but much more complicated derivation, it can be demonstrated that similar correlations hold for multicomponent systems

 $\frac{\mathrm{dln}\left[k_{3}\right]}{\mathrm{dln}\left[k_{1}\right]} =$

$\sum_{p=1}^{n} \sum_{q=p}^{n} \dots \sum_{y=x}^{n} \det$	p_1p_2 q_1q_2 \vdots x_1x_2 y_1y_2	$\cdots p_{(m-1)}$ $\cdots q_{(m-1)}$ $\cdots x_{(m-1)}$ $\cdots y_{(m-1)}$	det	$p_2p_3 \cdots p_m$ $q_2q_3 \cdots q_m$ \vdots $x_2x_3 \cdots x_m$ $y_2y_3 \cdots y_m$	[A _p][A _q][A _x][A _y]
$\sum_{p=1}^{n} \sum_{q=p}^{n} \dots \sum_{y=x}^{n} d$	et $\begin{array}{c} p_2 \\ q_2 \\ \vdots \\ x_2 \\ y_2 \end{array}$	$P_3 \cdots P_m$ $q_3 \cdots q_m$ $q_3 \cdots x_m$ $y_3 \cdots y_m$	2	[A _p][A _q] [A _x][A _y].	(3.117

It is clear from Eq. (3.117) that the denominator is always positive. Thus only the signs of the concentration products in the numerator need be considered in order to establish the possible extrema of the distribution curve. If all of the concentration products have the same sign, no extremum is found in the distribution curve of the third component. In the opposite case, there may be an extremum in the curve. At given T_2 , T_3 and β_1, \ldots, β_n , the number and positions of the extrema are determined by solving the balance equations for T_2 and T_3 , together with the equation dln $[k_3]/dln [k_1] = 0$, for all the possible positive roots $[k_1], [k_2]$ and $[k_3]$.

No general numerical method is known which gives the number of chemically realistic $(0 < [k_i] < T_i)$ solutions. As concerns the present discussion, however, it is sufficient to examine whether there is a minimum in the distribution curve. In other words, it is sufficient to establish whether the sign of the second

derivative can be positive at the zero-point of the first derivative. Since the second derivative is required at the zero point of the first derivative, it is sufficient to differentiate only the numerator of Eq. (3.116) with respect to $\ln [k_1]$, the denominator remaining unchanged

$$\left(\frac{d^{2}\ln\left[k_{3}\right]}{d\ln\left[k_{1}\right]^{2}}\right)_{\frac{d\ln\left[k_{3}\right]}{d\ln\left[k_{1}\right]}=0} = \frac{\sum_{p=1}^{n}\sum_{q=p}^{n}\left(p_{1}q_{2}-q_{1}p_{2}\right)\left(p_{2}q_{3}-q_{2}p_{3}\right)\left[A_{q}\right]\left[A_{p}\right]\left(\frac{d\ln\left[A_{p}\right]}{d\ln\left[k_{1}\right]}+\frac{d\ln\left[A_{q}\right]}{d\ln\left[k_{1}\right]}\right)}{\sum_{p=1}^{n}\sum_{q=p}^{n}\left(p_{2}q_{3}-q_{2}p_{3}\right)^{2}\left[A_{p}\right]\left[A_{q}\right]}\right)}.$$
(3.118)

It follows from the equation defining the equilibrium constants that, at the point dln $[k_3]/dln [k_1] = 0$

$$\frac{\mathrm{dln}\left[\mathrm{A}_{p}\right]}{\mathrm{dln}\left[\mathrm{k}_{1}\right]} = p_{1} + p_{2} \frac{\mathrm{dln}\left[\mathrm{k}_{2}\right]}{\mathrm{dln}\left[\mathrm{k}_{1}\right]}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{dln}\left[\mathrm{A}_{q}\right]}{\mathrm{dln}\left[\mathrm{k}_{1}\right]} = q_{1} + q_{2} \frac{\mathrm{dln}\left[\mathrm{k}_{2}\right]}{\mathrm{dln}\left[\mathrm{k}_{1}\right]}.$$
(3.119)

At the same point, from Eq. (A.20) we have

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{dln}\left[k_{2}\right]}{\mathrm{dln}\left[k_{1}\right]}\right)_{\frac{\mathrm{dln}\left[k_{3}\right]}{\mathrm{dln}\left[k_{1}\right]}=0}=-\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{n}\alpha_{j1}\alpha_{j2}\left[A_{j}\right]}{\sum_{j=1}^{n}\alpha_{j2}^{2}\left[A_{j}\right]}.$$
(3.120)

Substitution of Eqs (3.119) and (3.120) into Eq. (3.118), followed by rearrangement, leads to

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{d^{2}\ln [k_{3}]}{d\ln [k_{1}]^{2}} \\ \frac{d\ln [k_{3}]}{d\ln [k_{1}]} \\ = 0 \end{pmatrix} = \\ = \frac{\sum_{p=1}^{n} \sum_{q=p}^{n} \sum_{j=1}^{n} (p_{1}q_{2} - q_{1}p_{2})(p_{2}q_{3} - q_{2}p_{3})(p_{1} + q_{1})\alpha_{j2}^{2} - (p_{2} + q_{2})\alpha_{j1}\alpha_{j2}[A_{p}][A_{q}][A_{j}]}{\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{j2}^{2}[A_{j}] \sum_{p=1}^{n} \sum_{q=p}^{n} (p_{2}q_{3} - q_{2}p_{3})^{2}[A_{p}][A_{q}]} \\ (3.121)$$

According to (3.121), the second derivative can be given in a table form at the zero-point of the first derivative. The left-hand column of this table contains the concentration products $[A_p][A_q]$ multipled by $(p_1q_2-q_1p_2)(p_2q_3-q_2p_3)$.

The heading of Table 3.11 contains the concentrations $[A_j]$ for which $\alpha_{j2} \neq 0$; the corresponding $(q_1 + p_1)\alpha_{j2}^2(p_2 + q_2)\alpha_{j1}\alpha_{j2}$ data are in the Table.

The numerator of Eq. (3.121) is obtained by summing the left-hand concentration products multiplied by the numbers in the Tables and by the concentrations in the heading. Some examples of the application of Eqs (3.116) and (3.121) will be given in Section 3.6.4.3. To facilitate the chemical interpretation of the results for the various systems, we shall examine the signs of the concentration products in the numerator of Eq. (3.116).

It was seen earlier that the denominator contains only those concentration products for which a non-singular 3×3 matrix is obtained if the stoichiometric numbers of the species are supplemented with the vector formed from the stoichiometric numbers of component k_1 . Similarly, the numerator contains only those concentration products for which a non-singular matrix is obtained if the stoichiometric numbers are supplemented with the stoichiometric numbers of either the first (1, 0, 0) or the third (0, 0, 1) component. This means that an equilibrium process can be written between the species k_1 , k_3 , A_p and A_q : $x(1, 0, 0) + (0, 0, 1) + y(p_1p_2p_3) + z(q_1q_2q_3) = 0$. The corresponding equilibrium constant is

$$K = [k_1]^{x} [k_3] [A_p]^{y} [A_q]^{z}.$$
(3.122)

The unknown parameters x, y and z can readily be expressed by means of the linear equations resulting from the mass balances

$$\begin{aligned} x + yp_1 + zq_1 &= 0 \\ 0 + yp_2 + zq_2 &= 0 \\ 0 + yp_3 + zq_3 &= -1 \\ z &= -p_2/(p_2q_3 - q_2p_3) \\ y &= q_2/(p_2q_3 - q_2p_3) \\ x &= -(p_1q_2 - q_1p_2)/(p_2q_3 - q_2p_3). \end{aligned}$$

Let us assume that, apart from the components, the system contains only the species A_p and A_q . In this case, we have directly from Eq. (3.122) that the value of dln $[k_3]/dln [k_1]$ is $x = -(p_1q_2 - q_1p_2)/(p_2q_3 - q_2p_3)$.

If several species are formed, these effects are summed as in Eq. (3.116).

The above considerations clearly show the chemical meaning of Eq. (3.116). The value of dln $[k_3]/dln [k_1]$ is influenced by all of the equilibrium processes that can be written between the species k_1 , k_3 , A_p and A_q . The stoichiometric numbers of the species govern whether the increase of $[k_1]$ increases or decreases the value of $[k_3]$ via the given equilibrium process.

As concerns the possibility of more than one extremum, the important points are the signs of the x values and the sequence of the various processes of the $\log [k_1]$ scale. If the x values have the same sign, the extrema can not appear; in the opposite case they can. If the equilibrium processes follow one another on the $\log [k_1]$ scale in such a sequence that the sign changes more than once, there will then be a possibility for more than one extremum (i.e. a minimum too can arise) in the distribution curve of the third component.

The considerations so far have deliberately been restricted to the $\log [k_3] = = f(\log [k_1])$ curves. However, the considerations on the transformation of the composition matrix in the Appendix show that in fact this is not a restriction, as any of the species in an equilibrium system (with the exception of k_1) can be selected as the third component. The above correlations and chemical considerations apply without any change to the systems transformed on that basis.

3.6.4.3 Further analysis of rules of unusual concentration distribution

3.6.4.3.1 Stoichiometric asymmetry in mixed ligand equilibrium systems

Schippert [66] used ²⁷Al NMR to study the system Al³⁺ (dissolved in nitromethane)–Cl⁻–dimethylformamide. He showed that the concentration of Al $(DMFA)_6^{3+}$ assumes two extrema as a function of the DMFA concentration, and the two extrema can be explained by the difference between the maximum coordination numbers for the subsystems Al³⁺–Cl⁻ and Al³⁺–DMFA.



Fig. 3.20 Compositions of complexes formed in the $Al^{3+}-Cl^{-}$ -dimethylformamide system. M = Al^{3+} , X = Cl^{-} , Y = DMFA [66] (Reproduced with permission from *Inorg. Chim. Acta*, 21, 35 (1977))

7 Beck-Nagypál

In agreement with Schippert's findings, the principles of classification of equilibrium systems indicate that the two extrema are a consequence of the asymmetry depicted in Fig. 3.20.

The concentration distributions of the complexes are illustrated in Fig. 3.21 as functions of the total concentration ratios of the two ligands, and in Fig. 3.22 as functions of the logarithm of the dimethylformamide equilibrium concentration.

In Fig. 3.21, the very sharp maxima in the concentrations of the complexes $AlCl_4^-$ and $Al(DMFA)_6^{3+}$ may be unusual, but a comparison of the two Figures reveals that this phenomenon is a consequence of the significant change of log [DMFA] at around $T_{Cl}^-/T_{DMFA} \sim 0.5$.

A full analysis of the system demonstrates that the concentration of $Al(DMFA)_6^{3+}$ is influenced by 23 concentration products. The most important three equilibrium processes responsible for the unusual concentration distribution are as follows

Equilibrium	Concentration product
(1) $MeX_3Y + 5Y = MeY_6 + 3X$	$[MeX_3Y][X]$
(2) $3MeY_6 + 2Y + MeX_4 = 4MeXY_5$	[MeX ₄][MeXY ₅]
$(3) MeXY_5 + Y = MeY_6 + X$	[MeXY ₅][X]

It may be observed in the Figures that the effects of the individual equilibrium processes appear practically completely separated.

In the T_Y/T_X interval between 1/3 and 1/2, MeY₆ is mainly formed from MeX₃Y via the first equilibrium process. Since MeY₆ and Y appear on opposite



Fig. 3.21 Concentration distribution of complexes formed in the $Al^{3+}-Cl^{-}$ -dimethylformamide (DMFA) system as a function of the concentration ratio T_{DMFA}/T_{Cl} [66]. Me = Al^{3+} , X = Cl^{-} , Y = DMFA [66]

(Reproduced with permission from Inorg. Chim. Acta, 21, 35 (1977))





sides of the equilibrium reaction, the elevation of [Y] increases the concentration of MeY₆.

In the T_X/T_Y interval between 0.5 and 0.7, the second equilibrium predominates. It is interesting to observe that the coordinatively saturated MeY₆ reacts with further Y (and with MeX₄), the two featuring on the same side of the equilibrium reaction. Thus, elevation of [Y] decreases the concentration of coordinately saturated MeY₆. This phenomenon is clearly a consequence of the asymmetry, i.e. the difference between the maximum coordination numbers for the subsystems Me-X and Me-Y.

Finally, as a consequence of the third equilibrium, the concentration of MeY_6 again increases. At sufficiently high [Y], MeY_6 becomes the species with the predominant concentration.

3.6.4.3.2 Stoichiometric asymmetry due to polynuclear complex formation

This effect is illustrated on the example of the CH_3Hg^+ -acetate-proton system investigated by Rabenstein *et al.* [74]. These authors found that the hydroxo complexes $Me(OH) = MeH_{-1}$ and $Me_2(OH) = Me_2H_{-1}$ are formed in an aqueous solution of methylmercury; in the presence of acetate ion, the complex MeL is formed, too. As illustrated in Fig. 3.23, there are three extrema in the pH-dependent concentration distribution curve for Me_2H_{-1} .

7*

Following the transformation of the composition matrix, we may derive

$$\frac{dlog [Me_{2}H_{-1}]}{dpH} = \frac{([L] + [HL] + [MeL])([Me] - [MeH_{-1}]) + [MeL]([L] - [MeL])}{([L] + [HL] + [MeL])([Me] + [MeH_{-1}] + 4[Me_{2}H_{-1}]) + [MeL]([L] + [HL])}.$$
(3.123)

If the corresponding equilibrium processes are written according to (3.122) for the eight concentration products in the numerator of (3.123), it emerges that the concentration of Me₂H₋₁ is influenced by four equilibrium processes

Concentration product

Equilibrium

- 1

1

- 1

 $2Me \Rightarrow Me_2H_{-1} + H$

 $2MeL + H \rightleftharpoons Me_2H_{-1} + 2HL$

 $2MeL \Rightarrow Me_{2}H_{-1} + 2L + H$

 $2MeH_1 + H \rightleftharpoons Me_2H_1$

- [L][Me], [HL][Me], [MeL][Me]
 (2) [MeL][HL]
- (3) [MeL][L]

(4) $[L][MeH_{-1}], [HL][MeH_{-1}], [MeL][MeH_{-1}]$

(a) (HL 0.1-0 [MeL] (b) [Me_(OH)]×10 [Me(OH)] 0.1-[Me] 0 (c) [Me] [Me(OH)] 0.1-[Me 2(OH)] 0 7 5 pH

Fig. 3.23 Concentration distribution of complexes formed in the methylmercury-acetate-proton system as a function of pH. $Me = CH_3Hg^+$.

(a) Concentration distribution in the acetate-proton system; (b) concentration distribution in the methylmercury-acetate-proton three-component system; (c) concentration distribution in the methylmercury-proton system [70]

(Reproduced with permission from Coord. Chem. Rev., 43, 233 (1982))

At low pH values, the concentrations of acetic acid (HL) and free methylmercury (Me) obviously predominate, and thus the concentration of $Me_2H_{\pm 1}$ rises with the increase of pH, as a consequence of equilibrium (1). However, in the pH range where the complex MeL is formed, but the ligand is still mainly in the form HL, equilibrium (2) becomes significant; the concentration of Me_2H_{-1} decreases as the pH is raised. At higher pH, where the dissociation $HL \rightleftharpoons L + H$ is practically complete, equilibrium (3) means that elevation of the pH again leads to an increase in the concentration of Me_2H_{-1} . Finally, the effect of equilibrium 4 becomes predominant, and the concentration of Me_2H_{-1} once more decreases as the pH rises. This sequence of the equilibrium processes in question is responsible for the three extrema in the concentration distribution curve. In order to plot such and similar systems in a triangle diagram, the axes are extended so that $OH^-(H_{-1})$ is also present as a component, as can be seen in Fig. 3.24.



Fig. 3.24 Compositions of complexes formed in the methylmercury-acetate-proton system, in an extended triangle diagram [70] (Reproduced with permission from *Coord. Chem. Rev.*, **43**, 233 (1982))

3.6.4.3.3 General asymmetry of H-L-Me systems

It was mentioned in Section 3.6.4.1.3 that the proton-ligand-metal ion systems can be symmetric in exceptional cases only. These systems are generally asymmetric. As an example of the analysis of the distributions in systems of this type, we shall present results obtained on the copper(II)-diethylenetriamine-proton system.

This system has been studied among others by Kaden and Zuberbühler [75]; the formation constants they found are listed in Table 3.9. The results of Nagypál, Beck and Zuberbühler [71] showed that a concentration minimum may appear in the concentration distribution curves of the species H_2L and

ice in set	(Component	S	and the state
	k ₁ H	k ₂ L	k ₃ Me	
Species	Stoich	iometric nu	umbers	$\log \beta$
$H \\ L \\ Me \\ HL \\ H_2L \\ H_3L \\ MeL \\ MeL_2 \\ MeL_2H$	1 0 1 2 3 0 0 1	0 1 0 1 1 1 1 2 2	0 0 1 0 0 0 1 1 1	0 0 10.06 19.35 24.04 15.94 20.86 29.58
MeLH_1	-1	1	1	6.55

Table 3.9 Compositions and formation constants of species formed in the copper(II)-diethylenetriamineproton system [75]

 MeH_{-1} if the total concentrations are chosen appropriately. The system is a rather complicated one, but the equilibrium processes can be separated into two pH ranges. Below pH ~ 7, formation of MeL is the only important complex formation reaction, and thus only the presence of the associations H_3L , H_2L , HL and MeL need be considered.

To illustrate the application of (3.116), in Table 3.10 we present a description of the system with the various species chosen as component k_3 , together with the concentration products featuring in the numerator of the first derivative.

From the signs of the concentration products in the lower half of Table 3.10 it is clear that [Me] and $[H_3L]$ increase monotonously, while [L] and [MeL] decrease monotonously as the hydrogen ion concentration is elevated. An extremum (change in sign) can occur only in the concentration distribution curves for HL and H₂L.

To establish the possibility of a concentration minimum in accordance with the considerations discussed before, the second derivatives for the extrema of [HL] and $[H_2]$ are given in Tables 3.11 and 3.12.

The left-hand columns of Tables 3.11 and 3.12 contain the first derivatives. The second derivatives are obtained by multiplying every element of the left-hand column by the numbers in the corresponding row and by the concentrations indicated in the headings of Table 3.12, the concentration products then being summed. Since the second derivatives are given at the zero points of the first derivative, an arbitrary number may be added to any column of Table 3.12. From the data and their signs in Table 3.11, it may be seen that the only term of the second derivative which has a positive coefficient is the concentration product [Me][MeL][MeL]. However, if -1 is added to the

Le Theat Land

Table 3.10 Composition matrices of species formed up to pH 7 in the copper(II)-diethylenetriamine-proton system, with the various species chosen as third component. The numerators of the first derivatives of the distribution curves are calculated on the basis of Eq. (3.116)

									1								
								Compo	nents								
species	k ₁ k ₂ k H L M	e a	k, H	k2 k Me I	5.7	k, H	k ₂ Me	k ₃ HL	k ₁ H	k ₂ Me	k ₃ H ₂ L	k, H	k ₂ Me	k ₃ H ₃ L	k ₁ H	k2 Me	k ₃ MeL
H L Me HL H ₂ L H ₃ L MeL	1 0 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 2 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 1 1 1 0	00-000	0 3 2 1 0 0 1	00000	0-0	1 0 0 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	00-00-	0-0	-2 -2 -1 -1 -2	0 - 0 0 -	0-0		0 1 0 0 1 0 0 1	0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	0.37-00-	0 0	0 - 0
umerator	+ [HL] [MeL] + 2[H ₃ L] [MeL + [H ₃ L] [MeL]	7-	-[Me] -2[M6] -3[M6] -3[M1] -2[H2] -3[H3]	[[HL]] [][HL] [][H ₂ L] [][MeL] [][MeL] [][Mel L][Mel		+[M6 +[L] +[L] +[L] -[M6 -2[M1 -2[M1]	[[Me] [[Me] [[Me]] [[MeL]] [[H ₂ L] [[Me [L] [[Me e] [[H ₃]	2 222	+ 2[N + 2[L + 2[L + 2[L + [H] - [M	16] [M [M] [M [M] [Me] [Me] [Me] [Me] [M] [Me]		+ 3[L + 3[L + 2[N + 2]N + 2[H][Me]][Me]][Me]][Me][H][Me][H][Me][H][H][H][H][H][H][H][H][H][H][H][H][H]	22222	-[M(-2[L -3[N	e] [HL]	1-

3.6 Rules of concentration distribution

Aj	[Me]	[MeL]
First derivative*	$((p_1 + q_1) \alpha_{i2}^2 - (p_2 - q_1))$	$+ q_2) \alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j2} [A_j] **$
+[Me][MeL]	-1	1
+[L][Me]	-1	0
+[L][MeL]	-2	-1
-[Me][H,L]	1	2
-[H_L][MeL]	0	1
-2[Me][H.L]	2	3
-2[H ₃ L][MeL]	1	2

Table 3.11 Numerator of the d²ln [HL]/dln [H]² at the zeropoints of the first derivative

* $(p_1q_2-q_1p_2)(p_2q_3-q_2p_3)[A_p][A_q]$ ** see Eq. (3.121)

Table 3.12 Numerator of the $d^2 \ln [H_2L]/d\ln[H]^2$ at the zero points of the first derivative

Aj	[Me]	[MeL]
First derivative*	$((p_1 + q_1) \alpha_{j2}^2 - (p_2))$	$+ q_2 (\alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j2}) [A_j] ^{**}$
+2[Me][MeL]	-2	- 2
+2[L][Me]	-2	0
+2[L][MeL]	-4	-2
+[Me][HL]	-1	1
+[HL][MeL]	-3	-1
-[Me][H1]	1	3
-[H ₃ L][MeL]	-1	1

*
$$(p_1q_2-q_1p_2)(p_2q_3-q_2p_3)[A_p][A_q]$$

** see Eq. (3.121)

right-hand column of Table 3.11, then the signs of all of the concentration products will be negative. This means that there is only a single extremum in the concentration distribution curve of HL, and this is a maximum.

A similar analysis of the data in Table 3.12 demonstrates that the addition (or subtraction) of any number to the columns always leaves concentration products with both signs. Consequently, more than one extremum (i.e. a minimum too) may occur in the distribution curve of H_2L .

A special point of the distribution curve is that at which the values of both the first and second derivatives are zero, i.e. where there is a horizontal inflexion point in the curve. In the given system, this point can be described by

$$T_{\rm L} = [{\rm L}] + [{\rm H}{\rm L}] + [{\rm H}_{2}{\rm L}] + [{\rm H}_{3}{\rm L}] + [{\rm MeL}]$$
(3.124)

 $T_{Me} = [Me] + [MeL].$ (3.125)
By rearrangement of the numerator of the first derivative

$$([H_3] - [HL] - 2[L])([Me] + [MeL]) = 2[Me][MeL]$$
 (3.126)

and by rearrangement of the numerator of the second derivative

$$(4[L] + [HL] + [H_3L])([Me] + [MeL])^2 = 4[Me][MeL]([MeL] - [Me]).$$
(3.127)

Equations (3.124)–(3.127) are overdefined for [H], [L] and [Me]; thus, in the interest of the solution of the equation system, one of the parameters (the value of $T_{\rm L}$, $T_{\rm Me}$ or one of the formation constants) must be regarded as a parameter to be calculated. Obviously, in a real chemical system only the total concentrations can be chosen freely. For the sake of simplicity, however, in the following discussion not only [H], [L] and [Me], but also $\beta_{\rm MeL}$ will be regarded as unknown.

Equations (3.125) and (3.126) can be rearranged

$$[Me] = \frac{T_{Me}}{1 + \beta_{MeL}[L]}$$
(3.128)

$$\beta_{\rm H_{3L}}[\rm H]^{3} - \beta_{\rm HL}[\rm H] - 2) (1 + \beta_{\rm MeL}[\rm L]) = 2\beta_{\rm MeL}[\rm Me].$$
(3.129)

Substituting Eq. (3.129) into Eq. (3.128) and multiplying by [L]

$$[L] (\beta_{H_{3L}}[H]^{3} - \beta_{HL}[H] - 2) (1 + \beta_{MeL}[L] = 2T_{Me} \frac{\beta_{MeL}[L]}{1 + \beta_{MeL}[L]}. \quad (3.130)$$

The use of (3.126) and (3.127) then leads to

$$\beta_{MeL}[L] = \frac{3\beta_{H_{3L}}[H]^3 - \beta_{HL}[H]}{\beta_{H_{3L}}[H]^3 - 3\beta_{HL}[H] - 8}.$$
(3.131)

Substitution of this expression into Eq. (3.130) gives

$$[L] = 2T_{Me} \frac{(3\beta_{H_{3L}}[H]^3 - \beta_{HL}[H])(\beta_{H_{3L}}[H]^3 - 3\beta_{HL}[H] - 8)}{(\beta_{H_{3L}}[H]^3 - \beta_{HL}[H] - 2)(4\beta_{H_{3L}}[H]^3 - 4\beta_{HL}[H] - 8)^2}. (3.132)$$

Finally, substitution of Eq. (3.132) into Eq. (3.124) and rearranging yields

$$T_{\rm L}/T_{\rm Me} = \frac{3\beta_{\rm H_{3L}}[{\rm H}]^3 - \beta_{\rm HL}[{\rm H}]}{4(\beta_{\rm H_{3L}}[{\rm H}]^3 - \beta_{\rm HL}[{\rm H}] - 2)} + \frac{(3\beta_{\rm H_{3L}}[{\rm H}])(\beta_{\rm H_{3L}}[{\rm H}]^3 - 3\beta_{\rm HL}[{\rm H}] - 8)(1 + \beta_{\rm H_{2L}}[{\rm H}] + \beta_{\rm H_{2L}}[{\rm H}]^2 + \beta_{\rm H_{3L}}[{\rm H}]^3)}{8(\beta_{\rm H_{3L}}[{\rm H}]^3 - \beta_{\rm H_{3L}}[{\rm H}] - 2)^3}.$$
 (3.133)

The surprising result from Eq. (3.133) is that T_L/T_{Me} is clearly defined by the pH of the horizontal inflexion point. If T_L/T_{Me} is calculated at various pH values, all

of the unknowns ([L], [Me] and β_{MeL}) can be calculated by means of the above explicit formulae.

The mutual correlation between the log β_{MeL} values and the concentration ratio T_L/T_{Me} relating to the horizontal inflexion point is illustrated in Fig. 3.25.

Figure 3.25 shows that a minimum can occur in the concentration distribution curve of H₂L only if the T_L/T_{Me} and log β_{MeL} data lie in the region defined by the "limiting lines". The region displays some characteristic features.

(1) If $\log \beta_{MeL} < 7.806$, or if $T_L/T_{Me} > 26.15$, there cannot be a minimum in the H₂L concentration.

(2) There is no upper limiting value of log β_{MeL} which eliminates the possibility of a minimum.

(3) At very large log β_{MeL} , the curves asymptotically approach the limiting values $1 < T_L/T_{Me} < 9/8$.

(4) At the experimental value of log β_{MeL} (15.94), there can be a minimum in the H₂L concentration distribution curve only if the 1.0024 < T_L/T_{Me} < 1.164 relation is fulfilled.

The correlations presented in Fig. 3.25 are also illustrated in Figs 3.26 and 3.27, where the H₂L concentration distribution curves are given at various T_L/T_{Me} and log β_{MeL} values.



Fig. 3.25 Correlation of $\log \beta_{ML}$ and T_L/T_{Me} at the horizontal inflexion points of the distribution curve $[H_2L] = f(pH)$ in the Cu²⁺-diethylenetriamine-proton equilibrium system. The insert shows the same function on an extended T_L/T_{Me} scale. The individual points correspond to the distribution curves of Fig. 3.26 (1-6) and Fig. 3.27 (a-h) [71] (Reproduced with permission from *Talanta*, **30**, 593 (1983))



Fig. 3.26 Concentration distribution of the species H_2L in the Cu²⁺-diethylenetriamine-proton equilibrium system, at various concentration ratios T_L/T_{Me} . $T_{Me} = 0.005 M$, $T_L/T_{Me} = 1 - 1.2$; 2 - 1.164; 3 - 1.1; 4 - 1.05; 5 - 1.02; 6 - 1.0024. The horizontal inflexion points are shown in Curves 2 and 6 [71] (Reproduced with permission from *Talanta*, **30**, 593 (1983))



Fig. 3.27 Concentration distribution of the species H_2L in the Cu^{2+} -diethylenetriamine-proton equilibrium system, at various $\log \beta_{MeL}$ values. $T_{Me} = 0.005$, $T_L = 0.006$, $\log \beta_{MeL} = a - 15.94$; b - 15.271; c - 14.5; d - 14.0; e - 13.5; f - 13.0; g - 12.5; h - 12.091. The horizontal inflexion points are shown in Curves b and h [71] (Reproduced with permission from *Talanta*, **30**, 593 (1983))

The data corresponding to the various curves in Figs 3.26 and 3.27 have also been indicated in Fig. 3.25, through the use of appropriate numbers or letters. Figure 3.26 provides an illustrative picture of the appearance of the horizontal inflexion, and the development and later disappearance of the minimum via a second horizontal inflexion point. Figure 3.27 similarly shows the effects of change in log β_{MeL} at $T_{\text{I}}/T_{\text{Me}} = 1.2$.

For the system in question, the simplified model discussed so far holds only up to $pH \sim 7$. At higher pH, the further complexes MeL_2H , MeL_2 and $MeL(OH) = MeLH_{-1}$ are formed; at the same time, H_3L can no longer be found in significant concentration.

Table 3.13 lists the coefficients of the concentration products appearing in the numerators of the functions dlog $[A_i]/dpH$.

CARDINE CONTRACTOR	Third component*							
The same of the second	Me	L	HL	H ₂ L	MeL	MeL ₂	MeL ₂ H	MeLH ₋₁
Concentration product	Coefficients							
[L] [Me]	0	0	1	2	0	0	1	-1
[L] [MeL]	0	0	1	2	0	0	1	-1
[L] [MeL ₂]	0	0	1	2	0	0	1	-1
[L] [MeL ₂ H]	-1	0	1	2	-1	-1	0	-2
[L] [MeLH_1]	1	0	1	2	1	1	2	0
[Me][HL]	0	-1	0	1	-1	-2	-1	-2
$[Me][H_2L]$	0	-2	-1	0	-2	-4	-3	-3
[Me] [MeL]	0	0	1	2	0	0	1	-1
[Me] [MeL ₂]	0	0	4	8	0	0	4	-4
[Me] [MeL ₂ H]	0	-2	2	6	-2	-4	0	-6
[Me] [MeLH ₋₁]	0	1	2	3	1	-2	3	0
[HL] [MeL]	1	-1	ō	1	0	-1	0	-1
[HL] [MeL ₂]	2	-1	0	1	1	0	1	0
[HL] [MeL ₂ H]	1	-1	0	1	0	-1	0	-1
[HL] [MeLH ₋₁]	2	-1	0	1	1	0	1	0
[H ₂ L][MeL]	2	-2	-1	0	Ó	_2	1	-1
[H ₂ L] [MeL ₂]	4	-2	-1	0	2	-2		-1
[H ₂ L] [MeL ₂ H]	3	-2	-1	0	1	1	-1	1
[H ₂ L] [MeLH ₋₁]	3	-2	-1	0	1		0	0
[MeL] [MeL ₂]	0	0	1	2	0	-1	1	0
[MeL] [MeL,H]	1	-1	i	ĩ	0	1		-1
[MeL ₂][MeLH ₋₁]	2	-1	0	i	1	0	0	-1
[MeL ₂ H] [MeLH ₋₁]	3	-2	-1	0	1	-1	0	0

diethylenetriamine-proton equilibrium system

Table 3.13 Coefficients of concentration products in numerators of first derivatives of

distribution curves for species formed in the copper(II)-

* The second component is L in the case of Me, while it is Me for the other species.

concentration

The signs of the coefficients lead to the finding that an extremum can occur in the concentration distribution curves of all species with the exception of H_2L . Analysis of the second derivative indicated that the *stoichiometry* of the system would also permit the appearance of a minimum in the distribution curves of Me, HL, MeL, MeLH₋₁ and MeL₂. When the values of the formation constants were taken into consideration, however, it turned out that there can be a minimum only in the distribution curve of MeLH₋₁.

The following equilibria are responsible for the minimum in the concentration of $MeLH_{-1}$

$$MeL \rightleftharpoons MeLH_{-1} + H$$

$MeLH_{-1} + H_2L \rightleftharpoons MeL_2 + H$

Because of the high stability, MeL is formed in the system in a relatively low pH range. The pK of MeL as a monobasic acid is 9.49; the formation of MeLH₋₁ therefore begins at pH ~ 8. The formation of MeL₂ too begins in this pH range, but as a consequence of the second equilibrium, this process decreases the concentration of MeLH₋₁ with increase of the pH. As the pH is further raised, the effect of the second equilibrium disappears, because of the decrease in the H₂L concentration, and thus the concentration of MeLH₋₁ increases again.

In full accordance with these considerations, it can be seen in Table 3.13 that the only concentration product with a positive coefficient is $[MeL_2][H_2L]$.

At the same time, the change in the concentration product $[HL][MeL_2H]$ is strictly parallel to the change in $[MeL_2][H_2L]$, and the sign of this latter concentration product is negative.

It clearly follows from this that a concentration minimum can appear only if

$$\beta_{H_2L} \cdot \beta_{MeL_2} > \beta_{HL} \cdot \beta_{MeL_2H}$$
 i.e. $pK_{HL}^H > pK_{MeL_2}^H$

This relation holds in the system if the protonation constant of HL is larger , than that of MeL_2 .

As a concentration minimum for MeLH₋₁ is an actual possibility in the copper(II)-diethylenetriamine-proton system, the coordinates of the horizontal inflexion point were calculated at $T_{Me} = 0.005 \ M$. The following results were obtained: [L] = $1.38 \times 10^{-4} \ M$, [Me] = $2.47 \times 10^{-16} \ M$, pH = 9.225. These data determine $T_{L} = 0.01167$.

Figure 3.28 depicts the concentration distribution of the mixed hydroxo complex MeLH₋₁ at $T_{Me} = 0.005$ and various total ligand concentrations. Figure 3.28 reveals that a minimum does not develop at low T_L values. There is a horizontal inflexion at $T_L = 0.01167$ (Curve c), and a minimum at larger T_L values. It should be noted that, in contrast with the distribution curves in Fig. 3.26, a second inflexion point does not appear with the increase of T_L ; the minimum does not disappear.





(Reproduced with permission from Talanta, 30, 593 (1983))

3.6.4.3.4 Thermodynamic asymmetry

It has already been mentioned in Section 3.6.4.1.3 that, in spite of the agreement of the maximum ligand numbers relating to the individual subsystems, the mixed complex equilibrium systems may be asymmetric if one of the intermediate complexes is missing or is formed only in very low concentration. The effects of this type of asymmetry on the concentration distribution curves are demonstrated on the example of the $Hg^{2+}-Cl^{-}-OH^{-}$ system.

This system was investigated by Sjöberg [76], whose equilibrium data are given in Table 3.14.

Table	3.14	Formati	on	constants	of
comp	lexes	present in	the	Hg ²⁺ -C	1
OH-	equili	brium sys	tem a	at $T_{\rm Cl} - /T_{\rm H}$	192+
		<2 [7	6]		

Species	$\log \beta$
HgCl	7.22
HgCl ₂	14.00
HgOH	10.64
Hg(OH) ₂	22.20
Hg(OH)Cl	18.35

* $pK_{W} = 14.22$



Fig. 3.29 Partial mole fractions of complexes formed in the $Hg^{2+}-Cl^{-}OH^{-}$ system as a function of pH. $T_{Hg}=0.005$, $T_{Cl^{-}}=0.005$ M [76] (Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand. A31, 705 (1977))



Fig. 3.30 Compositions of species formed in the Hg²⁺-Cl⁻-OH⁻ system [70] (Reproduced with permission from *Coord. Chem. Rev.* 43, 233 (1982))

His calculations showed that at constant T_{Cl}/T_{Hg} the HgCl₂ concentration displays a minimum as a function of pH, as shown in Fig. 3.29. The triangle diagram describing the system is given in Fig. 3.30.

It may be seen in Fig. 3.30 that the triangle diagram of the system is symmetric, but that there is nevertheless a concentration minimum in the curve. In order to interpret this phenomenon, the first and second derivatives were obtained. These demonstrated that the reason for the minimum is that the relation $2K_1^{\text{Cl}} \cdot K_2^{\text{OH}} > \beta_{11}$ holds in the system

$2[HgCl][Hg(OH)_2] > [Hg(OH)][Hg(OH)Cl].$ (3.134)

The relations

$$K_1/K_2 = 4$$
 and $\beta_{11} = 2\sqrt{\beta_2^A \cdot \beta_2^B}$

can be derived from the statistical considerations. If these relations hold for the parent and mixed ligand complexes in the system, the $HgCl_2$ concentration could not exhibit a minimum.

For the hydroxo complexes, however, the unusual relation $K_2^{\text{OH}} > K_1^{\text{OH}}$ $(K_1^{\text{OH}}/K_2^{\text{OH}} = 0.15)$ is valid in the system, so that Eq. (3.133) holds true, and a minimum develops in the HgCl₂ concentration. The asymmetry in this case originates from the fundamentally different values of $K_1^{\text{OH}}/K_2^{\text{OH}}$ and $K_1^{\text{CI}}/K_2^{\text{CI}}$.



Fig. 3.31. Concentration distribution of $HgCl_2$ in the $Hg^{2+}-Cl^--OH^-$ equilibrium system. $T_{Hg} = 0.005$; $T_{Cl} = a - 0.005$; b - 0.007; c - 0.00937 (horizontal inflexion point); d - 0.0096; e - 0.01 [70] (Reproduced with permission from *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **43**, 233 (1982))



This type of asymmetry is termed asymmetry of the equilibrium constants, or thermodynamic asymmetry.

From the solution of the equations of the first and second derivatives, at $T_{\rm Hg} = 0.005$ the coordinates of the horizontal inflexion point are $[\rm Cl^-] = 3.963 \times 10^{-6}$, $[\rm Hg^{2+}] = 2.792 \times 10^{-6}$ and $[\rm OH^-] = 1.659 \times 10^{-11} M (pK_w = 14.22, i.e. pH = 3.44)$. From these data, $T_{\rm Cl} = 9.37 \times 10^{-3} M$. Figure 3.31 illustrates the concentration distribution of HgCl₂ as a function of pH. The Figure reveals the HgCl₂ concentration minimum at $T_{\rm Cl} = 0.005$ and $T_{\rm Cl} = 0.007 M$, the horizontal inflexion at $T_{\rm Cl} = 0.00937 M$, and finally the disappearance of the inflexion at higher total chloride concentrations.

3.6.4.3.5 Model system with five extrema

Although we have previously not encountered a distribution curve with more than one minimum in the literature, the possibility of this can not be excluded. The simplest model system in which five extrema can appear is probably that in which the associations H_2L , HL, MeL_2 and $Me(OH)_4$ are formed.

The results of one model calculation on this particularly asymmetric system are to be seen in Fig. 3.32. From an analysis of the derivatives, the special concentration distribution of the species HL can be interpreted as follows. In



Fig. 3.32 Concentration distribution of HL in an L-H model system. $T_{\rm L} = 0.011$; $T_{\rm Me} = 0.005$; $\log \beta_{\rm HL} = 9.00$; $\log \beta_{\rm H_2L} = 12.00$; $\log \beta_{\rm MeL_2} = 8.50$; $\log \beta_{\rm MeH_{-4}} = -25.00$ [71] (Reproduced with permission from *Talanta*, **30**, 593 (1983))

8 Beck-Nagypál

the absence of metal ion, the concentration of HL would increase with increase of the pH up to pH ~ $(pK_1 + pK_2)2$. Via the equilibrium Me + 2HL \Rightarrow MeL₂ + 2H, however, the formation of MeL₂ decreases the concentration of HL, and this decrease overcompensates the rise in [HL]. The formation of MeL₂ is completed at pH ~ 4, and thus [HL] again rises. In the absence of metal ion, HL would decrease in the range pH > 6. However, in this pH range the process MeL₂ \rightarrow Me(OH)₄ + +2HL+2H takes place, which increases [HL] with the increase of the pH, and overcompensates the decrease of [HL]. Finally, this process too is completed, and as a consequence of the dissociation HL \Rightarrow L+H[HL] again decreases with increase of the pH.

3.6.4.4 Algorithm of the analysis of concentration distribution

On the basis of the mathematical considerations and the examples presented in the preceding sections, the following general procedure and algorithm can be formulated for analysis of the concentration distribution curves in threecomponent equilibrium systems.

(1) The composition matrix is transformed so that the species in question should be the third component.

(2) Equation (3.115) is used to calculate the coefficients of the concentration products of all species pairs.

(i) If all the coefficients are positive, then the concentration of the species concerned increases monotonously with the increase of $[k_1]$.

(*ii*) If every coefficient is negative, then the concentration of the species concerned decreases monotonously with the increase of $[k_1]$.

(3) If concentration products with both signs occur in the numerator of Eq. (3.116), then the second derivative must be calculated in tabular form with Eq. (3.121). Subsequently, it must be examined whether a uniform sign can be generated for all concentration products by the addition of an arbitrary positive or negative number to the columns of the table.

(i) If a uniform negative sign can be produced, then extremum can only be a maximum.

(ii) If a uniform positive sign can be produced, then the extremum can only be a minimum. (This type of distribution has so far been found in a model system only.)

(4) If a uniform sign can not be produced, then (depending on the total concentrations and the numerical values of the formation constants) more than one extremum can occur.

The following step is the establishment of the correlations between the concentration products with positive and negative signs. If there are concen-

References

tration products which can be given with identical powers of the concentrations of the components, but with different formation constants, then the values of the corresponding formation constants govern whether or not more than one extremum can occur.

If the above analysis points to the possibility of more than one extremum, then one of the mass-balance equations, together with the equations with the first and second derivatives equal to zero, must be solved for the roots $0 < [k_i] < T_i$, in order to obtain the coordinates of the horizontal inflexion point.

3.6.4.5 Conclusions

The considerations to this point refer to three-component systems, but they can readily be extended to systems with more components. On the simple example of the copper(II)-diethylenetriamine-proton system, it was seen that with appropriate constant ratios the concentration minimum can develop in the distribution curve of almost any species. It is very probable, therefore, that in more complicated equilibrium systems the species with distribution curves without the possibility of minimum are to be regarded as exceptions.

By the appropriate choice of the equilibrium conditions and total concentrations, systems can be produced in which the concentration of the given species is nearly constant in a wide pH range (but not the same as the corresponding total concentration).

Thus, use of the rules outlined above may also be of help in the planning of the various ion-specific buffers. It is known moreover that a number of mechanisms are operative in biological systems, which keep the concentrations of the individual species at almost constant levels. Chemical equilibrium systems in which the concentrations of certain species barely vary as a result of the mutually competitive processes may also play a role in biological regulation. The study of these may lead to a deeper understanding of some of the features of biological regulation.

References

1. Bjerrum, N., Z. anorg. Chem., 119, 179 (1921).

8*

2. Bjerrum, J., Metal Ammine Formation in Aqueous Solution. Haase, Copenhagen, 1941.

 Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand. 16, 159 (1962); Ingri, N. and Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 16, 173 (1962); Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 18, 1085 (1964); Ingri, N. and Sillén, L. G., Arkiv Kemi, 23, 97 (1964); Ingri, N., Kakolowicz, W., Sillén, L. G. and Warnquist, B., Talanta 14, 1261 (1967); Sillén, L. G. and Warnquist, B., Arkiv Kemi, 31, 315 (1969); 31, 341 (1969); Arnek, R., Sillén, L. G. and Wahlberg, V., Arkiv Kemi, 31, 353 (1969); Brauner, P., Sillén, L. G. and Whiteker, R., Arkiv Kemi, 31, 365 (1969); Sillén, L. G. and Warnquist, B., Arkiv Kemi, 31, 377 (1969).

References

- Perrin, D. D. and Sayce, I. G., *Talanta*, 14, 833 (1967).
 Sayce, I. G., *Talanta*, 15, 1397 (1968).
- 5. Leggett, D.J. and McBryde, W. A. E., Anal. Chem., 47, 1065 (1975).
- Sabatini, A., Vacca, A. and Gans, P., *Talanta*, 21, 53 (1974); Gans, P. and Vacca, A., *Talanta*, 21, 45 (1974).
- 7. Ting Po, I. and Nancollas, G.H., Anal. Chem., 44, 1940 (1972).
- 8. Nagypál, I., Acta Chim. Hung., 82, 29 (1974).
- 9. Kaden, T. and Zuberbühler, A., Talanta, 18, 61 (1971).
- Klein, M., in Practical Treatment of Coupled Gas Equilibrium. Physical Chemistry, An Advanced Treatise I. (Eds: Eyring, H., Henderson, D. and Jost, W.) Academic Press, New York-London, 1971.
- Poland, D., Cooperative Equilibria in Physical Biochemistry. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1978.
- 12. Barrés, M., Rev. Chim. Minérale, 4, 803 (1967).
- 13. Österberg, R., Acta Chem. Scand., 16, 2434 (1962).
- 14. Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 15, 1981 (1961).
- 15. Österberg, R., Acta Chem. Scand., 19, 1445 (1965).
- 16. Martin, R. P., Bull. Soc. Chim. France, 2217 (1967).
- 17. Martin, R. P., Rev. Pure Appl. Chem., 19, 171 (1969).
- 18. Sarkar, B. and Kruck, T. P. A., Can. J. Chem., 51, 3541 (1973).
- 19. Bjerrum, J., Kgl. Danske Videnskab. Selbskab. Mat.-Fys. Medd., 21, No. 4 (1944).
- 20. Sen, B., Anal. Chim. Acta, 27, 515 (1962).
- 21. Irving, H. and Rossotti, H. S., J. Chem. Soc., 3397 (1953).
- 22. Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 10, 186 (1956).
- 23. Rossotti, F. J. C., Rossotti, H. S. and Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 10, 203 (1956).
- 24. Dyrssen, D. and Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 7, 663 (1953).
- 25. Van Panthaleon van Eck, C. L., Rev. Trav. Chim., 72, 529 (1953).
- 26. Reference [2], p. 130.
- 27. Datta, S. P. and Grzybouski, A. K., J. Chem. Soc., 1091 (1959).
- 28. Brueheman, R. J. and Verhoek, F. H., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 70, 1401 (1948).
- 29. Murman, R. K. and Basolo, F., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 77, 3484 (1955).
- 30. Hietanen, S. and Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 6, 747 (1952).
- 31. Reference [2], p. 152.
- 32. Leussing, D. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 80, 4180 (1958).
- 33. Ray, A.K., Z. anorg. Chem., 305, 207 (1960).
- 34. Irving, R. J., J. Phys. Chem., 60, 1427 (1956).
- 35. Callahan, C. M., Fernelius, W. F. and Block, B. P., Anal. Chim. Acta, 16, 101 (1957).
- 36. Snavely, F. A., Fernelius, W. C. and Block, B. P., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 79, 1028 (1957).
- 37. Snavely, F. A. and Krecker, B. D., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 81, 4199 (1959).
- 38. Snavely, F. A., Krecker, B. D. and Clark, C. G., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 81, 2337 (1959).
- 39. Lee, T. S., Kolthoff, I. M. and Leussing, D. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 70, 2348 (1948).
- 40. Schilt, A. A., J. Phys. Chem., 60, 1546 (1956).
- 41. Brandt, W. W. and Gullstrom, D. K., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 74, 3582 (1952).
- 42. Banks, C. V. and Bystroff, R. C., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 81, 6153 (1959).
- 43. Haines, R. A., Ryan, D. E. and Cheney, G. E., Can. J. Chem., 40, 1149 (1962).
- 44. Dyrssen, D., Kgl. Tek. Hogsk. Hand. No. 220 (1964).

References

- 45. Burger, K. and Ruff, I., Talanta, 10, 329 (1963).
- 46. Bjerrum, J., Acta Chem. Scand., 26, 2734 (1972).
- 47. Sandell, A., Acta Chem. Scand., 25, 2609 (1971).
- 48. Persson, H., Acta Chem. Scand., A28, 885 (1974).
- 49. Trinderup, P. B., Acta Chem. Scand., A30, 47 (1976).
- 50. Ahrland, S., Acta Chem. Scand., A29, 881 (1975).
- 51. Bjerrum, J., Halonin, A. S. and Skibsted, L. H., Acta Chem. Scand., A29, 326 (1975).
- 52. Granberg, I. and Sjöberg, S., Acta Chem. Scand., A33, 531 (1979).
- 53. Skibsted, L. H. and Bjerrum, J., Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 429 (1978).
- 54. Gilbert, T. W. and Newman, L., Inorg. Chem., 9, 1705 (1970).
- 55. Hambright, P. and Fischer, E. B., Inorg. Chem., 9, 1757 (1970).
- 56. Bark, L. S. and Griffin, D., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 3811 (1971).
- 57. Baumann, E. W., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 687 (1972).
- 58. Saxena, R.S. and Scheelwant, S. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 1383 (1973).
- 59. Israeli, M. and Pettit, L. D., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 999 (1975).
- 60. Ault, J. L., Harrie, H. J. and Burgess, J., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1095 (1973).
- 61. Ouchi, A., Takeuchi, T., Takahashi, Y. and Nakatani, M., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 45, 282 (1972).
- 62. Steger, H. F., Can. J. Chem., 50, 641 (1972).
- Sillén, L. G., Polynuclear Complexes in Solution (Ed.: Martell, A. E.), Van Nostrand, New York, 491 p. 1971.
- 64. Nagypál, I. and Beck, M. T., Talanta, 29, 473 (1982).
- Ramis Ramos, G., Garcia Alvarez-Coque, M. C. and Mongay Fernandez, G., *Talanta* 30, 777 (1983).
- 66. Schippert, E., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 21, 35 (1977).
- 67. Nagypál, I. and Beck, M. T., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 14, 17 (1975).
- 68. Nagypál, I. and Beck, M. T., J. Phys. Chem., 84, 722 (1980).
- 69. Nagypál, I. and Beck, M. T., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 84, 395 (1978).
- 70. Nagypál, I. and Beck, M. T., Coord. Chem. Rev., 43, 233 (1982).
- 71. Nagypál, I., Beck, M. T. and Zuberbühler, A., Talanta, 30, 593 (1983).
- 72. Vértes, A., Gaizer, F. and Beck, M. T., Acta Chim. Hung., 80, 343 (1974).
- 73. Agarwall, R.P. and Perrin, D. D., in Coordination Chemistry in Solutions. (Ed.: Högfeldt, E.) Berlingska Bokrykeriet, Lund, 1972.
- 74. Rabenstein, D. L., Ozubko, R., Libich, S., Ewans, G. A., Fairhust, M. and Suwanprakorn, J., Coord. Chem., 3, 263 (1964).
- 75. Kaden, T. and Zuberbühler, A., Helv. Chim. Acta, 54, 1361 (1971).
- 76. Sjöberg, S., Acta Chem. Scand., A31, 705 (1977).
- Butler, J. N., *Ionic Equilibrium*. Addison-Wesley, Reading, Massachusetts, Palo Alto, London, 1964.
- 78. Beattie, J. K., Fensom, D. J. and Freeman, H. C., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 98, 500 (1976).

Chapter 4 Experimental methods

Complex formation leads to changes in numerous physical chemical properties of solutions. In principle, the measurement of any parameter which varies in response to complex formation provides a possibility for calculation of the compositions and formation constants of the complexes. In practice, however, the following conditions must also be satisfied if quantitative conclusions are to be drawn from the changes.

(a) The correlation(s) between the extent of complex formation and the measured parameter(s) must be known exactly.

(b) Complex formation must cause the parameter in question to change to an extent much higher than the experimental error.

(c) Measurements must be made in the range of total concentrations of the components where complex formation is well measurable, but not complete.

Questions relating to conditions (a) and (b) will be considered below, during the detailed treatment of the individual methods.

The available stability constant tables [1, 2] reveal that most equilibrium data were obtained by means of potentiometry (pH-metry) and visibleultraviolet spectrophotometry. Recently, these two methods have undergone significant advances, primarily as a consequence of the development and widespread application of ion-selective electrodes and recording spectrophotometers. Nevertheless, a survey of the most recently published data reveals that their use has been declining, because of the elaboration and introduction of other spectroscopic (NMR, ESR, Raman) and extraction methods and calorimetry. Particularly NMR spectroscopy and calorimetry have become important in the chemistry of complex equilibria. The NMR spectrum provides information at the molecular level on the examined system. It may therefore be applicable for determination of the microconstants (to be discussed in detail later) which shed light on the connection between the chemical equilibrium and the structure. In some cases calorimetry is also suitable for determination of the equilibrium constants. However, its main importance is that it permits resolution of the free enthalpy change accompanying complex formation into the enthalpy and entropy changes, whereby certain structural conclusions may be drawn.

In general, the following correlation holds between the value of some parameter, X, which can be measured directly or can be calculated simply from the experimental data, and the concentrations of the species present in the equilibrium system n

$$\mathbf{X} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i [\mathbf{A}_i] \tag{4.1}$$

where x_i is the corresponding intensive factor. This equation holds, for example, for the description of data from spectrophotometric measurements.

In certain cases of application of extraction and NMR, ESR and Raman spectroscopy to equilibrium chemistry, the experimental data comprise a linear function of the concentration of a single species, i.e.

$$\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{x}_k[\mathbf{A}_k] \,. \tag{4.2}$$

When the colligative properties are measured, all the intensive factors have the same value, and (4.1) can therefore be written in the form

$$X = x \sum_{i=1}^{n} [A_i].$$
 (4.3)

If potentiometry is carried out, X is the equilibrium concentration that can be calculated directly from the measured EMF (pH). The value of x_k relating to the component in question is therefore one, while for the other species $x_i = 0$, i.e.

$$\mathbf{X} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{A}_k \end{bmatrix} . \tag{4.4}$$

4.1 Measurement of colligative properties

A decrease in the number of species in a solution is a necessary consequence of the complex formation processes. Accordingly, the measurement of colligative properties, which depend on the number of dissolved species, may be suitable for the experimental study of equilibrium processes. As early as the beginning of this century, the measurement of freezing point depression was used to determine some acid dissociation constants. The quantitative aspects of the method have been discussed in detail by Souchay [3], Kenttämaa [4], Rossotti and Rossotti [5] and Tobias [6]. Although the experimental accuracy was increased considerably by the application of thermistors, the method has the unavoidable drawback that the studies can be made only at a single temperature, and there is no possibility to ensure a constant ionic strength. Measurement of the freezing point depression in itself is rarely sufficient for the determination

4 Experimental methods

of equilibrium constants. The experimental data do indicate that association occurs between the components of the system under study, but the corresponding equilibrium constants can be calculated only in the simplest cases.

However, application of the method may be of value for the determination of auxiliary data required for the investigation of more complicated systems. As an example, Jensen [7] studied the Cd²⁺-imidazole system polarographically in the ligand concentration interval 0.01-1.00 M. Such a large change in the ligand concentration made determination of the activity coefficients necessary. For this purpose, he used measurement of the freezing point depression and the vapour tension. Henry and Marks [8] carried out a spectrophotometric study of the PdCl2-LiCl interaction in anhydrous acetic acid. For evaluation of the data, they needed to know the equilibrium constant of the association 2LiCl=Li2Cl2, which can not be followed photometrically. The dimerization constant calculated from their vapour tensiometric measurements agreed well with the value found earlier by Kenttämaa [9] from freezing point depression measurements. The specific hydration of the perchlorate ion in nitrobenzene was studied by Tarui by means of freezing point depression [10] and vapour pressure [11] measurements. Measurement of the freezing point depression in the future may primarily be of importance in studies of specific solvation, though vapour tension measurement may be applied in this case too. Through measurement of the freezing point depression for benzene solutions of ZnCl₂, Schaarschmidt et al. [12] established the formation of polynuclear chloro complexes.

Measurement of the boiling point elevation may in principle likewise be used for the determination of equilibrium constants, but the measurement is more difficult to carry out, the experimental accuracy is lower, and the higher temperature may be a disadvantage.

As concerns the colligative properties, measurement of the vapour tension of the solvent is the most important. The method most frequently applied for this is vapour pressure osmometry. As seen above, vapour pressure measurement is used to supplement or check freezing point depression measurements. Otherwise, it is mainly employed for the study of ion association [13–16]. The significance of vapour pressure osmometry is increased by the fact that, together with the measurement of conductivity, it is the most important method of checking the considerations of Yokoyama and Yamatera [16, 17] to synthetize the Debye–Hückel theory and the theory of ion association. Eliezer and Algavish [18] applied vapour pressure osmometry to study the association of mercury halides in organic solvents.

As concerns equilibrium measurements based on the measurement of colligative properties, it can be stated in general that they are best used in combination with other methods or when the process under consideration can not be investigated by a simpler, more direct method.

4.2 Optical methods

The most striking phenomenon accompanying complex formation is the change in colour of a solution. The spectra of complexes in the visible or ultraviolet region permits valuable structural conclusions, particularly in the solution of transition metal and charge-transfer complexes. This field will not be dealt with in the present book. Reference may be made to relevant monographs [19–21].

The photometric methods are based on the mass balance equations and the Bouguert-Lambert-Beer law

$$T_{1} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{j1} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} \dots [k_{m}]^{\alpha_{jm}}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$T_{m} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_{jm} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} \dots [k_{m}]^{\alpha_{jm}}$$

$$A_{p} = \log \left(\frac{I_{0}}{I}\right)_{p} = d \sum_{j=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{jp} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} \dots [k_{m}]^{\alpha_{jm}}$$

$$(4.5)$$

where A_p is the absorbance of the solution, d is the cell length, and ε_{jp} is the molar absorption coefficient of the *j*th species at the wavelength denoted by index *p*. Photometric measurements are generally made at several wavelengths. In measurements involving different wavelengths, it is advantageous to select wavelengths in the vicinity of the maxima of the bands in the spectrum. The agreement of separately calculated formation constants at the different bands appreciably increases their reliability. If measurements at different wavelengths are evaluated jointly, the reliability of the constants is demonstrated by the results of appropriate statistical tests.

Spectrophotometric measurements may basically be divided into two groups, depending on whether exclusively the photometric data are utilized, or the calculations involve the use of data obtained from other measurements on the system (e.g. pH, pL, pMe). The majority of systems studied exclusively by spectrophotometric means are two-component ones, or systems which can be treated in practice as consisting of two components.

An account will be given below of the more important methods of investigation of two- and subsequently multicomponent systems, and also of photometric methods supplemented with other techniques.

4.2.1 Photometric study of two-component systems

In the following discussion the two components will be denoted by Me and L, with reference to metal ion-ligand systems. The ligand-proton interaction will be neglected, i.e. in the case of ligands that are conjugate bases to weak acids the considerations apply only in that pH range in which protonation of the ligand can be disregarded, or where the effect of protonation always appears in the same way in the course of the measurements. Me may denote a solvated metal ion, but it may also denote a stable or inert complex formed with a ligand L', this complex not dissociating under the conditions of the study.

In two-component systems, the measurements are made with systematic variation of the total concentrations $T_{\rm L}$ and/or $T_{\rm Me}$. The individual methods differ from one another in the manner in which the total concentrations are varied.

(a) $T_{\rm L} + T_{\rm Me}$ is kept constant, and the ratio $T_{\rm L}/T_{\rm Me}$ is varied. This procedure is known as the method of continuous variation, or the *Job* method.

(b) T_{Me} is kept constant, and T_L is varied. This is known as the mole ratio method or, to distinguish it from method (c), the mole ratio L method.

(c) $T_{\rm L}$ is kept constant, and $T_{\rm Me}$ is varied. This is the mole ratio Me method.

(d) $T_{\rm L}/T_{\rm Me}$ is kept constant, and $T_{\rm L}$ and $T_{\rm Me}$ are varied. This procedure is known as stoichiometric dilution.

(e) $T_{\rm L}$ and $T_{\rm Me}$ are varied so that the correlation $T_{\rm L} = [L] + \bar{n}T_{\rm Me}$ is satisfied at the same [L] and \bar{n} values. The procedure was elaborated by Bjerrum [22], and is known as the method of corresponding solutions.

The above methods are illustrated in Figs. 4.1–4.3; these diagrams show the concentration plane defined by the $T_{\rm L}$ and $T_{\rm Me}$ axes (see Országh and Beck [61]).

It must be noted that the modern computational possibilities permit the calculation of equilibrium constants from spectrophotometric data situated irregularly in the $T_{\rm L}$ vs. $T_{\rm Me}$ plane. However, the *regular* variation of the concentrations remains important, for in this way characteristic plots can be obtained that give information of the greatest value on the composition and stability of the complexes formed; what is more, this information is available directly, or almost at a glance. The warning by Rossotti *et al.* [23] should be borne in mind: prior to a computer evaluation "a small dose of manual calculation is invaluable in giving him (the experimenter) a 'feel' for the functions he is using". The truth of this is obvious, but it must be stressed again and again: even nowadays, numerous equilibrium studies are reported containing diagrams that reveal at once to the experts that the result is based on an incorrect assumption and/or faulty considerations. We shall deal with this question in more detail in Chapter 5.



Fig. 4.1. Variation of total concentrations in the Job method (continuous lines) and for stoichiometric dilution (dashed lines) [61] (Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., A33, 63 (1979))



Fig. 4.2. Variation of total concentrations in the mole ratio L (dashed lines) and mole ratio Me (dotted lines) methods [61] (Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., A33, 63 (1979))





4.2.1.1 The continuous variation method

The principle of continuous variation was first applied by Ostromisslensky [24] and Denison [25], but the procedure has nevertheless become known as the Job method, as it was first used by Job for the study of complex equilibria [26]. The basic principle is very simple. Let us assume that a metal ion and a ligand form only a single Me_pL_q complex

$$p\operatorname{Me} + q\operatorname{L} \cong \operatorname{Me}_{p}\operatorname{L}_{q}$$

$$K = \frac{[\operatorname{Me}_{p}\operatorname{L}_{q}]}{[\operatorname{Me}]^{p}[\operatorname{L}]^{q}}.$$
(4.6)

The measurements are carried out on a series of solutions in which the sum of the total concentrations of the metal ion and the ligand is constant, but their ratio varies continuously, as shown in Fig. 4.1

$$T_{\rm Me} + T_{\rm L} = C \tag{4.7}$$

$$x = T_{\rm L} / (T_{\rm Me} + T_{\rm L}) = T_{\rm L} / C \,. \tag{4.8}$$

The concentrations of the species MeL and Me_pL_q in solution can be given through the following equations

$$[Me] = C(1-x) - p[Me_pL_q]$$
(4.9)

$$[L] = Cx - q[Me_pL_q] \tag{4.10}$$

$$[\operatorname{Me}_{p}\operatorname{L}_{q}] = K[\operatorname{Me}]^{p}[\operatorname{L}]^{q}.$$

$$(4.11)$$

The complex can be expected to form in maximum concentration when the components are mixed in the ratio of their stoichiometric numbers p and q, i.e.

$$T_{\rm L}/T_{\rm Me} = q/p = \frac{x_{\rm max}}{1 - x_{\rm max}}$$
 (4.12)

To confirm the assumption, we differentiate Eq. (4.11) with respect to x, and put the derivative equal to 0 at maximum $[Me_pL_a]$

$$\frac{d[Me_{p}L_{q}]}{dx} = Kp[Me]^{p-1}[L]^{q}\frac{d[Me]}{dx} + Kq[Me]^{p}[L]^{q-1}\frac{d[L]}{dx} = 0$$

i.e. $p[L]\frac{d[Me]}{dx} + q[Me]\frac{d[L]}{dx} = 0.$ (4.13)

If Eqs (4.9) and (4.10), together with their differential quotients, are substituted into Eq. (4.13), we obtain Eq. (4.12), i.e. the assumption that $T_L/T_{Me} = q/p$ is correct. For multicomponent systems too, Ramanathan [27] demonstrated that any complex is formed in maximum concentration when the ratio of the total concentrations is equal to the ratio of the stoichiometric numbers of the complex in question.

Thus, if some parameter of the solution is proportional to the concentration of the complex Me_pL_q , and if this parameter is plotted as a function of x, the abscissa of the maximum gives the quotient of the stoichiometric numbers. The method is used most often during spectrophotometric studies, but the basic principle can be utilized with the measurement of any parameter proportional to the quantity (concentration) of the product, e.g. in the evaluation of conductivity [28, 29], calorimetric [30] and Raman [31] measurements, and even to establish a precipitate composition [32].

For photometric measurements, if the ligand and the metal ion absorb light, then the absorbance difference $A/d - \varepsilon_{\rm L} T_{\rm L} - \varepsilon_{\rm Me} T_{\rm Me} = A'$ must be plotted as a function of x. This absorbance difference is a linear function of the concentration of Me_pL_q

$$A' = (\varepsilon_{\mathsf{Me}_p \mathsf{L}_q} - p\varepsilon_{\mathsf{Me}} - q\varepsilon_{\mathsf{L}})[\mathsf{Me}_p \mathsf{L}_q].$$
(4.14)

The data ε_{Me} and ε_{L} may be obtained from the results of measurements for the limiting cases x=0 and x=1.

4 Experimental methods

If a single complex is formed, the method also provides additional information. It was demonstrated by Klausen and Langmyhr [33] that at $x_{max}=0.5$, if p=q>1, the curve has inflexion points in the vicinity of x=0 and x=1. If these are not present, p=q=1, i.e. formation of the complex MeL is suggested. Klausen [34] developed a method for differentiating between the complexes MeL and Me₂L₂, and for the determination of their constants; this method is based on the data from measurements at various C and d values, with the condition dC = constant. His method is in essence an efficient combination of the Job method and the method of stoichiometric dilution.

If a very stable complex is formed, the continuous variation plot consists of two strictly straight lines, intersecting each other at x=p/q. In this case, of course, no inflexion point appears in the experimental plot even for p=q>1. When moderately stable complexes are formed, linearity is observed only in the immediate vicinity of x=0 and x=1; at intermediate values the plot is curved. The stability constant and the molar absorbance of the complex Me_pL_q can be calculated from the difference between the experimentally obtained plots and those found by extrapolation of the linear sections in the vicinity of x=0and x=1.

The accuracy of the method clearly depends on the extent of the equilibrium conversion; besides the values of x and the stability constant, this is in turn a function of the sum of the total concentrations too. It was shown by Slovák and Borák [35] that, if a 1:1 complex is formed, a reliable stability constant can be obtained only if the condition 2 < KC < 15 is met.

If formation of the complex MeL is assumed the following simple correlation can be derived between the product KC and the equilibrium conversion $(y = [MeL]/T_L = [MeL]/T_{Me} = 2[MeL]/C)$ at x = 0.5

$$KC = 2y/(1-y)^2$$
. (4.15)

The function $y = f(\log (KC))$ is presented graphically in Fig. 4.4, the limits given by Slovák and Borák [35] being indicated on the abscissa.

Of the efforts made to refine the Job method, mention should be made of the considerations of Likussar [36, 37], who extended the 'normalized absorbance' concept of Momoki *et al.* [38] to the Job method.

Likussar set out from the principle of 'normalized absorbance' and proposed the introduction of a normalized scale in place of the plotting of absorbance differences. The normalizing factor used is the absorbance difference obtained at the value $T_{Me} = (1 - x_{max})C$ with a large ligand excess $(T_{Me} \approx p[Me_pL_q])$, x_{max} having been determined preliminarily. Accordingly, the straight lines starting from x = 0 and x = 1 intersect at y = 1, and the Job curves relating to all systems in which complexes of the same composition are formed, and which are characterized by the same equilibrium conversion, coincide on the normalized scale. If the experimental possibilities permit an independent determination of



Fig. 4.4. Correlation between the product *KC* and the equilibrium conversion, assuming formation of the complex MeL at mole ratio $T_L/T_{Me} = 1$. The limits suitable for determination of the constants are indicated on the axes; those on the abscissa were reported by Slovák and Borák [35], and those on the ordinate by Likussar [37]

the normalizing factor, this method is definitely advantageous. Normalized Job curves for the formation of complexes MeL are depicted in Fig. 4.5.

It may readily be seen that the normalization means in fact the independent determination of the molar absorbance of the complex Me_pL_q . Thus, a single unknown must be calculated: the value of K. Likussar's considerations indicated that an accurate equilibrium constant can be calculated in the interval $0.2 < y_{max} < 0.95$. If a 1:1 complex is formed, y_{max} agrees with the previously defined equilibrium conversion. The ordinate of Fig. 4.4 shows the limits based on the Likussar considerations. It can be seen that in this way a possibility arises for determination of the constants in an essentially wider range. This is a natural consequence of the fact that, of the two constants to be calculated (ε_{MeL} and K), the value of ε_{MeL} is actually determined in an independent experiment.

At the beginning of Chapter 4, we outlined the effect of the equilibrium conversion on the accuracy of the equilibrium constant. Measurements must be made in that range of total concentrations of the components for which complex formation is already well measurable, but not yet stoichiometric.

The inequalities $0.2 < y_{max} < 0.95$ and 2 < KC < 15, derived in different ways by Likussar [36, 37] and by Slovák and Borák [35], but reflecting the same chemical content, give a quantitative expression of this basic principle in the case of the Job method.

4 Experimental methods



Fig. 4.5. Normalized Job curves for 0.2, 0.4, 0.6, 0.8 and 1.0 maximum equilibrium conversion, assuming formation of the complex MeL [36] (Reproduced with permission from *Anal. Chem.*, 43, 1265 (1971))

With regard to the findings of Klausen [34], Momoki *et al.* [38], Likussar [36, 37] and Slovák and Borák [35], but in particular to the drawbacks of the method outlined below, in our opinion there is no sense in refining the method further.

Before the Job method is applied for the study of unknown systems, the following limitations must be taken into consideration:

(1) The method is not suitable for the determination of q/p values larger than 3. At mole ratios of 4:1, 5:1 and 6:1, the values of x_{max} are 0.800, 0.833 and 0.857. An error of 1-3% in the measurements can therefore cause a difference of even a whole unit in the mole ratio.

(2) The measurements must be made at constant ionic strength [39, 40]. During the study of weak complexes, where a large value must of necessity be chosen for $T_{\rm L} + T_{\rm Me}$, this condition does not always hold, nor in every solvent. The constancy of ionic strength is particularly questionable when the concept of normalized absorbance is used and the normalizing factor is determined.

(3) If the ligand is the conjugate base of a weak acid, the extremum may be pH-dependent [39, 41]. This question will be dealt with in more detail in Section 4.2.2.2.

(4) The starting condition that only a single complex should be formed in the system in question is met only exceptionally. If more than one complex is formed, the method may give unrealistic results [41]. Although there are a few

4.2 Optical methods

examples [42, 43] of the application of the method even in case of stepwise complex formation, reliable stability constants may be expected only under very favourable conditions. If more than one complex is formed with composition MeL_i , and only one of them (MeL_k) absorbs light, the position of the extremum is given by the following correlation

$$\frac{x_{\max}}{1 - x_{\max}} = k + \frac{1}{c(1 - x_{\max})} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (k - 1)i[\text{MeL}_i].$$
(4.16)

The corresponding expression is much more complicated if all of the complexes absorb light. The limitations of the continuous variation method are illustrated in Fig. 4.6 [45] and Fig. 4.7 [44] for the most frequently occurring case, when complex formation proceeds in a stepwise manner. In such a case, the position of the maximum may also depend on the total concentration and on the wavelength.





9 Beck-Nagypál



Fig. 4.7. Continuous variation curves for the Fe(III)–SCN⁻ system. $T_{\text{Fe}} + T_{\text{SCN}} = 0.1M$ (A), 0.01 M (B), 0.004 M (C), 0.002 M (D), 0.001 M (E) [44] (Reproduced with permission from Zh. Obshchei Khim., 16, 1551 (1946))

4.2.1.2 The mole ratio methods

The mole ratios are the most often used methods for the photometric study of complex formation processes. The essence of these methods is that the solution absorbance is measured at constant $T_{\rm L}$ or $T_{\rm Me}$, the total concentration of the other component being varied (see Fig. 4.2). Mole ratio L and mole ratio Me methods are distinguished, depending on whether the total concentration of the ligand or of the metal ion is varied. The measured absorbance value, decreased by the products $\varepsilon_{\rm Me} T_{\rm Me}$ and $\varepsilon_{\rm L} T_{\rm L}$, is a linear function of the concentration of the complex formed

$$A/d - \varepsilon_{\rm Me} T_{\rm Me} - \varepsilon_{\rm L} T_{\rm L} = (\varepsilon_{\rm Me_pL_a} - p\varepsilon_{\rm Me} - q\varepsilon_{\rm L}) [{\rm Me_pL_a}].$$
(4.17)

The mole ratio diagrams are obtained by determining the molar absorbances ε_{Me} and ε_{L} separately, and plotting the absorbance corrected as in Eq. (4.17) as a function of T_{L} or T_{Me} , the total concentration of the other component being kept constant.

If a single, very stable complex is formed, the diagram consists of two intersecting straight lines. The ratio $T_{\rm L}/T_{\rm Me}$ corresponding to the point of intersection gives the quotient of the stoichiometric coefficients. In this case, only the molar absorbance of the complex formed can be determined.

The diagram obtained when a moderately stable complex is formed does not display a sharp break: the initially linear section gradually approaches a limiting value and becomes horizontal. The q/p value is then given by the abscissa value corresponding to the point of intersection of the extrapolated linear sections. In a favourable case, the stability constant of the complex formed can also be calculated from the difference between the linear sections and the actual curve.

When a weak complex is formed, the horizontal section of the curve (the constancy of the corrected absorbance) can not be attained in realistic $T_{\rm L}$ or $T_{\rm Me}$ concentration ranges, particularly if it is considered that constancy of the activity coefficients must be ensured in these measurements too. In such cases, even the value of q/p can not be determined.

A number of authors have dealt with theoretical and practical aspects of the mole ratio method. It was demonstrated by Harvey and Manning [46], Bent and French [47] and Budesinsky and Sveč [48] that, through analysis of the mole ratio curves, not only the quotient q/p, but also the numerical values of the stoichiometric coefficients can be determined. Kingery and Hume [49] found that more reliable results can be obtained from a combination of the Bent and French and the Job methods than from either of the individual methods.

The considerations by Marcus [50] draw attention to the fact that the linear sections of the mole ratio curves obtained when moderately and relatively weak complexes are formed do not intersect at exactly the true ratio q/p, and this may lead to incorrect conclusions.

Momoki *et al.* [38] elaborated the concept of normalized absorbance in connection with the mole ratio methods. The essence of this is that a large excess of the component with variable concentration must be attained during the experiments, at this large excess the component with constant concentration being present practically completely in the form of the complex in question, Me_pL_q . When the measured data are normalized to the resulting absorbance difference, the mole ratio curves always tend asymptotically to 1. Under such conditions, mole ratio curves with the same equilibrium conversion, i.e. with the same KC value ($C = T_{Me}$ or T_L) for formation of the complex MeL, coincide. As observed in the discussion of the Job method, the Momoki method has the advantage that only K remains unknown, and can thus be calculated more accurately. However, experiments designed for determination of the normalizing factor require very careful planning.

Normalized absorbance curves for formation of the complex MeL are shown in Fig. 4.8. Normalized curves obtained with various q and p values are to be found in the original publication [38].

It is evident from the normalized curves that the question of the applicability of the mole ratio methods is also connected with the equilibrium conversion. If total conversion can be attained within a realistic interval of the variable

9*



Fig. 4.8. Theoretical normalized mole ratio curves at various KC values for formation of the complex MeL [38]. KC = 100 (A), 10 (B), 5 (C), 2 (D), 1 (E) (Reproduced with permission from Anal. Chem., 41, 1286 (1969))

concentration, then normalization of the curve is possible and the desired constant can be calculated more accurately. In the opposite case, two unknowns $(\varepsilon_{MeL} \text{ and } K)$ must be calculated, which can only be done with a larger error than in the case of one unknown. The lower the conversion attained within the realistic concentration interval (assuming the same experimental error), the greater the error in the data obtained. For a maximum conversion less than about 10%, only the product $\varepsilon_{MeL} K$ can be calculated, but not the value of K [51].

If the complex MeL is formed (at given KC), the total symmetry means that the mole ratio L and the mole ratio Me methods should lead to coincident curves. It was pointed out by Johansson [52] that this is not always the case. The cause of the difference is that, when the Me method is used, the excess Me is to be found practically in the form Me(H₂O)_xA_y (where x and y are constants, and A is the anion of the background electrolyte), while with the L method the ligand must replace the anion of the background electrolyte. Accordingly, it is possible that a smaller constant is obtained with the L method than with the Me method. In a fortunate case, the stability constant describing the interaction between the metal ion and the anion of the background electrolyte can also be calculated, from the difference between the constants found with the two methods. Further theoretical and experimental work is required in this field, in order to characterize weak interactions as completely as possible.



Fig. 4.9. Mole ratio curves for the copper(II)-chloride system in dimethylsulphoxide [53]. ○ — 1100 nm; △ — 1300 nm; □ — 1500 nm (Reproduced with permission from *Inorg. Chim. Acta*, 7, 293 (1973))

In the event of stepwise complex formation, if all of the complexes are sufficiently stable and the equilibrium processes do not overlap one another, the mole ratio diagram consists of several linear sections (see Fig. 4.9 [53]). The slopes of the straight sections are governed by the molar absorption coefficients of the stepwise complexes. It is stated by Meyer and Ayres [54] that the mole ratios of these stepwise complexes can be determined if the following condition holds

$$K_i \ge 600 K_{i+1}$$
 (4.18)

4.2.1.3 The method of corresponding solutions [22]

It was seen in Chapter 3 that, during the stepwise formation of mononuclear complexes, the free ligand concentration unambiguously determines the value of \bar{n} , and thus the concentration distribution of the complexes formed. Solutions

in which the total ligand and metal ion concentrations are different but the free ligand concentrations, and hence the values of \bar{n} , are the same, are termed corresponding solutions. In the sense of the correspondence, the absorbances of these solutions, normalized to the total metal ion concentration, agree in the entire spectral interval. It may be seen from Fig. 4.3 that the correspondence means that the conversion increase resulting from the increase of $T_{\rm L}$ is just compensated by the 'corresponding' increase of $T_{\rm Me}$.

The following correlation obviously holds for two corresponding solutions

$$\bar{n} = \frac{T_{\rm L} - [{\rm L}]}{T_{\rm Me}} = \frac{T_{\rm L}' - [{\rm L}]}{T_{\rm Me}'}.$$
 (4.19)

Solving for \bar{n} and [L]

$$\bar{n} = \frac{T_{\rm L} - T_{\rm L}'}{T_{\rm Me} - T_{\rm Me}'} \tag{4.20}$$

$$[L] = \frac{T_{Me}T'_{L} - T_{L}T'_{Me}}{T_{Me} - T'_{Me}}.$$
(4.21)

The stability constants can be calculated simply from the \bar{n} and [L] pairs by means of the methods discussed in the following chapter.

For application of the method, the mole ratio curves must be recorded for at least two solutions, in which T_{Me} differs significantly. The compositions of the corresponding solutions are established by interpolation, and the \bar{n} and [L] data pairs are calculated via Eqs (4.20) and (4.21). Figure 4.10 depicts formation curves for the copper(II)-ammonia system; these plots were obtained spectro-



Fig. 4.10. Formation curves for the copper(II)-ammonia system [22]. ○ — data obtained with method of corresponding solutions; + — data obtained potentio-metrically; □ — data obtained by measurement of vapour tension of ammonia

(Reproduced with permission from Kgl. Dansk Vid. Selskab Mat. Fys. Medd., 21. No. 4. (1941))

122

photometrically, by means of the method of corresponding solutions, and potentiometrically [22].

The method is suitable for the study of moderately stable complexes, under concentration conditions where T_{L} -[L] is substantially smaller than T_{L} , but is still appreciably distant from zero. The method has the very great advantage that knowledge or calculation of the molar absorbances is not necessary: these are eliminated experimentally. In all other methods, the values of the constants and the molar absorbances must be calculated simultaneously, or determined separately in accordance with the concept of 'normalized absorbance'. Another great advantage is that it can also be applied to study stepwise complex formation processes, which occur most frequently in practice. In spite of these undoubted advantages, the method has not become so widespread as the Job or the mole ratio methods [55-59]. With the development of the techniques of spectrophotometric measurement, with cells of variable thickness, and with the extension of the experimental possibilities of differential spectrophotometry, the wider application of the method of corresponding solutions is to be expected. As pointed out by Bjerrum, the principle of corresponding solutions may also be suitable for the evaluation of photometric measurements made with the competition method. A more general formulation of the criterion of correspondence has been attempted by Belyevantseev and Peshevitskii [60] and by Országh and Beck [61] in more complicated systems.

4.2.1.4 The method of stoichiometric dilution [62]

When the Job and the mole ratio methods are used, at a given T_L/T_{Me} value the equilibrium conversion is determined by the products $K(T_{Me} + T_L)$, KT_{Me} or KT_L , and the value of the product is unchanged during the measurement. In the dilution method of Cilento and Sanioto, the quotient T_L/T_{Me} is held constant while the absolute values of the concentrations are varied; this is naturally accompanied by a change in the equilibrium conversion. The formation constant of the complex in question can be determined the more accurately, the higher the concentration interval spanned within the equilibrium conversion limits 0 and 1. The possibilities and limitations of the method have not yet been satisfactorily explored, and relatively few examples of its application are found [63–65]. Since the manner of varying the concentration in this method is very similar to that in the method of corresponding solutions (see Figs. 4.2 and 4.3), but the method itself is substantially simpler experimentally, it seems to be important to establish the basic principles and the possibilities and limitations of application.

4.2.1.5 Photometric study of ligand protonation

The large majority of complex equilibrium investigations relate to ligands that are conjugate bases of weak acids. Accordingly, the extent of complex formation depends on the pH, and the protonation constants of the ligands must be known if the stability constants of the metal complexes are to be determined.

Under favourable conditions, any of the methods discussed so far may be suitable for determination of the protonation constants; the role of L in the above considerations is simply taken over by the hydrogen ion, and that of Me by L. The separate treatment of this topic is justified by the fact that, in studies on protonation processes, the equilibrium concentration of one of the components can be determined through simple pH measurements. The experimental data are therefore obtained by the systematic variation not of T_L and T_H , but of T_L and $[H^+]$ (i.e. the pH). The value of T_H is generally not known, whereas the necessary pH can be adjusted by means of appropriately selected buffers. A knowledge of the equilibrium concentration of one of the components essentially simplifies the determination of the constants.

In the photometric study of a process $H + L \rightleftharpoons HL$, the spectra may be recorded as a function of pH. At sufficiently low $(pH < pK - 3; [HL] \approx T_L)$ or high $(pH > pK + 3; [L] \approx T_L)$ pH values, the molar absorption coefficients of the species L and HL can be determined directly. An apparent absorbance referred to T_L , measured in the intermediate pH range, is the sum of these two molar absorbances, weighted in proportion to the partial mole fractions

$$\bar{\varepsilon} = \frac{A}{dT_{\rm L}} = \varepsilon_{\rm L} \frac{[\rm L]}{T_{\rm L}} + \varepsilon_{\rm HL} \frac{[\rm HL]}{T_{\rm L}}$$
(4.22)

i.e. $T_L = [L] + [HL]$

$$K_{\rm HL} = \frac{[\rm HL]}{[\rm H][\rm L]} = \frac{\bar{\varepsilon} - \varepsilon_{\rm L}}{\varepsilon_{\rm HL} - \bar{\varepsilon}} \cdot \frac{1}{[\rm H]}.$$
(4.23)

In this case too, it is advisable to carry out the calculations in the interval of equilibrium conversion, i.e. the ratio $[L]/T_L$, between 0.1 and 0.9.

When multistep protonation processes are examined in which the steps occur separately, the above considerations can be applied to the individual protonation steps. As an example, Curve I of Fig. 4.11 presents the correlation between pH and the absorbance at 260 nm of a solution of 2,3-dihydroxybenzoic acid [66].

If overlapping equilibria are studied, only the molar absorbances of the species H_NL and L can be determined directly. In such a case, evaluation of the experimental data and the corresponding pK values also means calculation of the molar absorbances of the species H_iL (N > i > 0), which necessitates application of a more sophisticated calculation procedure (see Chapter 5).







(Reproduced with permission from Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44, 3459 (1971))

If the ligand undergoes protonation in the very acidic range, the spectrum must be recorded as a function of the Hammett acidity rather than the experimentally measured pH. However, use of the Hammett function poses special questions that must be considered carefully prior to the experiments. Thus, the value of the Hammett acidity function depends among others on the type of substance undergoing protonation, and different acidity functions must be utilized for ligands of different types [67–72]. We shall not deal in detail with this question, as the protonation of ligands in the very acidic range is generally not important as concerns the study of complex formation equilibria.

The quantitative characterization of protonation or dissociation in very basic solutions, however, may be essential from the aspect of determination of the stability constants of metal complexes. With ligands containing peptide bond, an amide and/or an alcoholic OH group, for instance, it frequently occurs that, in the pH interval of formation of metal complexes, certain protons in the ligand become capable of dissociation. These protons otherwise do not dissoci-



ate in the measurable pH range in the absence of metal ion. In the copper(II)dipeptide systems, for example, the dissociation proceeds even in the weakly acidic range (pH \sim 4-5), whereas the corresponding process



takes place only in the range pH > 14. With the application of basicity functions, these processes too may be studied spectrophotometrically or with some similar method. Although attempts have been made to establish basicity functions [73–75], this area is by no means as thoroughly developed as that relating to processes in very acidic medium. A detailed investigation of basicity functions is expected to encounter the same theoretical and practical difficulties as those met during the use of the Hammett functions.

4.2.2 Photometric study of systems with three or more components

Photometry is most often applied for determination of the compositions and stability constants of complexes formed in systems with three or more components. Since the ligands are more often than not weak bases, photometric study of the M-L interaction is generally carried out in solutions containing the components H, L and Me. In this case, however, measurements are made in series of solutions of known pH (measured separately) or at fixed pH values. Nevertheless, the photometric measurements are used alone if mixed complex formation is studied in a solution containing one metal ion and two nonprotonating ligands. Below, we shall deal first with these systems, and then survey photometric measurements based on competitive reactions, supplemented with pH measurements.

4.2.2.1 Photometric study of mixed complexes of non-protonating ligands

Mixed halogeno complexes comprise the majority of the systems in this category. However, it also includes systems containing basic ligands that do not undergo protonation under the conditions of the investigation. Study of

4.2 Optical methods

three-component systems containing metal ion Me and halide ions X and Y is generally preceded by determination of the compositions, stability constants and molar absorbances of the complexes formed in the systems Me-X and Me-Y. When these are known, appropriate iteration methods can be used to calculate the expected absorptions at various total concentrations T_{Me} , T_X and $T_{\rm Y}$, assuming that mixed complexes are not formed. Differences between the calculated and the experimentally found data are indicative of the formation of mixed complexes, and the relevant parameters can be calculated from the differences. The experimental possibilities should be exploited fully to cover the widest possible ranges of total concentrations, but in particular measurements should be performed at $T_M: T_X: T_Y$ ratios corresponding to the ratios of the stoichiometric numbers of the complexes expected to be formed. As complete a spectrum as possible must be recorded, but the evaluation is preferably based primarily on data relating to the wavelengths where mixed complex formation has the greatest effect. In the study of such complicated systems, use of a computer to evaluate the experimental data is virtually indispensable, and planning of the experimentation is similarly best based on computer analysis.

The photometric study of mixed halogeno complexes is most frequently performed to determine the equilibrium constants of the processes

$$i \operatorname{MeX}_{n} + j \operatorname{MeY}_{n} \rightleftharpoons n \operatorname{MeX}_{i} Y_{j}$$

$$(4.24)$$

$$i + j = n.$$

Two cases differing in principle are distinguished in investigations of equilibria of this type.

In the first case, the complexes MeX_n and MeY_n are stable and undergo little dissociation; the concentrations of the complexes MeX_{n-i} and MeY_{n-i} and of free halide ions are therefore negligibly low. Under such conditions, the system can be regarded in practice as a two-component system, the components being MeX_n and MeY_n . However, there is a fundamental difference between the two-component systems Me-L and MeX_n-MeY_n : all equilibrium constants corresponding to Eq. (4.24) are dimensionless numbers, whereas the formation constants of the complexes MeL_i have dimensions of [concentration]⁻ⁱ. This has the obvious consequence that the equilibrium conversion is a function only of the quotient $T_{MeX_n}: T_{MeY_n}$, but is independent of the concentration sum $C = T_{MeX_n} + T_{MeY_n}$, and cannot be regulated by variation of the latter.

This case is encountered most frequently during studies on mercury(II)-halidepseudohalide systems [76-78], but it also occurs with other complexes [79]. The quantitative correlations can be derived most simply for the equilibrium $MeX_2 + MeX_2 \Longrightarrow 2MeXY$

$$K = \frac{[MeXY]^2}{[MeX_2][MeY_2]}$$
(4.25)

4 Experimental methods

$$T_{MeX_2} = [MeX_2] + 0.5[MeXY]$$
(4.26)

$$T_{\rm MeY,} = [\rm MeY_2] + 0.5[\rm MeXY]$$
(4.27)

$$T_{\rm Me} = T_{\rm MeX_2} + T_{\rm MeY_2}; \qquad R = T_{\rm MeX_2}/T_{\rm MeY_2}.$$
 (4.28)

The partial mole fraction of the mixed complex is

$$\alpha_{\rm MeXY} = \frac{[{\rm MeXY}]}{T_{\rm Me}}.$$
(4.29)

After appropriate algebraic transformation of Eqs (4.25–(4.28), α_{MeXY} can be expressed as a function of K at a given R value, and vice versa

$$\alpha_{\text{MeXY}} = \frac{1 \pm \sqrt{1 - \frac{4R}{(1+R)^2}(1 - 4K^{-1})}}{1 - 4K^{-1}}$$
(4.30)

$$K = \frac{4\alpha_{MeXY}^{2}}{(1 - \alpha_{MeXY})^{2} - \left(\frac{1 - R}{1 + R}\right)^{2}}.$$
 (4.31)

In accordance with the earlier statements relating to the equilibrium conversion, it may be seen from Eqs (4.30) and (4.31) that α_{MeXY} is not influenced by the sum of the total concentrations, but only by their ratio R. The value of α_{MeXY} can be calculated from the spectrophotometric data. A precondition for this is that the spectrum should contain a wavelength interval in which the molar absorbance of the mixed complex differs significantly from the average of the molar absorbances of the two parent complexes. In the opposite case, there is not even a possibility to detect formation of the mixed complex.

The absorbance of the equilibrium system in a 1 cm cell is

$$A = \varepsilon_{\text{MeX}_2}[\text{MeX}_2] + \varepsilon_{\text{MeY}_2}[\text{MeY}_2] + \varepsilon_{\text{MeXY}}[\text{MeXY}].$$
(4.32)

Let us introduce the notations

$$\Delta \varepsilon = \varepsilon_{\text{MeXY}} - \frac{\varepsilon_{\text{MeX}_2} + \varepsilon_{\text{MeY}_2}}{2}$$
(4.33)

and

$$\Delta A = A - (\varepsilon_{\text{MeX}_2} T_{\text{MeX}_2} + \varepsilon_{\text{MeY}_2} T_{\text{MeY}_2}).$$
(4.34)

We then have

$$\alpha_{\rm MeXY} = \frac{\Delta A}{\Delta \varepsilon \cdot T_{\rm Me}} \,. \tag{4.35}$$

The molar absorbances ε_{MeX_2} and ε_{MeY_2} can be determined in independent experiments. If the value of R is varied in a satisfactorily wide range, α_{MeXY} and
K can be calculated from the above equations through graphical or numerical methods.

As an example to illustrate systems of this type, Figs 4.12 and 4.13 present spectra obtained by Spiro and Hume [80] in connection with the system $Hg(II)-Br^{-}-I^{-}$, and functions $\alpha_{MeXY} = f(K, R)$.

A procedure based on photometric measurements was developed by Gaizer and Beck [81] for determination of the formation constants of mixed complexes obtained in the reaction between the non-dissociating complexes MeX_3 and MeY_3 . Their method was applied to study the system $BiCl_3-BiI_3$ dissolved in absolute dioxane. In this case, two mixed ligand complexes, BiI_2Cl and $BiICl_2$, may be formed

DICI 1 2DIL 12DIL CI

$$K_{21} = \frac{[\text{BiI}_2\text{Cl}]^3}{[\text{BiCl}_3][\text{BiI}_3]^2}$$

$$2\text{BiCl}_3 + \text{BiI}_3 \rightleftharpoons 3\text{BiICl}^2 \qquad (4.37)$$

$$K_{12} = \frac{[\text{BiICl}_2]^3}{[\text{BiCl}_3]^2[\text{BiI}_3]}.$$



Fig. 4.12. Spectra of HgI₂, HgBr₂ and HgIBr in aqueous solution. The dashed line is the arithmetical mean of the absorbances of HgBr₂ and HgI₂ [80] (Reproduced with permission from J. Am. Chem. Soc., 83, 4305 (1961))



Fig. 4.13. Partial mole fractions (α_{MeXY}) of the mixed complex HgBrI as a function of log R. \bullet – 219 nm; \Box – 220 nm; \bigcirc – 221 nm. The dashed lines depict the function $\alpha_{MeXY} = f(\log R)$ calculated at various K values [80] (Reproduced with permission from J. Am. Chem. Soc., 83, 4305 (1961))

On the assumption that, besides the parent complexes, only the mixed complex BiICl₂ is formed if $T_{BiCl_3} \gg T_{Bil_3}$, while only the mixed complex BiI₂Cl is formed if $T_{Bil_3} \gg T_{BiCl_3}$, a numerical and graphical method was elaborated for evaluation of the experimental data. For the details of the method, the reader is referred to the original publication [81]; it should be noted that, even in the age of computer data processing, the importance of this and similar graphical analyses remains, mainly in the preparation for the computer calculations and in the selection of the optimum experimental conditions.

Let us now return to Eq. (4.24). In principle, there is also a different case of the photometric study of the equilibrium processes $iMeX_n + jMeY_n \rightleftharpoons nMeX_iY_j$, when the sum of the ligand concentrations is chosen to be so large compared to the metal ion concentration that the system contains practically only coordinatively saturated parent and mixed complexes (n = N), the relations $[X^-] = T_X$ and $[Y^-] = T_Y$ holding. The equilibrium constants to be determined are dimensionless numbers in this case too, and thus the equilibrium conversion is independent of the sum of the concentrations of the ligands, being a function only of the quotient $T_X/T_Y = [X^-]/[Y^-]$. Accordingly, the spectra are best recorded as a function of this quotient.

For the coordinatively saturated halogeno complexes, the maximum coordination number is generally four; in these systems, therefore, three different mixed ligand complexes may be formed. Here again, useful information may be obtained from qualitative and semiquantitative studies of the changes in the

4.2 Optical methods

spectra when the quotient $[X^-]/[Y^-]$ is varied, and also from partial graphical analysis; a complete evaluation, however, demands the use of an appropriate computer program. As an example of investigations of this type, which have been carried out on complexes of gold [82, 83], nickel(II) [84] and palladium [85, 86], Figs 4.14 and 4.15 give results obtained by Elding and Gröning [83] for the system Au(III)–Cl⁻–Br⁻.



Fig. 4.14. Apparent molar absorbances ($\varepsilon = A/T_{Au}$) obtained in the Au(III)-Cl⁻-Br⁻ system at various ratios $T_{Br} - /T_{Cl} - T_{Au} = 1.71 \times 10^{-4} M$. Curve I - 100% AuBr⁻₄; Curve I4 - 100% AuCl⁻₄ [83] . (Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 867 (1978))



Fig. 4.15. Partial mole fraction distribution of the complexes AuCl_{4-n}Br_n⁻ (n=0, 1, 2, 3, 4) as a function of log [Br⁻]/[Cl⁻] [83] (Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 867 (1978))

131

4.2.2.2 Study of the Me-L interaction in three-component equilibrium systems H-L-Me

The large majority of photometric studies belong in this category. In these systems, the extent of complex formation depends on the hydrogen ion concentration, and the photometric measurements must therefore be supplemented with pH measurements. Photometry is generally performed either at constant pH, with variation of the ratio $T_L: T_{Me}$, or at constant T_L and T_{Me} , with variation of the pH.

4.2.2.2.1 Measurements at constant pH

In the course of measurements at constant pH, the total concentrations T_L and/or T_{Me} are varied. In this case too, we speak of Job, mole ratio L, mole ratio Me, etc. methods. To explore the equilibrium relations of the systems, however, it is very important that investigations are possible at various preadjusted pH values; in other words, the equilibrium conversion can be regulated not only by variation of the total concentrations T_L and T_{Me} , but also by variation of the pH.

If only a single complex Me_xL_y is formed, and the ligand participates only in a stepwise protonation equilibrium, the total concentrations can be given as follows

$$T_{\rm L} = [L] \sum_{i=0}^{N} \beta_i^{\rm H} [{\rm H}]^i + y [{\rm Me}_{\rm x} {\rm L}_{\rm y}]$$
(4.38)

$$T_{Me} = [Me] + x[Me_xL_y]$$
(4.39)

where

$$\beta_i^{\rm H} = \frac{[{\rm H}_i {\rm L}]}{[{\rm L}] [{\rm H}]^i} \, .$$

The only difference between Eq. (4.38) and the mass balance that can be written for a two-component system containing a non-protonating ligand is that the concentration of L is multiplied by a pH-dependent constant. This has the obvious consequence that, in photometric measurements at constant pH, the correlations valid for two-component systems can be used unchanged, [L] merely being replaced by $[L] \sum_{i=0}^{N} \beta_i^{H}[H]^i$. When the correlations relating to two-component systems are utilized, therefore, instead of the actual constant $K = [Me_yL_y]/[Me]^x[L]^y$ we obtain the apparent equilibrium constant

$$K' = \frac{[\operatorname{Me}_{x} L_{y}]}{[\operatorname{Me}]^{x} \left\{ [L] \sum_{i=0}^{N} \beta_{i}^{H} [H]^{i} \right\}^{y}}.$$
(4.40)

4.2 Optical methods

Accordingly, the considerations on the equilibrium conversion and the determination of the constant(s), discussed in Section 4.2.1, remain true without change. There is a fundamental difference, however: within the product K'Cregulating the equilibrium conversion, not only the value of C, but also that of K', can be varied through appropriate regulation of the pH. Thus, there are much wider experimental possibilities for selection of the optimum conditions for photometric measurements. Figure 4.16 depicts Job curves obtained by Das and Nair [87] at various pH values in the equilibrium system





copper(II)–5-nitrosalicylic acid. It can be seen that, as the pH rises, the equilibrium conversion increases, but the composition of the complex formed does not vary (within the pH range illustrated). Figure 4.17 shows Job curves obtained by Singh *et al.* [88] at various pH values in the system copper(II)–nitroso-2-naphthol-3,6-disulphonate. This Figure clearly shows the increase in the equilibrium conversion, but at the same time the change in the composition of the dominating metal complex.

10 Beck-Nagypál



Fig. 4.17. Job curves obtained in the copper(II)-nitroso-2-naphthol-3,6-disulphonic acid system at various pH values. 490 nm; $T_{Cu} + T_{NRS} = 2 \times 10^{-4} M$. $\Phi - pH = 2$; $\bigcirc - pH = 4.3$; $\Phi - pH = 8.4$ [88]

(Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 2551 (1972))

4.2.2.2.2 Photometric measurements as a function of pH

One of the most frequent methods of carrying out photometric measurements is to record the spectra as a function of pH at constant T_L and T_{Me} . The shape of the absorbance vs. pH function provides illustrative information on the system in question.

If the complex MeL is formed, the absorbance vs. pH curve exhibits a single step. At sufficiently low pH, the complex MeL is not yet formed, and the absorbance does not vary as the pH is increased, assuming that the ligand and its protonated forms do not absorb light at the given wavelength. In the pH range corresponding to formation of the complex MeL, the absorbance varies monotonously; finally, after MeL has formed, the absorbance again becomes constant.

From the resulting data, the stability constant can be calculated from point to point in the range of change of [MeL]. The molar absorbance referred to the total metal ion concentration is the weighted sum of the molar absorbances ε_{Me} and ε_{MeL} (these are weighted in proportion to the partial mole fractions)

$$\bar{\varepsilon} = \frac{A}{dT_{Me}} = \varepsilon_{Me} \cdot \frac{[Me]}{[Me] + [MeL]} + \varepsilon_{MeL} \cdot \frac{[MeL]}{[Me] + [MeL]}.$$
(4.41)

Through the rearrangement of Eq. (4.41), the average ligand number can be calculated directly

$$\bar{n} = \frac{[MeL]}{[Me] + [MeL]} = \frac{\bar{\varepsilon} - \varepsilon_{Me}}{\varepsilon_{MeL} - \varepsilon_{Me}}.$$
(4.42)

If the ligand mass balance is taken into consideration

$$T_{\rm L} = [{\rm L}] \sum_{i=0}^{N} \beta_i^{\rm H} [{\rm H}]^i + \bar{n} T_{\rm Me}$$
(4.43)

[L] and hence K can be calculated directly via the formula

$$[L] = \frac{T_L - \bar{n}T_{Me}}{\sum\limits_{i=0}^{N} \beta_i^{H}[H]^i}$$
(4.44)

$$K = \frac{\bar{n}}{(1 - \bar{n}) [L]}.$$
 (4.45)

In the event of stepwise complex formation, when the complex formation processes occur in well separated pH intervals, the above considerations naturally apply to the individual steps. If the stepwise equilibria overlap, or more complicated complexes are formed, it is preferable to carry out both the planning of the optimum experimental conditions and the evaluation by computer (see Chapter 5).

As an example of a spectrophotometric study as a function of pH, Fig. 4.18 depicts absorbance vs. pH curves obtained by Karadakov and Venkova [89] at various wavelengths and at various metal ion-ligand concentration ratios in the system Bi(III)-nitrilotriacetate.

Figure 4.18 clearly reveals that, in the vicinity of pH = 0, the complex BiL is formed at a pH value that decreases in parallel with the increasing ligand excess. It can also be seen that the effect of formation of the complex BiL is considerable at 243 nm, but barely discernible at 271 nm. The appreciable change at $pH \sim 5$ in the absorbance vs. pH curves obtained at a metal ion-ligand concentration ratio of 1:1 (Curves *1* and *4*) can be interpreted in terms of hydrolysis of the complex.

With a ligand excess, a similar type of change is observed at lower pH values, which unambiguously confirms that this effect is caused not by hydrolysis, but by formation of complexes MeL₂. At higher pH values (pH \sim 7–8), however, the complex MeL₂ also undergoes hydrolysis.

10*

4 Experimental methods



Fig. 4.18. Absorption vs. pH in the Bi³⁺-NTA system. I-3 - 243 nm; 4-6 - 271 nm. $T_{Bi} = 10^{-4} M$. $T_{NTA} - I$ and $4 - 10^4 M$; 2 and $5 - 2 \times 10^4 M$; 3 and $6 - 5 \times 10^{-4} M$ [89]

(Reproduced with permission from Talanta, 17, 878 (1970))

4.2.2.3 Competition methods

Photometric studies combined with pH measurements in the systems H-L-Me can, in a broader sense, be classified as competition methods. In these systems, the hydrogen ions and the metal ions compete for the ligand, and the position of the competition equilibrium is influenced through variation of the pH. The pH-dependence of the equilibrium state is followed photometrically, information thereby being obtained on the processes occurring between the components Me and L.

We also speak of competition studies if the position of equilibrium in the system Me-L is influenced by means of a third component Me' or L'. In photometric studies, this means that, when a component Me (or L) is added to an equilibrium system Me'-L (or L'-Me) with known composition, stability and molar absorbance, there is a shift in the equilibrium Me'-L (or L'-Me) via the competition chain Me'-L-Me (or L'-Me-L), and information can be derived from this shift with regard to the interaction Me-L, which itself can not be investigated photometrically.

These two different types of competition method will each be illustrated with one example. We shall present the method based on competition of the type Me'-L-Me and the principle of corresponding solutions. As an example, the experimental results of Irving and Sharpe [90] on the system Cu^{2+} -EDTA-Cd²⁺ are to be seen in Fig. 4.19.

The complex CuEDTA² has a well-defined absorption band at 720 nm. The absorbance obtained at pH 5 at constant T_{Cu} and increasing T_{EDTA} is described by the straight lines *mpq*. The complex CdEDTA²⁻ does not absorb light at 720 nm. Thus, the reason why Curves 2–5, recorded at increasing values of T_{Cd} ,



Fig. 4.19. Application of the method of corresponding solutions for determination of the stability constant of CdEDTA²⁻. The plot *mpq* shows the absorbance as a function of T_{EDTA} at pH = 5 and $T_{\text{Cu}} = 4.064 \times 10^{-4} M$. Curves 2–5 were obtained under the same conditions, but in the presence of 2.667×10^{-2} , 3.333×10^{-2} , 4.000×10^{-2} and $4.667 \times 10^{-2} M T_{\text{Cd}}$, respectively [90]

(Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 203 (1971))

differ from mpq is the equilibrium

$$CuY^{2-} + Cd^{2+} \Longrightarrow CdY^{2-} + Cu^{2+}$$
 (4.46)

where Y^{4-} = ethylenediaminetetraacetate. Expressing the absorbance of the solution in terms of the stability constant K_{Cuy}

$$A/d = \varepsilon_{\rm Cu}[{\rm Cu}^{2^+}] + \varepsilon_{\rm Cu}{\rm Y}[{\rm Cu}{\rm Y}]$$

$$T_{\rm Cu} = [{\rm Cu}^{2^+}] + [{\rm Cu}{\rm Y}^{2^-}] = [{\rm Cu}^{2^+}] (1 + K[{\rm Y}^{4^-}])$$

$$K_{\rm Cu}{\rm Y} = [{\rm Cu}{\rm Y}^{2^-}]/[{\rm Cu}^{2^+}] [{\rm Y}^{4^-}]$$

$$A/d = \frac{T_{\rm Cu}(\varepsilon_{\rm Cu} + \varepsilon_{\rm Cu}{\rm Y}K_{\rm Cu}{\rm Y}[{\rm Y}^{4^-}])}{1 + K_{\rm Cu}{\rm Y}[{\rm Y}^{4^-}]}.$$
(4.47)

It can be seen from Eq. (4.47) that, apart from the constants, the value of A/d depends only on [Y⁴]. That is, any horizontal line in the diagram passes

through a series of 'corresponding' solutions, characterized by the same values of $[Y^{4-}]$ and \bar{n}_{Cd} . It follows from this that the ligand excess corresponding to the distance b'-a' is totally coordinated to the T_{Cd} relating to Curve 2. Similarly, the ligand excess corresponding to the distance d'-a' is bound by the T_{Cd} relating to Curve 4. Thus, four 'corresponding' T_Y and T_{Cd} values can be given on the basis of the diagram. If T_Y is plotted as a function of T_{Cd} (see Fig. 4.3), \bar{n}_{Cd} is obtained from the slope. The value of $[Y^{4-}]$ cannot be calculated from the intercept, as $[Y^{4-}]$ is several orders of magnitude smaller than T_Y at pH 5 (Fig. 4.20). In the knowledge of K_{CuY} , the equilibrium concentration of the ligand can be calculated via the following considerations. Since the 1:1 stoichiometry of CuY^{2-} is known, the \bar{n}_{Cu} value relating to each point on the line *mp* can be calculated simply from the absorbances relating to the points *m* and *p*

$$\bar{n}_{\rm Cu} = \frac{A - A_m}{A_p - A_m}.$$
(4.48)

As \bar{n}_{Cu} and K_{CuY} are known, $[Y^{4-}]$ can be calculated directly through the formula \bar{n}_{Cu}

$$Y^{4-}] = \frac{n_{Cu}}{(1 - \bar{n}_{Cu})K_{CuY}}.$$
(4.49)

Knowledge of \bar{n}_{Cd} and $[Y^{4-}]$ permits calculation of the formation constant of CdY^{2-} at each point. The results of evaluation of the experimental data presented in the Figures are listed in Table 4.1.



Fig. 4.20. T_{Y} vs. T_{Cd} plots based on Fig. 4.19. Plots 1-5 refer to data read off at A = 0.200, 0.195, 0.190, 0.185 and 0.160, respectively [90] (Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 203 (1971))

The key question in the application of the method is the exact knowledge of K_{CuY} . Any error in this will naturally show up in K_{CdY} too. A further condition for application of the method is that

$$K_{\rm CuY}/K_{\rm CdY} \approx T_{\rm Cd}/T_{\rm Cu}$$

should hold, i.e. through variation of T_{Cd} it should be possible to shift the equilibrium

$$CuY^{2-} + Cd^{2+} \Rightarrow CdY^{2-} + Cu^{2+}$$

sufficiently in the direction of formation of CdY^{2-} . In the example we have given, these conditions are naturally satisfied. Use of a similar method to investigate unknown systems, however, demands great circumspection in

Table 4.1 Results of calculations relating to 'corresponding solutions' in the Cu^{2+} -EDTA-Cd²⁺ system [90]

-	10 ⁴ C _y	10 ² C _{cd}	10 ⁴ [CdY]	10 ² [Cd]	log K _{cd}
A = 0.18	80; $[CuY] = 1.93$	03×10^{-4} ; [Cu	$[1] = 2.1205 \times 10^{-1}$	⁴ ; [Y] = 1.442	7×10^{-19}
2	3.938	2.6667	2.008	2.6466	16.72
3	4.562	3.3333	2.632	3.3070	16.74
4	5.182	4.0000	3.252	3.9675	16.75
5	6.010	4.6667	4.080	4.6259	16.79
A = 0.19	90; [CuY] = 2.03	7.5×10^{-4} ; [Cu	$1 = 2.0096 \times 10^{-1}$	⁴ ; [Y] = 1.606'	7×10^{-19}
2	4.275	2.6667	2.238	2.6443	16.72
3	5.108	3.3333	3.071	3.3026	16.76
4	5.900	4.0000	3.862	3.9614	16.78
c	6715	A 6667	4 670	1 (100	17.70

planning the experimentation. The essence is the choice of an 'indicator metal ion' such that, when the expected stability of the complex MeL is taken into account, the condition $T_{\text{Me'}}/T_{\text{Me}} \approx K_{\text{MeX}}/K_{\text{Me'Y}}$ should be ensured at constant ionic strength and at the $T_{\text{Me'}}$ necessary for accurate absorbance measurements.

To illustrate the method based on the competition L'-Me-L, we shall present results obtained by Norby [91], who studied the interaction Mg^{2+} -ATP via the competition chain 8-hydroxyquinoline- Mg^{2+} -ATP. In a solution containing 8-hydroxyquinoline and Mg^{2+} ions, the following equilibria and mass balances must be considered

$$K_{1}^{H} = \frac{[HOx]}{[H^{+}][Ox^{-}]}$$
(4.50)

$$K_{2}^{\rm H} = \frac{[{\rm H}_{2}{\rm Ox}^{+}]}{[{\rm H}^{+}][{\rm HOx}]}$$
(4.51)

$$K = \frac{[MgOx^+]}{[Mg^{2+}][Ox^-]}$$
(4.52)

$$T_{Ox} = [H_2Ox^+] + [HOx] + [Ox^-] + [MgOx^+]$$
(4.53)

$$T_{Mg} = [Mg^{2+}] + [MgOx^{+}].$$
(4.54)

In the interval pH > log $K_2^{\rm H}$ + 2, [H₂Ox⁺] can be neglected, and thus

$$T_{\rm Ox} = [\rm HOx] \frac{1 + K_1^{\rm H}[\rm H^+]}{K_1^{\rm H}[\rm H^+]} + [\rm MgOx^+]$$
(4.55)

$$[HOx] = (T_{Ox} - [MgOx^+]) \frac{K_1^{H}[H^+]}{1 + K_1^{H}[H^+]}.$$
(4.56)



Fig. 4.21. Increase in absorbance of solutions with various 8-hydroxyquinoline and ATP

contents as a function of T_{Mg} [91]. $A = 3.3 \times 10^{-4} M$ 8-hydroxyquinoline, pH = 8.37; $B = 3.3 \times 10^{-4} M$ 8-hydroxyquinoline, $4.0 \times 10^{-4} M$ ATP, pH = 8.34; $C = 3.3 \times 10^{-4} M$ 8-hydroxyquinoline, $1.2 \times 10^{-4} M$ ATP, pH = 8.32

(Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., 24, 3276 (1970))

140

4.2 Optical methods

Using Eqs (4.50) and (4.52)

$$\frac{[MgOx^+][H^+]}{[Mg^{2^+}][HOx]} = K/K_1^H = K'.$$
(4.57)

Substituting Eqs (4.56) and (4.54) into Eq. (4.57)

$$K' = \frac{[MgOx^+](1 + K_1^{H}[H^+])}{K_1^{H}(T_{Mg} - [MgOx^+])(T_{Ox} - [MgOx^+])}.$$
(4.58)

For the calculation of K', only a knowledge of the pH and the concentration of MgOx⁺ is required. The latter can simply be determined photometrically.

If the solution contains not only 8-hydroxyquinoline but also another ligand (in the present case ATP), the expression for T_{Mg} changes accordingly and, if the concentration of MgOx⁺ is measured, the concentrations of Mg²⁺, ATP and the complex MgATP can readily be calculated in the knowledge of the pH. As an example, Fig. 4.21 depicts the absorbance change accompanying increase of T_{Mg} in the presence and in the absence of ATP [91].

The progressive deviation of curves B and C from Curve A demonstrates the effect of formation of the complex MgATP. It also reveals the basis of the determination of the stability constant of the complex MgATP, which can not be studied directly by photometric means.

4.3 NMR and ESR methods

Both methods are primarily used for the study of chemical structure; their application to equilibrium chemistry has come into the foreground of attention during the past decades. The part they play within equilibrium chemistry is currently increasing rapidly.

The application of ESR to equilibrium work is restricted to the study of complexes of paramagnetic metal ions and of free radicals, whereas NMR can be used effectively to solve almost all equilibrium chemistry problems. The NMR method has the very great advantage that it not only provides the numerical values of the equilibrium constants, but also yields information on the structures of the associations under study and on the binding sites and binding modes of the ligands.

A series of excellent monographs deal with the fundamental principles of the methods and with the possibilities of their application [92–97]. These features will not be considered in the present discussion; we merely survey the methods from the aspect of the determination of equilibrium constants. We shall first examine the possibilities of application when the primary aim is the determination of numerical values of equilibrium constants, and then review the

various possibilities of studying the equilibrium and the structure simultaneously.

The experimentally measurable parameters of NMR and ESR spectra (chemical shifts, relaxation times, band widths, coupling constants and g-factors) depend on the chemical environments containing the NMR or ESR-active nuclei in question, and on the rates of the exchange reactions taking place between them. In the case of slow exchange, the signals of the resonating nuclei in the various chemical environments may appear separately in both the NMR and the ESR spectra, whereas an 'averaged' signal is obtained in general if the exchange is fast. The experimentally found spectra may be suitable for determination of the equilibrium constants in both limiting cases; in the intermediate range (in a fortunate case), the equilibrium constants and the rate constants of the exchange reactions may be determined simultaneously.

4.3.1 Equilibrium measurements relating to slow exchange

The condition of 'slow exchange' generally holds only in solutions of complexes of non-labile metal ions. It then frequently happens that the signals of the different complexes appear well separated from one another in the NMR spectrum. The ratios of the integrated intensities of the bands coincide with the concentration ratios, and calculation of the equilibrium constants thus becomes a simple arithmetical operation, even in cases involving complicated equilibria. This possibility is primarily made use of to determine the constants of equilibrium processes of the following type [98–103]

$$iMeX_n + jMeY_n \Longrightarrow nMeX_iY_i$$
.

As an example, Fig. 4.22 presents the NMR spectrum of 27 Al in the system AlCl₄-AlBr₄, as reported by Jones [98].

The equilibrium method based on the ratios of the integrated intensities can naturally be used to study the complexes formed by non-labile metal ions in stepwise equilibria. The FT¹³C NMR method was effectively applied by Fuentes *et al.* [104], for instance, to investigate the equilibrium system Ni(II)–acetate (Fig. 4.23).

The tremendous advantages of the method are obvious. The spectrum directly reveals the number of complexes formed in the equilibrium system, and even their concentration ratios. Thus, the equilibrium constants may be calculated not by solving the parameter equations obtained via the various function connections, but through a direct formula, even in the case of simultaneous equilibria. Equilibrium information of comparable value can be obtained from the IR and Raman spectra only in a few fortunate cases. In the latter two methods, it frequently occurs that the bands overlap, which necessitates their



Fig. 4.22. ²⁷Al NMR spectrum of sample with average composition AlBr_{1.55}Cl_{2.45} dissolved in acetonitrile (23.45 MHz) [98] (Reproduced with permission from *J. Chem. Soc. Dalton*, 567 (1972))



Fig. 4.23. ¹³C NMR spectrum of a sample containing 0.701 *M* Ni(ClO₄)₂ and 0.552 *M* CH₃ ¹³COOH in D₂O at 0 °C at 25.2 MHz. The NMR band of free acetate appears at lower field strength, and that of the monoacetato complex at higher field strength [104]

(Reproduced with permission from Inorg. Chem., 14, 1837 (1975))

resolution, with accompanying uncertainty in estimation of the concentration ratios.

In the temperature range close to room temperature, the condition of slow exchange holds for the NMR method in relatively few complex equilibrium systems. In the ESR spectrum, however, the several orders higher resonance frequencies and frequency differences mean that the bands of the paramagnetic centres of the various species can appear separately, even for solutions of labile metal ions. A degree of band separation similar to that experienced in NMR is comparatively rare, however; it may be observed primarily for solutions of vanadyl complexes, which have not been studied too widely from an equilibrium aspect. Figure 4.24 depicts ESR spectra found by Reeder and Rieger [105] at various pH values in the system VO^{2+} -lactic acid. The diagrams clearly illustrate that the vanadyl ion exists in four different chemical environments in



Fig. 4.24. Second derived ESR spectrum in the VO²⁺-lactic acid system; $M_I = -7/2$ components as a function of pH at 25 °C, at $T_L/T_{Me} = 4$ [105]. (For symbols see Fig. 4.25) (Reproduced with permission from *Inorg. Chem.*, **10**, 1258 (1971))

the pH interval 1–7. Figure 4.25 shows the experimentally measured concentration distribution of the complexes in the pH interval in question, the concentration ratios being calculated from the ratios of the intensities of the various bands.

The work of Dyrssen *et al.* [106] is a fine example of the application of ESR spectra giving overlapping bands but satisfying the condition of slow exchange. They studied the formation constant of the mixed complex formed when pyridine is bound axially to the planar complex copper(II)-dimethylglyoximate in solution in benzene and chloroform. The changes in the ESR spectrum as the pyridine concentration is increased are to be seen in Fig. 4.26.

Analysis of these spectra demonstrated that the intermediate spectra B-E are resultants of addition of the two limiting spectra, A and F. This confirms that the condition of slow exchange between the coordinated and the free pyridine holds in all solutions; with regard to the difference in frequency of the bands, this means that the frequency of exchange between the bound and the free pyridine is less than 10⁸ Hz. An essentially similar application of ESR to



Fig. 4.25. Experimental data and calculated curves relating to the concentration distribution of the complexes formed in the VO²⁺-lactic acid system as a function of pH at $T_L/T_{Me} = 4$ [105]

Symbols (also for Fig. 4.24): ×, I — free vanadyl ion + VO(HA) complex; \triangle , II — VO(HA)₂ complex; \Box , III — VOA + VO(HA)A complex; \bigcirc , IV — VOA₂ complex

(Reproduced with permission from Inorg. Chem., 10, 1258 (1971))



Fig. 4.26. ESR spectra of 5.13×10^{-5} *M* solution of copper(II)-dimethylglyoxime in benzene in the presence of A - 0; $B - 3.46 \times 10^{-5}$; $C - 4.80 \times 10^{-4}$; $D - 9.64 \times 10^{-4}$; $E - 1.96 \times 10^{-3}$; $F - 9.64 \times 10^{-3}$ *M* pyridine [106] (Reproduced with permission from *Acta Chem. Scand.*, **26**, 3865 (1972))

equilibrium chemistry was described by Rockenbauer *et al.* [107], who studied the interaction Co(II)-dimethylglyoxime-pyridine in methanol. Results of their measurements can be seen in Fig. 4.27.

The condition of slow exchange, i.e. the additivity of the spectrum, was met in this system too. There is an essential difference compared to the previous system: two pyridines are bound axially to the cobalt(II)-bis-dimethylglyoxime, and neither the spectrum of the monopyridine complex, nor that of the bis-pyridine complex, can be measured directly.

Accordingly, evaluation of the measurements is a substantially more difficult task than in the previous case.

These two examples clearly illustrate that, even if the condition of slow exchange is satisfied, the greater degree of overlap of the ESR bands means



Fig. 4.27. ESR spectra of 10^{-2} M solution of cobalt(II)-dimethylglyoxime in methanol in the presence of 1 - 0; $2 - 1.4 \times 10^{-2}$; $3 - 4 \times 10^{-2}$; 4 - 0.2; 5 - 0.29; 6 - 2.32M pyridine [107] (Reproduced with permission from J. Coord. Chem., **2**, 53 (1972))

that it is much harder to evaluate the experimental data here than in the calculation of the integrated intensities of the NMR bands, which are generally much better separated.

4.3.2 Equilibrium measurements relating to fast exchange

When fast exchange processes take place, the NMR spectrum shows a single signal, averaged in the proportions of the partial mole fractions of the active nuclei to be found in the various chemical environments. The averaging also shows up strikingly in the chemical shifts and in the reciprocal relaxation times (relaxation rates).

With the aim of the determination of pK, the chemical shifts of the non-labile protons (or ¹³C atoms) of the ligands are studied most often as a function of pH [108–120]. However, the shifts measured as a function of pH may also be suitable for determination of the constants of metal complexes [110, 112, 113, 115–117, 121–123]. It can readily be seen that, if a single protonation process occurs, the chemical shift vs. pH curve agrees perfectly in character with the absorbance vs. pH curve for the similar process; thus, the principles of their evaluation are the same. The character of the curve and the principle of the solution are illustrated in Fig. 4.28, which shows chemical shift vs. pH curves found by Rabenstein [110] for the methylene protons in the systems H⁺-acetyl-glycinate and H⁺-acetylglycinate-Cd²⁺.

The chemical shifts in Curve A are the averages of the shifts of the methylene protons of the protonated (HL) and the free (L^{-}) acetylglycinate, weighted in



Fig. 4.28. pH-dependence of chemical shift of methylene protons in acetylglycine [110].

A = 0.2 M acetylglycine + 0.6 M KNO₃; B = 0.2 M acetylglycine + 0.2 M Cd(NO₃)₂ (Reproduced with permission from Can. J. Chem., 50, 1036 (1972)) proportion to the partial mole fractions of L and HL

$$v_{\exp} = P_{HL}v_{HL} + P_Lv_L \tag{4.59}$$

$$P_{\rm HL} = \frac{[\rm HL]}{[\rm L] + [\rm HL]}; \qquad P_{\rm L} = \frac{[\rm L]}{[\rm L] + [\rm HL]}.$$
 (4.59a)

The chemical shifts v_{HL} and v_L can be determined simply from the diagram in the intervals pH ≤ 1 and pH ≥ 5 . When these are known, the dissociation constant $K_d = [H][L]/[HL]$ can be calculated at each point, from the data of the different pH ranges

$$K_d = [H] \frac{v_{\exp} - v_{HL}}{v_L - v_{\exp}}.$$
(4.60)

Under the experimental conditions corresponding to Curve *B*, at $T_L/T_{Me} = 1:1$, it can justifiably be assumed that only the complex MeL is formed. The experimentally obtained chemical shift can therefore be given by the expression

$$v_{\rm exp} = P_{\rm Lf} v_{\rm Lf} + P_{\rm MeL} v_{\rm MeL} \tag{4.61}$$

where $P_{\rm Lf}$ is the partial mole fraction of the ligand not bound in the complex, i.e. L + HL, while $v_{\rm Lf}$ is the chemical shift of the system H⁺-acetylglycinate at the pH in question; this latter can be read off the A curve, or can be calculated in the knowledge of K_d . Through the substitution $P_{\rm Lf} = 1 - P_{\rm MeL}$

$$P_{\rm MeL} = \frac{v_{\rm exp} - v_{\rm Lf}}{v_{\rm MeL} - v_{\rm Lf}}.$$
 (4.62)

When P_{MeL} is known, [MeL] can readily be calculated

$$[MeL] = P_{MeL}T_L \tag{4.63}$$

where $T_{\rm L}$ is the total concentration of acetylglycine. For the calculation of $P_{\rm MeL}$ via Eq. (4.62), the value of $v_{\rm MeL}$ must be known. It can be seen from Eq. (4.61) that $v_{\rm MeL} = v_{\rm exp}$ if $v_{\rm MeL} = v_{\rm Lf}$. $v_{\rm MeL}$ is therefore obtained from the chemical shift value at the point where the chemical shift vs. pH curves for the systems H⁺-acetylglycine and H⁺-acetylglycine-Cd²⁺ intersect. Once $v_{\rm MeL}$ is known, the value of the formation constant $K_{\rm MeL}$ can be calculated separately at each point of Curve *B*.

The correlations relating to the various concrete systems may naturally be much more complicated, but, similarly as above, the basic principle of the evaluation is always the same as that for photometric measurements. In this case, the shift measurements on the various protons or other NMR-active nuclei of the ligand correspond to photometric measurements at different wavelengths. As an example, Fig. 4.29 gives ¹³C chemical shift vs. pH curves for the five different carbon atoms of L-glutamic acid [118].

11 Beck-Nagypál



The diagrams clearly demonstrate that the changes caused by protonation in the chemical shifts of the NMR-active nuclei depend on the distance from the protonating donor group. With ligands containing several protonating groups, this finding permits determination of the microscopic protonation constants. This question will be dealt with in more detail in Chapter 5.

Measurement of chemical shifts is not only suitable for equilibrium studies on protonation processes and on complexes of ligands that can be protonated, but, similarly to visible and UV spectrophotometry, can also be used if none of the equilibrium concentrations of the reacting components is known. In such cases, the photometric methods for two-component systems (mole ratio method, Job method, etc.) can naturally be applied. Figure 4.30 depicts chemical shift vs. mole ratio curves found by Hawland and Flurry [124] for the Lhistidine–Pr(III) system.

Questions concerning the practical application and evaluation of chemical shift vs. mole ratio curves, and of the curves of other types discussed in Section



Fig. 4.30. Chemical shifts of various protons in histidine as a function of the ratio [Pr]/[L-histidine] [124] (Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 1568 (1976))

11+

4.2, based on chemical shift differences, coincide with the previous detailed treatment.

Besides the chemical shift, other important 'averaged' experimental data are the reciprocal of the relaxation time T_2 , and the NMR (ESR) band-width, which is proportional to this. For NMR spectra, measurement of the band-width can be utilized for equilibrium purposes if a fast exchange process involves the participation of paramagnetic species. The measured data may then be an additive function of the concentrations of the paramagnetic species, and hence the equilibrium constant too can be calculated from the band-width measured as a function of the concentration ratios.

Detailed reviews of the application of band-width (relaxation time) measurement to equilibrium chemistry are to be found in the books by Popel [129, 130]. When the method is used, it must first be established that T_2^{-1} is really an additive function of the concentrations of the paramagnetic species, i.e. the rates of the exchange processes no longer appear in the band-width. As an example of the numerous equilibrium studies based on measurement of band-widths [125–134], mention may be made of the paper by Burlamacchi and Tiezzi [125]; Fig. 4.31 shows band-width vs. dithionite concentration curves they obtained by measurement of the NMR signal of the water protons in the system Mn^{2+} -dithionite.

In the given system, the condition of fast exchange was also satisfied on the ESR time scale, which allowed calculation of the equilibrium constant via



Fig. 4.31. Variation of the NMR band-width of the water protons in the Mn²⁺-dithionite system as a function of the dithionite concentration [125] (Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 31, 2159 (1969))

measurement of the ESR band-width too [135]. Stevenson *et al.* [136–141] reported on a series of equilibrium studies based on measurement of the parameters of ESR spectra.

4.3.3 Simultaneous determination of equilibrium and kinetic constants

The previous two sections dealt with the possibilities and methods of carrying out NMR studies on equilibrium systems satisfying the condition of slow exchange or fast exchange. However, these conditions are each met only in a narrow group of equilibrium systems and only in limited concentration ranges. Most of the equilibrium systems investigated by NMR involve exchange at moderate rates. We may then distinguish two fundamentally different methods of evaluating the experimental results, i.e. of determining the equilibrium and kinetic constants.

(1) The equilibrium constants are determined by an independent method, and only the kinetic parameters are calculated from the NMR data. This procedure is advisable in all cases when the equilibrium constants can be determined independently.

(2) The equilibrium and kinetic data are calculated simultaneously.

Without giving a detailed account of the basis of NMR kinetic studies, it is not possible for us to give a complete survey of the possible methods; accordingly, the reader is merely referred to the above-mentioned monographs [92–97].

Dahlquist [142] developed a method of determining equilibrium and rate constants through the analysis of NMR signals and lines resulting from exchange processes between diamagnetic environments. Measurement of the relaxation rate (band-width) increase due to exchange reactions between para- and diamagnetic environments (more important from a coordination chemistry aspect) has been used by a number of authors [143–145] for the simultaneous determination of equilibrium and kinetic data.

4.4 Calorimetry

The experimental and computational conditions for the calorimetric study of complex formation processes in stepwise and parallel reactions in dilute solutions emerged during the past 20–30 years. Starting from the end of the 1950's, numerous calorimeters were developed in parallel with the progress relating to electric temperature sensors and electronics; nowadays, not only are 'home-built' solution calorimeters used, but reliable solution calorimeters too are commercially available.

The goal of calorimetric equilibrium measurements is the simultaneous determination of the reaction heat and the constants, or the determination of the reaction heat in the knowledge of the equilibrium constants. Below, we survey the various technical possibilities for the application of calorimetry to equilibrium chemistry; we shall not deal with calorimetry as a generally applicable method in analytical chemistry.

In principle, calorimetry is one of the most general methods, for practically all chemical reactions are accompanied by a definite change in heat. However, only calorimetry has the feature that the measurement must be made actually while the reaction is taking place; in the other methods, properties of the systems are measured that do not vary with time. This difference also shows up in the basic equations describing calorimetric measurements: the measured heat quantity corrected by the dilution heat ($Q_{measd.}-Q_{dil.}$) can be given as the sum of the formation enthalpies, weighted with the mole differences calculated from the concentration distributions characterizing the initial and final states, besides the mass balances expressed with the law of mass action. In a description of the equilibrium behaviour of the system, the solvent may be neglected as a component. In the case of solvents capable of autoprotolysis, however, the formation of solvent molecules must always be taken into consideration in calorimetry. Thus, the basic equation for the evaluation of calorimetric measurements is

$$Q_{\text{measd.}} - Q_{\text{dil.}} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \{ [A_j]_0 V_0 - [A_j](V_0 + v) \} \Delta H_j + \Delta m_s \Delta H_s$$
(4.64)

where V_0 is the volume of starting solution, v is the volume of the reagent, Δm_s is the change in the quantity of solvent in moles, ΔH_s is the formation heat of the solvent in the equilibrium process in question: in aqueous solutions the reaction heat of the process $H^+ + OH^- \rightleftharpoons H_2O$ under the experimental conditions, and ΔH_j is the formation heat of the *j*th association.

It is clear from Eq. (4.64) that calorimetric study of an equilibrium system necessitates measurements of heat quantities for numerous composition changes. Calorimetric measurements can be classified in three groups as concerns their technical performance

- (1) Calorimetry involving portionwise addition of the reaction partners.
- (2) The method of continuous titration.
- (3) Calorimetry in a flow cell.

Many calorimeter types have been developed on the basis of portionwise addition of the reaction partners [146–151]. Of these, the solution calorimeter





devised by Schlyter and Sillén is particularly suitable for complex equilibrium studies; this type was later modified by Johansson [152] and by Arnek and Kakolowicz [153]. A schematic outline of the calorimeter may be seen in Fig. 4.32.

The reaction partners are at exactly the same temperature. The heating and cooling units permit restoration of the initial temperature after the addition of each portion of the titrant solution; hence, the temperature change during the titration is not significant. The individual steps of the titration, and the variation of temperature in the course of them, are illustrated in Fig. 4.33.

Calorimetry involving portionwise addition of the reaction partners is a very time-consuming and laborious process, especially when complicated equilibrium systems are investigated. Two methods are known whereby the time and labour requirements can be reduced; both of them are suitable for the study of "instantaneous" reactions. Gergely and Sóvágó [154] elaborated a method based on evaluation of calorimetric curves recorded during continuous titration



Fig. 4.33. Temperature vs. time curve for part of a calorimetric titration involving portionwise addition. R — reaction (titrant addition); C — cooling; Corr. restoration of temperature by means of heating unit [151]

(Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., 13, 385 (1959))

at constant rate. Its essence is that the titration is performed with an automatic burette guaranteeing a strictly constant rate; this allows transformation of the resistance vs. time curve to a resistance vs. volume curve, the delay time of the thermistor also being taken into account. Evaluation is carried out by means of the Regnault–Pfaundler method, similarly proposed by Wadsö [155]. Account was taken of the heat exchange between the reaction vessel and the environment, the temperature difference between the titrant and titrated solutions, and the heat capacity change caused by the volume increase. The results obtained through portionwise and continuous titration agreed well.

The flow microcalorimetry method earlier applied in biochemistry [156, 157] was utilized by Bianchini *et al.* [158] for the study of stepwise complex equilibria. The design of the microcalorimeter is outlined in Fig. 4.34.

A metal block (a) contains a heat exchanger (b) and two twin-calorimeter units (c), (d) represents a 20 mm layer of polystyrene foam, (e) a cylindrical stainless steel jacket; (f) a water bath. The flow cells of the calorimeters are surrounded by surface-contact thermocouples, the other poles of which are connected to the metal block. The entire block is immersed in a thermostated water-bath. The solutions containing the reaction partners are pumped through the heat exchanger into one of the reaction cells, from where it exits from the calorimeter after the reaction has taken place. The potential obtained is the difference of the potentials from the two thermocouples, and thus the disturbing





effects are largely eliminated. In one experiment, the liquid flows only through one cell, and the heat resulting from the friction of the liquid is taken into account with an appropriate correction. The reaction takes place in the mixing compartment of the flow cell. If the flow of the solutions of the reaction partners is continued for sufficient time, the temperature difference becomes constant, as does the resulting potential, which will therefore be proportional to the quantity of heat developing during unit time.

Bianchini et al. [158] used the flow calorimeter in the set-up outlined in Fig. 4.35.

For the calculation of formation heats, it was necessary for them to know the molar flow rates of the various species both before and after the reaction. Using the notations introduced in Chapter 3

$$\frac{V_i}{R} = \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_j \left(\frac{v_i}{R}\right)^{\alpha_{j1}} \dots \left(\frac{v_k}{R}\right)^{\alpha_{jk}}$$

$$\frac{V_k}{R} = \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_j \left(\frac{v_1}{R}\right)^{\alpha_{j1}} \dots \left(\frac{v_k}{R}\right)^{\alpha_{jk}}$$
(4.65)



Fig. 4.35. Block scheme of application of flow microcalorimeter for equilibrium chemical studies. In the measurement of protonation heats, pumps A and B force amine hydrochloride from vessel F and standard NaOH solution from vessels C, D and E into the microcalorimeter. In calorimetric studies on metal complexes, vessel F contains metal ion at appropriate concentration too. Vessel G contains 0.5 M NaClO₄ [158]

(Reproduced with permission from J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans., 1036 (1975))

where V_i is the total flow rate of the *i*th component, R is the sum of the rates of the two pumps, and v_i is the molar flow rate expressed with the equilibrium concentrations of the components.

If the non-linear equation system Eq. (4.65) is solved for v_i/R , the molar flow rate of any ionic species A_i can be calculated

$$\frac{v_{A_j}}{R} = \beta_j \left(\frac{v_1}{R}\right)^{\alpha_{j1}} \dots \left(\frac{v_k}{R}\right)^{\alpha_{jk}}.$$
(4.66)

A knowledge of the v_{A_j} values before and after mixing permits the measured heat quantity flows to be broken down into the terms originating from the formation of the various species, i.e. the molar formation enthalpies can be calculated. This is a very fast method compared to the portionwise addition; nevertheless, it has not yet become widespread, even though the appropriate calorimeter is commercially available.

The aim of the calorimetric measurements may be to determine the equilibrium constant(s) and enthalpy change(s), or to determine the enthalpy change(s) in the knowledge of the constant(s). Since the calorimetrically measured heat quantity is always strictly proportional to the mole changes

occurring during the reaction, the latter being linear functions of the concentration changes, the calorimetric data can be used for the calculation of the equilibrium constants with the same restrictions as for the results of photometric experiments. The formation constants of very stable complexes can not be measured calorimetrically; merely the formation enthalpy can be determined. Similarly as in photometry, the determination of the formation constants of very weak complexes likewise runs into difficulties.

Computational questions relating to the evaluation of calorimetric measurement are similar to the photometric ones. Here, we simply refer to some of the more important publications concerning this subject [158–166].

4.5 Determination of equilibrium constants via kinetic measurements

The rates of chemical reactions are proportional to the product of the concentrations of the reactants, each raised to an appropriate power. A formal kinetic treatment of equilibrium reactions reveals that the kinetic and equilibrium data are mutually supplementary; the equilibrium constants can be calculated from the results of kinetic measurements, while equilibrium data obtained through an independent method may be of considerable help in the elucidation of the reaction mechanism. Clearly, a certain period of time is required for any chemical reaction to take place. The expression 'instantaneous', applied to describe some reactions, simply means that the reaction takes place in a very short time, and can be followed only with a special method. Nowadays, even the fastest chemical reactions can be followed by means of modern reaction kinetic methods [167, 168], and primarily by the relaxation procedures developed by Eigen *et al.* With these methods, it is even possible to distinguish between inner sphere and outer sphere complexes [169].

Numerous chemical reactions are catalysed by ligands, metal ions or the complexes formed. Accordingly, equilibrium information may possibly be acquired from a study of catalytic effects [170].

If the reaction is of the first order with respect to some complex with an unknown formation constant, then the expression for the concentrationdependence of the overall reaction rate is analogous to the equation corresponding to the limiting case $\varepsilon_{Me} = \varepsilon_L = 0$ of Eq. (4.17). The kinetic data can then be evaluated with the same methods as for the results of photometric measurements. However, some important differences too must be borne in mind. The rate constants vary much more sensitively with temperature in general than do the molar absorbances; during the measurements, therefore, the temperature must be kept strictly constant. The photometric measurements may be made at various wavelengths; from a reaction kinetic aspect, however, a reaction can be characterized only by a single intensive factor. This may have a very large value, particularly in the case of catalytic reactions, and thus even complexes which are not very stable in a thermodynamic sense may have an appreciable effect on the reaction rate. The measurable range of reaction rate constants covers 10–13 orders of magnitude, while the range in which the molar absorbance can conveniently be measured spans only 4–5 orders of magnitude. The results of kinetic measurements may be changed fundamentally by even traces of contamination; the danger of this is generally lower in spectrophotometry.

When the possibilities of experimental error in the kinetic measurements are also taken into account, it is clear that reliable kinetic and equilibrium data can be obtained only for relatively simple systems. Equilibrium constants determined through independent methods are absolutely necessary for the reliable evaluation of experimental data on systems that are more complex from equilibrium and kinetic aspects.

The evaluation of experiments designed to solve exclusively reaction kinetic questions frequently leads to the determination of the formation constant of an intermediate formed in a pre-equilibrium. We shall not deal with this possibility further; we shall discuss only those numerous kinetic methods in which the primary aim is the determination of complex formation constants.

4.5.1 Stoichiometric (uncatalysed) reactions

The formation constant of a species formed in some equilibrium reaction is the quotient of the rate constants of the decomposition and formation reactions. The values of the stability constants may therefore be determined through study of the formation and decomposition kinetics. This principle has been applied by many authors, for the determination of the formation constants of, among others, $CrSCN^{2+}$ [171], $Fe(phenanthroline)_3^{2+}$ [172, 173] and $Fe(bipyridyl)_3^{2+}$ [174]. Determination of the formation constants of ion pairs requires the use of relaxation methods, because of the high rates of formation and decomposition [175–179].

The decrease caused in the rate of a reaction by a metal ion or ligand can likewise be utilized for the calculation of equilibrium constants. For example, the rate of the redox reaction between $S_2O_3^{2-}$ and Fe^{3+} ions is decreased by Cd^{2+} , as a consequence of formation of the complex CdS_2O_3 , and study of this redox reaction led to determination of the formation constant of CdS_2O_3 [180]. The reaction between BrCN and I⁻ is inhibited by Cl⁻ and Br⁻; this permitted determination of the reaction between Fe³⁺ and I⁻ is influenced by the concentration of SO_4^{2-} and NO_3^{-} , due to the formation of the kinetically

less active complexes $FeNO_3^{2+}$ and $FeSO_4^+$ [182]. Kodama made use of a similar principle to determine the equilibrium constants of a number of mixed ligand complexes of nickel(II) [183].

As concerns equilibrium measurements based on the study of decomposition and formation reactions, very important work was carried out by Scheinblatt [184], who applied an NMR method to determine the dissociation constant of the proton coupled with the nitrogen of the peptide bond, which does not undergo dissociation in the pH range that can be studied experimentally. He calculated the rate constant k_f of the base-catalysed proton-exchange of the CONH group





(Reproduced with permission from J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 2505 (1970))

through analysis of the line shape given by the neighbouring CH_2 group. The dissociation constant of the peptide group is

$$K_d = \frac{k_f \cdot K_W}{k_h \cdot [H_2 O]}$$

where k_f is the experimentally measurable rate constant. Although the value of k_b cannot be determined in an independent experiment, on the basis of the investigations on reactions of similar type it can justifiably be assumed that the back-reaction takes place with a diffusion-controlled rate, so that the value of k_b is the same for all peptides examined. Within a given series of peptides, therefore, the variation in k_f follows that in K_d . The correctness of the assumption is demonstrated in Fig. 4.36.

Streitwieser *et al.* similarly carried out kinetic studies of proton-exchange reactions to determine the acidity functions of various hydrocarbons [185].

4.5.2 Catalytic reactions

The number of catalytic reactions is extremely high. It is difficult to find a chemical reaction in which catalytic effects can not be observed. If a chemical reaction is catalysed by the metal ion, the ligand or their complex(es), and if their catalytic effects differ substantially, then kinetic study of the catalysed reaction permits determination of the stability constants of the complexes.

4.5.2.1 Ligand catalysis

In a study of the mercury(II)-iodide system as long ago as 1903, Sherrill [186] utilized the iodide-catalysed reaction of the decomposition of H_2O_2 to determine the equilibrium concentration of the iodide ion. Numerous reactions are catalysed by the hydroxide ion, and the equilibrium hydroxide ion concentration can therefore be determined through measurement of the reaction rate. Bell *et al.* [187, 188] determined the stability constants of the monohydroxo complexes of Ca²⁺, Ba²⁺ and Tl⁺ through study of the OH⁻-catalysed hydrolysis of diacetone-alcohol. Similar results were obtained from a study of the OH⁻-catalysed hydrolysis of carbethoxymethyltriethylammonium iodide [188]. It is interesting to note, however, that the hydrolysis of ethyl acetate is catalysed with almost the same efficiencies by the free hydroxide ion and by the hydroxo complexes, and accordingly this reaction is not suitable for the determination of the stability constants of the hydroxo complexes.

In OH⁻-catalysed hydrolysis, a metal ion may act not only as a retarding agent, but also as a promotor. This strongly suggests an interaction between

162

the hydrolysing reactant and the metal ion, assuming that the rate of hydrolysis of the complex formed is higher than that of the free reactant. An example taken from the work of Hay and Clark [189] is presented in Fig. 4.37, which depicts the rate constant for the hydrolysis of 8-acetoquinoline-2-carboxylic acid as a function of the concentration of Zn^{2+} .

The decomposition of nitramide is catalysed by many anions (acetate, mandelate, salicylate, malate, fumarate). In the presence of metal ions (Ca^{2+} , Ba^{2+} , Zn^{2+}), the catalytic activity decreases [190]; this led to determination of the formation constants of the corresponding complexes.



Fig. 4.37. Effect of zinc(II) concentration on OH⁻-catalysed hydrolysis of 8-acetoquinoline-2-carboxylic acid pH=6.18; 25 °C; I=0.1 M [189]

(Reproduced with permission from J. Chem. Soc., 1993 (1977))

4.5.2.2 Metal ion and complex catalysis

The transition metal ions are well known to exert catalytic effects in organic and inorganic redox reactions. The effects of various salts on the rates of catalysed reactions have similarly been studied in detail. The explanation of the primary salt effect is that the dissolved electrolytes change the activity coefficients of the reactants. The secondary or specific salt effect, however, is indicative of complex formation between the ions in question and the catalyst. Complex formation may either decrease or increase the catalytic activity, while in the case of stepwise complex formation it may even occur that the reaction rate displays several extrema as a function of the ligand concentration.

Particularly detailed investigations have been made of the effects of the ligands on isotope- and electron-exchange reactions. Hudis and Wahl [191], for instance, determined the constants of the complexes formed in the $Fe^{3+}-F^$ system from the dependence of the rate of the $Fe^{3+}-Fe^{2+}$ electron exchange on the concentration of F^- . In a study of the $Ce^{3+}-Ce^{4+}$ electron exchange in solutions of various acidities, Duke and Parcher [192] determined the formation constants of the species $Ce(OH)_2^{2+}$, $Ce(OH)_3^+$ and $CeOCe(OH)^{5+}$. Brubaker and Michel [193] calculated the formation constants of the complexes TIOH, $TISO_4^+$, $TISO_4^-$ and $Tl(OH)_2^+$ from the dependence of the $Tl^{3+}-Tl^+$ electron exchange on the pH and on the sulphate concentration. Cohen *et al.* [194] established the formation constants of the complexes NpO₂Cl⁺ and NpO₂Cl₂ by examining the dependence of the Np(IV)–Np(V) exchange reaction on the chloride concentration. This reaction has an interesting feature: the catalytic activity of the monochloro complex.

The kinetic study of the metal ion- and complex-catalysed decomposition of hydrogen peroxide is also frequently used for the determination of equilibrium constants. For example, Yatsimirskii and Alekseyeva [195] determined the equilibrium constants of a number of Mo(VI) complexes by investigating the inhibitory effects of the ligands. Yatsimirskii [196] has given a detailed account of the kinetic methods, together with the possibilities of their application in equilibrium and analytical chemistry.

Hutchinson and Higginson [197] used a kinetic method to study ion-pair formation between numerous divalent metal ions and several simple anions. The dissociation of chloro(ethylenediaminetriacetatoacetate)cobalt(III).

$[Co(edta)Cl]^2 \Rightarrow [Co(edta)]^- + Cl^-$

which is catalysed by metal ions in general, and which can conveniently be followed spectrophotometrically, was used as indicator reaction. The reaction is catalysed about 300 times more effectively by ions with a charge of +3, and about 10 times more effectively by ions with a charge of +2, than by ions with a charge of +1.

If the charge change accompanying ion-pair formation is taken into consideration, it is understandable that the catalytic activity varies very sensitively with increase of the anion concentration. The equilibrium constants found with this kinetic method are listed in Table 4.2.

Equilibrium constants may also be determined through study of the reactions of molecular hydrogen. By investigating the reaction between silver(I) and hydrogen in the presence of F^- , Beck and Gimesi [198] determined the formation constant of the complex AgF. Peters and Halpern [198a] observed that the reaction between Cr(VI) and molecular hydrogen is catalysed by the copper(II)–glycine complex in a pH-dependent manner. From the pH-dependence of the catalytic effect, they concluded that the effective catalyst is the doubly protonated bis-glycinato copper(II) complex. It is more probable, however, and this is not contradicted by the experimental data, that the active species is the monoglycinato complex, for the concentration of this exhibits a maximum at the pH in question.
ibodi courre	Ac-	Br-	CI-	ClO ₃	NO ₃	NCS ⁻	[Co(EDTA)Cl]
$\frac{Mn^{2+}}{Co^{2+}}$ Ni ²⁺ Cu ²⁺ Zn ²⁺ Cd ²⁺ Pb ²⁺	$\begin{array}{c} 0.69 \pm 0.05 \\ 0.81 \pm 0.05 \\ 0.83 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.72 \pm 0.05 \\ 0.63 \pm 0.04 \\ 1.26 \pm 0.04 \\ 2.21 \pm 0.04 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.13 \pm 0.06 \\ 1.80 \pm 0.08 \\ 1.95 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.76 \pm 0.25 \\ 1.68 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.58 \pm 0.04 \\ 1.16 \pm 0.05 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.67 \pm 0.08 \\ 0.07 \pm 0.06 \\ 0.07 \pm 0.08 \\ 0.15 \pm 0.09 \\ 1.94 \pm 0.04 \\ 1.34 \pm 0.04 \\ 1.08 \pm 0.05 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.73 \pm 0.13 \\ 0.21 \pm 0.08 \\ 1.65 \pm 0.08 \\ 1.66 \pm 0.08 \\ 1.88 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.86 \pm 0.09 \\ 0.23 \pm 0.06 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1.85 \pm 0.06 \\ 1.85 \pm 0.08 \\ 0.08 \pm 0.08 \\ 1.87 \pm 0.07 \\ 1.88 \pm 0.05 \\ 0.07 \pm 0.07 \\ 0.62 \pm 0.05 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.65 \pm 0.05 \\ 0.95 \pm 0.04 \\ 1.13 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.76 \pm 0.07 \\ 0.41 \pm 0.05 \\ 1.34 \pm 0.04 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.83 \pm 0.09 \\ 0.94 \pm 0.06 \\ 0.97 \pm 0.06 \\ 1.31 \pm 0.02 \\ 0.60 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.08 \pm 0.02 \\ 1.65 \pm 0.02 \end{array}$

Table 4.2 Formation constants $\log K_1$ obtained for various ion-pairs with a kinetic method at 25 °C and an ionic strength I = 0.1 M [197] (Ac⁻ = acetate ion)

From a study of the pH-dependence on the Mn(III)-catalysed reaction between oxalate and bromine, Taube determined the stepwise stability constants of the first three Mn-oxalato complexes, while from the effects of Cl⁻ and F⁻ on the reaction he found the equilibrium data for the Mn(III)-chloro and Mn(III)-fluoro complexes [199]. Lister [200] determined the stability constants of the periodate and tellurate complexes of copper(III) on the basis of the inhibitory actions of these anions on the copper(III)-catalysed reaction of hypochlorite with them.

4.5.2.3 Central atom exchange reactions

If a metal ion forms a catalytically active complex with some A ligand, but its complex with the B ligand is catalytically inactive, then the equilibrium constant of the reaction

$MeA + B \Longrightarrow MeB + A$

can be determined from the kinetic data. If the formation constant of the complex MeB is regarded as known, the formation constant of MeA can be calculated. It can readily be seen that this method is the kinetic equivalent of the competition procedure employed in photometry and other examination methods, when conclusions relating to the parameters of the equilibrium system under study can be drawn from the effect on an auxiliary equilibrium system with a known constant. This principle was applied, for instance, to determine the formation constants of the Fe(III)-triethylenetetramine complex [201] and some metal ion-enzyme complexes [202, 203].

4.6 Extraction methods

We have already referred to the fact that the various experimental methods may be applied for the investigation of competition equilibria, i.e. conclusions on the parameters of the equilibrium system under study can be drawn by following the shift in the equilibrium state of an auxiliary equilibrium system with a known formation constant (constant series). Liquid–liquid extraction is essentially a competition method too, for the 'auxiliary equilibrium' relating to the distribution of the solute between immiscible liquids is connected with the equilibrium system under study, and the equilibrium constant(s) in question is (are) calculated from the concentration-dependence of the partition equilibrium.

In principle, any analytical chemistry method is suitable for following the partition equilibrium. In practice, however, the most generally used procedures are spectrophotometry, radioactive labelling and (more recently) atomic absorption analysis. Radioactive labelling has the very great advantage that it can be applied even when the metal ion concentration is very low; thus, it is possible to study mononuclear complexes even if the system displays a very high tendency to form polynuclear complexes. We shall not deal further with analytical methods employed to follow partition equilibria; we shall merely survey the main types of extraction methods.

The techniques in extraction experiments are very simple. It is important that the solvents used should be saturated with each other prior to the extraction. With a view to the calculation of the equilibrium constants, the distribution quotient must be determined as a function of the concentration in aqueous solution of some component influencing the position of the equilibrium. If simple laboratory techniques are employed, the recording of every point of this function necessitates a separate experiment. Nowadays, however, the apparatus developed by Reinhardt and Rydberg is commercially available under the name AKUFVE; this apparatus can be used to measure the distribution quotient even when the concentration conditions are varying [204].

For the quantitative characterization of extraction experiments, we define the distribution constant (D) and the distribution quotient (q). The distribution constant is the ratio of the concentrations in the two phases of a species participating in the partition equilibrium

$$D_{\mathrm{A}} = \frac{[\mathrm{A}]_{\mathrm{org}}}{[\mathrm{A}]_{\mathrm{aq}}}.$$
(4.67)

The distribution quotient is defined as the quotient of the equilibrium concentration of the species in question in the organic phase and its total concentration in the aqueous phase

$$q_{\rm A} = \frac{[\rm A]_{\rm org}}{T_{\rm A \, aq}} \,. \tag{4.68}$$

The two quantities have the same value if $[A] = T_A$, i.e. the species taking part in the partition equilibrium is to be found in the aqueous phase exclusively in a form that can be extracted, and it does not participate in other equilibrium processes. The basis of the extraction methods is that, as a consequence of the equilibrium processes in the aqueous phase, $[A] \neq T_A$, i.e. $q \neq D$, and the measure of the difference is characteristic of the position of the equilibrium within the aqueous phase. In general, only neutral molecules take part in the partition equilibrium between the aqueous and organic phases, while the charged complexes remain in the aqueous phase.

An extremely high number of equilibrium constants have been determined with the extraction method, and numerous reviews are available [205–214]. Accordingly, in this brief survey we shall discuss merely the basic correlations, the classification of extraction methods, and certain difficulties that arise during the practical application of extraction.

4.6.1 Partition of the ligand

In principle, two different cases of partition of the ligand between two phases are possible. The neutral ligands may be extracted directly. The distribution quotient can then be given by the following formula

$$q_{\rm L} = \frac{[{\rm L}]_{\rm org}}{[{\rm L}]_{\rm aq} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} i[{\rm MeL}_i]_{\rm aq}}.$$
(4.69)

A considerable proportion of negatively charged ligands are conjugated bases of weak acids. The protonated, neutral form can then be extracted into the organic phase, and we have

$$q_{\rm L} = \frac{[{\rm H}_n {\rm L}]_{\rm org}}{\sum\limits_0^Z [{\rm H}_j {\rm L}]_{\rm aq} + \sum\limits_1^N i[{\rm MeL}_i]_{\rm aq}} .$$
(4.70)

This basic principle can be employed, for example, to determine the dissociation constants of organic acids [215, 216] or the equilibrium constants of their dimerization in organic solvents [217]. Dawson and McCrae [218] made use of this method as long ago as 1900, to study the copper(II)-ammonia system. Similar principles have been applied to study certain metal complexes of hydrazine [219], pyridine [220], aniline [221] and unsaturated hydrocarbons [222]. With the emergence of the competition extraction methods, there has recently been a relative decline in the number of extraction studies based on the partition of the ligands.

4.6.2 Partition of the metal complexes

In the course of stepwise complex formation between metal complexes and anionic ligands, neutral metal complexes soluble in apolar organic solvents may be formed. In this case, the distribution quotient for the metal ion is

$$q_{\rm Me} = \frac{\sum_{0}^{N} [MeL_i]_{\rm org}}{\sum_{0}^{N} [MeL_i]_{\rm aq}}.$$
(4.71)

In general, only a single complex is soluble in the organic phase, and Eq. (4.71) can therefore be written in the following form

$$q_{\rm Me} = \frac{\left[{\rm MeL}_{\rm v}\right]_{\rm org}}{\sum\limits_{0}^{N} \left[{\rm MeL}_{i}\right]_{\rm aq}}.$$
(4.72)

After introduction of the distribution constant $D_{MeL_v} = [MeL_v]_{org}/[MeL_v]_{aq}$ and simplifications arising from the mass balances, we have

$$q_{\rm Me} = \frac{D_{\rm MeL_{\nu}}}{\sum\limits_{0}^{N} \beta_i [L]^{i-\nu}}.$$
 (4.73)

The neutral complex dissolving in the organic phase may be the last member of the series (v = N), and the distribution quotient then varies in accordance



Fig. 4.38. Partition of methylmercury between *o*-xylene and an aqueous phase with ionic strength 1 M (Na, H) (ClO₄, Cl) at $-\log [H] = 1.699$. (a) Initial T_{Cl} of aqueous phase; (b) calculated equilibrium [Cl⁻] of aqueous phase [223]

(Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., 27, 1277 (1973))



with a saturation curve. In general, however, MeL_v is an intermediate member of the series, and the distribution quotient too then exhibits a maximum as a function of the free ligand concentration. As an example of the first case, Fig. 4.38, based on the studies by Budevsky *et al.* [223], depicts the dependence of the distribution quotient on the total and free ligand concentrations for the $CH_3Hg^+-Cl^-$ system.



Fig. 4.39. Partition of methylmercury between o-xylene and an aqueous phase with ionic strength 1 M (Na, H) (ClO₄, Cl) as a function of the equilibrium bromide concentration of the aqueous phase, measured with different methods, at various total methylmercury concentrations [224]

(Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 7 (1978))

The distribution quotient varies in accordance with a maximum curve in the extraction of the CH_3Hg^+ -Br⁻ system [224], as illustrated in Fig. 4.39.

This Figure clearly shows that CH_3HgBr is the predominant complex in a wide interval of Br^- concentration, where the maximum in the distribution quotient is therefore equal to the distribution constant. Formation of the anionic complex $CH_3HgBr_2^-$ can be concluded from the decrease observed in the distribution quotient at high Br^- concentration.

4.6.3 Competitive extraction

A large majority of the extraction equilibrium studies carried out in recent decades can be classified in this category. It was mentioned at the beginning of this chapter that extraction may be regarded as a competition method, for it is based on the competition of the partition and complex formation equilibria. The special nomenclature of the competitive extraction method is justified by the fact that in this method a ligand that is the conjugate base of a weak acid, and that is well soluble in the organic solvent, is introduced into the equilibrium system. The ligand forms an extractable complex with the metal ion

$$\operatorname{Me}_{\operatorname{aq}}^{z+} + pH_{g}L_{\operatorname{org}} \Longrightarrow \operatorname{Me}L_{p\operatorname{org}} + zH_{\operatorname{aq}}^{+}.$$
 (4.74)

The metal ion therefore passes into the organic phase, while z(=pq) bound protons pass in free form into the aqueous phase from the organic phase. If the law of mass action is applied to this process

$$K_e = \frac{[\operatorname{MeL}_p]_{\operatorname{org}}[\operatorname{H}^+]_{\operatorname{aq}}^z}{[\operatorname{Me}^{z+}]_{\operatorname{aq}}[\operatorname{H}_q L]_{\operatorname{org}}^p}.$$
(4.75)

Expressing the experimentally measurable distribution quotient

 $q_{\rm Me} = [{\rm MeL}_p]_{\rm org}/[{\rm Me}^{z+}]_{\rm ag}$

from Eq. (4.75) and taking logarithms

$$\log q_{\rm Me} = \log K_e + p \log [H_a L]_{\rm org} + z \, p {\rm H}. \tag{4.76}$$

This equation demonstrates that the distribution quotient relating to the metal ion depends on the concentration of the auxiliary complex forming agent H_qL in the organic phase, and on the pH of the aqueous phase. The concentration of H_qL in the organic phase in the course of the extraction is selected to be so high that the concentration decrease due to formation of the metal complex will be negligible: the equilibrium concentration of H_qL will effectively be the same as the initial value. Under these conditions, if the pH of the aqueous



Fig. 4.40. Determination of z in Eq. (4.75) from the pH-dependence of the distribution quotient on the basis of uranium(VI) extraction studies with various dioxo compounds (z=2) [225]

a — Benzoyl; b — p-nitrobenzoyl; c = 3,5-dinitrobenzoyl derivative of 2,4-dihydro-5-methyl-2-phenyl-3H-pyrazol-3-one



(Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 2057 (1977))

phase is kept constant, the slope of the function $\log q_{Me} = f(\log [H_qL])$ gives the value of p; if the concentration of H_qL is constant, the slope of the function $\log q_{Me} = f(pH)$ gives the value of z. Figures 4.40 and 4.41 illustrate the results of experiments aimed at the determination of p and z [225].

In competitive extraction equilibrium studies, this process can in effect be regarded as an 'auxiliary equilibrium', coupled with complex formation in the aqueous phase between the metal ion and the ligand under investigation. In the presence of a ligand A that forms a non-extractable complex in the aqueous



Fig. 4.41. Determination of p in Eq. (4.75) from the dependence of the logarithm of the distribution quotient on -log [HL], on the basis of uranium(VI) extraction studies with various dioxo compounds [225]. (For symbols see Fig. 4.40) (Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 2057 (1977))

phase, the value of q_{Me} is modified

$$q'_{\rm Me} = \frac{\left[\mathrm{MeL}_p\right]_{\rm org}}{\left[\mathrm{Me}^{z+}\right]_{\rm aq}\sum_{0}^{N}\beta_i[\mathrm{A}]^i}$$
(4.77)

i.e. the quotient q_{Me}/q'_{Me} gives the value of $\sum_{0}^{N} \beta_i [A]^i$. If the value of the function $q_{Me}/q'_{Me} = f([A])$ is measured at a sufficient number of points, the values of the stability constants β_i can be calculated.

On the above basis, it is clear that in this method the extraction serves in fact for measurement of the equilibrium metal ion concentration [226-240]; in

principle, therefore, it can be considered a method for equilibrium chemistry investigations in the same way as potentiometry with metal ion-selective electrodes. To illustrate the method, Figs 4.42 and 4.43 present results on the Pu(III)-SCN⁻, Am(III)-SCN⁻ and Cm(III)-SCN⁻ systems [226], and the Np⁴⁺-NO₃⁻, Np⁴⁺-Cl⁻, NpO₂²⁺-NO₃⁻ and NpO₂²⁺-Cl⁻ systems [230].

Figure 4.43 reveals that this method can be applied to determine even very low stability constants; the distribution quotient can be measured fairly accurately, and the increase of the ligand concentration in the aqueous phase is limited, apart from the solubility, only by the necessity to ensure the standard state. It must be noted, however, that maintenance of the standard state may be questionable under the conditions relating to Fig. 4.43.

If the ligand A is itself the conjugate base of a weak acid, then the ratio of the distribution quotients is also pH-dependent. In this case, similarly as in other experimental methods, the value of the apparent stability constant can be determined from measurements at constant pH.

It should be mentioned that extraction studies with liquid ion-exchangers are based on a similar principle as that for the competitive methods, with the difference that the organic phase generally contains an extractant with a higher molecular mass, the composition of which is often not known exactly.



Fig. 4.42. Partition of Pu(III), Am(III), and Cm(III) between aqueous thiocyanate and n-heptane containing 0.01 M NH₄DNNS, as a function of the thiocyanate concentration at (30±0.1) °C; I = 1 M (NH₄ClO₄-NH₄SCN); HDNNS = dinonylnaphthalenesulphonic acid [226]

(Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 3819 (1974))





 $\triangle - Np^{4+}, X^{-} = Cl^{-}$

(Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 3503 (1971))

4.6.4 Synergism and antagonism

The term synergism was originally used to describe the phenomenon of the distribution quotient for the metal ion increasing substantially when the organic phase contains two ligands. One of these is an anion in its ligand form and therefore neutralizes the metal ion, while the other is a neutral molecule [241]. It was initially believed that this phenomenon is observed for only a few metal ions and ligands, but it later turned out that the phenomenon is a quite general one [241].

A simplified explanation of the phenomenon of synergism is that the metal ion is not coordinately saturated by the number of extractant species (acting as anionic ligand) required to neutralize the charge; thus, the metal ion is able to bind further ligands. The affinity of the residual coordination sites for further, neutral ligand species becomes particularly marked in an organic solvent, for in aqueous medium this role may be filled by water molecules. The solubility of the coordinately saturated neutral mixed complex containing more apolar ligand than the parent complexes can clearly be substantially higher in the organic phase than that of the coordinately unsaturated, electrically neutral parent complex.

A characteristic example of synergism is shown in Fig. 4.44, for systems of Co(II)-thionyltrifluoroacetone with pyridine or a pyridine derivative. It may



Fig. 4.44. Partition of ⁶⁰Co between aqueous acetate buffer of pH 4.93 and a mixture of heterocyclic bases (Q) and thionyltrifluoroacetone (TTA) dissolved in cyclohexane: $T_{TTA} + T_Q = 0.02 M$ [205]

● — Isoquinoline; ● — 3-methylpyridine: ● — 4-methylpyridine; ○ — pyridine; ⊖
 — 3-chloropyridine; ● — quinoline; ● — 2-methylpyridine

(Reproduced with permission from Dyrssen, D., Liljenzin, J. O. and Rydberg, J. (Eds), Solvent Extraction Chemistry, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1967)

occur that when the residual coordination sites are occupied by two different neutral ligands, the resulting extractability is better than when these ligands are identical. An example of this was found by Irving [242]. For an interpretation of the phenomenon (in the case of the system presented in Fig. 4.44), it is necessary to take into account the following equilibrium process and equilibrium constant

$$Co(TTA)_{2}A_{2} + Co(TTA)_{2}B_{2} \rightleftharpoons 2Co(TTA)_{2}AB$$

$$K = \frac{[Co(TTA)_{2}AB]^{2}}{[Co(TTA)_{2}A_{2}][Co(TTA)_{2}B_{2}]}.$$
(4.78)



Fig. 4.45. Calculated partition curve of MeL_2 for a synergic combination of two bases (A and B). q_A and q_B are the distribution quotients of MeL_2A_2 and MeL_2B_2 ; K_d is the disproportionation constant as in Eq. (4.77) [205]

(Reproduced with permission from Dyrssen, D., Liljenzin, J. O. and Rydberg, J. (Eds) Solvent Extraction Chemistry, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1967)

176

Figure 4.45 depicts the distribution quotients calculated at various K values as a function of the ratio of the two neutral ligands. The diagram clearly reveals that this type of synergism too is connected with favoured mixed complex formation.

The opposite of synergism, i.e. antagonism, is likewise frequently observed during extraction studies. Antagonism shows up as a decrease in extractability in the presence of the neutral ligand; it indicates that association (generally hydrogen-bonding) takes place between the neutral ligand and the charged ligand, the effective concentration of the anionic ligand thereby diminishing. As examples, Fig. 4.46 presents the effects of alcohols on the extraction of various metal ions with a solution of dialkylphosphoric acid in petroleum ether; these results were obtained by Upor [243].

It sometimes happens that the neutral ligand exerts a synergetic effect at low concentration, but an antagonistic effect at higher concentration, as may be seen in Fig. 4.47. A detailed study of the phenomenon of synergism and antagonism is itself an interesting task; from the aspect of the determination of complex equilibrium constants, however, its importance is secondary. Accordingly, we shall not deal in detail with this topic, but merely refer the reader to some of the more important publications [244–255].



Fig. 4.46. Antagonistic effect of alcohols on extraction with dialkylphosphoric acid [243]. $I - Ti^{4+}$; 6.0 M HCl; 0.05 m HDBP; butanol; $2 - UO_2^{2+}$; 0.1 M HCl; 0.005 m HDBP; butanol; $3 - Th^{4+}$; 4.0 M HCl; 0.01 M HDBP; butanol; $4 - Eu^{3+}$; 0.25 M HCl; 0.05 M HDBP; butanol; $5 - Eu^{3+}$; 0.25 M HCl; 0.05 M HDBP; 2-ethylhexanol; $6 - Zr^{4+}$; 6.0 M HCl; 0.005 M HDBP; butanol; HDBP = dibutylphosphoric acid

(Reproduced with permission from Proc. 3rd Symp. Coord. Chem. Debrecen, Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest (1970), p. 143)



Fig. 4.47. Extraction with β-diketones in the presence of TBP (TOPO) [243]. $I - \text{Tb}^{3+}$; 0.05 *M* HCl; 0.075 *M* HTTA; TBP, $2 - \text{UO}_2^{2+}$; 0.05 *M* HCl; 0.2 *M* HTTA; TBP, $3 - \text{Th}^{4+}$; 0.05 *M* HCl; 0.005 *M* HTTA; TBP, $4 - \text{Lu}^{3+}$; 0.01 *M* HCl; 0.01 *M* acetylacetone; TOPO.

TBP = tributyl phosphate; TOPO = trioctylphosphine oxide; HTTA = thionyltrifluoroacetone

(Reproduced with permission from Proc. 3rd Symp. Coord. Chem., Debrecen, Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest (1970), p. 143)

4.6.5 Specific problems of extraction equilibrium studies

The brief survey above has shown that extraction is a method that can be applied in general for complex equilibrium studies, since systems containing a metal ion can be investigated by means of competitive extraction with practically no exceptions. The method is therefore applied very widely. Nevertheless, in the course of its application, attention must be paid to a number of special problems that unavoidably accompany extraction.

The condition that the two liquids (one of which is usually water) are completely immiscible does not often hold in a strict sense. If the mutual solubility is not negligible, then the change in the medium, and the effect of this on the position of the equilibrium must be taken into account in the extraction investigations.

It may occur that the extraction is accompanied by transfer of a number of electrically neutral complexes with various compositions into the organic phase; in this case, it is not sufficient to perform calculations adequate for a single extractable complex. Attention must also be paid to side-reactions taking place in the organic phase, and to the effects of these on the position of the equilibrium. Examples will be given below, illustrating the special phenomena that may be observed during the practical application of extraction, these sometimes hampering evaluation of the results.

Kojima et al. [256] studied the extraction of an aqueous solution of copper(II) with carboxylic acids dissolved in chloroform, and found that the complex soluble in the organic phase is dimerized in a form containing protonated carboxylic acid. At the same time, the free carboxylic acid is also to be found in dimeric form in the organic phase. Thus, the general relationship [Eq. (4.74)] no longer holds in this system. The extraction equilibrium can be written as follows

$$2Cu_{aq}^{2+} + 3(HR)_{2 \text{ org}} \rightleftharpoons (CuR_2(HR))_{2 \text{ org}} + 4H_{aq}^+.$$
 (4.79)

Through the extraction of Zr(IV) and Hf(IV) with various hydroxamic acids in benzene and chloroform, Fouché *et al.* [257] established that the mixed complexes of composition MeA_xCl_{4-x} are also extracted if the HCl concentration of the aqueous phase is increased. Accordingly, mechanism (4.74) cannot be used to describe the extraction equilibrium in this case either.

Zangen and Rafaeloff [258] interpreted the results of their investigations on the $Gd^{3+}-Cl^{-}-HSO_{4}^{-}$ system by assuming the formation of four different ion-pairs soluble in the organic phase.

In their study of the extraction of indium(III) with caproic acid, Tanaka et al. [259] found the following equilibria

$$In_{aq}^{3+} + 3(HR)_{2 \text{ org}} \rightleftharpoons InR_{3}3HR_{org} + 3H_{aq}^{+}$$
$$3In_{aq}^{3+} + 6(HR)_{2 \text{ org}} \rightleftharpoons (InR_{3}3HR)_{3 \text{ org}} + 9H_{aq}^{+}$$
$$6In_{aq}^{3+} + 6(HR)_{2 \text{ org}} + 6H_{2}O \rightleftharpoons (InR_{2}(OH))_{6 \text{ org}} + 18H_{aq}^{+}.$$

Aggett [260] reported that at least two complexes with different compositions are transferred to the organic phase during the extraction of iron(III) with acetylacetone dissolved in cyclohexane.

Numerous other examples [261–269] confirm that Eq. (4.74) is often not valid, and that more than one and/or more complicated partition equilibria must be taken into consideration. The key question concerning application of the extraction method to equilibrium chemistry is the exact knowledge of the stoichiometry and constants of the partition equilibria between the organic

phase and the aqueous phase. This may be followed by 'coupling' the system to the complex formation processes occurring in the aqueous phase, with the aim of determination of the equilibrium constants. Frequently, however, the extraction equilibria themselves are also very complicated, and their stoichiometry and constants can be determined only through very circumspect work. In equilibrium chemistry practice, therefore, though extraction is in principle one of the most general methods, its significance is less than that of potentiometry or the spectrophotometric methods.

If extraction studies are carried out on a given equilibrium system with a number of different organic solvents, then (within the limits of experimental) errors) the logarithms of the distribution quotients must vary in the same way as functions of the free ligand concentration, i.e. identical stability constants must be obtained. If this condition is satisfied, the determined values of the constants can be regarded as reliable; any difference is an indication of the



Fig. 4.48. Partition of Th(IV) between aqueous and organic phases as a function of the equilibrium concentration of acetylacetonate for various organic solvents [270]

 Methyl isobutyl ketone; — benzene; — chloroform (Reproduced with permission from Arkiv Kemi, 8, 113 (1955))

180

occurrence of a specific interaction between the complex undergoing extraction and the molecules of the organic solvent. Figure 4.48 shows results of extraction studies with various solvents on the thorium(IV)-acetylacetone system. The different curve found in extraction measurements with methyl isobutyl ketone could be interpreted quantitatively through the assumption that a mixed ligand complex thorium(IV)-acetylacetone-methyl isobutyl ketone is formed [270].

4.7 Solubility studies

In the stepwise complex formation reactions of metal ions and anionic ligands, the product is often an electrically neutral complex with a much lower solubility in water, or in some other solvent with a high dielectric constant, than the solubilities of cationic or anionic complexes. Through use of the expression $K_s = [Me][L]^v$, defining the solubility product of the sparingly soluble neutral complex MeL_v, it can readily be shown that, apart from the constants K_s and β_i , the solubility depends only upon the free ligand concentration

$$S = \sum_{0}^{N} K_{s} \beta_{i} [L]^{i-\nu}, \qquad (4.80)$$

It is obvious that the upper limit of the range of interpretation of the functions $\log T_{Me} = f(\log [L])$ (discussed in Chapter 3) which supplement the concentration distribution is $T_{Me} = S$; thus, the curves α_i , $\bar{n} = f(\log [L])$ and $\log T_{Me} = f(\log [L])$ can conveniently be supplemented with the curves $\log S = f(\log [L])$, indicating that the plot $\log T_{Me} = f(\log [L])$ has meaning only up to $T_{Me} = S$ [271].

Figure 4.49 depicts the formation, distribution, total concentration and solubility curves for the Hg²⁺-I⁻ system. The diagram reveals, for instance, that a precipitate of HgI₂ will separate out even from a 10^{-3} M solution of K₂[HgI₄], but an excess of 10^{-3} M KI is sufficient to prevent precipitation. The points in the lower part of the diagram denote the T_{Hg} values that may be calculated from the K_s values alone, complex formation being ignored. The difference of the points from the actual solubility curve shows very illustratively what a serious error may result if the simplified calculation procedure usually recommended in textbooks on analytical chemistry is followed and complex formation is not taken into consideration. This has previously been pointed out by a number of authors [272–274].

Analogous curves for the Pb²⁺-I⁻ system are given in Fig. 4.50. The diagram clearly shows that PbI₂ dissolves only in a very large I⁻ excess. The ratio interval $T_{I^-}/T_{Pb^2+} \approx 500-5000$ is especially interesting, for the curve log $T_{Me} = f(\log [L])$ intersects the solubility curve at two points in this interval. This means, for instance, that the colourless solution containing 0.005 M T_{Pb^2+} and

13 Beck-Nagypál



Fig. 4.49. Supplemented partition diagram of the Hg²⁺-I⁻ system. (a) Formation curve of the system, and distribution curves of the various complexes; (b) $\log T_{Hg}$ as a function of $\log [I^-]$ at various concentration ratios T_{l}/T_{Hg} and the solubility curve. Points denoted by • are the solubilities found by simplified calculation [271]

(Reproduced with permission from Talanta, 29, 473 (1982))

3 *M* KI yields a yellow precipitate of PbI_2 on dilution. It should be emphasized that precipitation on dilution differs in principle from hydrolysis on dilution. The latter often occurs in aqueous solutions of certain metal ions, for in this case the dilution results in an increase in concentration of the reacting ionic species, the OH⁻ ion, whereas the concentration of I⁻ decreases when the $Pb^{2+}-I^{-}$ system is diluted. Here, precipitate formation is a consequence of the 'dissociation'

$$PbI_4^2 \Rightarrow PbI_2 + 2I^2$$

which is shifted in the direction of the upper arrow by dilution.



Fig. 4.50. Supplemented partition diagram of the Pb²⁺-I⁻ system.
(a) Formation curve of the system, and distribution curves of the various complexes;
(b) log T_{Pb} as a function of log [I⁻] at various concentration ratios T_l/T_{Pb}, and the solubility curve [271]
(Reproduced with permission from Talanta, 29, 473 (1982))

The solubility curve has two characteristic points: the minimum point, and the point where the plot log $T_{Me} = f(\log [L])$ is tangential to the solubility curve. The coordinates of these points may be obtained by differentiation of the function log $S = f(\log [L])$. If Eq. (4.80) is differentiated with respect to [L]

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}S}{\mathrm{d}[\mathrm{L}]} = \sum_{0}^{N} (i-\nu) K_{s} \beta_{i} [\mathrm{L}]^{i-\nu-1}$$
(4.81)

$$\frac{\operatorname{dlog} S}{\operatorname{dlog} [L]} = \bar{n} - v. \tag{4.82}$$

i.e.

It follows directly from Eq. (4.82) that the minimum in the solubility is to be found at the point where $\bar{n} = v$, i.e. the partial mole fractions of the complex MeL_v are at a maximum. Equation (4.82) is known as the Bodländer equation in the literature [275].

The \bar{n} coordinate of the point at which $\log T_{Me} = f(\log [L])$ is tangential to $S = f(\log [L])$ can similarly readily be obtained. At this point, we have $dS/d[L] = dT_{Me}/d[L]$, i.e.

$$\frac{dS}{dT_{Me}} = \sum_{0}^{N} K_{s}(i-\nu)\beta_{i}[L]^{i-\nu-1} \frac{d[L]}{dT_{Me}} = 1.$$
(4.83)

If it is borne in mind that $qT_{Me} - [L] = \bar{n}T_{Me}$ along the points corresponding to the plots log $T_{Me} = f(\log [L])$, we may write

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}[\mathrm{L}]}{\mathrm{d}T_{\mathrm{Me}}} = q - \bar{n}. \tag{4.84}$$

If Eq. (4.84) is substituted into Eq. (4.83), and simplifications are made with respect to $T_{\text{Me}} = S$, $T_{\text{L}} - [\text{L}] = \overline{n} \cdot S$ and $[\text{Me}] [\text{L}]^{\nu+1} = K_s(q - \overline{n})S$, we have

$$\bar{n} = v + 1.$$
 (4.85)

Accordingly, Eq. (4.85) indicates that the tangential point is to be found at the maximum in the partial mole fraction of the first anionic complex, $MeL_{\nu+1}$. Either dilution or concentration of the saturated solution with composition corresponding to this will lead to loss of the saturation state. The equation also expresses indirectly that the log $T_{Me} = f(\log [L])$ plot intersects the solubility curve at two points only if $N \ge \nu + 2$, i.e. at least two anionic complexes are formed in the stepwise equilibria.

The considerations and diagrams presented so far clearly show the direct connection of the formation, partition and solubility curves. In the application of solubility measurements in equilibrium chemistry, the data of the S = f[L] or $S = f[T_L]$ plots may be determined experimentally and used to calculate the formation constants.

If the previously discussed extraction method is compared with that based on solubility measurements, they are seen to be very similar. The reason behind the similarity is that both procedures are based on the partition of the neutral complex, between two liquid phases in the extraction method, and between the solid and liquid phases in solubility measurements. The characteristic points of the plots also have similar chemical meaning. The maximum in the distribution quotient corresponds to the minimum in the solubility curve; at both characteristic points we have the correlation $\bar{n} = v$ for the aqueous phase.

For the extraction curves, the tangential point of $-\log q_{Me} = f(\log [L])$ and $\log T_{Me} = f(\log [L])$ is similarly found at $\bar{n} = v + 1$. The following chemical

184

meaning can be given to the tangential point in this case: if the concentration ratio $T_{\rm L}/T_{\rm Me}$ characteristic of this point is maintained, and the aqueous phase is either diluted or concentrated, the metal ion concentration in the aqueous phase after the extraction equilibrium has been restored will be lower than the initial value.

There are naturally also very substantial differences between the two methods. Along the solubility curves, the activities (concentrations) of the complex MeL, in the aqueous and organic phases are the same. For the extraction equilibria the ratio of the concentrations is constant; they may have arbitrary absolute values within the solubility limits. This difference permits study of the formation of polynuclear complexes too with the extraction method, through variation of the metal ion concentration. In the case of solubility measurements there is no possibility to vary the metal ion concentration, and the formation of polynuclear complexes can be demonstrated only on the basis of solubility measurements in combination with some other method of examination; solubility measurements themselves are not suitable for this. In general, a much longer time must be waited for equilibrium to be established in solubility studies than in extraction studies. The most important difference, however, is that several complexes may take part in the extraction partition equilibrium, whereas the solid phase always consists of a single complex (though the composition



Fig. 4.51. Logarithm of solubility of $Co(NH_3)_6(ClO_4)_3$ as a function of log [Br⁻] at an ionic strength I = 4 M Na(ClO₄, Br) [276]. The break-points in the curve indicate the phase transformations $Co(NH_3)_6(ClO_4)_3 \rightarrow Co(NH_3)_6Br_2ClO_4 \rightarrow Co(NH_3)_6Br_3$ (Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., 27, 2335 (1973))

may vary). If the composition of the solid phase too changes with the variable component concentration, this shows up as a break-point in the solubility curve. An example of this phenomenon, taken from the results of Johansson [276], is presented in Fig. 4.51.

In our considerations we have so far restricted ourselves to a discussion of the solubility conditions relating to two-component precipitates, and the connection between solubility and complex formation. Haight [277] developed a method for the determination of stability constants through solubility studies on three-component precipitates. Johansson [278] has written an excellent review of solubility studies on systems where the solid phase has a more complex composition.

The methods of determining equilibrium constants via solubility measurements can be classified fundamentally into two types: those in which the solid phase is one of the complexes (generally an outer sphere complex) produced during stepwise complex formation (the studies therefore relating to twocomponent systems), and those in which the solubility equilibrium is connected as an 'auxiliary equilibrium' with the equilibrium system under investigation (the latter methods being known as competition solubility studies).

Of the analytical methods for the measurement of solubility, radioactive labelling, atomic absorption analysis and spectrophotometry are most generally used, but naturally any method with the desired accuracy and sensitivity can be employed.

4.7.1 Study of two-component systems

The basic principle in equilibrium studies of two-component systems by means of solubility measurements was elaborated by Sano [279] in the case of amino acids. An essentially similar method was applied by Irving *et al.* [280] to determine the protonation constants of 8-hydroxyquinoline. Procedures suitable for the study of stepwise complex formation involving two components were mainly developed by Leden, Ahrland, Lieser and their coworkers [281–287].

Johansson [276, 288, 289] primarily utilized the measurement of solubility for the study of outer sphere complexes.

Besides complex formation in the aqueous medium [290–292], equilibrium constant determinations based on solubility measurements have recently been used to investigate processes taking place in the melt phase [293] and in solvent mixtures [294].

4.7.2 Competition solubility studies

The principle behind solubility studies based on competition is that the solubility changes when a ligand L' reacting with the metal ion is added to a saturated solution of a sparingly soluble precipitate of composition MeL (or when a metal ion Me' is added which reacts to form a complex with the ligand). From the change of solubility, conclusions can be drawn on the interaction between Me and L' (or between Me' and L). The hydrogen ion must also be taken into consideration as a competition partner if the ligand L or L' is a conjugate base of a weak acid, or if the metal ion Me or Me' undergoes hydrolysis under the conditions of the study.

Johansson [295] used a competition method to investigate formation of the complex TIF by measuring the solubilities of TIIO₃ and BaF₂ as functions of the fluoride or thallium concentration. The results of his solubility measurements (Fig. 4.52) showed that, in contrast with expectations, the solubility of TIIO₃ does not increase, but instead decreases, with increase of the F⁻ concentration. He explained this unusual experimental result in that the association between Tl⁺ and the ClO₄⁻ used as background electrolyte anion was stronger than the interaction between Tl⁺ and F⁻. Starting from this, the formation constants of the perchlorato complexes too may be determined [296].

Nair et al. [297, 298] studied the systems of Ca^{2+} and Cu^{2+} with lactic acid and malic acid through measurements of the solubilities of $Ca(IO_3)_2$ and





 $Cu(IO_3)_2$. From the change in the solubility of silver acetate in response to $Be(NO_3)_2$, Sengupta and Adhikari [299] determined the constants of the acetato complexes of Be^{2+} . Halloff and Vannerberg [300] investigated the interaction between Ni²⁺ and Cl⁻ by measuring the solubility of AgCl.

With ligands that are conjugate bases of weak acids, solubility studies are naturally supplemented by pH measurement. Ilcheva and Bjerrum [301] determined the formation constants of the methylamine and dimethylamine complexes of copper(II) by measuring the solubility of gerhardtite in 2 M methyl- or dimethylammonium nitrate at various pH values. McDowell *et al.* [302] utilized the pH-dependent solubility of CaHPO₄ to draw conclusions on the solubility product and formation constant of CaHPO₄ and on formation of the complex CaH₂PO₄⁺. Hedström *et al.* [303] examined the Pb²⁺-oxalate system in a similar way.

The general introduction and the great variety of the above examples reveal that solubility studies based on competition can be applied in a very wide range. It is surprising, therefore, that the literature contains relatively few examples of such investigations (though the above listing is not complete). The probable explanation for this is that equilibrium studies based on solubility studies are much more work- and time-consuming than other methods.

4.8 Study of ion-exchange equilibria

Similarly to the methods discussed above, equilibrium chemistry studies based on ion-exchange depend on the partition of the various ionic species. One of the phases involved in the partition equilibrium is an aqueous solution; the other is a resin phase, which contains acidic or basic groups capable of ion-exchange. The partition between the solution and resin phases depends on the charges of the ions in the solution phase, and it is therefore understandable that the ion-exchange equilibrium is influenced fundamentally by complex formation between the metal ions and anionic ligands.

In the course of ion-exchange equilibrium studies, it is generally necessary to take into consideration the partition of all complexes; further, chemisorption effects too may arise on the solid-liquid interface. Accordingly, a quantitative description of the equilibria is substantially more difficult than in the previous cases, and the description contains a number of simplifications and assumptions that cannot be strictly proved. In spite of this, the study of ion-exchange equilibria is of basic importance, primarily because of the wide-ranging applications of ion-exchange resins in industrial and analytical chemistry.

Reviews are to be found on the experimental techniques in equilibrium studies based on ion-exchange, and on the descriptions of commercially-available ion-exchangers [304–306]. Detailed discussions of the principles of ionexchange investigations of complex formation processes have been given by Marcus [307], by Inczédy [308, 309] and by Lengyel and Törkő [310].

4.8.1 Application of cation-exchangers

The partition of some metal ion between the solution and resin phases is described by the following quotient

$$\Phi = \frac{\text{no. of moles of metal ion bound on 1 g air-dry resin}}{\text{no. of moles of metal ion in 1 cm}^3 \text{ solution}}.$$
(4.86)

Let φ_i be the ratio of the concentrations of complex MeL_i in the resin and solution phases

$$\varphi_i = \frac{[\mathrm{MeL}_i]_r}{[\mathrm{MeL}_i]_{\mathrm{aq}}}.$$
(4.87)

The overall partition can then be given by means of the constants φ_i and β_i

$$\Phi = \frac{\sum_{0}^{N} \varphi_{i}[L]^{i}}{\sum_{0}^{N} \beta_{i}[L]^{i}}.$$
(4.88)

The general solution of Eq. (4.88) normally encounters great difficulties. If it is assumed that only the partition of the free metal ion must be taken into consideration [311, 312]

$$\frac{\varphi_0}{\Phi} = \sum_0^N \beta_i [L]^i \,. \tag{4.89}$$

Equation (4.88) has been applied, for example, to determine the stability constants of complexes of the alkaline earth metal ions with organic di- and tricarboxylic acids [313]. Equation (4.89) can be used only if a single ligand is sufficient to neutralize the charge of the metal ion, i.e. the formation of cationic complexes need not be considered. Numerous attempts have been made to give a quantitative description of ion-exchange studies on systems forming cationic complexes [314–320], but the results must be treated with some caution. In this case it is advisable to measure the partition of the ligand too, if this is possible experimentally, as this considerably facilitates the evaluation of the experimental data.

In recent times, besides the continuation of investigations on relatively simple systems [321–323], efforts have been made to apply methods based on cation-exchange to more complicated equilibrium systems [324, 325], and even to processes taking place in the melt phase [326].

4.8.2 Application of anion-exchangers

The application of anion-exchangers for the determination of equilibrium constants was first proposed by Leden [327], and the bases of the method were put forward by Fronaeus [328]: the distribution quotient measurable on the anion-exchange resin is proportional to the partial mole fraction of the neutral complex. The theory of the method was further developed by Marcus and Coryell [329] and by Kraus and Nelson [330], who also took into account the Donnan equilibrium and defined the concept of effective ligand activity: the variation in the corrected distribution quotient according to the effective ligand activity exactly follows the variation in the mole fraction of the neutral complex. Therefore, the corrected distribution quotient varies in the same way as the solubility curve outlined in Section 4.7, or in the same way as the distribution quotient in the course of extraction based on the partition of the neutral complex. In a similar manner as for the corresponding functions of the previous methods, the differential coefficient of the logarithm of the corrected distribution quotient with respect to the logarithm of the effective ligand activity gives the value of $v - \bar{n}$.

The method can be applied if the ligands are small, so that the resulting complexes are bound on the resin without steric hindrance. Accordingly, equilibrium studies based on anion-exchange are largely used to investigate halogeno and pseudohalogeno complexes. Kraus and Nelson have studied the partitions of the chloro complexes of practically every conceivable ion; their results are presented in Fig. 4.53 [331].

The ions examined can be classified into the following four groups:

(1) Ions binding not at all, or only very weakly. These do not form anionic chloro complexes.

(2) Ions binding less strongly as the hydrochloric acid concentration is increased. These form only anionic complexes at the hydrochloric acid concentration in question.

(3) Ions exhibiting an adsorption maximum. For these, the interval of formation of the neutral complex is within the examined hydrochloric acid concentration range.

(4) Ions with an increasing ability to adsorb. An anionic chloro complex may be formed in these systems too, but the average charge number remains positive within the examined concentration range.

The starting condition in the derivation of the correlations relating to the equilibrium chemical application of anion-exchange is that, because of the very high ligand concentration of the resin phase, only a single complex, that with the maximum coordination number, binds on the resin. However, this condition

			on-exchange resin as [331] . (Eds), <i>Proc. Intern.</i> (65)
Element Control Control Contr	 K Co Sc T V V L Mn L Mn		 Fig. 4.53. Partition of metal ions between aqueous phase and anic a function of HCl concentration of aqueous phase [(Reproduced with permission from Kraus, K. A. and Nelson, F. Conf. Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy, 7, 113 (19

does not hold for all systems; from the Ag^+-CN^- system, for instance, the tricyano complex is bound, though the solution contains mainly $[Ag(CN)_4]^{3-}$ [332]. Similarly, in the Gd(III)–glycollate system the solution contains predominantly the tris complex, but it is the bis complex that is bound [333]. A similar study on the Cu²⁺-Cl⁻ system revealed that the dimerization $2CuCl_3^- + Cl^- \Rightarrow \Rightarrow Cu_2Cl_7^-$ proceeds in the resin phase at higher Cl⁻ and Cu(II) concentrations [334].

Fronaeus *et al.* [335] developed a method for determination of the stability constants of complexes formed in the resin phase, and applied this to the $Cd^{2+}-Br^{-}$ system.

Equilibrium chemical studies based on anion-exchange have likewise been carried out more recently [336–344], but the relative frequency of their application is displaying a decreasing tendency.

4.9 Potentiometry

As a result of the occurrence of complex formation processes in solutions, the total (analytical) and free (equilibrium) concentrations of the components involved in the equilibrium are different. The total concentrations can be determined by the usual methods of analytical chemistry, or the equilibrium solutions to be studied are prepared by mixing solutions whose total concentrations are already known.

The most appropriate method for measurement of the equilibrium (free) concentrations of the components is potentiometry, i.e. the measurement of the e.m.f., for this allows a generally fast, well-reproducible determination of the equilibrium concentration without disturbing the position of equilibrium. In the course of potentiometric measurements, series of solutions with various total concentrations are prepared, and suitably selected sensing and reference electrodes are used to measure the e.m.f. The series of solutions may be prepared individually, or a titration method is employed. Individual preparation of the samples is recommended if a long time is required for attainment of the equilibrium state and/or the equilibrium electrode potential.

Titration is a rapid method for the study of systems in which the equilibrium state is attained within at most a few minutes. It is essential that the total concentrations of the starting solution to be titrated and the solution in the burette are different, and thus the total concentrations of the components of solutions under study vary in accordance with the dilution rules during the stepwise addition of titrant; the change in the equilibrium concentrations in question is followed by means of the appropriate electrode system. In titrations with the aim of studying equilibrium chemistry, it is very important that the concentrations of the components of the solution to be titrated and the titrant

4.9 Potentiometry

solution should be suitably chosen. This question is so important that the main aspects of the planning of the experimentation will be dealt with in detail below.

Apart from a few exceptions, which will be discussed later, potentiometric measurements involve the measurement of the e.m.f. between a sensing and a reference electrode. The reference electrode is most often a calomel or Ag/AgCl electrode, which is connected either directly or via a suitable salt bridge to the solution under study. Direct connection can rarely be recommended, for the constant anion concentration necessary for functioning of the electrode must be ensured, and this may influence the position of equilibrium. A more serious source of error, however, is that the metal ion taking part in the electrode reaction may also react with some component of the equilibrium system in question. In general, therefore, connection via a salt bridge is used. The commercially available calomel electrodes, for example, are supplied together with a salt bridge. Nevertheless, when a salt bridge is used, it is necessary to take into account the diffusion potential difference between the filling electrolyte and the solution being examined. It is most advisable to fill the salt bridge with the same electrolyte as that used to adjust the ionic strength of the solution to be studied, naturally providing the anion concentration required for functioning of the reference electrode. For this purpose, the Wilhelm electrode* [345] may be recommended, for example, or the simplified variant of this described by Ohtaki [346].

With electrodes of this type, the effect of the diffusion potential difference is practically negligible, assuming that constant ionic strength is ensured in the solution under study and also that the concentrations of the exceptionally mobile H⁺ and OH⁻ ions are negligibly low. In the intervals pH < 2 and pH > 12, these latter ions may give rise to considerable diffusion potential differences, and thus exert an appreciable influence on the measured e.m.f. Their effects may be taken into account by the method devised by Biedermann and Hietanen [347], who found that the value of the diffusion potential is a linear function of the H⁺ and OH⁻ ion concentrations. The magnitude of the proportionality factor depends on the nature and concentration of the background electrolyte, and can be determined by measurement of the e.m.f. in sufficiently acidic or basic solutions. A survey of the recent equilibrium chemical studies reveals that authors frequently forget to apply the appropriate correction.

If the salt bridge used is not of the Wilhelm type, an error due to the diffusion potential difference may appear throughout the entire pH interval. Apart from salt bridges of the Wilhelm type, a calomel electrode filled with saturated KCl, or with saturated NaCl if the background electrolyte is NaClO₄, is most frequently used as reference electrode. The fact that K^+ and Cl^- ions have

* Devised in the Sillén-school and the electrode is named after the first name of the first author.

almost identical mobilities means that in the former case the error due to the diffusion potential difference is generally not appreciable, but it is not negligible! For an electrode filled with NaCl, however, the error may be even 0.1-0.2 V, and it is therefore of fundamental importance that it be determined experimentally and corrected for.

As sensing electrode (sensor) in pH-metry a glass electrode is used in general; in acidic solutions a quinhydrone electrode may be applied. The hydrogen electrode is not frequently used nowadays, partly because it is difficult to use, and partly because of the ever better quality of the glass electrodes available commercially. Measurement of the metal ion concentration may be performed with a reversibly functioning metal or amalgam electrode, or with the corresponding ion-selective electrode. Apart from these, potentiometric equilibrium studies are in some cases carried out with redox electrodes, or with two sensors connected as a concentration cell.

The activities of the species participating in the electrode reaction feature in the Nernst equation describing the potentials of the sensors. At the same time, the evaluation of equilibrium chemical measurements, among others, is based on the material balances expressed in terms of concentrations. Accordingly, in the course of the examinations, conditions must be created such that the activity and the concentration differ only by a constant multiplier, i.e. by an additive term on the logarithmic e.m.f. scale. This purpose, among others, is served by the application of a large excess of background electrolyte, whereby the ionic strength of the solution, and hence the activity coefficients of the individual ionic species, are kept constant. Experimental determination of the additive term permits calculation of the concentration from the measured e.m.f.

It may readily be seen from the foregoing that a precondition for the appropriate application of potentiometric equilibrium measurements is the suitable calibration of the electrode system. The aim of this is to determine the terms arising from the difference between the activity and the concentration and from the diffusion potential difference, i.e. terms which additively influence the measured e.m.f., and to establish the concentration interval within which the sensor shows a Nernst function. We shall return to these questions during the more detailed account of the various types of potentiometric investigations.

4.9.1 pH-metric equilibrium studies

The method most frequently applied for the study of complex equilibria is pH-metric titration. One of the reasons for this is that pH measurements with a reproducibility within ± 0.005 pH unit can nowadays be performed virtually routinely with good-quality glass electrodes and modern, high-accuracy, but relatively inexpensive pH-meters. Under carefully chosen and maintained

4.9 Potentiometry

experimental conditions, it is possible to attain a reproducibility better than this by even an order of magnitude [348, 349]. Another fundamentally important reason for the widespread use of the method is that practically all equilibrium processes that take place in water or in water-containing solvent mixtures respond sensitively, either directly or indirectly, to a change in the pH.

We speak of a direct effect of the pH if the H^+ (or OH^-) ions themselves participate in the examined equilibrium process, e.g. in the case of protonation equilibria of ligands that are conjugate bases of weak acids, or the hydrolysis of metal ions.

The pH effect is indirect if the H^+ (or OH^-) ions do not take part in the association equilibria involving the components under study, but one (or more) of the components features in the protonation equilibria. The pH-metric study of metal complexes of ligands that are conjugate bases of weak acids (carboxylates, amines, amino acids, peptides, etc.) is generally based on such a pH effect.

4.9.1.1 Calibration of the electrode system

It was stated above that suitable calibration of the electrode system is a precondition of the appropriate application of pH-metry. The mode of calibration depends basically on whether the pH-meter is used to measure the pH directly, or whether potential (mV) is measured. In the former case, the pH-meter is generally calibrated by means of appropriate NBS standard buffers, the aim of the calibration being the determination of the additive term that is the difference between the measured pH and the $-\log[H^+]$ value, and the determination of the ionic product of water, expressed in terms of concentrations. The method proposed by Irving et al. [350] is used most generally for determination of the numerical value of the additive calibration term. The essence of this is as follows. The pH-meter is first calibrated against at least two suitable NBC standard buffers. For calibration of the electrode system, a strong acid-strong base titration is first performed, in the presence of a background electrolyte. The starting concentration of the titrated strong acid should, if possible, not exceed 3 % of the concentration of the background electrolyte. The suitable Gran functions may conveniently be used to evaluate the plot [351, 352]. If the branches calculated from the acidic and the basic intervals of the Gran functions are linear, and if the intercepts on the x axis coincide, this is clear-cut evidence that the solution in question does not contain acidic or basic impurity and the data obtained can be used for the reliable calculation of the additive term and the ionic product of water expressed in terms of concentrations. If there is deviation from linearity, or if the intercepts from the acidic and the basic intervals do not coincide within the limits of error, the starting materials must be purified again, and it must be ensured that

the base is free of carbonate. The actual equilibrium measurements themselves can be started only when the Gran functions for the titration of the strong acid and the strong base yield the regular V-shape to be expected theoretically.

The $-\log [H^+]$ and the $-\log [OH^-]$ data may be calculated from the data relating to the acidic interval and the basic interval, respectively, in the strong acid-strong base titration. The difference between the pH measured in the acidic interval and the calculated value of $-\log [H^+]$ is constant

 $A = pH_{\text{measured}} + \log [H^+].$ (4.90)

In accordance with the introduction to Section 4.9, the constant A includes the difference of the diffusion potential differences arising between the salt bridge of the reference electrode, the standard NBS solutions used for calibration and the salt solution used to adjust the ionic strength, and it also includes the logarithm of the activity coefficient of the H⁺ ion. If the value of A is known, $-\log [H^+]$ can be calculated from the pH value measured in any solution with the same background electrolyte concentration

$$-\log [H^+] = pH_{\text{measured}} - A.$$
(4.91)

The logarithm of the ionic product of water, expressed in terms of concentrations, is obtained by correcting the pH measured in the basic interval of the titration curve by the constant A, and by adding the calculated value of $-\log [OH^-]$

$$pK^{c} = -\log\left(\left[H^{+}\right]\left[OH^{-}\right]\right) = pH_{measured} - A - \log\left[OH^{-}\right]. \quad (4.92)$$

In connection with the above method of calibration, it must be noted that the dependence of the diffusion potential difference on $[H^+]$ and $[OH^-]$ is neglected. This is permissible only if the concentrations of H^+ and OH^- are negligible compared to the concentration of the background electrolyte. It must also be taken into consideration that equilibrium measurements with an electrode system calibrated in this way are allowed only in that pH range within which A and pK_w^c were determined.

In the pH range in which the concentrations of H^+ and OH^- are not negligible in comparison with the concentration of the background electrolyte, both A and pK_w^c vary linearly as a function of pH. This pH range should, if possible, be avoided in the course of equilibrium measurements. The accuracy of the pH measurement may perhaps be increased by taking into account the dependence of A and pK_w^c on $[H^+]$ or $[OH^-]$.

The method has the disadvantage that the electrode system must be lifted out of the calibration solution a number of times, and transferred to a new medium, which may lead to a small, uncontrollable alteration in the asymmetry potential of the glass electrode. This latter error may be particularly appreciable if pH measurements are performed at very high ionic strength, or in solvent

196

mixtures containing water. In the latter case it is advisable to measure e.m.f. and to calibrate the electrode system through E_0 titration.

The essence of E_0 titration is that strong acid-strong base titration is carried out in the solvent mixture in question, and the value of E_0 is calculated from the data obtained in the acidic interval, via the relation

$$E_0 = E + 2.303 \ RT/F \log [H^+]. \tag{4.93}$$

This value of E_0 therefore means the e.m.f. relating to a solution of unit hydrogen ion concentration in the given medium. In the interest of the determination of pK_w^c , the e.m.f. must naturally also be measured in the basic interval, when pK_w^c can be calculated in the knowledge of E_0 and $-\log [OH^-]$.

However, if we wish to study the processes of ligand protonation, the hydrolysis of the metal ion or the various complex formation reactions, then the E_0 titration is stopped before the equivalence point, the solutions of the components under examination, in the same medium, are transferred to the measuring cell without removal of the electrodes, and the titration is continued. In this way, the uncontrollable alteration of the asymmetry potential as a consequence of the lifting-out and washing of the electrodes, and their transfer to a new medium, can be avoided. A number of authors have dealt with the calibration of the electrode system, the determination of pK_w^c for various media, and calculation and elimination of the error originating from the diffusion potential differences; for the details, the reader is referred to the original publications [353–363].

4.9.1.2 Planning of pH-metric measurements

The aim of the planning of pH-metric measurements is to choose starting metal ion-ligand-proton concentrations and concentration ratios such that the titration curves will reflect as sensitively as possible the equilibrium processes taking place in the system to be investigated. Of course, the pH-metric equilibrium analysis of an unknown system cannot be planned exactly. In such a case, we can merely follow the general principle that conclusions on the processes occurring in the system are drawn from the results of measurements in relatively wide ranges of concentration and pH.

pH-metric titrations are most often carried out with a basic solution. In some cases, the correct choice of the basic solution may be important. For example, Al-Niaimi and Al-Saadi [364] studied the protonation of thiosalicylic acid and the formation of its metal complexes in a 75 vol.% dioxane-water solvent mixture at 30°C. When the titration was performed with tetramethylammonium hydroxide without the use of a background electrolyte, the protonation constants were found to be 7.17 and 13.57, whereas titration with KOH solution

14 Beck-Nagypál

in the presence of 0.02 *M* KCl led to values of 6.50 and 11.95. Although the activity coefficients too may be very different in the two media, the difference of more than 1.5 orders of magnitude in the second protonation constant is primarily a consequence of the interaction between the K⁺ ion and thiosalicylic acid, which may be particularly marked in a medium with a very small dielectric constant. In a solvent mixture with a low dielectric constant, therefore, it is preferable to use as background electrolyte the tetraalkylammonium salts, which are less prone to complex formation, and to carry out the titrations with tetraalkylammonium hydroxide. There is an appreciable complex formation reaction between Na⁺ and polyaminocarboxylic acids in aqueous medium too, and thus the use of sodium salts as background electrolyte and of NaOH as titrant in studies on the complexes of polyaminocarboxylic acids is to be avoided.

4.9.1.2.1 Determination of protonation constants

Numerous authors have investigated the possibilities and accuracy of the determination of protonation constants. On the examples of nitrilotriacetic acid and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid, for instance, Irving *et al.* [350] showed that the determination is uncertain in the intervals $\log K_p < 3$ and $\log K_p > 11$. McBryde [365] reached similar conclusions. Nagypal and Gergely [366] made an analysis of the function dlog $K_p/\partial pH$, which characterizes the possibility of determination; they studied how the value of the function varies at different log K_p values, concentrations and concentration ratios. The correlation

$$K_{p} = \frac{[\text{HL}]}{[\text{H}][\text{L}]} = \frac{aT_{L} - [\text{H}^{+}] + [\text{OH}^{-}]}{[\text{H}^{+}] \{T_{L}(1-a) + [\text{H}^{+}] - [\text{OH}^{-}]\}}$$
(4.94)

defines one-step protonation processes; it was used as the starting-point in the calculations, and the following equation was derived

$$\frac{\partial \log K_p}{\partial pH} = 1 + \frac{T_L([H^+] + [OH^-])}{\{aT_L - [H^+] + [OH^-]\}\{(1-a)T_L + [H^+] - [OH^-]\}}$$
(4.95)

where $a = T_{\rm H}/T_{\rm L}$.

The equation reveals that a given a and $[H^+]$ pair relate to the same $\partial \log K_p/\partial pH$ as the corresponding (1-a) and $[OH^-]$ pair, i.e. at a=0.5 the curve $\partial \log K_p/\partial pH = f(pH)$ is symmetrical about $pH = pK_w/2$. From the aspect of the planning of the experimental work, the $\partial \log K_p/\partial pH = f(\log K_p)$ data should be available, as the expected pK value of some ligand can be estimated with greater certainty than the pH of solutions with various compositions. Figure 4.54 shows the shapes of the function $\partial \log K_p/\partial pH = f(\log K_p)$ at different T_L values in a solution with a=0.5, i.e. half neutralized.



Fig. 4.54 (a) Shapes of the function $\partial \log K_{HA}/\partial pH = f[\log \beta_{HA}]$ at various total ligand concentrations, for a = 0.5.

$$V - T_{\rm L} = 0.001 \ M; 2 - T_{\rm L} = 0.01 \ M; 3 - T_{\rm L} = 0.1 \ M$$

(b) Shapes of the function $\partial \log \beta_{HA}/\partial pH = f(a)$ at $\log \beta_{HA} = 2.5$ and various ligand concentrations.

 $I - T_{\rm L} = 0.001 \ M; \ 2 - T_{\rm L} = 0.01 \ M; \ 3 - T_{\rm L} = 0.1 \ M \ [366]$ (Reproduced with permission from *Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat*, **78**, 18 (1972))

The most important conclusions that can be drawn from the Figure are as follows.

(a) At given $T_{\rm L}$, with a=0.5, the log $K_p=X$ and log $K_p=(pK_w-X)$ values relate to the same value of $\partial \log K_p/\partial pH$.

(b) The smaller the value of $\log K_p$ or of $pK_w - \log K_p$, the higher the ligand concentration must be in the solution in which the determination is performed.

14*

(c) In the interval $\log K_p > (-\log T_L + 2) < (14 - \log K_p)$, unit error in the pH measurement causes unit error in the value of $\log K_p$ too. For $\log K_p \approx -\log T_L$ or $pK_w - \log K_p \approx -\log T_L$, an error in the pH measurement gives rise to an error almost three times as large in the value of the protonation constant; with further decrease of the value of $\log K_p$ or $pK_w - \log K_p$, the error rises rapidly.

In the pH-metric determination of the protonation constants, therefore, the value of $T_{\rm L}$ must be selected so that it is at least half an order of magnitude smaller than the expected value of $1/K_p$ or $K_w K_p$. If this condition can not be met because of the poor solubility of the ligand, pH-metry is not a suitable procedure for determination of the protonation constants.

Figure 4.54 also shows the $\partial \log K_p/\partial pH$ data as a function of $a = T_H/T_L$ at various T_L values, with $\log K_p = 2.5$. The Figure demonstrates that the value of $\log K_p$ can be determined with almost the same accuracy in the interval 0.1 < a < 0.9, i.e. practically throughout the entire length of the titration curve.

4.9.1.2.2 pH-metric study of formation equilibria of metal complexes

The application of pH-metry for the study of the formation equilibria of metal complexes (disregarding the study of metal ion hydrolysis) is based on an indirect pH effect. The processes influencing the value of the pH in some three-component equilibrium system, containing metal ion, ligand and proton, are illustrated in the following diagram:



Study of the metal complexes is generally preceded by study of the H–L interaction and of metal ion hydrolysis. The titration curves obtained at the same initial total hydrogen ion and total ligand concentrations, in the presence and in the absence of the metal ion, provide an extremely illustrative reflection
4.9 Potentiometry

of the equilibrium processes taking place; they often yield reliable information on the compositions and stability sequence of the complexes formed.

In many cases, no attempt is made to determine the equilibrium constants; indeed, the complexity of the system frequently means that this would be hopeless.

Instead, merely the average composition of the predominant complexes are determined in various pH intervals and at various concentration ratios, by comparison of the titration curves recorded in the presence and in the absence of the metal ion [367–372].

As an example of the conclusions that may be drawn from a comparison of the titration curves, Fig. 4.55 shows titration curves found by Brücher *et al.* [373] in rare earth metal-hexamethylenediaminetetraacetate systems. It clearly



Fig. 4.55. Titration curves of K_2H_2hdta in the presence and in the absence of rare earth metal ions. For La and Lu, $T_{hdta} = 9.14 \times 10^{-3} M$; for Ce–Yb, $T_{hdta} = 9.52 \times 10^{-3} M$; $T_{Ln} = 2 \times 10^{-3} M$; [KOH] = 0.207 M; $V_0 = 25 \text{ cm}^3$, hdta = hexamethylenediamine-tetraacetic acid [373]

(Reproduced with permission from Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 81, 339 (1975))

follows from the Figure that an appreciable extent of complex formation must be taken into account at pH > 5, and the stability of the resulting complexes increases with increase of the atomic number of the rare earth metal.

The Figure also demonstrates that the difference between the pH-metric curves obtained in the presence and in the absence of the metal ion serves as the basis of the determination of the stability constants. This principle was utilized as long ago as 1954 by Rossotti and Irving [374], who developed a general procedure for calculation of the formation curves of metal complexes via the difference in the pH-metric curves.

On the above basis, it is obvious that, when pH-metry is applied, the concentrations must be chosen such that the difference between the curves measured in the presence and in the absence of the metal ion should be several orders of magnitude larger than the largest possible experimental errors.

Naturally, the difference between the titration curves has a limiting value, a pH difference larger than this not being attainable in principle. The limiting value is equivalent to quantitative complex formation, when the number of protons released corresponds to the composition of the complexes formed in the whole range of the titration curve, and the pH assumes the value corresponding to this. In the knowledge of the composition of the complex formed, the titration curve corresponding to the quantitative proton release may be obtained experimentally as follows.

Let us denote the composition of the quantitatively formed complex by MeL_xH_y , and let the total concentrations of the components be T_H , T_L and T_{Me} . As a consequence of complex formation, ligand of concentration xT_{Me} and proton of concentration yT_{Me} are bound quantitatively (for hydroxo complexes the value of y is negative, and thus proton is released), i.e. the titration curve will have a form identical with that of the titration curve obtained in a solution with starting concentrations $T'_H = T_H - yT_{Me}$ and $T'_L = T_L - xT_{Me}$.

In the knowledge of the protonation constants of the ligand, this latter curve can naturally be calculated theoretically. It is our opinion that experimental determination or calculation of the titration curve characteristic of quantitative complex formation is absolutely necessary: it is obvious that the difference between the titration curve found for the studied system and that characteristic of quantitative complex formation must be sufficiently large for reliable equilibrium constants to be calculated from the pH-metric curves. During the planning of the experiment, therefore, concentration conditions must be chosen such that the titration curve obtained in the presence of the metal ion should differ both from the titration curve obtained in the absence of the metal ion and from that characteristic of quantitative complex formation to an extent considerably in excess of the maximum possible value of the experimental error. In the opposite case, merely the fact of complex formation, and the possible

4.9 Potentiometry

lower and upper limiting values of stability of the complex formed can be established, but exact evaluation can not be carried out.

In connection with the application of pH-metry to equilibrium chemistry, on the examples of the bipyridyl and phenanthroline complexes of Cu(II), in 1967 McBryde [365] drew attention to the fact that if the equilibrium process

Me+HL ⇒MeL+H

is shifted considerably to the right, the method can not be utilized. Nevertheless, even in recent times publications have appeared which reveal that the authors disregarded this circumstance [375–377].

With the assumption that only the associations HL and MeL are formed in some equilibrium system, Nagypál and Gergely [366] calculated the functions $\log K_{MeL} = f(pH)$ and $\log K_{MeL}/dpH = f(pH)$, which is characteristic of the possibility of determination, at various pH values and at various concentration ratios. The results of the calculations are presented in Figs 4.56 and 4.57.

Figure 4.57 clearly shows that the function dlog $K_{MeL}/dpH = f(pH)$ rises very steeply as the two limiting pH values are approached, i.e. the pH-metric measurements become very uncertain. The function dlog $K_{MeL}/dpH = f(\log K_{MeL})$ gave very similar curves to those depicted in Fig. 4.57. On this basis, the range of formation constants was selected within which the condition dlog $K_{MeL}/dpH < 3$ is satisfied. The stability constants may be determined accurately in this range, for an error in the pH measurement does not cause an overlarge difference in the logarithm of the constant. Table 4.3 gives the range of determination of the stability constants for various concentrations and concentration ratios, but for a similar degree of complex formation, i.e. for identical $(T_L - T_H)/T_{Me} = b$ values.



Fig. 4.56. Shapes of the function $pH = f(\log \beta_{HL})$ at $T_A = T_M = 0.01$ and a = 0.6 for various protonation constant values.

 $I - \log \beta_{\rm HL} = 2; \ 2 - \log \beta_{\rm HL} = 4; \ 3 - \log \beta_{\rm HL} = 6; \ 4 - \log \beta_{\rm HL} = 8; \ 5 - \log \beta_{\rm HL} = 10; \ 6 - \log \beta_{\rm HL} = 12 \ [366]$

(Reproduced with permission from Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 78, 18 (1972))

4 Experimental methods





 $-\log \beta_{\rm HL} = 12$ [366]

(Reproduced with permission from Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 78, 18 (1972))

When the dlog $K_{\text{MeL}}/\partial pH$ values do not attain the fixed limit of 3, but the minimum is below 10, the $\partial \log K_{\text{MeL}}/\partial pH < 10$ limiting values are denoted by a star in the Table. When the minimum of $\partial \log K_{\text{MeL}}/\partial pH$ does not even attain 10, a single datum is given: the value of $\partial \log K_{\text{MeL}}/\partial pH$ at the minimum.

The following main conclusions may be drawn from the data in Table 4.3:

		$T_{\rm L}/T_{\rm Me}$								
log K _p	b Tb	1			1.5			2		
		0.1	0.01	0.001	0.1	0.01	0.001	0.1	0.01	0.001
	0.2	0.41* 3.23*	11.6	65	0.69 2.87*	15.5	85	0.89 2.56*	19.7	107
2	0.4	0.30 3.38*	10.8	64	0.59 2.90*	14.8	84	0.81 2.57*	19.2	106
	0.6	0.24 3.56*	10.1	63	0.52 2.93*	14.3	83	0.75 2.57*	18.7	105
	0.8	0.22 3.79*	2.02 2.60*	62	0.48 2.91*	13.9	82	0.70 2.56*	18.2	105
	0.2	0.79 3.87	1.99 3.80	2.41 5.23*	0.99 3.75	2,36 3.58	2.69 4.87*	1.16 3.62	2.79 3.23	2.89 4.56*
	1.00	0.84	1.92	2.30	1.03	2.21	2.59	1.17	2.49	2.81

Table 4.3 Range of determination of stability constants at various values of log $K_p = -\log \beta_{HL}$ and at various concentrations and concentration ratios

204

		A States	14,109.1	er by au	No. Martin	$T_{\rm L}/T_{\rm Mc}$				
		1			1.5			2		
$\log K_{\rm p}$	b T _b	0.1	0.01	0.001	0.1	0.01	0.001	0.1	0.01	0.001
4	0.4	4.19	4.14	5.39*	4.01	3.88	4.90*	3.84	3.60	4.57*
STATES!	0.6	0.93	1.98	2.24	1.12	2,23	2.52	1.25	2,48	2,75
A PARTE.	-	4.50	4.45	5.56*	4.21	4.07	4.93*	4.00	3.73	4.57*
10.00	0.8	1.07	2.10	2.22	1.25	2.35	2.48	1.38	2.60	2.70
		4.90	4.82	5.79*	4.38	4.15	4.90*	4.10	3.69	4.55*
		0.76	176	2.70	0.03	1.04	2.00	1.06	207	216
	0.2	5.88	5.88	5.87	5.76	5.76	5.75	5.45	5.65	5.10
10000		0.83	1.83	2.84	1.01	2.01	3.03	113	214	3.02
6	0.4	6.20	6.20	6.19	6.02	6.02	6.01	5.87	5.86	5.84
		0.93	1.93	2.93	1.11	2.11	3.12	1.23	2.23	3.25
14.0.05	0.6	6.51	6.51	6.50	6.23	6.23	6.21	6.03	6.03	6.00
- Shite o	0.0	1.06	2.06	3.07	1.24	2.24	3.25	1.36	2.37	3.38
	0.8	6.91	6.91	6.90	6.42	6.41	6.38	6.17	6.16	6.10
		1. Section		1.12						
1000	0.2	0.76	1.76	2.76	0.93	1.93	2.93	1.06	2.06	3.06
1000	0.2	7.88	7.88	7.88	7.76	7.76	7.76	7.65	7.65	7.65
	0.4	0.83	1.83	2.83	1.01	2.01	3.01	1.13	2.13	3.13
8		8.20	8.20	8.20	8.02	8.02	8.02	7.87	7.87	7.87
1000	0.6	0.93	1.93	2.93	1.11	2.11	3.11	1.23	2.23	3.23
100000		8,51	8.51	8.51	8.23	8.23	8.23	8.03	8.03	8.03
	0.8	1.00	2.00	3.08	1.24	2.24	3.24	1.30	2.30	3.37
		8.91	8.91	8.91	0.42	0.42	0.42	0.17	0.17	8.17
		0.76	1.76	2.82	0.93	1.94	2.99	1.06	2.06	311
	0.2	9.88	9.88	9.88	9.76	9.76	9.76	9.65	9.65	9.65
10		0.83	1.85	2.93	1.01	2.02	3.08	1.13	2.14	3.20
	0.4	10.20	10.20	10.20	10.02	10.02	10.02	9.87	9.87	9.87
	0.6	0.93	1.96	3,12	1.11	2.12	3.21	1.23	2.24	3.31
	0.0	10.51	10.51	10.51	10.23	10.23	10.23	10.03	10.03	10.03
	0.0	1.08	2.18	3.51	1,24	2.26	3.41	1.37	2.38	3.48
	0.0	10.91	10.91	10.91	10.42	10.42	10.42	10.17	10.17	10.17
		1 2 3 2 3	1		1			10		142.95
	0.2	0.82	2.12	3.87	0.99	2.28	4.02	1.11	2.39	4.13
1000	0.2	11.88	11.88	11.88	11.76	11.76	11.76	10.65	11.65	11.65
	0.4	0.93	2.30	4.04	1.08	2.41	4.16	1.20	2.51	4.25
12		12.20	12.20	12.20	12.02	12.02	12.02	11.87	11.87	11.87
	0.6	1.12	2.55	4.29	1.21	2.59	4.33	1.32	2.66	4.40
		12.51	12.51	12.51	12.23	12.23	12.23	12.03	12.03	12.03
	0.8	1.51	2.99	4.72	1.41	2.85	4.00	1.48	12.87	4.02
		12.01	12.01	12.01	12,42	12.42	12.42	12.17	12.17	12.17

4 Experimental methods

(1) At log $K_{\rm HL} = 2$, there is no concentration range within which the constants can be measured well.

(2) With increase of the $(T_{\rm L} - T_{\rm H})/T_{\rm Me}$ values, both the lower and the upper limit of the range of determination of the stability constants increase, i.e. more reliable data can be calculated from relatively low \bar{n} values when weak complexes are studied, and from relatively large \bar{n} values when stable complexes are studied. The lower limit of the range of determination of the stability constants varies almost in proportion to the total concentration of the ligand, i.e. it is preferable to use solutions with relatively high concentration when weak complexes are studied.

(3) Increase of the ratio $T_{\rm L}/T_{\rm Me}$ narrows the range of stability constants that can be measured pH-metrically.

These findings naturally also follow from a qualitative consideration of complex equilibria; the data merely support the above conclusions quantitatively.

An example of the pH-metric study of an almost stoichiometric complex formation is provided by the Cu(II)-bipyridyl system [378]. The protonation constant of bipyridyl in 1 M KCl at 25 °C is 4.63, while the stability constant of the complex Cubipy²⁺ in the same medium is about 8.0. Accordingly, the 1:1 complex does not dissociate to an appreciable extent even in 1 M acid solution, and at pH>1 complex formation can be regarded as stoichiometric. The logarithm of the equilibrium constant for the process

$$Cubipy^{2+} + bipy \rightleftharpoons Cubipy_{2}^{2+}$$

is about 6.0; when the pK value is taken into consideration, this similarly means nearly stoichiometric complex formation.



Fig. 4.58. pH-metric titration curve for determination of the constant log K^{Cubipy}₂ (see text) [376]

Figure 4.58 illustrates results obtained when a solution with an initial volume of 25 cm³ and with initial concentrations $T_{\rm H} = 0.0234$ and $T_{\rm bipy} = 0.020$ was titrated with 0.1268 *M* CuCl₂ solution. For the final points of the curve, $T_{\rm Cu}/T_{\rm bipy} < 1$, i.e. the complex formation can be considered definitely stoichiometric; calibration of the electrode system can be carried out on this section of the curve, therefore, since the H⁺ concentration is known at every point. The theoretical titration curve characterizing stoichiometric Cubipy₂²⁺ formation can be constructed on this basis (dashed line). Although the difference from this is very small in the interval $2 > T_{\rm bipy}/T_{\rm Cu} > 1$, it can be measured well in the given experimental set-up, and is suitable for the calculation of \bar{n} . This is illustrated in Fig. 4.59 too, which shows formation curve segments calculated from the data of titration curve yields log $K_{\rm Cubipy_2}^{\rm Cubipy} = 5.90$.

In connection with the application of pH-metry, it is to be noted that elevation of the pH leads to an increase not only in the free concentration of the ligand, but also in the OH⁻ concentration, i.e. studies of the complexes of metal ions liable to hydrolysis may run into difficulties. It is frequently necessary to apply a very high ratio T_L/T_{Me} in order to suppress hydrolysis.

Bjerrum [22] investigated ammine complexes in 2 M NH₄NO₃, i.e. at an extremely high value of T_L/T_{Me} . Nevertheless, pH-metric equilibrium studies in a high ligand excess (more than 10-fold) may be regarded as very rare exceptions [379]. The reason is that increase of the ligand excess has the consequence that the pH effect of the protonation equilibria increasingly approximates to, and may even exceed, the pH effect of formation of the metal complexes, and thus





B = Bipyridyl, $T_{bipy}^{\circ} = 0.02 \ M$, $T_{H}/T_{bipy} = 1.20 \ (\times)$, 1.44 (\bigcirc), 1.68 (\triangle) (Reproduced with permission from *J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem.*, **35**, 2465 (1973))

4 Experimental methods

the evaluation of titration curves for samples containing the metal ion becomes increasingly more uncertain.

The correctness of the above, qualitative considerations is beyond dispute, but the results of mathematical analysis show [380] that, under favourable conditions, pH-metry can be utilized successfully even when there is a ligand excess of more than 100-fold. With the assumptions that the ligand is to be found in the form HL in some equilibrium system, and that the metal in question forms only the complex MeL, Fábián and Nagypál [380] derived the following relationships

$$\frac{\partial \log \beta_{\text{MeL}}}{\partial pH} = -\left(1 + \frac{[\text{H}] + [\text{OH}]}{[\text{HL}]}\right) \left(1 + \frac{[\text{L}]}{\bar{n}(1 - \bar{n})T_{\text{Me}}}\right) - \frac{[\text{H}] + [\text{OH}]}{\bar{n}(1 - \bar{n})T_{\text{Me}}}$$
(4.96)

$$\frac{\partial \log p_{\text{MeL}}}{\partial T_{\text{H}}} = -\frac{2.303}{[\text{MeL}]} - \frac{2.303}{\bar{n}(1-\bar{n})T_{\text{Me}}\bar{n}_{\text{H}}}$$
(4.97)

where $\bar{n} = [MeL]/T_{Me}$ and $\bar{n}_{H} = [MeL]/([L] + [MeL])$.



Fig. 4.60. $\partial \log \beta_{MeL}/\partial pH$ as a function of pH. $T_{Me} = 0.001 \ M$; $\log \beta_{HL} = 12.0$; $\log \beta_{MeL} = 8.0$. The numbers beside the curves indicate the ratio T_L/T_{Me} [380] (Reproduced with permission from *Talanta*, **29**, 71 (1982))

208

As an example, Fig. 4.60 presents $\partial \log \beta_{MeL}/\partial pH$ curves obtained at $\log \beta_{HL} = 12$, $\log \beta_{MeL} = 8$, $T_{Me} = 0.001$ and various concentration ratios T_L/T_{Me} .

The Figure reveals that, as the ratio $T_{\rm L}/T_{\rm Me}$ is increased, the interval in which complex formation occurs and can be investigated pH-metrically shifts towards ever lower pH values. However, even with a ligand excess of 500-fold, the data obtained can be evaluated well in the range pH 4–6.

Figure 4.61 depicts the function $\partial \log \beta_{MeL}/\partial pH = f(pH)$ for a given value of the equilibrium constant for the process $HL + Me \rightleftharpoons MeL + H$, i.e. for the same differences $\log K_{HL} - \log K_{MeL}$, with a 250-fold ligand excess.

It may be observed from the Figure that the extremely high ligand excess can be employed only at $\log K_{\rm HL} > 7$, i.e. primarily in studies on metal complexes of ligands containing aliphatic amine and/or phenolic OH donor groups.

Figure 4.62 confirms that the value of $\partial \log \beta_{MeL}/\partial T_{H}$, i.e. the extent of the inaccuracy due to the error in addition of base solution, is not appreciably influenced by the large ligand excess.

Equations (4.96) and (4.97) and the presented Figures indicate two important conditions for the application of a large ligand excess:

(1) The ligand must be added to the system in a form such that the ratio $T_{\rm H}/T_{\rm L}$ should be strictly fixed in accordance with the rules of stoichiometry,



Fig. 4.61. $\partial \log \beta_{\text{MeL}}/\partial pH$ as a function of pH at fixed $\log \beta_{\text{HL}} - \log \beta_{\text{MeL}} = 4$, in a 250-told ligand excess, for various values of $\log \beta_{\text{HL}}$ [380] (Reproduced with permission from *Talanta*, **29**, 71 (1982))









and thus, even if an error of some tenths of a per cent in the concentrations becomes comparable with the value of T_{Me} , the difference $T_H - T_L$ should be negligible compared to T_{Me} .

(2) Complex formation should occur in the pH interval in which the system is not buffered by the protonation equilibria of the ligand, i.e. when even the addition to the system of a quantity of base comparable to the quantity of the metal ion results in a considerable pH change. In the presence of metal ion, the pH change due to the same amount of base will be substantially smaller, because of the proton release accompanying complex formation, and a well measurable difference in the pH change, in the above manner, allows an exact evaluation of the titration curves.

Naturally, application of an extremely large ligand excess is justified only if the system under consideration can not be studied at the customary concentration ratios (1:1-1:10) because hydrolysis is accompanied by precipitate formation.

At an extremely large ligand excess, if the ligand concentration is not negligible compared to the concentration of the background electrolyte, the validity of the calibration of the electrode system also comes into question. Although a high concentration of the neutral ligand HA has scarcely any influence on the value of the activity coefficient, its effect on the diffusion potential difference cannot be neglected. Figure 4.63 is based on the investigations by Fábián and Nagypál [380]. It shows the dependence of the two protonation constants of glycine on the total glycine concentration at 25 °C, with 1 M NaClO₄ as background electrolyte, the calibration factor A found in glycine-free 1 MNaClO₄ being used to calculate the values of the protonation constants.

It may be seen from the Figure that, in spite of the fundamental difference between the charge changes in the two protonation processes, the protonation constants vary in parallel as functions of the glycine concentration. This finding lends support to the assumption that change of the glycine concentration does not appreciably influence the value of the activity coefficient, but it has a substantial effect on the diffusion potential difference for the given electrode, a calomel electrode filled with saturated NaCl. In a pH-metric study of the complex of glycine with VO²⁺, an ion very susceptible to hydrolysis, protonation constants extrapolated to $T_L \rightarrow 0$ were used, but the titration curves recorded in solutions with various glycine concentrations were taken into consideration via the pH correction read off the diagram.

Only a few examples are to be found of pH-metric studies at an extremely large ligand excess; further work is required for the possibilities of the method to be elucidated more exactly.

The pH-metric analysis of more complicated systems and the pH-metric demonstration of complex formation demands even more careful experimental





●, ○ experimental points; —— theoretical titration curve calculated with mixed complex formation considered; --- theoretical titration curve calculated with neglect of mixed complex formation [381]

(Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 40, 1273 (1978))

planning. This often necessitates 'theoretical' titration curves that can be calculated by neglecting the formation of some complex. Figure 4.64, based on work by Daniele and Ostacoli [381], presents the titration curve obtained experimentally in the Ni(II)-glycine-L-histidine system, and that calculated by neglecting mixed complex formation. Figure 4.64 shows clearly that mixed complex formation becomes significant at pH > 6, and the relevant formation constants are best calculated from the data around $pH \sim 7$.

In Fig. 4.65, the pH-metric titration curve recorded for the Cu(II)-asparagine system is compared with a theoretical titration curve [382] calculated on the assumption that only the complexes MeA and MeA₂ are formed in the system, and that following this the value of the pH is governed merely by the protonation equilibrium of the excess ligand. It is obvious from the difference between the curves that the complex CuA₂ loses proton at pH > 10, yielding the complex CuA₂H₋₁, or possibly CuA₂H₋₂. These latter complexes probably contain the acid amide group in deprotonated form; in other words, complex formation leads to the loss of proton from a ligand group which does not undergo dissociation in the measurable pH interval in the absence of metal ion.

The literature contains a very large number of examples of the application of pH-metry in equilibrium chemistry; the scope of this book does not permit us to mention all of the important work. Accordingly, we refer the reader only



Fig. 4.65. Titration curve of copper(II)–asparagine system in the interval pH 8–11.5 [382]. *l* — Theoretical titration curve, assuming formation of HL, H₂L CuL and CuL₂; *2* — experimental titration curve. $T_{\rm L} = 8.00 \times 10^{-3} M$; $T_{\rm Cu} = 2.50 \times 10^{-3} M$; [KOH]=0.1351 M; $V_0 = 25 \text{ cm}^3$ [382]

(Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 551 (1975))

to some of the original publications, which are particularly noteworthy for various reasons: the novelty of the technical or computational solutions, the complexity of the system in question, or the nature of the interactions [383–396].

4.9.2 Application of metal and ion-selective electrodes

The use of ion-selective electrodes in equilibrium chemistry has become general only in the past 10 years, whereas metal electrodes (amalgam electrodes) have been applied in equilibrium chemistry for a much longer period. The basic principle of application is the same as in the case of pH-metry: in the knowledge of the total concentrations, the equilibrium concentrations are measured, and the differences between the two quantities are used to draw conclusions on the compositions and stabilities of the complexes formed. We shall not dwell on the technical details of work with ion-selective electrodes, for their importance in analytical chemistry has led to this field being dealt with in a number of reviews [397–400], while the methods of preparation and handling of metal electrodes or amalgam electrodes are also well known [401–402]. In this section we shall primarily discuss examples of application where the basic aim was the determination of equilibrium constants, and where this was attained by the introduction of appreciable theoretical or methodological innovations.

Ion-selective electrodes are especially widely used in studies on complexes of alkali metal and alkaline earth metal ions; the noble gas configuration of the electronic structure means that optical methods are generally not applicable here, and the use of pH-metry is restricted merely to studies concerning polyfunctional ligands which form stable complexes.

In 1963, Palaty [403] determined the stability constant of the Na-EDTA complex by utilizing the Na⁺-selective glass electrode developed by Eisenman *et al.* [404]. Figure 4.66 depicts the Na⁺ activity measured as a function of pH in an equimolar solution of Na⁺ and EDTA.

Palaty stated that the method is much more accurate and sensitive than the pH-metric procedure earlier used by Schwarzenbach and Ackerman [405]. An obvious reason for the improved accuracy and sensitivity is that the Na⁺-EDTA interaction is indicated only indirectly by pH-metry, via the competition chain Na⁺-EDTA-H⁺, whereas it is reflected directly by the Na⁺-selective electrode.

A potential-comparison method was developed by Rechnitz and Zamochnick [406] for study of the Na⁺-citrate and Na⁺-malate interactions. The essence of the method is that concentrated NaCl solution was added to a solution containing the dissociated forms of the ligands until the measured potential agreed exactly with the potential of a solution of known Na⁺ concentration, not containing ligand. The formation constants of the 1:1 complexes can be calculated by means of a direct formula from the titration data and the quantities added.

Dunsmore and Midgley [407] calculated the formation constant of the Na⁺-tartrate complex directly from the data relating to titration with NaCl



(Reproduced with permission from Can. J. Chem., 41, 18 (1963))

solution. Their paper, which provides detailed experimental data, clearly demonstrates the difficulties encountered in the study of the weak Na⁺-tartrate interaction, even when use is made of an ion-selective electrode reflecting the interaction directly; the e.m.f. change due to complex formation is generally about 1 mV, while the standard deviation of the individual measurements is 0.33 mV.

Ion-selective electrodes were employed by Frensdorff [408] to determine the stabilities of complexes of alkali metal ions with cyclic polyethers (crown ethers) with various ring sizes and containing various substituents. He found that the number of ring atoms necessary for formation of the most stable complexes was 15–18 for Na⁺, 18 for K⁺, and 18–21 for Cs⁺. Replacement of the ring oxygen donor by nitrogen or sulphur resulted in decreased affinities for the alkali metal ions, and in an increased affinity for the Ag⁺ ion. A surprising, but clear-cut finding from Fig. 4.67 is that K⁺ and Cs⁺ ions in methanolic medium undergo coordination to two molecules of crown ethers with ring sizes smaller than the optimum.

In an investigation of the Ca^{2+} -ATP system with a Ca^{2+} -selective electrode, Mohan and Rechnitz [409] demonstrated the formation of the binuclear complex Ca_2ATP .



Fig. 4.67. Titration of KCl with the macrocycle cyclohexyl-15-crown-5. The numbers on the curves denote the starting concentrations of KCl. The points are experimental data. The continuous line is the best-fitting theoretical curve calculated with $K_1 = 3900$ and $K_2/K_1 = 0.02$, while the dashed line is that calculated with $K_1 = 4500$ [408] (Reproduced with permission from J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 600 (1971))

215

Nakamura *et al.* [410, 411] utilized Li⁺ and Na⁺-selective glass electrodes to study the 'transsolvation' equilibria with various solvents of Li⁺ and Na⁺ dissolved in acetonitrile. The diagrams they report convincingly show that the process of transsolvation, at least in the first 2–3 steps, can be described satisfactorily with the equilibrium constants and functions characterizing stepwise complex formation. Apart from cation-selective electrodes specific for alkali metal and alkaline earth metal ions, the copper(II)-selective electrode finds very important applications in equilibrium chemistry. It is surprising that use of the copper(II)-selective electrode initially led to findings in contradiction with the fundamental rules of solution equilibrium chemistry [412, 413], and these were therefore rightly criticized [414]. Thanks to the work by Hansen and Ruzicka [415], Nakagawa *et al.* [416], McBryde *et al.* [417] and Baumann [418], the possibilities, advantages and limitations of the application of copper(II)-selective electrodes in equilibrium chemistry are now well known.



Fig. 4.68. Experimentally measured formation curves for the Th(IV)- F^- system [420]. The points are the experimental data for various metal ion concentrations. The continuous lines denote the theoretical curves in which the solubility equilibrium of ThF₄ and stepwise complex formation are taken into account simultaneously (Reproduced with permission from *Inorg. Chem.*, **10**, 740 (1971))

As concerns the anion-selective electrodes, the most generally applied is the F^- -selective electrode, which is ideally suited for the study of fluoro complexes [419–427]. Through the use of a F^- -selective electrode, Klotz *et al.* [420] determined not only the equilibrium constants of the stepwise complex formation processes in the $Th^{4+}-F^-$ system, but also the solubility product of ThF_4 . Their experimentally found formation curves, and those calculated theoretically by taking into consideration simultaneously stepwise complex formation and the solubility equilibrium, are depicted in Fig. 4.68. The break-points in the curves lie at that solution composition where the heterogeneous equilibrium appears besides the homogeneous equilibria, i.e. ThF_4 begins to precipitate out.

Of the anion-selective electrodes, the Cl^- , Br^- and I^- -selective electrodes are also suitable for equilibrium analysis [428, 429], but secondary Ag/AgX electrodes too may be used to measure the activities of these ions or, in the event of appropriate calibration, their concentrations [430].

Only a few metals, primarily with an electronic configuration close to the d^{10} structure, are suitable for the preparation of metal or amalgam electrodes which function reversibly and display a reproducible potential. Of the various possibilities of application of metal or amalgam electrodes in equilibrium chemistry [431–457], the pHg method devised by Schwarzenbach and Anderegg [457] is worthy of special attention. The essence of the method is that the Me–Y interaction is followed via the Me–Y–Hg competition chain, through potentiometric measurement of the equilibrium concentration of Hg²⁺ ions. For the method to be applicable, it is necessary to know the compositions and stabilities of the complexes formed in the Hg²⁺–Y interaction. The method is suitable for study of the complexes of metals which form complexes of comparable stability with those of the Hg²⁺ ion with the ligand in question. It is clear that, as its name implies, the method is very similar to pH-metry. Although the method has been known since 1957, its application has not been as widespread as is justified [442, 458].

In connection with the use of metal ion or amalgam electrodes, doubts may arise as to the possibility of measuring very low metal ion concentrations, which are at times of a comparable magnitude to the reciprocal of the Avogadro number, for such a low concentration of free metal ion can clearly not result in a reversible electrode process. It is self-evident, however, that it is not the free metal ions but the studied complexes that take part in the electrode reaction governing the e.m.f.; consequently, the e.m.f. expressed by the Nernst equation varies as if the electrode were immersed in a solution with the very low metal ion concentration concerned. This finding, which also follows from thermodynamic considerations, must be stressed, for the possibility of measuring very low metal ion concentrations has led to debate even very recently [444, 459].

The field of application of redox electrodes is restricted to studies on the complex-forming processes of merely a few metal ions. The principle of the method is presented on the basis of the work of Dellien [460], who investigated the Fe(III)-oxalate and Fe(III)-malonate systems by measuring the potential of the Fe²⁺/Fe³⁺ redox system. As a consequence of the relatively low stability of Fe²⁺ complexes in these systems, the stabilities of the oxalato and malonato complexes could be determined pH-metrically via the H⁺-L²⁻-Fe²⁺ competition chain. The Fe³⁺ ion reacts practically stoichiometrically with these ligands in the measurable pH interval, however, and it is also very susceptible to hydrolysis, so that its complexes can not be examined pH-metrically. The e.m.f. measurable in a solution containing known concentrations of Fe²⁺, Fe³⁺, ligand and proton depends not only on the stabilities of the Fe²⁺ complexes and the pK values of the ligands, but also on the stabilities of the Fe³⁺ complexes. In the knowledge of the above data, the stabilities of the Fe³⁺oxalato and Fe³⁺-malonato complexes can be calculated. It is obvious that, similarly to pH-metry and the pHg method, the application of redox electrodes is based on competition, but the ions participating in this competition are ions of the same element in different oxidation states [461-463].

The use of concentration cells for the study of equilibrium processes has achieved prominence in the past 10 years. Tedesco and Anon [464], for instance, employed the following concentration cell to investigate the acetato and propionato complexes of the Th^{4+} ion, which is very prone to hydrolysis and can therefore not be studied pH-metrically

Hg/Hg ₂ Ac ₂	Acetate	Acetate	Hg/Hg ₂ Ac ₂
e estinaits (Propionate	Propionate	lists for strinkin
Hg ₂ Pr ₂	T_1	T_2	Hg ₂ Pr ₂

Pr = propionate; T_1 and T_2 = total concentrations; pH = 2.00. If T_2 is varied at constant T_1 , each individual T_2 defines an e.m.f. Thus, in the knowledge of the pH and the dissociation constant of the corresponding acid, the correlation can be given between the e.m.f. and the free ligand concentration in the sample. When Th⁴⁺ ion is added to the sample, the free ligand concentration decreases; the change can be followed by measurement of the e.m.f., and hence all of the data necessary for calculation of the formation constants are available. This method allowed determination of the stability constants of the relatively not too stable Th-acetato and Th-propionato complexes at a 5–15-fold ligand excess without the disturbing effect of hydrolysis. The method has the obvious advantage over pH-metry that the L⁻-Th⁴⁺ interaction is followed not indirectly, via the H⁺-Ac⁻ equilibrium at the given concentrations, i.e. relatively insensitively, but directly, via comparative measurements of the L⁻ concentrations. A similar principle was utilized by Koul and Dubey [465] to determine

the formation constants of the bis-thiosalicylato-Hg(II) complexes with Hg electrodes, and by Molina and Tabak [466] to determine those of the Ag(I)-pyridine complexes with Ag electrodes.

Gal *et al.* [467–470] studied the formation of halide complexes of Zn^{2+} , Cd^{2+} , Hg^{2+} and Pb^{2+} in aqueous melts of NH_4NO_3 and $Ca(NO_3)_2-NH_4NO_3$, with the appropriate Ag/AgX electrodes connected as concentration cell.

4.9.3 Measurements with two electrodes

Potentiometric measurements with two electrodes generally provide much more reliable information than do studies with a single electrode on the system in question. Although measurements with two electrodes of the changes in the equilibrium concentrations of two different components must be in correlation with one another, it frequently occurs (an example has already been seen above) that in a certain range of the total concentrations the potential of some electrode does not respond sensitively to the processes taking place, particularly if the process in question exerts its effect not directly, but via a competition chain. When two electrodes are used, the danger of this is much less, and thus equilibrium measurements may be made in a much wider concentration interval.

One of the two electrodes is usually the glass electrode or, during studies of the interactions of F⁻ ions, some other pH-sensitive electrode [471]; there are barely any examples of the combined application of metal ion and ligandsensitive electrodes [472]. The basic principles of measurements with two sensing electrodes do not generally differ from those of equilibrium measurements with a single electrode. Accordingly, we refer only to a few of the representative publications [473-490], and give a somewhat more detailed account of the potentiostatic method developed by Österberg [491], which is of outstanding importance in its conceptions and from the aspects of measurement and computation. The essence of the method is that the total concentrations of two components are varied in the course of the titration, but in such a way that the equilibrium concentration of one of the components should always remain constant. When the pH-static method is used, for instance, metal ion is added to a starting ligand solution adjusted to some constant pH. As a result of the addition, of course, the pH too changes. Subsequently, the initial pH is restored with base solution or with an appropriate buffer solution prepared from the ligand, and the equilibrium concentration of the metal ion is measured. The titration is then continued by the addition of the next dose of metal ion solution. The procedure is altered accordingly when the pMe-static method is applied.

The method clearly has the great advantage that, in the quantitative description of titration curves obtained at constant pH (or pMe), all associations the concentrations of which can be expressed by the relation $\beta_{pqr}[H]^{p}[A]^{q}[Me]^{r}$

can be accounted for in the form $\beta'_{qr}[A]^{q}[Me]^{r}$, since $\beta_{pqr}[H]^{p} = \text{constant}$. Hence, the behaviour is similar to that observed if the system contains one fewer component. This description mode simplifies both the evaluation and the survey of the equilibrium conditions in the system. The method has primarily been utilized to study very complicated equilibrium systems [492–496]. Its widespread application is certainly impeded by the fact that an instrument suitable for the experimentation is not available commercially, though it can be built in the laboratory comparatively simply.

4.10 Polarography

There are certain similarities between the applications of polarography and potentiometry in equilibrium chemistry, although the redox processes occurring on the surface of the dropping mercury electrode are generally much more complex than those in the case of potentiometry. Because of the simplicity of the polarographic measurement technique and the great variety of possibilities for its application, this method too is used very widely; a number of reviews have appeared on this topic [497–500].

If a reversible electrode process is assumed, the potential of the dropping mercury electrode may be given by the Heyrovsky–Ilkovič equation:

$$E = (E_{1/2})_s - \frac{RT}{zF} \ln \frac{i_d}{i_d - i}$$
(4.98)

where $(E_{1/2})_s$ is the half-wave potential relating to the solvated (hydrated) metal ion, z is the change in electron number in the electrode process, i_d is the diffusion current, and i is the current strength relating to the given potential E. Heyrovsky and Ilkovič observed and correctly interpreted the phenomenon that complex formation gives rise to a shift of the half-wave potential towards more negative values. Lingane [501] found that the following correlation holds between the potential shift and the composition and stability of the complex MeL_n that is formed

$$E_{1/2} = (E_{1/2})_s - (E_{1/2})_c = \frac{2.303 \ RT}{zF} \log \beta_n + \frac{2.303 \ RT}{zF} n \log [L]$$
(4.99)

where $(E_{1/2})_c$ is the half-wave potential characterizing the complex in question at the given free ligand concentration. Equation (4.99) indicates that a plot of $E_{1/2}$ vs. log [L] yields a straight line, from the intercept and slope of which log β_n and *n*, respectively, can be determined. In the derivation of the equation, it is assumed that the hydrated (solvated) metal ion and the complex MeL_n have identical diffusion coefficients, and that the values of the activity coefficients do not change either. If the diffusion coefficient does change, which can be

220

4.9 Potentiometry

followed through measurement of i_d , an appropriate correction must be made. Equation (4.99) can be used only if a single complex is formed (generally that with maximum coordination number). If complex formation proceeds in a stepwise manner, in steps that are well separated from one another, the $E_{1/2}$ vs. log [L] diagram can be broken down into several linear sections. When the complex formation steps overlap, however, the $E_{1/2}$ vs. log [L] curve varies continuously; in this case, the method devised by DeFord and Hume [502] can be used, the basic equation of this being

antilog
$$\left(\frac{0.4343 \ zF}{RT} \varDelta E_{1/2} + \log \frac{I_s}{I_c}\right) = \sum_{0}^{N} \beta_i [L]^i$$
 (4.100)

where I_s and I_c are the diffusion constants characterizing the free metal ion and the complex equilibrium system at the given [L], respectively. It can readily be seen that the right side of Eq. (4.100) expresses the value of $T_{Me}/[Me]$, i.e. the free concentration of the metal ion can also be calculated from the polarographic data if T_{Me} is known. If the numerical values of I_s and I_c are assumed to be the same, it can further be seen that the change in the polarographic half-wave potential corresponds exactly to the potential change exhibited by a metal ion-selective or amalgam electrode when the metal ion concerned passes from a solution with concentration T_{Me} into a solution of the complex equilibrium system with free metal ion concentration [Me].

Besides the above similarity, there is another essential analogy between polarography and potentiometry: a reversible polarographic step is displayed by those metal ions with an electronic structure close to the d^{10} configuration from which a reversibly functioning metal or amalgam electrode too can be prepared. The majority of polarographic equilibrium measurements involve studies of the stepwise complex formation of metal ions that undergo reversible reduction on the surface of the dropping mercury electrode [503–517]. Since the left-hand side of Eq. (4.100) gives $T_{Me}/[Me]$ not only in the case of stepwise complex formation, but also in more complicated systems, the method may logically be extended to the determination of the equilibrium constants of mixed ligand complexes [518–522].

Apart from determination of the numerical values of the formation constants in certain complex equilibrium systems, polarography is also suitable for studies on the kinetics of exchange reactions in these systems [523, 524]. It can also be used to study complexes of outer sphere type [525–527], and as an analytical chemical method to determine the individual concentrations of the ionic species present in the equilibrium system, which similarly permits calculation of the equilibrium constant [528].

Tamamushi and Tanaka [529] attempted to utilize the polarographic method for the investigation of complexes of irreversibly reducing metal ions. Their procedure has not become widespread, however, primarily because the ion4 Experimental methods





indication method put forward by Ringbom and Eriksson [530] proved of much more general validity. The method is essentially based on competition, in which the irreversibly reducing metal ion to be studied, Me₁, the ligand in question, L, and a metal ion reducing reversibly at a more positive potential than the metal ion under study, Me₂, take part. Polarographic examination of the interaction Me₂-L is followed by study of the system Me₂-L-Me₁; because of the presence of Me₁, a change occurs in the half-wave potential of Me₂, and from this conclusions can be drawn as to the interaction Me₁-L. It was recently proved by Tedesco [531] that it is not necessary to know the equilibrium constants for the system Me₂-L in order to determine those for the system Me₁-L. As an illustration of the method, based on the work by Ma *et al.* [532], Fig. 4.69 shows $\Delta E_{1/2}$ vs. log [L] functions obtained in a solution containing $5 \times 10^{-4} M T_{Cd}$ in the presence and in the absence of 0.05 M Ni(NO₃)₂.

In the absence of Ni²⁺, the total picolinamide concentration practically agrees with the free concentration (Curve A). In the presence of Ni²⁺, however, this relation no longer holds; for some $\Delta E_{1/2}$ value relating to Curve B, the free ligand concentration too can be read off Curve A, and the value of \bar{n} may be calculated from the difference between the total and free concentrations. This method has recently been employed mainly by Tedesco *et al.* [533–535]; the possibilities afforded by the method are probably not yet sufficiently well known.

4.11 Other methods

Besides the generally used methods described in the previous sections, numerous other physico-chemical methods of measurement are suitable, or may be adapted so as to be suitable, for the determination of equilibrium constants. The possibilities for their application are limited, however, as they each relate only to a well-defined group of equilibrium systems; accordingly, we give only a very brief account of the individual procedures, and refer the reader to the original publications for the details.

Interactions between anionic ligands and metal ions are accompanied by changes in the conductivities of the solutions. Thus, measurement of the conductivity is one of the most obvious methods of studying equilibrium processes. An excellent survey of the equilibrium chemical aspects of the method has been published by Davies [536]. The method has the unavoidable drawback that a background electrolyte ensuring the standard state can not be used, and changes in the equilibrium concentrations are therefore always accompanied by changes in the activity coefficients. For this reason, if more than one complex is formed, quantitative evaluation of the experimental data encounters virtually insoluble theoretical and computational difficulties. Even when only a single ion-pair is formed, three parameters must be calculated from the conductivityconcentration data pairs: the molar conductivity relating to an infinitely dilute solution, the formation constant of the ion-pair, and the "distance of closest approach" of the individual ions within the ion-pair. It was pointed out by Beronius [537, 538] that this calculation does not always lead to a clear-cut result: the deviations calculated from the measured and calculated conductivities may display two minima corresponding to fittings with almost the same goodness at considerably different parameter values. Figure 4.70 gives level diagrams obtained during the evaluation of experimental results relating to tetrabutylammonium perchlorate dissolved in propanol [537]. It can readily be seen that the experimental data can be described with nearly the same accuracy at two essentially different values of R, the distance of closest approach.

In spite of the above difficulties, the measurement of conductivity is used widely, e.g. for the quantitative study of ion association in various solvents [539–545], for determination of the stoichiometric compositions of the complexes formed [546, 547], for the detection of associations formed between coordinately saturated metal complexes through the 'residual coordination strength' [548], for comparison of the basicities of peptide bonds [549], etc.

High-frequency conductometry can similarly be used for determination of the stoichiometric composition in stable complexes [550–552].

An obvious method for the equilibrium study of complexes containing optically active ligands is polarimetry. The relation describing the rotatory power of a solution is formally exactly the same as the Bouguert-Lambert-Beer





(Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., A29, 289 (1975))

equation, the difference being merely that the proportionality factor is the molar rotatory power instead of the molar absorbance. Thus, polarimetry can be applied under the same conditions and according to the same considerations as those discussed in connection with spectrophotometry. The theoretical difference is that in photometry the change taking place in the electronic structure of the metal ion is generally, but not exclusively, responsible for the change in the spectrum, whereas in polarimetry the change in the rotatory power is caused by the change in the electronic structure of the ligand.

Polarimetry has been employed, for example, to determine the dissociation constants of the carboxyl and OH groups of tartaric acid [553–555], the dissociation constants of some amino acids, and the stability constants of certain metal complexes [556–563]. The equilibrium chemical aspects of the method were recently reviewed by Petit-Ramel and Paris [564].

Infrared spectrophotometry is essentially a similar method to visibleultraviolet photometry, though the measurement technique is substantially different. Its great advantage over visible-ultraviolet photometry is that the bands relating to the individual associations formed in the equilibrium processes are generally much better separated; thus, the concentration ratios can be directly calculated from the ratios of the integrated intensities, which simplifies the evaluation considerably. A further advantage is that valuable information on the structures of the complexes formed may be obtained from the band shifts. However, it has the unavoidable drawback that the bands of the solvent may overlap an appreciable part of the spectrum, so that the method can be applied only under very favourable conditions. If the bands due to the individual species overlap one another extensively, evaluation of the results may be promoted by band resolution or by the various methods discussed in section 4.2. Infrared spectrophotometry has been utilized primarily to determine the formation constants of cyano and thiocyanato complexes [565–569], and of hydrogen-bonded associations formed in water [570] and in non-aqueous solvents [571, 572].

Raman spectroscopy is applied relatively widely for equilibrium investigations. Following discovery of the method, it was used by Rao [573] to study the dissociation of nitric acid. It was first utilized for the study of complex equilibria by Delwaulle *et al.* [574–578]. The bands of the individual associations generally appear separate from one another in the Raman spectra, and following band resolution the equilibrium constants may be calculated from the ratios of the integrated intensities via a direct formula. The method has the disadvantage that it is usually necessary to work at very high concentration, and thus the standard state can not always be ensured. The method is extensively applied for the investigation of various parent and mixed ligand halogeno complexes [574–591] and the complexes of other simple anionic ligands [592–601], in aqueous, non-aqueous and melt phases, and also for equilibrium studies on associations linked by hydrogen-bonds [602, 603].

Very narrow bands are observed in the infrared and Raman spectra (compared to the bands appearing in the visible-ultraviolet region), and this permits calculation of the concentration ratios following band resolution. However, it is known that very narrow absorption bands (which vary sensitively in response to complex formation) also appear in the low-intensity electronic excitation spectra of certain rare earth metals. Accordingly, the bands resolved by Gaussian analysis in these systems too may be suitable for the direct calculation of the concentration ratios, or the integrated intensities (oscillator strengths) of the bands arise as the sum of the molar integrated intensities relating to the individual complexes, weighted in accordance with the concentrations. This was utilized by Bukietynska *et al.* [604] to devise a method based on measurement of the oscillator strength, which is suitable for equilibrium studies on the complexes of lanthanides with electronic structures f^2-f^6 or f^7-f^{12} .

The electrophoretic migration rate depends to a large extent on the charges of the ions, which vary as a consequence of complex formation or other equilibrium processes. Hence its measurement can similarly be used to determine equilibrium constants [605-607].

Wallace [608] developed a procedure for the equilibrium study of metal complexes of anionic ligands, based on the shift of the Donnan equilibrium as an effect of complex formation. The results obtained on the $UO_2^{2+}-SO_4^{2-}$ system agreed well with the data found with other methods.

In addition to what has been discussed above, a few examples are to be mentioned where equilibrium constants are determined via other means: measurement of the polarographic diffusion current [609], chronopotentiometry [610], cyclic voltammetry [611], gas chromatography [612–617], density measurement [618–623], magnetic susceptibility measurement [624], emission titration [625], measurement of the self-diffusion coefficient [626], positronium annihilation [627], and pressure measurement in the case of gaseous ligands [628, 629].

References

1. Stability Constants. Part I: Organic Ligands, Part II: Inorganic Ligands (Eds: Bjerrum, J., Schwarzenbach, G. and Sillén, L. G.) Chemical Society, London, 1957, 1958.

Stability Constants of Metal Ion Complexes (Eds: Sillén, L. G. and Martelll, A. E.) Special Publication No. 17, Chemical Society, London, 1964. Supplement No. 1, Special Publication No. 25, London, 1971.

Ionisation Constants of Organic Acids in Aqueous Solution. IUPAC Chemical Data Series — No. 23 (Eds: Serjeant, E. P. and Boyd Demprey) Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1979.

Stability Constants of Metal-ion Complexes. Part A: Inorganic Ligands, IUPAC Chemical Data Series, No. 21 (Ed.: Högfeldt, E.) Pergamon Press. Oxford, 1979. Part B: Organic Ligands, IUPAC Chemical Data Series, No. 22 (Ed.: Perrin, D. D.) Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1979.

- 2. Martell, A. E. and Smith, R. M., Critical Stability Constants, Vols 1-4, Plenum Press, New York, 1977.
- 3. Souchay, P., Research, 4, 11 (1951).
- 4. Kenttämaa, J., Acta Chem. Scand., 12, 1323 (1958).
- 5. Rossotti, F. J. C. and Rossotti, H. S., J. Phys. Chem., 63, 1041 (1954).
- 6. Tobias, S. R., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 19, 348 (1961).
- 7. Jensen, J. B., Acta Chem. Scand., 26, 4031 (1972).
- 8. Henry, P. M. and Marks, O. W., Inorg. Chem., 10, 373 (1971).
- 9. Kenttämaa, J., Suom. Kemistilehti, B32, 9 (1959).
- 10. Tarui, T., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 48, 2959 (1975).
- 11. Tarui, T., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 1213 (1975).
- 12. Schaarschmidt, K., Mende, G. and Emrich, G., Z. für Chemie, 6, 275 (1966).
- 13. Masterton, W. L., J. Phys. Chem., 71, 2885 (1967).

- 14. Paligoric, I. and Gal, I. J., Trans. Farad. Soc. I, 68, 1093 (1972).
- 15. Chlebek, R. W. and Lister, M. W., Can. J. Chem., 49, 2943 (1971).
- 16. Yokoyama, H. and Yamatera, H., Bull. Chem. Soc., Japan, 48, 2708 (1975).
- 17. Yokoyama, H. and Yamatera, H., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 48, 1770 (1975).
- 18. Eliezer, I. and Algavish, G., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 9, 257 (1974).
- 19. Császár, J. and Bán, M., Optical spectra, ligand field theory, complex structure (in Hungarian). Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, 1972.
- Spectroscopy and Structure of Metal Chelate Compounds. (Eds: Nakamoto, K. and McCarthy, P. J.) Wiley, New York-London-Sidney, 1968.
- 21. Figges, B. N., Introduction to Ligand Fields. Wiley/Interscience, 1966.
- 22. Bjerrum, J., Metal Ammine Formation in Aqueous Solution. Haase, Copenhagen, 1941.
- Rossotti, F. J. C., Rossotti, H. S. and Whewell, R. J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 2051 (1971).
- 24. Ostromisslensky, J., Ber., 44, 268 (1911).
- 25. Denison, R. B., Trans. Farad. Soc., 8, 20 (1912).
- 26. Job, P., Ann. Chim. Phys., 9, 113 (1928).
- 27. Ramanathan, P. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 3358 (1973).
- 28. Tate, J. F. and Jones, M. M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 12, 241 (1960).
- 29. Katayama, S. and Tamamushi, R., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 43, 2354 (1970).
- 30. Holm, J. L., Inorg. Chem., 12, 2062 (1973).
- 31. Clarke, J. H. R., Hartley, P. J. and Kuroda, Y., Inorg. Chem., 11, 29 (1972).
- 32. Fenger, J., Siekierska, K. E. and Jensen, B. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 4366 (1971).
- 33. Klausen, K. S. and Langmyhr, F. J., Anal. Chim., Acta, 28, 335 (1963).
- 34. Klausen, K. S., Anal. Chim. Acta, 44, 377 (1969).
- 35. Slovák, Z. and Borák, J., Anal. Chim. Acta, 68, 425 (1974).
- 36. Likussar, W. and Boltz, D. F., Anal. Chem., 43, 1265 (1971).
- 37. Likussar, W., Anal. Chem., 45, 1926 (1973).
- 38. Momoki, K., Sekino, J., Sato, H. and Yamaguchi, N., Anal. Chem., 41, 1286 (1969).
- 39. Jones, M. M. and Innes, K. K., J. Phys. Chem., 62, 1005 (1958).
- 40. Sommer, L. and Hlničková, M., Bull. Soc. Chim. France, 36 (1959).
- 41. Woldbye, F., Acta Chem. Scand., 9, 299 (1955).
- 42. Vosburgh, W. C. and Cooper, G. R., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 63, 427 (1941).
- 43. Katzin, L. J. and Gebert, E., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 5455 (1950).
- 44. Babko, A. K., Zh. Obsch. Khim., 16, 1551 (1946).
- 45. Newman, L. and Hume, D. N., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 79, 4576 (1957).
- 46. Harvey, A. E. and Manning, D. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 4488 (1950).
- 47. Bent, H. E. and French, C. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 63, 1568 (1941).
- 48. Budesinsky, B. W. and Sveč, J., Z. Phys. Chem. N. Folge, 73, 7 (1970).
- 49. Kingery, W. D. and Hume, D. N., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 71, 2393 (1949).
- 50. Marcus, Y., Israel J. of Chem., 5, 143 (1967).
- 51. Person, W. B., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 87, 167 (1965).
- 52. Johansson, L., Coord. Chem. Rev., 12, 241 (1974).
- 53. Suarez, T. E., Iwamoto, R.-T. and Kleinberg, I., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 7, 293 (1973).
- 54. Meyer, A. S. and Ayres, G. H., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 79, 49 (1957).
- 55. Tedesco, P. H., De-Rumi, V. B. and Quintana, J. A. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 3839 (1971); Tedesco, P. H. and Anon, M. C., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 2271 (1972).

- 56. Ahrland, S., Acta Chem. Scand., 3, 783 (1949).
- 57. Ahrland, S., Acta Chem. Scand., 5, 1151 (1951).
- 58. Irving, H. M. N. H. and Mellor, P. H., J. Chem. Soc., 3457 (1955).
- 59. Jezowska-Trzebiatowska, B., Pajdowsky, L. and Starosta, J., Rocz. Chem., 35, 445 (1961).
- 60. Belyevantseev, V. I. and Peshevitskii, B. I., Zh. Neorg. Khim., 17, 3170 (1972).
- 61. Országh, I. and Beck, M. T., Acta Chem. Scand., A33, 63 (1979).
- 62. Cilento, G. and Sanioto, D. L., Z. Phys. Chem. Leipzig, 223, 233 (1963).
- 63. Budesinsky, B. W. and Sagat, M., Talanta, 20, 228 (1973).
- 64. Budesinsky, B. W., Z. Anal. Chem., 258, 186 (1972).
- 65. Arnett, E. M., Joris, L., Mitchell, E., Murty, T. S. S. R., Gorrie, T. M. and Schleyer, P. V. R., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 2365 (1970).
- 66. Harada, H., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44, 3459 (1971).
- 67. Deyrup, A. J. and Hammett, L. P., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 54, 2721 (1932).
- 68. Kreevoy, M. M. and Baugham, E. H., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 95, 8178 (1973).
- 69. Jaffe, H. H., Chem. Rev., 53, 191 (1953).
- 70. Kolthoff, I. M., Chantooni, M.K. and Bhowmik, S., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 90, 23 (1968).
- 71. Yates, K. and Shapiro, S. A., Can. J. Chem., 50, 581 (1972).
- 72. Paul, M. A. and Long, F. A., Chem. Rev., 57, 1 (1957).
- 73. Rochester, C. H., Acidity Functions. Academic Press, New York, 1970.
- 74. Kirino, Y., J. Phys. Chem., 79, 1296 (1975).
- 75. Yagil, G., J. Phys. Chem., 71, 1034 (1967).
- 76. Beck, M. T. and Gaizer, F., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 26, 1775 (1964).
- 77. Marcus, Y., Acta Chem. Scand., 11, 610 (1957).
- 78. Griffiths, T. R. and Anderson, R. A., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 205 (1980).
- 79. Yokoi, H., Otagiri, H. and Isobe, T., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44, 2402 (1971).
- 80. Spiro, T. and Hume, D. N., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 83, 4305 (1961).
- 81. Gaizer, F. and Beck, M. T., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 28, 503 (1966).
- 82. Almgren, L., Acta Chem. Scand., 25, 3713 (1971).
- 83. Elding, L. I. and Gröning, A.-B., Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 867 (1978).
- 84. Gilbert, T. W. and Newman, L., Inorg. Chem., 9, 1705 (1970).
- 85. Srivastava, S. C. and Newman, L., Inorg. Chem., 11, 2855 (1972).
- 86. Klotz, P., Feldberg, S. and Newman, L., Inorg. Chem., 12, 164 (1973).
- 87. Das, A. R. and Nair, V. S. K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1271 (1972).
- 88. Singh, T., Mahan, A. and Dey, A.K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 2551 (1972).
- 89. Karadakov, B. P. and Venkova, P. I., Talanta, 17, 878 (1970).
- 90. Irving, H. M. N. H. and Sharpe, K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 203 (1971).
- 91. Norby, I. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 24, 3276 (1970).
- Pople, J. A., Schneider, W. G. and Bernstein, H. J., High-resolution Nuclear Magnetic Resonance. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1959.
- La Mar, G. N., Horrocks, W. DeW. Jr. and Holm, R. H., NMR of Paramagnetic Molecules. Academic Press, New York, 1973.
- Emsley, J. W., Teeney, J. and Sutcliffe, L. H., High Resolution Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1965.
- Abragam, A. and Bleaney, B., Electron Paramagnetic Resonance of Transition Metal Ions. Oxford Univ. Press (Clarendon), London-New York, 1970.

- 96. Corrington, A. and McLachlan, A. O., Introduction to Magnetic Resonance. Harper, New York, 1967.
- 97. Slichter, C. P., Principles of Magnetic Resonance. Harper, New York, 1963.
- 98. Jones, D. E. H., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 567 (1972).
- 99. Jordan, A. D. and Cavell, R. G., Inorg. Chem., 11, 564 (1972).
- 100. Matwiyoff, N. A. and Wageman, W. E., Inorg. Chem., 9, 1031 (1970).
- 101. Hartman, J. S. and Schrobilgen, G. J., Inorg. Chem., 11, 940 (1972).
- 102. Moldritzer, K., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 5, 547 (1971).
- 103. Lappert, M. F., Litzow, M. R., Pedley, J. B. and Spalding, T. R., J. Chem. Soc. A, 383 (1971).
- 104. Fuentes, R., Morgan, L. O. and Matwiyoff, N. A., Inorg. Chem., 14, 1837 (1975).
- 105. Reeder, R. R. and Rieger, P. H., Inorg. Chem., 10, 1258 (1971).
- 106. Dyrssen, D., Falk, K. E. and Ivanova, E. K., Acta Chem. Scand., 26, 3865 (1972).
- 107. Rockenbauer, A., Budó-Záhonyi, E. and Simándi, L., J. Coord. Chem., 2, 53 (1972).
- 108. Evans, C. A. and Rabenstein, D. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 96, 7312 (1974).
- 109. Lee, D. G., Can. J. Chem., 48, 1919 (1970).
- 110. Rabenstein, D. L., Can. J. Chem., 50, 1036 (1972).
- 111. Lee, D. G. and Sadar, M. H., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 96, 2862 (1974).
- 112. Letkeman, P. and Westmore, J. B., Can. J. Chem., 49, 2073 (1971).
- 113. Rabenstein, D. L. and Fairhurst, M. T., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 97, 2086 (1975).
- 114. Navon, G., Panigel, R. and Meyerstein, D., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 6, 299 (1972).
- 115. Ishizuka, H., Yamamoto, T., Arato, Y. and Fujirawa, S., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 46, 468 (1973).
- 116. Fuhr, B. J. and Rabenstein, D. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 95, 6944 (1973).
- 117. Rabenstein, D. L. and Libich, S., Inorg. Chem., 11, 2960 (1972).
- 118. Quirt, A. R., Lyerla, J. R., Peat, I. R., Cohen, J. S., Reynolds, W. F. and Freedman, M. H., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 96, 570 (1974).
- 119. Asleson, G. L. and Frank, C. W., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 98, 4745 (1976).
- 120. Kostromina, N. A., and Tyihonova, R. V., Zh. Neorg. Khim., 19, 2000 (1974).
- 121. Granot, J. and Fiat, D., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 99, 70 (1977).
- 122. Fairhust, M. T. and Rabenstein, D. L., Inorg. Chem., 14, 1413 (1975).
- 123. Jordan, F. and McFarquhar, B. Y., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 94, 6558 (1972).
- 124. Hawland, D. L. and Flurry, R. L., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem. 38, 1568 (1976).
- 125. Burlamacchi, L. and Tiezzi, E., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 31, 2159 (1969).
- 126. Bryant, R. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 3467 (1972).
- 127. Musikas, C., Cuillerdier, C. and Chachaty, C., Inorg. Chem., 17, 3610 (1978).
- 128. Whidby, J. F. and Leyden, D. E., Anal. Chim. Acta, 51, 25 (1970).
- 129. Popel, A. A., Magnitno-relaxatsionnii metod analiza neorganitseskii veshesto. Khimiya, Moscow, 1978.
- 130. Popel, A. A., Primeniyenyiye YaMR relaxatsii v analize neorganitseskii soedyinyenyii. Izd. Kazantskobo Univ., Kazan, 1975.
- 131. Granot, J. and Fiat, D., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 99, 70 (1977).
- 132. Vdovenko, V. M. and Kolokoltsev, V. B., Radiokhimiya, 2, 286 (1966); 11, 635 (1969).
- 133. Popel, A. A. and Zaharov, A. B., Isledovanyiya po elektrokhimii, magnetokhimii i elektrokhimicheskim metodam analiza, Izdatyelstvo KGU, Kazan, 1974.

16 Beck-Nagypál

an P.C. Dalmar I. Anderson M.M. and Allred A.I. 7 Elektrochem 64

110 (1960).	
135. Burlamacchi, L. and Tiezzi, R., J. Mol. Struct., 2, 261 (1968).	
136. Stevenson, G. R. and Alegria, A. E., J. Phys. Chem., 78, 1771 (1974).	
137. Stevenson, G. R., Concepcion, R., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 96, 4696 (1974).	
138. Stevenson, G. R. and Echegoven, L., J. Phys. Chem., 77, 2339 (1973).	
139. Stevenson, G. R. and Alegria, A. E., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 77, 3100 (1973).	
140. Stevenson, G. R. and Alegria, A. E., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 97, 3869 (1975).	
141. Stevenson, G. R., Alegria, A. E. and Black, McB., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 97, 4859 (1975).	
142. Dahlquist, K. I., Acta Chem. Scand., 24, 683 (1970).	
143. Howard, G. D. and Marianelli, S., Inorg. Chem., 9, 1738 (1970).	
144. Beattie, J. K., Lindoy, L. F., and Moddy, W. E., Inorg. Chem. 15, 3170 (1976).	
145. Shporer, M., Poupko, R. and Luz, Z., Inorg. Chem., 11, 2441 (1972).	
146. Linde, M. W., Rogers, K. B. and Hume, D. N., Anal. Chem., 25, 404 (1953).	
147. Jordan, J. and Alleman, T. G., Anal. Chem., 29, 9 (1957).	
148. Christensen, J. J., Izatt, R. M. and Hansen, L. D., Rev. Sci. Instr., 36, 779 (1965).	
149. Arnek, R., Arkiv Kemi, 24, 531 (1965).	
150. Schlyter, K., Kungle Tekniska Högskolans Handlingar, No. 132 (1959).	
151. Schlyter, K. and Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 13, 385 (1959).	
152. Johansson, S., Arkiv Kemi, 24, 189 (1965).	
153. Arnek, R. and Kakolowicz, W., Acta Chem. Scand., 21, 1449 (1967).	
154. Gergely, A. and Sóvágó, I., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 20, 19 (1976).	
155. Wadsö, I., Science Tools, 13, 33 (1966).	
156. Monk, P. and Wadsö, I., Acta Chem. Scand., 22, 1842 (1968).	
57. Monk, P. and Wadsö, I., Acta Chem. Scand., 23, 29 (1969).	
58. Bianchini, G., Fabbrizzi, L. and Paoletti, P., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1036 (1975).	
159. Arnek, S. and Barcza, L., Acta Chem. Scand., 26, 213 (1972).	
160. Arnek, S. and Johansson, S. K., Acta Chem. Scand., 26, 2903 (1972).	
161. Arnek, S., Arkiv Kemi, 32, 55 (1970).	
162 Visibara I Art Che C 1 130 000 (1074)	

- 162. Kulberg, L., Acta Chem. Scand., A28, 829 (1974).
- 163. Das, K. and Bear, J. L., Inorg. Chem., 15, 2093 (1976).
- 164. Izatt, R. M., Terry, R. E., Hansen, L. D., Avondet, A. G., Bradshaw, J. S., Dalley, N. K., Hansen, T. E. and Christensen, J. J., *Inorg. Chim. Acta*, 30, 1 (1978).
- 165. Paoletti, P., Dei, A. and Vacca, A., J. Chem. Soc. A, 2656 (1971).
- 166. Powell, H. K. J., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1947 (1973).
- Weisberger, A. (Ed.), Technique of Organic Chemistry, Vol. VIII, Part II, 2nd edn., Interscience, New York, 1963.
- 168. Simándi, L. and Bazsa, Gy., Methods for kinetic study of fast reactions in solution (in Hungarian). Recent results in chemistry, Vol. 43, Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, 1978.
- 169. Eigen, M. and Tamm, K., Z. Elektrochem., 66, 107 (1962).
- 170. Beck, M. and Görög, S., Proc. Symp. Chem. Coord. Comp., Agra, Part II, p. 195 (1959).
- 171. Postmus, C. and King, E. L., J. Phys. Chem., 59, 1208 (1955).
- 172. Lee, T. S., Kolthoff, I. M. and Leussing, D. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 70, 3596 (1948).
- 173. Brandt, W. W. and Gellstrom, D. K., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 74, 3532 (1952).
- 174. Baxendale, I. H. and George, P., Trans. Farad. Soc., 46, 736 (1950).

124 D

- 175. Atkinson, G. and Kor, S. L., J. Phys. Chem., 71, 673 (1967).
- 176. Hurwitz, P. and Kustin, K., J. Phys. Chem., 71, 324 (1967).
- 177. Petrucci, S., J. Phys. Chem., 71 1174 (1967).
- 178. Behr, B. and Wendt, H., Z. Electrochem., 66, 223 (1962).
- 179. Perlmutter-Hayman, B. and Tapuhi, E., J. Coord. Chem., 8, 75 (1978).
- 180. Yatsimirskii, K. B., Zh. Anal. Khim., 10, 344 (1955).
- 181. Pungor, E., Ann. Univ. Sci., Budapest, Sect. Chim., 2, 69 (1960).
- 182. Sykes, K. W., J. Chem. Soc., 125 (1952).
- 183. Kodama, M., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 48, 2961 (1975).
- 184. Scheinblatt, M., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 2505 (1970).
- 185. Streitwieser, A. et al., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 97, 190 (1975); 95, 4248 (1973); 94, 7937 (1972).
- 186. Sherill, M. S., Z. Phys. Chem., 43, 765 (1903).
- 187. Bell, R. P. and Prue, J. E., J. Chem. Soc., 362 (1949).
- 188. Bell, R. P. and Waind, G. M., J. Chem. Soc., 1979 (1950).
- 189. Hay, R. W. and Clark, C. R., J. Chem. Soc., 1993 (1977).
- 190. Bell, R. P. and Panckhurst, M. H., J. Chem. Soc., 2836 (1956).
- 191. Hudis, J. and Wahl, A. C., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 75, 4153 (1963).
- 192. Duke, F.R. and Parcher, F. Z., J. Am.Chem. Soc., 78, 1540 (1956).
- 193. Brubaker, C. H. and Michel, J. P., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 4, 55 (1957).
- 194. Cohen, D., Sullivan, J. C. and Hindman, J. C., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 77, 4964 (1955).
- 195. Yatsimirskii, K. B. and Alekseyeva, I. I., Zh. Neorg. Khim., 1, 952 (1956).
- 196. Yatsimirskii, K. B., Kinetic methods of chemical analysis (in Hungarian). Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, 1966.
- 197. Hutchinson, M. H. and Higginson, W. C. E., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1247 (1973).
- 198. Beck, M. T. and Gimesi, I., Acta Chim. Hung., 42, 343 (1963).
- 198a. Peters, E. and Halpern, J., Can. J. Chem., 34, 554 (1956).
- 199. Taube, H., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 70, 3928 (1948).
- 200. Lister, M. W., Can. J. Chem., 31, 638 (1953).
- 201. Beck, M. T. and Görög, S., Acta Phys. et Chem. Szeged, 4, 59 (1958).
- 202. Jones, M. M., Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 39, 385 (1960).
- 203. Malmström, B. G., Ph. D. Thesis, Uppsala, 1956.
- 204. Reinhardt, H. and Rydberg, J. L., see Ref. [205], p. 612.
- 205. Dyrssen, D., Liljenzin, J. O. and Rydberg, J. (Eds), Solvent Extraction Chemistry. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1967.
- 206. Irving, H. and Williams, R. J. P., in *Treatise on Analytical Chemistry*. Part I, Vol. 3, pp. 1309–1366, Interscience, New York-London 1961.
- 207. Marcus, Y. and Kertes, A. S., Ion Exchange and Solvent Extraction of Metal Complexes. Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1969.
- 208. Hanson, C., (Ed.) Recent Advances in Liquid-Liquid Extraction. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1971.
- 209. Rao, V. M. and Sastri, M. N., Talanta, 27, 771 (1980).
- Morrison, G. H. and Freiser, H., Solvent Extraction in Analytical Chemistry. Wiley, New York, 1957.
- 211. Catrall, R. W. and Slater, S. J. E., Coord. Chem. Rev., 11, 227 (1973).
- 212. Ringbom, A., Complexation in Analytical Chemistry, Interscience, New York, 1963.

16*

- 213. Equilibrium Constants of Liquid-Liquid Distribution Reactions. Parts I-II (compilers: Marcus, Y., Kertes, A. S. and Yanir, E.) Butterworths, London, 1974.
- 214. Equilibrium Constants of Liquid-Liquid Distribution Reactons Chelating Extractants (Compilers: Stary, J. and Freiser, H.) IUPAC Chemical Data Series, No. 18, Butterworths, London, 1976.
- 215. Hök, B., Svenxk. Kem. Tidskr. 65, 182 (1953).
 - 216. Dyrssen, D. and Johansson, D., Acta Chem. Scand., 9, 763 (1955).
 - 217. Hendixson, W. S., Z. Anorg. Allgem. Chem., 13, 73 (1897).
 - 218. Dawson, H. M. and McCrae, J., J. Chem. Soc., 79, 1069 (1900).
 - 219. Sewand, R. P., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 76, 4850 (1954).
 - 220. Leussing, D. L. and Hansen, R. C., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 79, 4270 (1957).
 - 221. Winstein, S. and Lucas, H. J., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 60, 836 (1938).
 - 222. Trueblood, K. N. and Lucas, H. J., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 74, 1338 (1952).
 - 223. Budevsky, O., Ingman, F. and Liem, D. H., Acta Chem. Scand., 27, 1277 (1973).
 - 224. Jawaid, M., Ingman, F., Liem, D. H. and Wallin, T., Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 7 (1978).
 - 225. Rao, G. N. and Arora, H. C., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 2057 (1977).
 - 226. Khopkar, P. K. and Mathur, J. N., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 3819 (1974).
 - 227. Bagawde, S. V., Ramakrishna, V. V. and Patil, S. K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 1669 (1976).
 - 228. Morris, D. F. C., Hedger, T. J. and Watson, P. A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 2077 (1971).
 - 229. Aziz, A. and Lyle, S. J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 3407 (1971).
 - Danesi, P. R., Chiarizia, R., Subona, G. and D'Alessandro, G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 3503 (1971).
 - 231. Hála, J. and Smola, J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1039 (1972).
 - 232. Baisder, P. A., Choppin, G. R. and Kinard, W. F., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 2029 (1972).
 - 233. Choppin, G. R. and Degisher, G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 3473 (1972).
 - 234. Cinnéide, S. Ó., Scanlan, J. P. and Hynes, M. J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 1013 (1975).
 - 235. McDowell, W. J., Keller, O. L., Dittner, P. E., Tarrant, J. R. and Case, G. N., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 1207 (1976).
 - 236. Sato, T. and Kato, T., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 1205 (1977).
 - 237. Kodama, N., Yamada, H. and Tanaka, M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 2063 (1976).
 - 238. Hasegawa, Y., Kawashima, H. and Sekine, T., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 43, 1718 (1970).
 - 239. Moriya, H. and Sekine, T., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44, 3347 (1971).
 - 240. Rao, P. R. V., Bagawde, S. V., Ramakrishna, V. V. and Patil, S. K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 40, 123(1978).
 - 241. Blake, C. A., Baes, D. F., Brown, K. B., Coleman, C. F. and White, J. C., Proc. 2nd Intern. Conf. Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy, 15/P/1550 (1958).
 - 242. Irving, H., in Proc. Symp. Coord. Chem., Tihany, Hungary, 1965 (Ed.: Beck, M. T.), p. 219, Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, 1966.
 - 243. Upor, E., in Proc. 3rd Symp. Coord. Chem., Debrecen, p. 143, Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, 1970.
 - 244. Shigematsu, T., Honjyo, T., Tabushi, M. and Matsui, M., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 43, 793 (1970).
 - 245. Liem, H. D. and Sinegribova, O., Acta Chem. Scand., 25, 301 (1971).

232

- 246. Newman, L. and Klotz, P., Inorg. Chem., 11, 2150 (1972).
- 247. Nash, K. L. and Choppin, G. R., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 131 (1977).
- 248. Pretorius, J. A. and Boeyens, J. C. A., J. Cryst. Mol. Struct., 6, 169 (1976).
- 249. Pretorius, J. A. and Boeyens, J. C. A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 40, 407 (1978); 40, 1519 (1978); 40, 1745 (1978).
- 250. Pai, S. A., Mathur, J. N., Khopkar, P. K. and Subramamarian, M. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 1209 (1977).
- 251. Rao, V. P. R. and Sastry, V. V. R., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 1635 (1975).
- 252. Kassierer, E. F. and Kertes, A. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 3221 (1972); 34, 3209 (1972).
- 253. Woo, C., Wagner, W. F. and Sands, D. E., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 307 (1972).
- 254. Deptuta, C., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 277 (1970).
- 255. Zolotov, Yu. A., Petrukhin, O. M. and Gavrilova, L. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 1679 (1970).
- 256. Kojima, I., Uchida, M. and Tanaka, M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 1333 (1970).
- 257. Fouché, K. F., LeRoux, H. J. and Phillips, F., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 1949 (1970).
- 258. Zangen, M. and Rafaeloff, K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 2753 (1970).
- 259. Tanaka, M., Nakasuka, N. and Yamada, H., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 2259 (1970).
- 260. Aggett, J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 2767 (1970).
- 261. Yamane, M., Iwachido, T. and Toei, K., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44, 745 (1971).
- 262. Liem, D. H. and Sinergribova, O., Acta Chem. Scand., 25, 277 (1971).
- 263. Lundquist, P., Acta Chem. Scand., A29, 231 (1975).
- 264. Aguilar, M. and Liem, D. H., Acta Chem. Scand., A30, 313 (1976).
- 265. Sekine, T., Iwahori, S. and Murai, R., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 363 (1977).
- 266. Graff, S. M. and Berger, S. A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 863 (1976).
- 267. Yakabe, K. and Minami, S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 1973 (1975).
- 268. Cattrall, R. W. and Wolsh, M. J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 1643 (1974).
- 269. Danesi, D. R., Chiarizia, R. and Scibora, G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 2349 (1970).
- 270. Rydberg, J., Arkiv Kemi, 8, 101 (1955).
- 271. Nagypál, I. and Beck, M. T., Talanta, 29, 473 (1982).
- 272. Meites, L., Pode, J. S. F. and Thomas, H. C., J. Chem. Educ., 43, 667 (1966).
- 273. Koubek, E. J., J. Chem. Educ., 53, 254 (1976).
- 274. Haight, G. P., J. Chem. Educ., 55, 452 (1978).
- 275. Bodländer, G. and Fittig, R., Z. Physik. Chem., 39, 597 (1902).
- 276. Johansson, L., Acta Chem. Scand., 27, 2335 (1973).
- 277. Haight, G. P. Jr., Acta Chem. Scand., 16, 209 (1962).
- 278. Johansson, L., Coord. Chem. Rev., 3, 293 (1968).
- 279. Sano, K., Biochem. Z., 168, 14 (1926).
- 280. Irving, H., Ewart, J. A. and Wilson, J. T., J. Chem. Soc., 2672 (1949).
- 281. Leden, I., Svensk. Kem. Tidskr., 64, 249 (1952).
- 282. Berne, I. and Leden, I., Svensk. Kem. Tidskr., 65, 88 (1953).
- 283. Leden, I., in Proc. Symp. Coord. Chem., Copenhagen, p. 77, 1953.
- 284. Ahrland, S. and Grenthe, I., Acta Chem. Scand., 11, 1111 (1957).
- 285. Ahrland, S. and Rawsthorne, J., Acta Chem. Scand., 24, 157 (1970).
- 286. Ahrland, S. and Tagesson, B., Acta Chem. Scand., A31, 615 (1977).
- 287. Lieser, K. H., Z. Anorg. Allgem. Chem., 292, 97 (1957).

288. Johansson, L., Acta Chem. Scand., 25, 3752 (1971).

- 289. Johansson, L., Acta Chem. Scand., 27, 1637 (1973).
- 290. Ciavatta, L. and Grimaldi, M., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 4, 312 (1970).
- 291. Senise, P. and Neves, E. F. A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33 351 (1971).
- 292. Neves, E. F. A. and Senise, P., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1915 (1972).
- 293. Gal, I. J., Djuric, G. and Melovski, L., J. Chem. Soc. D, 2066 (1973).
- 294. Anderson, K. P., Cummings, A. L., Biles, J. L. and Walker, K. J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 1837 (1973).
- 295. Johansson, L., Acta Chem. Scand., 27, 1832 (1973).
- 296. Johansson, L., Coord. Chem. Rev., 12, 241 (1974).
- 297. Ghosh, R. and Nair, V. S. K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 3025 (1970).
- 298. Das, A. R. and Nair, V. S. K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 2121 (1975).
- 299. Sengupta, A. K. and Adhikari, S. K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 1301 (1975).
- 300. Halloff, E. and Vannerberg, N. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 24, 55 (1970).
- 301. Ilcheva, L. and Bjerrum, J., Acta Chem. Scand., A30, 343 (1976).
- 302. McDowell, H., Brown, W. E. and Sutter, J. R., Inorg. Chem., 10, 1638 (1971).
- 303. Hedström, H., Olin, Åslin, E., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 1191 (1977).
- 304. Samuelson, O., Ion Exchangers in Analytical Chemistry. Wiley, New York, 1953.
- 305. Helfferich, F., Ionenausauscher. Bd. 1, Verlag Chemie, Weinberg, 1959.
- 306. Fronaeus, S., Svensk. Kem. Tidskr., 65, 1 (1953).
- 307. Marcus, Y., in *Ion Exchange* (Ed.: Matinsky, J. A.), p. 101. Marcell Dekker, New York, 1967.
- Inczédy, J., Analytical Applications of Ion Exchangers. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1966.
- 309. Inczédy, J., Analytical applications of complex equilibria (in Hungarian). Műszaki Könyvkiadó, Budapest, 1970.
- 310. Lengyel, T. and Törkő, J., Recent results in chemistry (in Hungarian), Vol. 21, Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, 1974.
- 311. Schubert, J. and Richter, J. W., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 70, 4259 (1948).
- 312. Schubert, J., Lind, E. L., Westfall, W. N., Pfleger, R. and Li, N. C., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 80, 4799 (1958),
- 313. Schubert, J. and Richter, J. W., J. Phys. Colloid Chem., 52, 350 (1948).
- 314. Fronaeus, S., Acta Chem. Scand., 5, 859 (1951).
- 315. Fronaeus, S., in Proc. Symp. Coord. Chem., Copenhagen, 1953 p. 61.
- 316. Whiteker, R. A. and Davinson, N., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 75, 3081 (1953).
- 317. Carleson, B. G. F. and Irving, H., J. Chem. Soc., 4390 (1954).
- 318. Loman, H. and Van Dalen, E., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 28, 2027 (1966); 29, 699 (1967).
- 319. Ohyoshi, E., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 46, 2758 (1973).
- 320. Tobias, S. K. and Rozkalla, E. N., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 569 (1976).
- 321. Cilindro, L. G., Stadlbauer, E. and Keller, C., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 2577 (1972).
- 322. Armitage, G. M. and Dunsmore, H. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 2811 (1972); 35, 1701 (1973).
- 323. Mohan, A. and Dey, A. K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 3263 (1973).
- 324. Ohyoshi, A., Ohyoshi, E. and Yamakawa, S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1955 (1972).
- 325. Ohyoshi, E., Oda, J. and Ohyoshi, A., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 48, 227 (1975).
- 326. Liquornik, M. and Irvine, J. W., Inorg. Chem., 9, 1330 (1970).

- 327. Leden, I., Svensk. Kem. Tidskr., 64, 145 (1952).
- 328. Fronaeus, S., Svensk. Kem. Tidskr., 65, 1 (1953).
- 329. Marcus, Y. and Coryell, L. D., Bull. Res. Committ. Israel, A8, 1 (1959).
- Kraus, K. A. and Nelson, F., in *The Structure of Electrolytic Solutions* (Ed.: Hamer, W. J.), p. 340, Wiley, New York, 1959.
- 331. Kraus, K. A. and Nelson, F., Proc. Intern. Conf. Peaceful Uses of Atomic Energy, 7, 113 (1965).
- 332. Jones, L. H. and Penneman, R. A., Chem. Phys., 22, 965 (1954).
- 333. Sonesson, A., Acta Chem. Scand., 15, 1 (1961).
- 334. Waki, H., Tokahari, S. and Ohaski, S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 1259 (1973).
- 335. Fronaeus, S., Lundquist, I. and Sonesson, A., Acta Chem. Scand., 16, 1963 (1962).
- 336. Persson, H., Acta Chem. Scand., 26, 2959 (1972).
- 337. Mason, J. T. and Cummiskey, C. J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 137 (1971).
- 338. Bertazzi, N., Silvestri, A. and Barbieri, R., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 799 (1971).
- 339. Yoshio, M., Waki, H. and Ishibashi, N., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 1365 (1970).
- 340. Cummiskey, C. J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 309 (1970).
- 341. Landers, L. and Cummiskey, C. J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 4239 (1971).
- 342. Marcus, Y. and Eyal, E., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1667 (1972).
- 343. Fardy, J. J. and Buchanan, J. M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 579 (1976).
- 344. Waki, H., Hisozumi, Y. and Ohashi, S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 349 (1977).
- 345. Forsling, W., Hietanen, S. and Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 6, 901 (1952).
- 346. Ohtaki, H., Proc. I. C. C. C., Prague 1978.
- 347. Biedermann, G. and Hietanen, S., Acta Chem. Scand., 14, 711 (1960).
- 348. Rossotti, F. J. C. and Whewell, R. J., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1223 (1977).
- 349. Whewell, R. J., Ph. D. Thesis, Oxford, 1972.
- 350. Irving, H. M., Miles, M. G. and Pettit, L. D., Anal. Chim. Acta, 38, 475 (1967).
- 351. Gran, G., Analyst, 77, 661 (1952).
- 352. Rossotti, F. J. C. and Rossotti, M., J. Chem. Educ., 42, 375 (1965).
- 353. Biedermann, G. and Sillén, L. G., Arkiv Kemi, 5, 425 (1953).
- 354. Forsling, W., Hietanen, S. and Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 6, 905 (1952).
- 355. Barcza, L., Stróbl, L. and Lehoczky, B., Magy. Kém. Folyóirat, 76, 25 (1970).
- 356. Jameson, R. F. and Wilson, M. F., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 2607 (1972).
- 357. Rochester, C. H., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 5 (1972).
- 358. Velinov, G., Zikolov, P., Tchakarova, P. and Budevsky, O., Talanta, 21, 163 (1974).
- 359. Sawada, K., Nakano, M., Mori, H. and Tanaka, M., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 48, 2282 (1975).
- 360. Kakihana, H., Maeda, M. and Amaya, T., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 43, 1377 (1970).
- 361. Cox, B. G., Parker, A. J. and Waghorne, W. E., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 95, 1010 (1973).
- 362. Olin, Å. and Svanström, P., Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 283 (1978).
- 363. Ginstrup, O., Acta Chem. Scand., 24, 875 (1970).
- 364. Al-Niaimi, N. S. and Al-Saadi, B. M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 1617 (1974).
- 365. McBryde, W., Can. J. Chem., 46, 2093 (1967).
- 366. Nagypál, I. and Gergely, A., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 78, 18 (1972).
- 367. Boggers, R. and Martin, R. B., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 97, 3076 (1975).
- 368. Levitzki, A., Pecht, I. and Berger, A., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 94, 6844 (1972).
- 369. Stratton, W. J. and Ogren, P. J., Inorg. Chem., 9, 2588 (1970).

- 370. Boggers, R. K. and Martin, R. B., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 359 (1975).
- 371. Horváth, Zs. and Nagydiósi, Gy., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 767 (1975).
- 372. Rajan, K. S. and Davis, J. M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 897 (1976).
- 373. Brücher, E., Király, R. and Varga, Zs., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 81, 339 (1975).
- 374. Rossotti, F. J. C. and Irving, H. M. N. H., J. Chem. Soc., 2904 (1954).
- 375. Ramamoorthy, S. and Manning, P. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1977 (1972); 34, 3443 (1972).
- 376. Tripathi, S. C. and Paul, S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 2465 (1973).
- 377. Rangaray, K. and Ramaniyam, V. V., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 489 (1977).
- 378. Debreczeni, F., Ph. D., Thesis, Kossuth Lajos University, Debrecen, Hungary, 1979.
- 379. Ciavatta, L., Grimaldi, M. and Mastroianni, A., Ann. di Chim., 68, 877 (1978).
- 380. Fábián, I. and Nagypál, I., Talanta, 29, 71 (1982).
- 381. Daniele, P. G. and Ostacoli, G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 40, 1273 (1978).
- 382. Gergely, A., Nagypál, I. and Farkas, E., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 551 (1975).
- 383. Scheidegger, H., Felty, W. and Leussing, O. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 808 (1970).
- 384. Nakan, R., Beadle, E. M. Jr. and Angelici, R. J., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 96, 719 (1974).
- 385. Wahlberg, O., Acta Chem. Scand., 25, 1045 (1971).
- 386. Persson, H., Acta Chem. Scand., 28, 885 (1974).
- 387. Magyar, B. and Schwarzenbach, G., Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 943 (1978).
- 388. Binder, B., Inorg. Chem., 10, 2146 (1971).
- 389. Motekaitis, R. J. and Martell, A. E., Inorg. Chem., 13, 550 (1974).
- 390. Fraúrto da Silva, J. J. R. and Simões, M.L. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 1313 (1970).
- 391. Aziz, A., Lyde, S. J. and Newbery, J. E., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 1757 (1971).
- 392. Santschi, P. H. and Schindler, P. W., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 181 (1974).
- 393. Keen, R.D., House, D. A. and Powell, H. K. J., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 688 (1975).
- 394. Masuda, Y., Hirai, Y. and Sekido, E., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44, 2381 (1971).
- 395. Mashihara, M., Ando, T. and Murase, I., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 46, 844 (1973).
- 396. Schroder, K. H. and Johnsen, B. G., Talanta, 21, 671 (1974).
- 397. Durst, R. A. (Ed.), *Ion-Selective Electrodes*. NBS Spec. Publ. 348, U.S. Printing Office, Washington 1970.
- 398. Moody, G. J. and Thomas, J. D. R., Talanta, 19, 623 (1972).
- 399. Buck, R. P., Analytical Chemistry Annual Reviews, 46, 28 R (1974).
- 400. Pungor, E. and Tóth, K., Pure Appl. Chem., 31, 521 (1972); 34, 105 (1973).
- 401. Biedermann, G. and Sillén, L. G., Arkiv Kemi, 5, 425 (1953).
- 402. Clayton, W. J. and Vosburgh, W. C., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 59, 2414 (1937).
- 403. Palaty, V., Can. J. Chem., 41, 18 (1963).
- 404. Eisenman, G., Rudin, D. O. and Casby, J. U., Science, 126, 831 (1957).
- 405. Schwarzenbach, G. and Ackermann, K., Helv. Chim. Acta, 30, 1798 (1947).
- 406. Rechnitz, G. A. and Zamochnick, S. B., Talanta, 11, 1061 (1964); 11, 617 (1964).
- 407. Dunsmore, H. S. and Midgley, D., J. Chem. Soc. A, 3238 (1971).
- 408. Frensdorff, H. K., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 600 (1971).
- 409. Mohan, M. S. and Rechnitz, G. A., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 94, 1714 (1972).
- 410. Nakamura, T., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 48, 1447 (1975).
- 411. Izutsu, K., Nomura, T., Nakamura, T., Hidetoshi, K. and Nakajima, S., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 47, 1657 (1974).
- 412. Ramamoorthy, S. and Manning, P. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 1279 (1973).
- 413. Ramamoorthy, S., Guarnaschelli, C. and Fecchio, D., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1651 (1972).
- 414. McBryde, W. A. E. and Cheam, V., Inorg. Nucl. Chem. Letters, 9, 95 (1973).
- 415. Hansen, E. H. and Ruzicka, J., Talanta, 20, 1105 (1973).
- 416. Nakagawa, G., Wada, H. and Hayakawa, T., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 48, 424 (1975).
- 417. McBryde, W. A. E., McCourt, J. L. and Cheam, V., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 4193 (1973).
- 418. Baumann, E. W., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 1827 (1974).
- 419. Bond, A. M. and Hefter, G., Inorg. Chem., 9, 1021 (1970).
- 420. Klotz, P., Mukherji, A., Feldberg, S. and Newmann, L., Inorg. Chem., 10, 740 (1971).
- 421. Gifford, S., Cherry, W., Jecmen, J. and Readnour, M., Inorg. Chem., 13, 1434 (1974).
- 422. Bixler, J. W. and Bond, A. M., Inorg. Chem., 17, 3684 (1978).
- 423. Baumann, E. W., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 3823 (1970).
- 424. Elgquist, B., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 937 (1970).
- 425. Bond, A. M. and Hefter, G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 429 (1971); 34, 603 (1972).
- 426. Shetty, S. Y. and Sathe, R. M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 1837 (1977).
- 427. Kakihana, H. and Ishiguro, S., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 47, 1665 (1974).
- 428. Bixler, J. W. and Larson, T. M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 224 (1974).
- 429. Burger, K. and Pintér, B., Hung. Sci. Instr., No. 8 11 (1966).
- 430. Stafford, S., Haupt, H. J. and Huber, G., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 11, 207 (1974).
- 431. Flegas, S. N., Trans. Faraday Soc., 51, 62 (1955).
- 432. Leden, I., Z. Physik. Chem. Leipzig, A 188, 160 (1941).
- 433. Bethge, P. O., Jonewall-Wastöö, I. and Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 2, 828 (1948).
- 434. Quarfort, I. and Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 3, 505 (1949).
- 435. Nilsson, R. O., Arkiv Kemi, 12, 337 (1958).
- 436. Náray-Szabó, I. and Szabó, Z., Z. Phys. Chem. Leipzig, A 166, 228 (1933).
- 437. Biedermann, G., Arkiv Kemi, 9, 277 (1956).
- 438. Olin, A., Acta Chem. Scand., 11, 1445 (1957).
- 439. Bjerrum, J. and Wright, G. A., Acta Chem. Scand., 16, 159 (1962).
- 440. Ahrland, S. and Rawsthorne, J., Acta Chem. Scand., 24, 157 (1970).
- 441. Hawkins, C. J., Monsted, O. and Bjerrum, J., Acta Chem. Scand., 24, 1059 (1970).
- 442. Persson, H., Acta Chem. Scand., 24, 3739 (1970).
- 443. Trinderup, P. B., Acta Chem. Scand., A30, 47 (1976).
- 444. Hancock, R. D., Finkelstein, N. P. and Evers, A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 3747 (1972); 38 343 (1976).
- 445. Hancock, R. D., Inorg. Chem., 15, 995 (1976).
- 446. Ajayi, S. O. and Goddard, D. R., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1751 (1973).
- 447. Hartley, F. R., Searle, G. W., Alcock, R. M. and Rogers, D. E., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 469 (1977).
- 448. Kodama, M. and Kimura, E., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1473 (1977).
- 449. Aihara, M. and Misumi, S., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 46, 1674 (1973).
- 450. Bellomo, A., De Marco, D. and De Robertis, A., Talanta, 20, 1225 (1973).
- 451. Bjerrum, J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 2063 (1971).
- 452. Paulic, N., Simeon, V., Bernik, B., Svigir, B. and Fles, D., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 3463 (1971).
- 453. Senise, P. and Neves, E. F. D. A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1923 (1972).

- 454. Ciavatta, L. and Grimaldi, M., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 4, 312 (1970).
- 455. Pais, E. and Carvalho, R. A. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 1725 (1977).
- 456. Burger, K., Gaizer, F., Zay, I., Pékli, M. and Noszál, B., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 40, 725 (1978).
- 457. Schwarzenbach, G. and Anderegg, G., Helv. Chim. Acta, 40, 1773 (1957).
- 458. Irving, H. M. N. H. and Sharpe, K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 203 (1971).
- 459. Kappenstein, G. and Hugel, P., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 1821 (1974).
- 460. Dellien, I., Acta Chem. Scand., 27, 733 (1973); A31, 473 (1977).
- 461. Al-Niaimi, N. S., Wain, A. G. and McKay, H. A. C., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 977 (1970).
- 462. Rossotti, F. J. C. and Whewell, R., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1223, 1229 (1977).
- 463. Schulman, V. M., Kramaryova, T. V., Larionov, S. V. and Dubinskiy, V. I., in Proc. 10th I.C.C.C. (Ed.: Yamasaki, K.), p. 63 Chemical Society of Japan, Tokyo, 1967.
- 464. Tedesco, P. H. and Anon, M. C., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 2271 (1972).
- 465. Koul, M. K. and Dubey, K. P., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 2571 (1973).
- 466. Molina, M. and Tabak, S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 2985 (1972).
- 467. Nikolic, R. M. and Gal, I. J., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 162 (1972).
- 468. Nikolic, R. M. and Gal, I. J., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 985 (1974).
- 469. Zsigrai, I. J., Nikolic, R. M. and Gal, I. J., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 879 (1976).
- 470. Zsigrai, I. J., Gal, I. J. and Nikolic, R. M., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 549 (1978).
- 471. Mesmer, R. E., Palen, K. M. and Baes, C. F., Inorg. Chem., 12, 89 (1973).
- 472. Ferri, D., Acta Chem. Scand., 26, 733 (1972).
- 473. Olin, A. and Svanström, P., Acta Chem. Scand., A29, 849 (1975).
- 474. Ajayi, S. O., Olin, Å. and Svanström, P., Acta Chem. Scand., A33, 93, 97 (1979).
- 475. Granberg, M., Olin, Å. and Svanström, P., Acta Chem. Scand., A33, 561 (1979).
- 476. Mesmer, R. E., Polen, K. M. and Baes, C. F. Jr., Inorg. Chem., 12, 89 (1973).
- 477. Bottari, E., Liberti, A. and Rufolo, A., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 3, 201 (1969).
- 478. Grassino, S. L. and Hume, O. N., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 421 (1970).
- 479. Granberg, I. and Sjöberg, S., Acta Chem. Scand., A33, 531 (1979).
- 480. Manners, J. P., Moralle, K. G. and Williams, R. J. P., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33 2085 (1971).
- 481. Goeminne, A. M. and Eeckhant, Z., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 357 (1974).
- 482. Bottari, E. and Nicedomini, M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1897 (1972).
- 483. El-Hilaly, A. E. and El-Eraby, M. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 1533 (1976).
- 484. Coates, R. L. and Jones, M. M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39 677 (1977).
- 485. Tombeux, J. J., Goeminne, A. M. and Eeckhant, Z., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 1655 (1977).
- 486. Williams, D. R., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 790 (1972).
- 487. Harju, L., Talanta, 22, 1029 (1975).
- 488. Van Poucke, L. G., Talanta, 23, 161 (1976).
- 489. Bottari, E. and Severini, C., J. Coord. Chem., 8, 69 (1978).
- 490. Crevf, H. S. and Van Poucke, L. C., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 3837 (1973).
- 491. Österberg, R., in Proc. 3rd Symp. Coord. Chem. (Ed.: Beck, M. T.), p. 221, Vol. 1, Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest 1970.
- 492. Österberg, R. and Sjöberg, B., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 815 (1975).
- 493. Österberg, R., Europ. J. Biochem., 13, 493 (1970).

- 494. Österberg, R., in Metal Ions in Biological Systems (Ed.: Sigel, H.), p. 46, Vol. 3, Marcell Dekker, New York, 1974.
- 495. Österberg, R., Branegard, B., Ligaarden, R. and Sarkar, B., Bioinorg. Chem., 5, 149 (1975).
- 496. Österberg, R., in Essays Anal. Chem. (Ed.: Wönninem, E.) p. 103, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1977.
- 497. Irving, H., in Advances in Polarography (Ed.: Langmuir, I. S.) p. 42, Vol. 1, Pergamon Press, Oxford 1960.
- 498. Vlcek, A. A., in *Progress in Inorganic Chemistry* (Ed.: Cotton, F. A.) p. 211, Vol. 5, Interscience, New York, 1963.
- 499. Crow, D. R. and Westwood, J. V., Quart. Rev., 19, 57 (1965).
- 500. Bond, A. M., Coord. Chem. Rev., 6, 377 (1971).
- 501. Lingane, J. J., Chem. Rev., 29, 1 (1941).
- 502. DeFord, D. D. and Hume, D. N., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 73, 5321 (1951).
- 503. Borggaard, O. K., Acta Chem. Scand., 26, 393 (1972).
- 504. Jensen, J. B., Acta Chem. Scand., A29, 250 (1975).
- 505. Zanello, P., Cinquantini, A., DiBernando, D. and Magon, L., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 24, 131 (1977).
- 506. Zanello, P., Cinquantini, A., Mazzocchin, G. A. and Traverso, O., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 27, 157 (1978).
- 507. Frost, J. G., Lawson, M. B. and McPherson, W. G., Inorg. Chem., 15, 940 (1976).
- 508. Ajayi, S. O. and Goddard, D. R., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1751 (1973).
- 509. Kodama, M. and Kimura, E., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 2269 (1977).
- 510. Fujii, Y., Ueda, T. and Kodama, M., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 43, 409 (1970).
- 511. Murayama, T., and Tokayanagi, A. M., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 45, 3549 (1972).
- 512. Kodama, M., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 47, 1547 (1974).
- 513. Komatsu, M., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 47, 1636 (1974).
- 514. Rawat, R. C. and Gupta, C. M., Talanta, 19, 706 (1972).
- 515. Gaur, J. N. and Palrecha, M. M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 1378 (1970).
- 516. Saxena, R. S. and Chaturvedi, U. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 3597 (1971).
- 517. Saxena, R. S. and Chaturvedi, U. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 913 (1972); 34, 2967 (1972); 34, 3272 (1972).
- 518. Chang, S. C., Ma, J. K. H., Wang, J. T. and Li, N. C., J. Coord. Chem., 2, 31 (1972).
- 519. Senise, P. and Neves, E. F. A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1923 (1972).
- 520. Khurana, S. C., Chaturvedi, O. N. and Gupta, C. M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 1645 (1973).
- 521. Kapoor, R. C., Jailwall, J. K. and Kishan, J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 40, 155 (1978).
- 522. Kodama, M. and Takahashi, S., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44. 697 (1971).
- 523. Sestili, L. and Furlani, C., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 503 (1971).
- 524. Letkeman, P. and Westmore, J. B., Can. J. Chem., 50, 3821 (1972).
- 525. Matsuura, N., Umemoto, K., Takizawa, M. and Sasaki, Y., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 47, 1172 (1974).
- 526. Laitinen, H. A., Bailar, J. C., Holtzslaw, H. F. and Quagliono, J. V., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 70, 2999 (1948).
- 527. Tanaka, N., Ogino, K. and Sato, G., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 39, 366 (1966).
- 528. Podlaha, J. and Petrás, P., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 1963 (1970).

- 529. Tamamushi, R. and Tanaka, N., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 22, 227 (1949).
- 530. Ringbom, A. and Eriksson, L., Acta Chem. Scand., 87, 1105 (1953).
- 531. Tedesco, P. H., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 281 (1971).
- 532. Ma, J. K. H., Wang, J. T. and Li, N. C., J. Coord. Chem., 2, 281 (1973).
- 533. Tedesco, P. H. and De Rumi, V. B., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 969 (1971).
- 534. Tedesco, P. H. and De Rumi, V. B., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 3833 (1971).
- 535. Tedesco, P. H., De Rumi, V. B. and Quintana, J. A. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 3839 (1971).
- 536. Davies, C. W., Ion Association. Butterworths, London, 1962.
- 537. Beronius, P., Acta Chem. Scand., A29, 289 (1975).
- 538. Beronius, P., Acta Chem. Scand., A30, 115 (1976).
- 539. Tamamushi, R., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 48, 705 (1975).
- 540. Katayama, S., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 46, 106 (1973).
- 541. Yanane, M., Iwachido, T. and Toei, K., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44, 745 (1971).
- 542. Katayama, S. and Tamamushi, R., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 43, 2354 (1970).
- 543. Beronius, P. and Lindback, T., Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 423 (1978).
- 544. Beronius, P., Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 887 (1978).
- 545. Grimsrud, E. D. and Kratochvil, B., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 95, 4477 (1973).
- 546. Kabir-Ud-Din, Khan, A. A. and Beg, M. A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 468 (1974).
- 547. Saxena, R. S. and Sheelwant, S. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 1383 (1973).
- 548. Zmikic, A., Cvrtila, D., Pavlovic, D., Murati, I., Reynolds, W. and Asperger, S., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1284 (1973).
- 549. Veis, A. and Nawrot, C. F., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 3910 (1970).
- 550. Hara, R. and West, P., Anal. Chim. Acta, 11, 264 (1954).
- 551. Pungor, E. and Zapp, N. E., Acta Chim. Hung., 25, 133 (1960).
- 552. Ryabchikov, D. I. and Zarinsky, V. A., Talanta, 14, 133 (1967).
- 553. Katzin, L. J. and Gulyás, E., J. Phys. Chem. 64, 1739 (1960).
- 554. Beck, M. T., Csiszár, B. and Szarvas, P., Nature, 188, 846 (1960).
- 555. Frei, V., Coll., Chem. Comm., 27, 2450 (1962).
- 556. Nebbia, G., Annali di Chimica, 48, 695 (1958).
- 557. Nebbia, G. and Pizzoli, E. M., Bol. Sci. Far. Chim. Ind., 19, 28 (1961).
- 558. Nebbia, G., Pizzoli, E. M. and Farilli, M., Bol. Sci. Far. Chim. Ind., 19, 109 (1961).
- 559. Davankov, V. A., Ragozhin, S. V., Kurganov, A. A. and Zhuckova, L. Ya., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37 369 (1975).
- 560. Larsson, R. and Nunziata, G., Acta Chem. Scand., 26, 1971 (1972).
- 561. Petit-Ramel, M. M. and Blanc, C. M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1233 (1972); 34, 1241 (1972).
- 562. Petit-Ramel, M. M., Paris, M. and Blanc, C. M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1253 (1972).
- 563. Davankov, V. A. and Mitchell, D. R., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1012 (1972).
- 564. Petit-Ramel, M. M. and Paris, M. R., in *Analytical Chemistry* (Ed.: Wänninen, E.) p. 123, Pergamon Press 1977.
- 565. Penneman, R. A. and Jones, L. H., J. Chem. Phys., 24, 293 (1956).
- 566. Penneman, R. A. and Jones, L. H., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 20, 19 (1961).
- 567. Coleman, J. S., Petersen, J. Jr. and Penneman, R. A., Inorg. Chem., 4, 135 (1965).
- 568. Cooney, R. P. L. and Hall, J. R., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 28, 1675 (1966).

- 569. Fronaeus, S. and Larsson, R., Proc. 8th I.C.C.C., p. 383, Springer, Vienna, 1964.
- 570. Larsson, R. and Nunziata, G., Acta Chem. Scand., 26, 1503 (1972).
- 571. Arnett, E. M., Joris, L., Mitchell, E., Murty, T. S. S. R., Gorrie, T. M. and Schleyer, P. V. R., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 2365 (1970).
- 572. Delos, F., DeTar, D. F. and Novak, R. W., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 1361 (1970).
- 573. Rao, I. R., Proc. Roy. Soc., 127A, 279 (1930).
- 574. Delwaulle, M. L. and François, F., J. Chim. Phys., 46, 80 (1949).
- 575. Delwaulle, M. L., François, F., Delhaye-Buisset, M. B. and Delhaye, M., J. Phys. Radium, 15, 206 (1954).
- 576. Delwaulle, M. L., Compt. Rend., 224, 389 (1947).
- 577. Delwaulle, M. L., François, F. and Wiemann, J., Compt. Rend., 208, 1818 (1939).
- 578. Delwaulle, M. L., Bull. Soc. Chim. France, 1294 (1955).
- 579. Long, L. H. and Dollimore, D., J. Chem. Soc., 4457 (1954).
- 580. Goubeau, J., Richter, D. E. and Becher, J. J., Z. Anorg. Allgem. Chem., 278, 12 (1955).
- 581. Rolfe, J. A., Shappard, D. E. and Woodward, L. A., Trans. Farad. Soc., 50, 1275 (1954).
- 582. Yellin, W. and Plane, R. A., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 83, 2448 (1961).
- 583. Morris, D. F. D., Short, E. L. and Waters, D. N., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 25, 375 (1963).
- 584. Kechi, Z. and Markowski, J., Roczniki Chem., 36, 345 (1965).
- 585. Spiro, T. G., Inorg. Chem., 4, 731 (1965).
- 586. Keller, O. L. and Cheltham-Strode, A., Inorg. Chem., 5, 367 (1966).
- 587. Farrer, H. N., McGredy, M. M. and Tobias, R. S., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 87, 5019 (1965).
- 588. Nixon, J. and Plane, R. A., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 84, 4445 (1962).
- 589. Yellin, N. and Marcus, Y., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 1331 (1974).
- 590. Ammlung, R. L. and Brill, T. B., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 11, 201 (1974).
- 591. Macklin, J. W. and Plane, R. A., Inorg. Chem., 9, 821 (1970).
- 592. Hester, R. E. and Plane, R. A., J. Chem. Phys., 40, 411 (1964).
- 593. Hester, R. E., Plane, R. A. and Walrafen, J. E., J. Chem. Phys., 38, 249 (1963).
- 594. Maroni, V. A. and Spiro, T. G., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 89, 45 (1967).
- 595. Maroni, V. A. and Spiro, T. G., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 88, 1410 (1966).
- 596. Miller, J. T. and Irish, D. E., Can. J. Chem., 45, 147 (1967).
- 597. Sharma, S. K. and Reed, M. D., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 1971 (1972).
- 598. Riddell, J. D., Lockwood, D. J. and Irish, D. E., Can. J. Chem., 50, 2951 (1972).
- 599. Milne, J. B. and Moffett, D., Inorg. Chem., 13, 2750 (1974); 14, 1077 (1975).
- 600. Clarke, J. H. R., Hartley, P. J. and Kuroda, Y., Inorg. Chem., 11, 29 (1972).
- 601. Barner, J. H., Bjerrum, N. J. and Smith, G. P., Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 837 (1978).
- 602. Maya, L., Inorg. Chem., 15, 2179 (1976).
- 603. Oertel, R. P., Inorg. Chem., 11, 544 (1972).
- 604. Bukietynska, K., Mondry, A. and Osmeda, E., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 483 (1977).
- 605. Sakanoue, M. and Nakatani, M., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 45, 3429 (1972).
- 606. Yoneda, H., Muto, M., Baba, T. and Miura, T., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44, 689 (1971).
- 607. Mori, I., Shinogi, M., Falk, E. and Kiso, Y., Talanta, 19, 299 (1972).
- 608. Wallace, R. M., J. Phys. Chem., 71, 1271 (1967).
- 609. Koryta, J., in *Progress in Polarography* (Ed.: Zuman, P.), p. 291, Vol. 1, Interscience, New York, 1962.
- 610. Tanaka, N. and Yamada, Y., Z. Anal. Chem., 224, 117 (1967).
- 611. Breslow, R. and Chu, W., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 95, 411 (1973).

- 612. Norman, R. O. C., Proc. Chem. Soc., 151 (1958).
- 613. Gil-Av, E. and Herling, J., J. Phys. Chem., 66, 1208 (1962).
- 614. Cvetanovic, R. J., Duncan, F. J., Falconer, W. E. and Irwin, R. S., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 87, 1827 (1965).
- 615. Falconer, W. E. and Cvetanovic, R. J., J. Chromatog., 27, 20 (1967).
- 616. Liao, H. L. and Martine, D. E., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 96, 2058 (1974).
- 617. Waldron, J. T. and Snyder, W. H., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 95, 5491 (1973).
- 618. Lengyel, S., Ann. Univ. Sci. Budapest, Rolando Eötvös Nominatae, Ser. Chim., 1, 96 (1959).
- 619. Beck, M. T., Ph. D., Thesis, Szeged, Hungary, 1957.
- 620. Jedinakova, V. and Celada, J., Sci. Papers Inst. Chem. Techn. Prague, 137, 79 (1966).
- 621. Watanabe, N. and Takamoto, S., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 48, 2211 (1975).
- 622. Katz, S., Uhrmacher, J. A. and Shinaberry, R. G., J. Coord. Chem., 7, 149 (1978).
- 623. Katz, S., Donovan, M. P. and Roberson, L. C., J. Phys. Chem., 79, 1930 (1975).
- 624. Bailey, R. A., Balko, E. N. and Lesniak, T., Inorg. Chem., 13, 1527 (1974).
- 625. Brittain, H. G. and Richardson, F. S., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 2253 (1976).
- 626. Lévay, B., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 78, 305 (1972).
- 627. Lévay, B., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 78, 453 (1972).
- 628. Knebel, W. J. and Angelici, R. J., Inorg. Chem., 13, 632 (1974).
- 629. Huchital, D. H. and Martell, A. E., Inorg. Chem., 13, 2966 (1974).

Chapter 5

Evaluation of experimental data

By the evaluation of the experimental data, we mean the series of calculations whereby various mathematical and computational methods are used to determine the compositions and stability constants of the complexes exerting significant effects on the measured data. We shall not deal in this chapter with evaluation of the constants from chemical aspects; certain questions relating to this will be discussed in the next chapter.

Before giving an account of the details of the numerical evaluation, we must define when the effect exerted on the experimental data by the formation of some complex can be regarded as significant. It is obvious that this is not merely dependent on the maximum mole fraction of the species in question; it also depends on how sensitively the experimental data vary in response to a change in the mole fraction. For instance, if one of the complexes is formed in very low concentration because of the various disproportionation reactions (discussed in Section 3.3), but if its molar absorbance or its catalytic effect on some indicator reaction is several orders of magnitude higher than those of the other complexes, then its formation constant may possibly be determined accurately in spite of the low concentration. At the same time, if the spectrum of one of the complexes coincides with the average of the spectra of the complexes containing one fewer and one more ligand, for example, then it is not certain that the complex in question can be detected at all, even if it is formed in appreciable concentration. As a consequence of stepwise complex formation, the electronic structure of the metal ion also varies in a 'stepwise' manner, and this possibility cannot simply be ignored if one of the complexes cannot be detected spectrophotometrically.

If a system H–L–Me is studied in a ligand excess with a pH-potentiometric method, the effect of reaction

$MeLH_{-1} + L \rightleftharpoons MeL_{2}H_{-1}$

occurring in the pH range higher than the pK value of the ligand, will be scarcely detectable pH-metrically, even if other equilibrium processes need not be considered. The reason is that the coordination of L in this pH range is not accompanied by the release of hydrogen ion, so that the above equilibrium influences the experimental data only indirectly and to a very slight extent. In contrast, if a complex is formed at $pH \sim 7$, for instance, and the protonation equilibria of the ligand do not display a significant buffer effect in this range, there will be a well-measurable change in the pH of the solution even if complex formation proceeds to only a very slight extent.

To summarize, it may be stated that the effect of a complex is significant if its formation causes the directly measured data to change to an essentially larger extent than (3-10-fold) the limit of experimental error.

The aim of equilibrium studies is to determine the compositions and stability constants of the species formed in appreciable concentration in the system in question. However, as demonstrated by the earlier examples, the compositions and stabilities of those complexes that significantly influence the measured data can be calculated via the methods of numerical analysis. The two series of complexes defined as above do not always coincide. In such cases it is necessary to apply different experimental methods simultaneously. We are much more likely to obtain correct results in this way than if we attempt to refine the mathematical and computational aspects of the evaluation.

Numerous authors have dealt with this topic in the past 20 years [1-20], and the results have been discussed in several reviews [21-23]. A number of general programs are available [24-30], by means of which practically any type of equilibrium chemical measurement series can be evaluated. In this chapter, therefore, we shall merely touch on the various computational methods and programs. We shall concentrate mainly on questions concerning the choice of the appropriate equilibrium model, the strategy of the evaluation, and the correlations between the experimental and the evaluation methods, and we shall also discuss the possibilities of error if the general methods and programs are not applied with sufficient circumspection.

5.1 Determination of compositions of complexes formed

5.1.1 Experimental considerations

During the discussion of the individual experimental methods in Chapter 4, it emerged that a reliable equilibrium model and constant series is to be expected only if the aspects relating to the later evaluation are already taken into consideration in the course of the planning of the experiments. Moreover, the experimental technique, the measurement method, the concentration ranges, etc. should also be chosen carefully for reliable numerical evaluation of the direct experimental data. At the same time, it is obvious that optimization of the experiment is possible only if the compositions and stability constants of the complexes formed are already known, i.e. when no further experimental work is required. This contradiction can be resolved by planning the preliminary experiments on the basis of previously known data on similar systems, or other chemical considerations. A more exact series of experiments can be planned after evaluation of the preliminary results and, if necessary, the entire procedure can then be repeated.

It should be noted that not even this procedure leads to unambigous results in all cases in the study of relatively complicated equilibrium systems. It frequently happens that the effect of the formation of some complex is sufficiently large to disturb the evaluation, but still too small for the composition of the complex to be identified exactly. In such cases it is necessary to extend the range of the ratios of the total concentrations, so that the composition and stability of the complex concerned can be determined. As a consequence of the change in the concentration ratios, however, new complexes may appear in the system, the compositions of these not being identifiable exactly. Variation of the concentrations is further limited by the fact that the ionic strength must be kept constant, and precipitate formation may mean still another limitation.

In a tabulation of the formation constants in these cases it is advisable to give not only the ionic strength, the temperature and the method of measurement, but also the range of total concentrations of the components in which the data in question were determined. For the sake of completeness, it should be noted that, through variation of the total concentrations, it is not possible to regulate the concentrations of all complexes and their effects on the experimental data. For instance, if the effect of the complex MeL in a complex formation process is insignificant because the reaction

$2MeL \rightleftharpoons Me + MeL_2$

has a large equilibrium constant, then the maximum partial mole fraction of MeL and its effect on the experimental data cannot be increased by any means. Regulation of the maximum partial mole fractions by varying the total concentrations is generally possible only if protonated, mixed hydroxo, or polynuclear complexes are formed.

5.1.2 Application of auxiliary functions

The data of the auxiliary functions are calculated from the directly measured experimental data, in order to obtain correlations and graphs which illustrate the equilibrium conditions and the compositions and stabilities of the complexes formed more descriptively than the direct experimental data. Calculation of the auxiliary functions therefore essentially means function transformation.

Numerous auxiliary functions were presented in the course of the discussion of the experimental methods in Chapter 4, and the possibilities and limitations of their application were analysed (see Figs 4.5, 4.6, 4.7, 4.8, 4.9, 4.10, 4.16, 4.17, 4.19, 4.40 and 4.41). It was necessary to deal with the auxiliary functions presented in the Figures in the previous chapter since the choice of the experimental conditions was automatically determined by the auxiliary functions. In the present section, therefore, we shall not give any further account of the application of the previously discussed functions. However, we shall deal in detail with the formation function that can be determined via various experimental methods, and we shall present some other function transformations, serving primarily for determination of the compositions of the complexes formed.

5.1.2.1 Application of the formation function

The formation function discussed in Section 3.5 is of fundamental importance as concerns the choice of the appropriate chemical model. The basis of application is the comparison of the shapes of the curves calculated from the experimental data and those to be expected theoretically.

It was demonstrated earlier that, in the event of the formation of mononuclear complexes with N = 1 or N = 2, the curves are symmetrical about their mid-point. It was seen that the shape of a curve with N = 1 is independent of the value of the formation constant; the formation constant determines merely the position occupied by the curve on the $-\log [L]$ scale. The value of the formation constant can be calculated from any point of the curve, via a direct formula

$$\beta_1 = \frac{\bar{n}}{(1-\bar{n})\left[L\right]}.$$
(5.1)

The fact that the β_1 values calculated from the various points agree within the limits of experimental error is convincing evidence that only a single complex, with composition MeL, is formed in the system.

In contrast, if it is found that the points calculated from the experimental data do not lie on the curve to be expected theoretically, this indicates that, besides the formation of ML, further equilibrium processes must be taken into consideration in the system.

Figure 5.1, based on the studies by Gorton and Jameson [31], shows the formation curve obtained in the system Mg²⁺–L- β -(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)alanine.

The diagram reveals that in the interval $\bar{n} \sim 0.2$ -0.8 the measured points can be described well by assuming formation of the complex MeL only. At $-\log[L] > 5.0$ (at lower pH values), however, the difference is already appre-

5.1 Determination of compositions of complexes formed



Fig. 5.1. Formation curve of the Mg^{2+} -DOPA (L- β -(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)alanine) system. The differences between the experimental data and the calculated curve are indicative of formation of the protonated complex (a) and coordination of the second ligand (b) [31]

(Reproduced with permission from J. Chem. Soc., 310 (1972))

ciable, while at high ligand concentrations the points of the curve rise above $\bar{n}=1$. The former difference points to the formation of a protonated complex, MeLH, and the latter difference to the formation of a bis complex, MeL₂. Further calculations by Gorton and Jameson lent support to the assumptions made from the shape of the curve, viz. that the complexes MeLH, MeL and MeL₂ are formed.

The formation curve for a mononuclear complex with N=2 is also symmetrical about the mid-point. The shape of the curve is determined by the quotient of the stepwise constants, and its position on the $-\log[L]$ scale by the value of $\log \beta_2$. Recognition of this was used in the 1950's as the basis of the correction term [32], projection strip [33] and curve-fitting [34] methods. The importance of these methods has naturally declined during the past decades. With a view to selecting the appropriate model, however, it is still advisable to utilize graphical curve-fitting. The essence of this is that the theoretical curves for $\log \beta_2 = 0$ and various ratios K_1/K_2 are plotted on transparent paper. If the set of curves is placed over the experimentally determined plots of the points, it can be visually observed which interval of the points corresponds to the theoretically expected curve shape, and in which interval deviates from that.

17*

In an interval where there is a difference, the occurrence of processes other than stepwise complex formation must also be considered. Currently, when numerical methods based on the use of computers have gained ground so rapidly, specialists familiar with equilibrium chemical analysis may consider graphical curve-fitting to be outdated and unnecessary. In spite of this, we regard it as essential to emphasize the continuing importance and significance of graphical curve-fitting. Our primary reason for this is the fact that, even during the past 10 years, many 'formation curves' have been reported which reveal at first glance that the conditions of stepwise mononuclear complex formation are not satisfied in the given system.

As an example, in Fig. 5.2 we present just one typical unrealistic set of 'formation curves' [35]. The surprisingly large number of similar cases [36–52] confirms that graphical curve-fitting is still very advisable for selection of the appropriate chemical model!

In connection with the examples referred to, attention must be drawn to the fact that the formation curves are of certain diagnostic value when N=1 and N=2. This means that the data of the curves are always calculated with the





1 — Fe(III) — meso-tartaric acid; 2 — Fe(III) — dl-tartaric acid; 3 — La(III) meso-tartaric acid; 4 — La(III) — dl-tartaric acid; 5 — Nd(III) — meso-tartaric acid; 6 — Nd(III) — dl-tartaric acid

(Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1977 (1972))

5.1 Determination of compositions of complexes formed

assumption that only stepwise mononuclear complex formation occurs in the system. This assumption is confirmed if the shape of the curve is regular.

However, if the curves obtained are not regular, then they lose their chemical meaning, for the starting conditions are not satisfied in the system. An irregularly-shaped 'formation curve' is thus not suitable for further evaluation, as a real chemical meaning can not be assigned to the quantities given on the axes. We have already seen in Section 3.6 that the shapes of the distribution curves and the closely connected formation curves are functions only of the quotients K_i/K_{i+1} . When N > 2, however, the shape of a curve is influenced by several of these quotients; accordingly, the correctness of the assumptions made prior to the calculations can not be checked so simply as in the cases N=1and N = 2. If the K_i/K_{i+1} data characterizing the individual steps of the complex formation process each have a value of about $10^3 - 10^4$, then the curve can be handled in practice as the superposition of N formation curves relating to single-step processes. The smaller the values of K_i/K_{i+1} , the greater the overlap between the individual steps. The steepest formation curve is obtained for systems with $K_i/K_{i+1} = 0$. The formation curves for systems with $K_i/K_{i+1} = 0$ are defined by

$$\bar{n} = \frac{N\beta_N[L]^N}{1+\beta_N[L]^N}.$$
(5.2)

Analysis of this equation readily yields that the value $[L] = 1/\sqrt[n]{\beta_N}$ is associated with the point $\bar{n} = N/2$, and the maximum slope characteristic of the mid-point is $d\bar{n}/d(-\log [L]_{\bar{n}=N/2} = 2.303(N/2)^2$. If the maximum slope is less than this, then, besides formation of the complex MeL_N, the formation of complexes with a lower coordination number must also be taken into account. A maximum slope greater than the above value clearly reflects that the initial experimental or calculation conditions do not hold. Agreement with the maximum slope to be expected theoretically is evidence of the exclusive formation of MeL_N. To exemplify this latter case, Fig. 5.3 depicts the formation curve obtained by Persson [53] in a pH-metric study of the Ni²⁺-CN⁻ system. We have supplemented the curve with the straight line with the theoretically expected maximum slope. The correspondence of the straight line and the slope of the experimental points relating to $\bar{n}=2$ illustratively shows that only the tetracyanonickel(II) complex is formed in significant concentration in this system.

It may be seen in Fig. 5.3 that Persson carried out his experiments at various metal ion concentrations. The agreement between the curves clearly demonstrates that no polynuclear complexes are formed in the system. It is rather surprising that confirmation of the assumption of the stepwise formation of mononuclear complexes on the basis of the coincidence of the formation curves



Fig. 5.3. pH-metrically obtained formation curve of Ni(II)–CN⁻ system [53], calculated from data found in solutions with various compositions. The dashed line indicates the maximum slope calculated for the exclusive formation of Ni(CN)₄²⁻

(Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand. A28, 885 (1974))

measured at various metal ion concentrations has become general practice in relatively few laboratories.

There are fundamentally two possible reasons for a systematic difference between the formation curves calculated at various total metal ion and total ligand concentrations:

(1) The formation of protonated or mixed hydroxo complexes.

(2) The formation of polynuclear complexes.

If both processes occur simultaneously, then the systems are classified in group (1).

Case (1) in the sense of the classification discussed in Section 3.6 means that the system is not additive, i.e. the correlations (3.150) used to calculate the data of the formation curves are not valid. In such cases the calculated 'formation curves' have no chemical meaning; the individual \bar{n} vs. log [L] points are merely computational artefacts. The shapes of the calculated curves in systems of this type also depend on the total metal ion concentration and the total ligand concentration. Nevertheless, calculation of the 'formation curves' is not always a waste of time. As an example, Fig. 5.4 shows 'formation curves' calculated from the pH-metric titration curves for the Cu^{2+} -aspartic acid system. The agreement for the upper sections of the curves clearly demonstrates that interfering processes need be considered only below $\bar{n} \sim 1.5$, i.e. in the range of formation of CuL.

Investigations on this system [54, 55] have shown that, in accordance with Fig. 5.4, only the protonated complex CuLH is formed besides CuL and CuL₂.



Fig. 5.4. Calculated 'formation curves' for the Cu²⁺-aspartic acid system at a total ligand concentration of 0.01 M and various total metal ion concentrations.
Symbols: □-□-□ T_{Me}=0.001 M; •-•-• T_{Me}=0.002 M; △-△-△ T_{Me}=0.003 M; x-x-x T_{Me}=0.005 M; ○-○-○ T_{Me}=0.010 M

It should be mentioned that Corrie *et al.* [56] developed a complete system of model selection on the basis of the 'apparent formation curves' calculated for systems of type (1), as exemplified in Fig. 5.4. The method is primarily based on the observations and experience acquired by the authors in calculations on a large number of systems; the theoretical basis of the method is that of $\bar{n} -\log[L]$ curves being coincident for mononuclearity; any spread observed is caused by protonated, hydroxy or polynuclear species.

In case (2), i.e. if only polynuclear complexes are formed, but not protonated or hydroxo complexes, the system is additive, and the conditions used for calculation of the curves are valid. In this case, although the shape of the formation curve depends on the total metal ion concentration, at a given total metal ion concentration it is independent of the total concentration of the ligand. In this case the data of the real formation curve are calculated, and conclusions as to the compositions of the predominant polynuclear complexes may be drawn from the dependence of the shapes and positions of the formation curves on the total concentration of the metal ion.

Numerous authors have dealt with the correlations between the shapes of the formation curves for equilibrium systems involving polynuclear complexes and the compositions of the predominant complexes. Work of pioneering importance on the hydrolysis of metal ions was performed by Sillén [57, 58], who developed the 'core + links' theory through analysis of the curves.

According to this theory, not every possible complex Me_qL_p is formed in the polynuclear systems, but only those with the general composition $Me_s(L_tMe)_n$ and/or $L_r(L_tMe)_n$. The values of r, s and t are constant in a given system. s and r are the numbers of metal ions and ligands, respectively, in the 'core', while t is the numerical ratio of ligands to metal ions in the 'link'. The theory does not state that all complexes satisfying the above general formula must be formed; it merely excludes the possibility of formation of complexes whose compositions do not satisfy the formula.

Although the theory is less generally valid than originally assumed [59], it has been found to hold for many systems. As concerns analysis of the experimentally obtained formation curves, it must be emphasized that, when the condition is satisfied, the formation curves measured at various total metal ion concentrations are parallel, and the log [L] data relating to the same \bar{n} value are proportional to the logarithm of the quotient of the total metal ion concentrations. The proportionality factor is t, i.e.

$$\frac{\Delta \log [L]}{\Delta \log T_{\rm Me}} = t.$$
(5.3)

Figure 5.5 shows the parallel formation curves found for the Cd(II)–3--mercapto-1,2-propanediol system by De Brabander and Van Poucke [60]. Analysis of the curves yielded a value of 1.66 = 5/3 for t, i.e. the system can be described by the assumption of the formation of complexes Cd(L_{5/3}Cd)₃ = Cd₄L₅, Cd(L_{5/3}Cd)₆ = Cd₇L₁₀, etc.

The formation curves for polynuclear equilibrium systems frequently intersect one another at a single point. A fair number of authors have dealt with the interpretation of the phenomenon, and with the discovery of correlations between the position of the point of intersection and the compositions of the predominant complexes [61–65]. Special attention should be paid to the work by Van Poucke and De Brabander, who discuss separately the real and the apparent intersection points and the possibilities of applying these to determine the composition. The reader is referred to the original publications for the details of their considerations [64, 65]. As concerns their results, we shall mention only that a point of intersection is always to be found in the formation curves if, besides the series of parent complexes MeL, ..., MeL_N, only a single

5.1 Determination of compositions of complexes formed



Fig. 5.5. Formation curves obtained at various total metal ion concentrations in the Cd²⁺-3-mercapto-1,2-propanediol system [60]
 (Reproduced with permission from J. Coord. Chem., 3, 301 (1974))

complex Me_qL_p (and/or its polymer(s)) is formed; the value of \bar{n} relating to the point of intersection is equivalent to the quotient q/p (assuming that q/p < N).

Figure 5.6 illustrates formation curves found for the Zn(II)-thiolactic acid system [66]. The value of \bar{n} relating to the point of intersection of the curves is 1.3; accordingly, it could be assumed that, besides the mononuclear complexes, a polynuclear complex of composition Zn_3L_4 (q/p = 1.33) is formed in major concentration. Formation of the complex Zn_2L_2 (q/p = 1) was also assumed, to explain the slight deviation from the point of intersection to be expected theoretically. In accordance with the conclusions drawn from the shape of the curve and from the position of the point of intersection, the experimental data could be described best by the assumption that the complexes ZnL, ZnL_2 , Zn_2L_2 and Zn_3L_4 are formed. The continuous lines in Fig. 5.6 denote the theoretical curves corresponding to the best fitting; a systematic difference can not be observed anywhere within the set of curves.

In spite of the deep theoretical and experimental analysis of the formation processes of polynuclear complexes, selection of the appropriate model encounters substantially greater difficulties than in the case of the stepwise formation of mononuclear complexes. Theoretical and experimental work of fundamental importance was carried out on polynuclear equilibrium systems by Sillén, who in 1964 made the following remark [67]: "The more I work with polyions, the more I think we must be cautious with claims to have proved the existence of any particular species." This is still true more than 20 years later.

253

5.1.2.2 Application of other auxiliary functions

Similarly to the formation function, the other auxiliary functions are obtained by assuming the compositions of the complexes formed; through appropriate transformation and analysis of the correlations describing the system, it is then established what type of function must be obtained following the function transformation if the condition holds. In the event of the agreement of the theoretically expected function shape and the points calculated from the experimental data, the starting condition is considered proved. Even this general description suggests that there is an extremely large number of possibilities for function transformations of this type. We shall not attempt to survey the complete system of these, therefore, but merely present a few examples.

Although the aminopolycarboxylates comprise a very small proportion of the total number of ligands, their complexes are of such outstanding practical and analytical chemical importance that they deserve special attention. The concept of the 'apparent stability constant' [68], well known in analytical chemistry was introduced to characterize the complexes of the aminopolycarboxylates, and on this basis Ringbom and Harju [69, 70] developed a general method for determination of the compositions of the complexes formed. Naturally, the method is also suitable for the study of complexes of other polyfunctional ligands.

The aminopolycarboxylates primarily form 1:1 complexes with the various metal ions. However, the equilibrium conditions are complicated by the fact



Fig. 5.6. Formation curves obtained at various total metal ion concentrations in the Zn²⁺-thiolactic acid system [66] (Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 799 (1975))

that all three species involved in the equilibrium

may additionally take part in various side-reactions. Thus, depending on the conditions, the associations H_jL , MeH_iL , $MeL(OH)_k$ and $Me(OH)_n$ may be formed too, for example.

The effects of the side-reactions are taken into account in terms of the quantities [L'], [M'] and [MeL'], which are the sums of the equilibrium concentrations of L, Me and MeL and the concentrations of the other associations formed in the side-reactions

$$[L'] = [L] + \sum [H_{j}L]$$

$$[Me'] = [Me] + \sum [Me(OH)_{n}]$$

$$[MeL'] = [MeL] + \sum [MeH_{i}L] + \sum [MeL(OH)_{n}]$$

The constants defined by L', Me' and MeL' are termed 'apparent stability constants'. It is obvious that the value of the apparent stability constant depends on the pH, for the pH governs the concentration distribution within all three series of species.

On this basis, the following correlation arises between the apparent stability constant and the formation constant for the process $Me + L \rightleftharpoons MeL$

$$K_{\rm MeL}^{\rm Me',L'} = K_{\rm MeL}^{\rm Me,L} \cdot \frac{\alpha_{\rm MeL}}{\alpha_{\rm L} \alpha_{\rm Me}}$$
(5.4)

where $\alpha_{MeL} = [MeL]/[MeL']$, $\alpha_L = [L]/[L']$ and $\alpha_{Me} = [Me]/[Me']$.

Through simultaneous measurement of the pH and the equilibrium concentration of the metal ion, there is also a possibility for calculation of the equilibrium constant defined by the following correlation

$$K_{\text{MeL}'}^{\text{Me,L}} = \frac{[\text{MeL}']}{[\text{Me}][\text{L}]} = \frac{[\text{MeL}] + \sum [\text{MeH}_i\text{L}] + \sum [\text{MeL}(\text{OH})_k]}{[\text{Me}][\text{L}]}.$$
 (5.5)

If the logarithm of the constant is plotted as a function of the pH, the slope of the curve can be used to draw conclusions on the numbers of protons bound in the complexes formed in the various pH intervals.

Figure 5.7 depicts the results of the calculations of Ringbom and Harju [70] based on the data of Österberg [71]. The tangents denoted by dashed lines permit the finding that complexes of composition MeH₂L, MeHL, MeL and MeL(OH) are formed in the Cu²⁺-O-phosphorylserylglutamic acid system. The original publications [69, 70] give further details of the composition determination, based on the pH-dependence of the other variously defined and measured 'apparent' constants.



Fig. 5.7. The function $\log K_{(CuL)'} = f(pH)$ for the Cu²⁺-O-phosphorylserylglutamic acid system, calculated on the basis of pH and p[Cu] measurements [71] (Reproduced with permission from *Anal. Chim. Acta*, **59**, 33 (1972))



Fig. 5.8. Variants of the formation curve of the Cu²⁺-threonine system, linearized in accordance with Eq. (5.6) [72]

Many of the other auxiliary functions arise from further transformation of the formation function. When N=2, for instance, there is a possibility for (among others) the following transformation

$$1 = \frac{\beta_1}{\frac{\bar{n}}{(1-\bar{n})[L]}} + \frac{\beta_2}{\frac{\bar{n}}{(2-\bar{n})[L]^2}}.$$
 (5.6)

According to this equation, the straight lines connecting the related points $\bar{n}/(1-\bar{n})[L]$ and $\bar{n}/(2-\bar{n})[L]^2$ on the abscissa and the ordinate intersect one another at one point, and the coordinates of the point of intersection are given by the values of β_1 and β_2 .

Figure 5.8 shows the diagram obtained by transformation of the formation curve for the Cu^{2+} -threenine system in accordance with Eq. (5.6) [72]. The diagram reveals that the straight lines really do intersect at one point, i.e. only the complexes CuL and CuL₂ are formed in the system.

The work of Dunsmore and Midgley [73] can essentially be regarded as a further development of transformations of this type; by means of a computer, they performed a transformation which yields a straight line only if the complex MeLH is formed besides MeL and MeL₂, and they gave the formation constant of this correctly (Fig. 5.9).

When two species of unknown composition are formed simultaneously, then a correlation similar to Eq. (5.6), but not always linear, can be derived between



Fig. 5.9. Functions $y = \beta_{MeL} \cdot x + \beta_{MeL_2}$ calculated at various values $\beta_H = [MeLH]/[Me]$ [HL] [73]. $\triangle - \beta_H = 50$; $\nabla - \beta_H = 150$; $\bigcirc - \beta_H = 200$; $\Box - \beta_H = 250$; $\Diamond - \beta_H = 300$. (Reproduced with permission from *Anal. Chim. Acta*, 67, 341 (1973))

5 Evaluation of experimental data



 Fig. 5.10. Functions K₁=f(K_{3c}) calculated on the basis of a pH-metric study of the Cu²⁺-glycylglycylhistidine system [74]. K₁=[MeLH]/[Me][LH]; K_{3c}=[MeLH₋₂] [H]³/[MeLH]
 (Reproduced with permission from Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 47, 1437 (1974))

the formation constants of the species with the assumed compositions. If the numerical values of the constants are plotted as a function of one another, the plots calculated from the various experimental points intersect at one point if the assumption relating to the compositions is correct. Figure 5.10, based on the studies by Aiba *et al.* [74], shows such a plot for the constants of the processes

Me+LH≓MeLH

$$K_1 = \frac{[MeLH]}{[Me][LH]}$$

and

$$MeLH \rightleftharpoons MeLH_{-2} + 3H^+$$

$$K_{3c} = \frac{[\text{MeLH}_{-2}][\text{H}]}{[\text{MeLH}]}$$

in the Cu²⁺-glycylglycylhistidine system.

It can be seen that the $K_1 = f(K_{3c})$ curves calculated from the various points of the pH-metric titration curves intersect at one point. This is clear-cut evidence

258

that only the complexes CuLH and CuLH₋₂ are formed in appreciable concentration in the given pH-range. The dissociation of the three protons is not a successive process, but proceeds in one step during structural rearrangement of the complex.

It must be noted that the methods illustrated in Figs 5.7–5.10 were originally proposed for the calculation of formation constants. If the recent development of computer methods is taken into account, however, these and similar graphical methods with an optionally wide range of application could be used advantageously to establish primarily the compositions of the complexes formed and to calculate the starting data for the general programs.

On the basis of a photometric study of the polymerization of complexes and of the formation of polynuclear complexes, Klausen and Langmyhr [75] developed a general method for the determination of composition. This method is essentially a further-developed variant of the 'straight line' method of Asmus [76], which has recently been utilized in its original or in a slightly modified form [77, 78] and has been developed still further [79]. The basis of the method



Fig. 5.11. Auxiliary function serving for determination of the degree of polymerization of the complex $(CuLH_{-1})_n$ formed in the Cu(II)-histidylglycine system. The slope of the function gives the value of n (=2) [80]

(Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 1097 (1975))

is that the function transformation gives a straight line only if the composition is correctly assumed, or the function transformation performed gives a straight line with slope equal to the degree of polymerization [80] (see Fig. 5.11).

5.1.3 Direct methods

The fundamental difference between the direct methods and those based on auxiliary functions is that the number and compositions of the species formed in significant concentration are determined by starting from the general correlations describing equilibrium systems, without any preliminary conditions.

In the study of equilibrium systems by means of photometry (or any other additive method), the measured quantity is a linear combination of the concentrations of the individual species, i.e.

$$E_{k,j} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \varepsilon_{ij} [\mathbf{A}_i]_k \tag{5.7}$$

where $E_{k,j}$ is the absorbance in the kth solution at the *j*th wavelength, $\varepsilon_{i,j}$ is the molar absorbance of the *i*th species at the *j*th wavelength, and $[A_i]_k$ is the concentration of the *i*th species in the kth solution,

During the 1960's, several authors [81–84] pointed out that the number of species formed in the system is equal to the rank of the matrix formed from the elements $E_{k,j}$. This principle began to find widespread application for the determination of the number of species formed following the publication by Coleman *et al.* [85] of a simplified, graphical method that could readily be understood by research workers not familiar with matrix algebra.

The essence of the simplification is that every determinant with a dimension one larger than the number of absorbing species must be zero. For instance, when two species are formed, the value of each determinant

$$\begin{array}{cccc} E_{11} & E_{12} & E_{13} \\ E_{21} & E_{22} & E_{23} \\ E_{31} & E_{32} & E_{33} \end{array}$$

must be zero. It follows that the value of the determinant

260

is also zero. Thus, if the data pairs E_{21}/E_{11} and E_{31}/E_{11} , E_{22}/E_{12} and E_{32}/E_{12} , and E_{23}/E_{13} and E_{33}/E_{13} are plotted in the x vs. y coordinate system, a straight line passing through the origin is obtained. It can readily be seen that the data pairs E_{2i}/E_{1i} and E_{3i}/E_{1i} obtained at any other solution composition also lie on this straight line. Accordingly, if three different wavelengths are chosen, the absorbances measured at two of the wavelengths are divided by the absorbance measured at the third wavelength, and the quotients are plotted versus one another, then the points will lie on a straight line if two species are formed. Coleman et al. derived essentially similar correlations to demonstrate the formation of three, four, etc. species,

As illustrations of the method, Fig. 5.12 depicts spectra recorded at various solution compositions in the Ni²⁺-CN⁻ system [86], while Fig. 5.13 shows the straight lines obtained with the outlined method.

Figure 5.13 clearly reveals that the absorbance quotients at the various wavelengths describe straight lines as functions of one another, i.e. only two species are simultaneously present (cf. Fig. 5.3).

In fact, the presence of two absorbing species is to be expected from the fact that the spectra pass through an isosbestic point. If more than two species are present simultaneously, an isosbestic point is observed only in special cases. Through extension of the given method, however, the presence of several species can be demonstrated, and the number of complexes formed can be determined.

It should be mentioned that a number of authors have dealt with the diagnostic value of the isosbestic point [87-89]; indeed, a sharp dispute concerning the significance of the isosbestic point emerged in the literature [90, 91] as a consequence of misunderstandings relating to the microconstants.

Even without a detailed account of the relevant literature, it is clear that the isosbestic point itself is not decisive evidence that only two absorbing species





18 Beck-Nagypál

5 Evaluation of experimental data



Fig. 5.13. Straight lines calculated from the spectra of the Ni²⁺-CN⁻ system, confirming the formation of two light-absorbing ionic species: Ni(CN)²⁻₄ and Ni(CN)³⁻₅ [85] (Reproduced with permission from *Inorg. Chem.*, 9, 1015 (1970))

are present in the given system, but it is natural that this obvious assumption is the first step of the evaluation if an isosbestic point is observed. However, the assumption can be regarded as confirmed only if it is supported by Coleman graphical analysis or matrix rank analysis extending to the entire wavelength interval. At the same time, it may occur that the spectra do not intersect one another, so that an isosbestic point does not result even though two species are formed.

It was pointed out by Vadasdi [92] that, if the total concentrations are interpreted as linear combinations of the concentrations of the individual species, the number of species formed can also be calculated from potentiometric data through the use of matrix rank analysis. He illustrated the applications of the method on the example of two-component systems. Use of the method necessitates a knowledge of the total and the equilibrium concentrations of both components. (Section 3.2, dealing with transformation of the composition matrix, clearly demonstrates that, besides the total concentrations, it is sufficient to know the equilibrium concentrations of any two species, and not only those of the components.)

The essence of the method is that the number of species participating in the equilibrium is given by the rank of the matrix of any one total concentration defined at several different, but fixed equilibrium concentrations of one of the components (a higher number of concentrations than the number of species formed), and at the several related, but similarly fixed equilibrium concentrations of the other component. The method has not become as widespread as might be expected from its potentialities. However, an increasing number of authors [93–96] have begun to study, interpret and utilize the method originally proposed by Hedström [97] and McKay [98] for determination of the equilibrium concentrations of each of the components. Accordingly, extension of the utilization of the Vadasdi method is to be expected, together with detailed analyses of the possibilities of its application and its limitations.

5.2 Computer evaluation of equilibrium measurement data

In our discussion of computer-based methods of evaluation, it is assumed that the reader is familiar with the various methods of numerical analysis for the solution of linear and non-linear equation systems, and with the bases of parameter fitting involving application of the least squares principle. Details on these topics and on the computational principles are to be found in a whole series of excellent monographs [99–105], and a number of reviews have also been published on the programs used in equilibrium chemistry [21–23]. The volume *Computational Methods for the Calculation of Stability Constants*, edited by Leggett, recently appeared in the Plenum Press series *Modern Inorganic Chemistry* [106]. Besides an account of the methods of numerical analysis connected with equilibrium chemistry, this volume contains detailed descriptions of eight programs by different authors, with complete documentation and the input–output systems, and concrete examples of the possibilities of application are presented.

In this section, therefore, we shall not attempt to give even an outline account of all of the algorithms. Instead, we shall trace the main aspects of the development during the past 20 years. Unless otherwise mentioned, our comments relating to the various numerical methods and to the possibilities of solution will be based primarily on our own experience.

5.2.1 Historical survey

Up to the middle of the 1960's, the evaluation of equilibrium measurements was based on the different graphical methods. These methods were reviewed in considerable detail by Rossotti and Rossotti [107] in their book *The Determination of Stability Constants*, which appeared in 1961. Starting from the middle of the 1960's, computers acquired ever greater importance in the evaluation of equilibrium measurement data.

Initially, computers too were used only to accelerate the mechanical calculations necessary for the application of graphical methods. The next stage in the development was when the experimental data were first transformed to the auxiliary functions customary for the graphical methods, and the values of the constants were calculated via numerical fitting of the auxiliary functions. First among the larger, generally applicable fitting programs was the LETAGROP program family [24]. It is worth noting that the title of the series of publications presenting the various LETAGROP program variants and the work of the Sillén school relating to certain computational aspects was High Speed Computers as a Supplement to Graphical Methods. This title clearly indicates that the authors considered graphical analysis to be of fundamental importance. Computers primarily served to make more exact the model and the equilibrium data resulting from graphical analysis, and to support these with statistical parameters. The authors of subsequently published general programs no longer stressed to such an extent the importance of preliminary graphical analysis. In our view, it is not absolutely necessary to subject every series of experimental data to such preliminary graphical analysis. At the same time, research workers active in equilibrium chemistry must be sufficiently familiar with this field too, in order to be able to avoid the pitfalls associated with the mechanical application of the general procedures (see Refs. [35-52]).

As a consequence of the development of the evaluation methods, the use of the various auxiliary functions has lost much of its importance. The calculations nowadays generally set out from the basic correlations described and analysed in detail in Chapter 3. A high proportion of the programs published in the 1960's and 1970's were designed for the large computers situated in computer centres. The progress made in electronics, however, has led to the availability of relatively cheap, slower desk-computers, with smaller memories, that can be programmed in a simplified language, but which can nevertheless be utilized for the control of the measuring instruments, for automatic data collection, etc. Accordingly, there is currently an increase in the number of publications describing generally interactive programs and program packages that have been prepared for smaller computers. Below, we shall deal with three main topics relating to computer-based evaluation: methods based on the auxiliary functions; the calculation of equilibrium concentrations; and questions concerning the fitting of parameters (equilibrium constants, molar absorbance, etc.).

5.2.2 Evaluation methods based on auxiliary functions

It was seen in Section 5.1 that the various auxiliary functions provide a very illustrative picture of the system examined, and are of fundamental importance in the determination of the compositions of the complexes formed. If they are utilized to calculate the equilibrium constants, however, it must always be taken into account that transformation of the direct experimental data into auxiliary functions is accompanied by transformation of the errors may lead to unrealistic results. This phenomenon was pointed out very descriptively by Cumming *et al.* [5]. Figure 5.14 shows the formation curve of the Cu²⁺-ethylenediamine system, together with the errors ascribed to the individual points. (For purposes of illustration, the actual errors have been magnified ten-fold.) Figure 5.15 [5] depicts the function linearized in accordance with the equation



Fig. 5.14. Formation curves of the Cu^{2+} -ethylenediamine system in a methanol-water mixture. For clarity, the ellipses characterizing the errors in the points are magnified 10-fold [5]

(Reproduced with permission from J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans., 2652 (1972))

5 Evaluation of experimental data



Fig. 5.15. Straight lines relating to the data from Fig. 5.14, transformed in accordance with Eq. (5.8), together with the transformed errors in the individual points [5] (Reproduced with permission from J. Chem. Soc. Dalton Trans., 2652 (1972))

together with the transformation of the errors. The dashed line is the straight line calculated by neglecting the laws of error propagation, while the continuous line is that calculated when these laws are taken into consideration. The difference between the constants calculated from the two straight lines may attain even 0.3 log unit.

Naturally, this phenomenon may cause difficulties not only in the case of linearization, but with all other function transformations. As an example, it was demonstrated very strikingly by McBryde [129] that, when the Cu^{2+} -bipyridyl system is studied pH-metrically, a given error in the pH measurement leads to basically different errors in the different sections of the formation curve.

It should be mentioned that in recent decades numerous authors have dealt with comparative studies of evaluation procedures based on the various linearized auxiliary functions, and with the introduction and application of newer and newer linearization possibilities, but it should also be stated that in many cases the extent to which they have dealt with these topics far exceeds the significance of these methods. It is obvious that the various linearized variants are completely equivalent if the laws of error propagation and error transformation are correctly applied. However, their application considerably increases the calculation time, and accordingly the great advantage of linearization, the rapidity, is lost. In our view, it is more advisable to use the auxiliary functions to select the appropriate equilibrium model only, and to fit the theoretical curves to the direct experimental data in the calculation of the equilibrium constants.

5.2.3 Calculation of equilibrium concentrations

Each iteration step in the majority of the procedures for evaluation of the data of equilibrium measurements can be separated into two stages:

(1) Calculation of the equilibrium concentrations with the aid of the assumed (or known) constants.

(2) Calculation of the increments of the assumed constants on the basis of the least squares principle.

A method that differs in principle is to calculate the equilibrium concentrations of the components from the experimental data via differential correlations, but without a knowledge of the equilibrium model.

Finally, for the sake of completeness, it must be mentioned that the equilibrium concentrations and the constants of the assumed equilibrium model can be calculated simultaneously too; this was pointed out by Sabatini and Vacca [8] in 1972, and the possibility has been utilized in the development of numerous programs.

5.2.3.1 Calculation of equilibrium concentrations when the stability constants are known

The expression 'when the stability constants are known' may in fact cover two different cases:

(1) The values of the constants are indeed known, and the aim is simply the calculation of the concentration distribution.

(2) The values of the constants are calculated on the basis of the least squares principle, and within each iteration cycle of the procedure the equilibrium concentrations of the components are calculated from the prevailing values of the constants (assumed in the first iteration).

The mathematical and computational bases are the same in the two cases, and they will therefore be discussed together. In both cases, in the knowledge of the total concentrations it is necessary to solve the equation system

$$T_{1} = \sum \alpha_{j1} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} \dots [k_{m}]^{\alpha_{jm}}$$

$$\vdots$$

$$T_{m} = \sum \alpha_{jm} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} \dots [k_{m}]^{\alpha_{jm}}$$
(5.9)

for $[k_1], \ldots, [k_m]$. It may occur that the equilibrium concentrations of the other components are calculated at a fixed value of one of the equilibrium

concentrations (e.g. at given pH), but this does not change the task essentially; it merely decreases the number of unknowns. Various methods have been devised and utilized to solve the equation system. The HALTAFALL program [23], for instance, calculates the equilibrium concentrations by means of successive approximations reminiscent of the halving method. Since the condition $0 < [k_i] < T_i$ clearly always holds as concerns the equilibrium concentration of the components (with the exception of the hydrogen ion), the method is always convergent, and the convergency does not depend on the starting values.

In the course of the development of the COMICS program [108], and later the SCOGS program [109], Sayce introduced an original iteration formula not discussed among the general methods of numerical analysis

$$[k_i]_{i+1} = [k_i]_i (T_i/T_{i,i}^{\text{calcd.}})^{1/2}.$$
(5.10)

In this equation, $[k_i]_j$ and $T_{i,j}^{ealed}$ are the equilibrium and the calculated total concentrations, respectively, of the *i*-th component in the *j*-th iteration cycle. In our experience, the method is always convergent; at a distance from the solution it is relatively fast, but in the vicinity of the solution it slows down considerably.

According to May et al. [110], this slow convergence in the vicinity of the solution can be avoided by using the formula

$$[k_i]_{i+1} = [k_i]_i (T_i/T_{i,j}^{\text{calcd.}}).$$
(5.11)

This formula can not be used at any appreciable distance from the solution, for it demonstrably diverges.

Essentially the Sayce method was used several years later by Nagypál [28] and Cumme [111].

Ginzburg [112] modified the Sayce method by using 1/p in place of 1/2 as the exponent on the right-hand side of Eq. (5.10), where p is the largest stoichiometric number used in the given mass balance equation.

The method may primarily be used to calculate the concentration distribution at constant, known pH. It is not always suitable for calculation of the pH, as the total concentration relating to the hydrogen ion may be negative, and it may occur that the root of a negative number should be extracted during the iteration.

Maggiore et al. [113] reported the successful application of an original iteration formula

$$[k_i]_{i+1} = [k_i]_i (T_i/T_{i,i}^{\text{calcd.}} + 1)/2.$$
(5.12)

It is surprising that one of the longest-known methods, the Newton-Raphson method, was first applied in solution equilibrium calculations only in 1972. On the basis of this, the EQUIL program was developed by Ting-Po I and

268

Nancollas [25], and the LEAST NR program by Sabatini and Vacca [8]. This method later became much more general.

In our experience, if appropriate checking instructions are inserted, the correct solution can always be obtained with the Newton-Raphson method [114]. If the equations

$$(T_i^{\text{calcd.}} - T_i) = 0 \tag{5.13}$$

are interpreted as function of $\log [k_i]$ and solved, in the course of the iteration it is possible to avoid divergency and the calculation of chemically unrealistic negative concentrations.

The solution of

100 M 100 0

$$\log \frac{T_i^{\text{calcd.}}}{T_i} = 0 \tag{5.14}$$

by the Newton-Raphson method, similarly via interpretation as a function of $\log [k_i]$, has proved particularly fast and efficient at a comparatively large distance from the solution.

However, Eq. (5.14) is not applicable to the hydrogen ion, and in the PSEQUAD program, therefore, it was modified as follows

$$\ln \frac{T_{+\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{calcd.}} + \frac{\mathrm{sign}\left(T_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{exp.}}\right) - 1}{2} T_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{exp.}}}{T_{-\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{calcd.}} + \frac{\mathrm{sign}\left(T_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{exp.}}\right) + 1}{2} T_{\mathrm{H}}^{\mathrm{exp.}}} = 0$$
(5.15)

where sign denotes the sign function.

 $T_{-H}^{ealed.}$ and $T_{+H}^{ealed.}$ are the total hydrogen ion concentrations calculated on the basis of the concentrations of the species with negative and positive stoichiometric numbers respectively. This modification makes the method suitable for the calculation of pH too.

Besides the fundamental iteration formulae, from a computational aspect the assumptions relating to the starting values are of great importance, as are the safety instructions promoting convergency.

In the SCOGS program, for instance, the calculation begins at the point with the lowest pH in the titration curves, where complex formation is not yet appreciable. Thus, the starting value for the equilibrium metal ion concentration is the total concentration of the metal ion, while the starting value for the equilibrium concentration of the ligand can be calculated via a direct formula, neglecting the effect of complex formation.

Naturally, when calculations are made for successive points, it is reasonable to set out from the solution obtained for the previous point, the accuracy of the starting equilibrium concentrations possibly being further improved by linear extrapolation [114]. In the solution of Eq. (5.13)–(5.15), the PSEQUAD program sets out from the $[k_i]_0 = T_i/2$ values (if the hydrogen ion concentration is negative, $[H]_0 = 10^{-6}$), and determines the starting values at the successive points by linear extrapolation, using the analytical derivatives.

In some programs a step-length control too is inserted, to avoid divergency and the unrealistic range of the equilibrium constants.

5.2.3.2 Calculation of the equilibrium concentrations when the equilibrium model is unknown

The method is based on the differential correlations between the mass balance equations, discussed in detail in Chapter 3. The essence is that the equilibrium concentrations of all of the components may be calculated from the appropriately planned and executed series of experiments, with measurement of the concentration of only a single ionic species, without a knowledge of the compositions and stability constants of the complexes formed.

Before a brief account of the correlations and the diagrams, it is worthwhile surveying the main stages in the recent development in this field. It was first pointed out by Bjerrum [115] that the differential of the function $\log \alpha_{Me} = f(p[L])$ gives the value of \bar{n} , i.e. the equilibrium concentration of the metal ion can be calculated by integration of the formation curve, even without a knowledge of the stability constants. The procedure was later generalized to iso- and heteropoly acids by Souchay [116], Bye [117] and Lefebrve [118]. With a different mathematical formalism, McKay [98], Hedström [97], Sillén [119] and Österberg [120] reached essentially the same result. The equivalence of the two different approaches was demonstrated in 1969 by Martin [121], who also extended the procedure to the very involved, four-component equilibrium system Cu(II)-histidine-threonine-proton [122].

Sarkar and Kruck [93] also reached virtually the same result by setting out from the Gibbs–Duhem equations, and successfully applied their procedure to a number of systems. The possibilities of application of the method have since been investigated by various authors [94–96] (the generalization is usually attributed to Sarkar and Kruck instead of to Martin). The most important of these results were those of Avdeef and Raymond [95], who introduced the total system of differential correlations, including the possibility of the analytical calculation of the fundamentally important differential quotients during the determination of the various experimental data and the stability constants. This latter possibility was also pointed out by Nagypál *et al.* [123], who utilized a different mathematical formalism. Both derivations are essentially based on the differentiation laws of implicit function systems, which are to be found in any textbook on mathematical analysis. These rules have been applied for many years by research workers dealing with studies on the fundamental thermodynamic correlations in equilibrium chemistry [124]. They were first used in the field of the chemistry of equilibria in solution by Bugaevsky *et al.* [125–127]. Nevertheless, they began to find wider application only after the appearance of the publication by Nagypál *et al.* [123].

If the equilibrium concentration of a single component is measured, without a knowledge of the equilibrium model, the differential connections treated in detail in Chapter 3 allow calculation of the equilibrium concentrations of the other components. The total correlation system has been discussed most generally by Avdeef and Raymond [95]; here, we present only two equations used in the pH-metric study of systems H–L–Me

$$-\log [L] = -\log [L]_0 - \int_{pH_0}^{pH} \left(\frac{\partial T_H}{\partial T_L}\right)_{T_{Mer},[H]} \partial pH$$
(5.16)

$$-\log [Me] = -\log [Me]_0 - \int_{pH_0}^{pH} \left(\frac{\partial T_H}{\partial T_{Me}}\right)_{T_{L,r}[H]} \partial pH.$$
(5.17)

We shall illustrate the interpretation of these correlations, and the difficulties arising in the course of application, with calculations based on Eq. (5.16). With a view to the determination of $(\partial T_{\rm H}/\partial T_{\rm L})_{T_{\rm Me'}(\rm H]}$, the pH-metric titration curves recorded at different total ligand concentrations, but at the same total metal ion concentration, are transformed to pH = $f(T_{\rm H})_{T_{\rm L}/T_{\rm Me}}$ curves, as can be seen in Fig. 5.16, which presents the example of the Cu²⁺–O-phosphorylethanolamine system, investigated by Österberg [128].

From Fig. 5.16, a $T_{\rm H} = f(T_{\rm L})_{\rm pH}$ diagram is constructed (Fig. 5.17), if necessary via interpolation; the $(\partial T_{\rm H}/\partial T_{\rm L})_{\rm pH}$ values are read off, and are then plotted as a function of the pH (Fig. 5.18). Finally, the curve depicted in Fig. 5.18 is integrated graphically or numerically. As the starting-point of the integration, it is necessary to choose a very low pH₀ value at which complex formation can be neglected; thus, log [L]₀ can be calculated through a direct formula, the protonation equilibrium being taken into consideration. If the equilibrium concentration of the metal ion is to be calculated, the above procedure is modified appropriately.

Even from this description it is readily possible to appreciate the difficulties involved in applying the method.

(1) For the calculation of $\log [L]_0$, the pH-metric titration must be begun at a low pH where the effect of complex formation is still negligible. This means that the effects of the equilibria under examination are insignificant over a considerable section of the titration curve, while at the same time even a very










Fig. 5.18. Functions $(\partial T_{\rm H}/\partial T_{\rm L})_{\rm pH} = f(\rm pH)$, calculated on the basis of Fig. 5.17 [128] (Reproduced with permission from *Acta Chem. Scand.*, 14, 471 (1960))

small error made experimentally in the total concentrations may become highly significant in the pH interval sensitive to the complex formation processes.

(2) A very large number of experimental data are required for the method to be applicable, in order that the unavoidable interpolations and the graphical or numerical differentiation and integration may be carried out reliably.

Nevertheless, the method also has the obvious tremendous advantage that, if the equilibrium concentrations of all of the components are known, the other calculations can be simplified considerably, and the compositions of the complexes formed in predominant concentrations can be identified with a high degree of certainty.

In our opinion, therefore, this procedure would best be used primarily for determination of the correct chemical model, possibly in combination with the Vadasdi [92] procedure discussed in connection with two-component systems, but appropriately extendable to multicomponent systems. When the very probable model is known, it is possible to plan with very high certainty titrations that are sufficiently sensitive to the formation of every complex. Through the fitting of these, by means of the methods surveyed in the following section, the formation constants can in all probability be determined more exactly.

5.2.4 Calculation of formation constants

The vast majority of programs constructed to calculate formation constants operate on the basis of the least squares principle, and the minimum in the target function is generally calculated by the Gauss–Newton method or by modified variants of this. In the course of the calculations, there is always a need for the differential coefficients of the experimental data to be fitted with respect to the parameters to be calculated. It is surprising that these differential coefficients are calculated numerically in the large majority of the programs; as a consequence of the repeated solution of the mass balance equations, this is obviously more time-demanding and more inaccurate than the analytical method.

The method of the analytical calculation of the differential coefficients in the case of the implicit function systems employed in equilibrium chemistry is to be found in any textbook on mathematical analysis and, as revealed in the review by Smith [130], has been used for many years by research workers dealing with the theoretical thermodynamic bases of chemical equilibria. In spite of this, it has begun to find application in connection with calculations on solution equilibrium systems only in recent years [95, 123, 125–127, 131, 132].

The theoretical computational principles of the Gauss-Newton method and its modifications have been detailed in a number of publications; accordingly, in this section we shall deal primarily with

- (1) selection of the function to be minimized;
- (2) checking of the goodness of the fit, and its meaning;
- (3) certain questions or error estimation.

5.2.4.1 Selection of the function to be minimized

We completed our review of methods based on the auxiliary functions with the statement that the constants are most advisably calculated through fitting of the direct experimental data. In Chapter 4, dealing with the experimental methods, we saw that there may be very many types of direct experimental data, e.g. the total concentrations, the e.m.f.-s (which are directly connected with the equilibrium concentrations), pH values, the volume of titrant solution, the distribution coefficient, the absorbance, the half-step potential, the NMR band-width, etc. In principle, the function to be minimized may be any of these, or any optional combination of them.

In most of the generally applicable programs, the function to be minimized is fixed and cannot be regulated with the input data. The target functions used in the programs published up to 1976 are given in the review by Gaizer [23]. In programs written for the evaluation of photometric measurements, for instance, the square sum of the differences between the measured and calculated absorbances is minimized. The program of Lingane and Hugus [133] is an exception for, besides the absorbances, it also interprets the total concentrations of the metal ion and of the ligand as data to be fitted.

The SCOGS program [109] serves for the evaluation of pH-metric titration curves, and minimizes the square sum of the differences between the measured and calculated volumes of titrant base. It is obvious, however, that both, the volume of titrant and the pH contain experimental errors during pH-metric titrations, and it is therefore preferable to use orthogonal regression [134]. The essence of this is that the X and Y data (volume and pH) are also regarded as containing errors, and the function to be minimized is a combination of the differences in the two variables. The SCOGS program was modified in this sense by Nagypál [28]. A number of authors have drawn attention to the importance of orthogonal regression in connection with other methods and other programs [135–137].

The widely applied MINIQUAD program [27] minimizes the square sum of the differences of the total concentrations of all of the components. This provides a possibility for a very fast, efficient algorithm. The specific feature of the program is that the solution of the balance equations and the refinement of the constants are not separated, but can be performed in a single iteration cycle. The differential coefficients necessary for the simultaneous refinement of the equilibrium concentrations and the constants are calculated analytically, but separately for each balance equation; this circumstance makes it unavoidable that the differences in the concentrations of all of the species be taken into consideration in the function to be minimized.

The minimization of $\sum (\Delta T_i)^2$ is obviously correct if the individual samples are made up separately. However, if pH-metric titration is performed, then T_L and T_{Me} are practically constant (they vary only with the dilution), so that the error in T_L and T_{Me} can only be a systematic error; merely the T_H and pH data are subject to experimental error. Accordingly, in our view, the fitting employed in the MINIQUAD programs is incorrect in principle in the case of pH-metric titrations. With well-planned, accurate measurements, however, this error of principle affects the values of the constants to a negligibly small extent, as demonstrated by the agreement of the results of calculations on the same systems with the SCOGS [109] and LETAGROP [24] programs and with the LEAST program [8], which operates on a similar principle to the MINIQUAD program.

The PSEQUAD program [114] permits the simultaneous evaluation of the data of potentiometric and spectrophotometric measurements. The function to be minimized in this program is

$$F = \sum_{q=1}^{n_d} F_q \tag{5.18}$$

$$F_{q} = w_{l} \sum_{i=1}^{r} (\Delta x_{1})^{2} + \sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{l=2}^{m} v_{l} (\Delta x_{l}^{p})^{2} + w_{A} \sum_{i=1}^{r} \sum_{l=m+1}^{p} (\Delta x_{l}^{A})^{2}$$
(5.19)

where r is the number of experimental points; x_l is the total concentration of the species denoted by l, or the volume of titrant solution; x_2^p, \ldots, x_m^p are the measured potentials; x_{m+1}^A, \ldots, x_p^A are the measured absorbances; w_l is the weighting factor of the total concentration of component l, or the titrant solution volume; w_l are the weighting factors of the potentials; and w_A is the weighting factor of the absorbance values. F_q may be any function set up in accordance with Eq. (5.18) from the differences in the above quantities, and the function to be minimized may be regulated via the input data. The program gives a possibility for the simultaneous evaluation of different types of measurements, even if the numbers of components are not the same in the various samples. For example, through simultaneous minimization of the titration curves measured in the systems proton-ligand A, proton-ligand B, proton-ligand A-metal ion, proton-ligand B-metal ion, and proton-ligand A-ligand-B-metal ion (via orthogonal regression too), it is possible to calculate the pK values of the ligands and the formation constants of all of the metal complexes (including those of the mixed ligand complexes). At the same time, if these pH-metric measurements are supplemented with photometric measurements on the same or different solutions, the square sum of the differences between the measured and calculated absorbance values can be incorporated into the function to be minimized. This and other similar possibilities are expressed by the equation

 $F = \sum_{q=1}^{n_d} F_q$, where n_d is the number of measurement series of different types.

It must be noted that, in spite of the fact that the possibilities for selecting the function-combination to be minimized are practically optional, the data calculated with the PSEQUAD program do not correspond perfectly with the strict laws of statistics. It is obvious that each step of an equilibrium measurement series (the weighing of the starting materials, the preparation of the stock solutions, the determination of their concentrations, the mixing of the samples to be studied, the calibration of the instrumentation, etc.) involves experimental errors, and the statistical methods, strictly speaking, should take the errors of these operations too into consideration. Only Cumming *et al.* [5] have employed such strictly interpreted statistics, but their programs can be used merely to evaluate the data on the simplest systems.

5.2.4.2 Checking and evaluation of the goodness of fitting

This is the most important step in the calculation of the constants, and requires great circumspection. There is no generally valid recipe for the satisfactory solution of this task; accordingly, we shall treat those aspects only that we consider to be of greatest importance. Above all, it must be borne in mind that the starting point in the use of the least squares principle to fit any function is that the experimental data to be fitted are subject only to chance experimental error. At the same time, it is clear that the errors in the similarly experimentally obtained, fixed data used in the calculations (total concentrations, auxiliary constants, etc.) are also present in the experimental data to be fitted, but as systematic errors. In the more complicated equilibrium systems, a very great variety of complexes may be formed and, as we have already seen, the purpose of numerical analysis can only be the determination of the compositions and constants of the species having a considerable influence on the experimental data. Thus, besides the identified species, numerous further complexes may be formed in very low mole fractions, but still with slight effects on the experimental data. Neglect of these leads to a model error, which likewise appears as a systematic error in the experimental data.

As a consequence of the joint effects of these factors, the difference between the measured and the calculated data corresponds to the normal distribution characteristic of chance errors only extremely rarely. In the event of such a practically unavoidable systematic error, the question that arises is the fixing of some limit to the scatter of the data in the given series of experiments, differences larger than this limit then justifying the assumption that additional complexes are formed. It is very difficult to establish this limit; much reliance must be placed on the research worker's own personal experience. When some new minimization procedure or a full program is introduced, therefore, it is very helpful to re-investigate a few well-known equilibrium systems; the scatters obtained for these may be regarded as limiting scatters.

The literature contains abundant material exemplifying the choice of model on the basis of comparisons of scatters calculated via various assumptions [138–147]. Only one of these will be mentioned here for purposes of illustration.

Pettersson [138] made an investigation of the very involved equilibrium processes

$pH^+ + qMoO_4^{2-} + rHAsO_4^{2-} \rightleftharpoons (H^+)_p(MoO_4^{2-})_a(HAsO_4^{2-})_r$

through the pH-metric titration of 92 solutions with different compositions. The total concentration of the hydrogen ion was fitted during data evaluation.

Figure 5.19 presents the differences between the measured and the calculated data as a function of pH for three titration curves, under three different sets of conditions. The points denoted by 0 were calculated by taking into consideration only the data obtained in a preliminary independent study of the systems $H^+-MoO_4^2^-$ and $H^+-HAsO_4^2^-$. The systematic large difference clearly points to the formation of heteropoly acids.

The heteropoly acids with p, q, r values (8, 5, 2), (10, 6, 2), (11, 6, 2) and (12, 6, 2) were identified in a total concentration interval much lower than that indicated here; the points denoted by \blacktriangle were obtained when these species too were taken into account. It may be seen that the difference is now much smaller, but it remains considerable, especially at relatively high molybdate-arsenate concentration ratios.

Finally, the points denoted by \bullet demonstrate the best fitting; these were attained by considering not only the above species, but also those with p, q, r

19 Beck-Nagypál

5 Evaluation of experimental data



Fig. 5.19. $\Delta T_{\rm H} = T_{\rm H}^{\rm valued} - T_{\rm H}^{\rm measd}$ values calculated under different conditions in the $\rm H^+-MoO_4^{2^-}-HAsO_4^{2^-}$ system [138]

○ — equilibrium data determined separately in the two-component systems H⁺-MoO₄²⁻
 and H⁺-HAsO₄²⁻; △ — assuming formation of the species (8, 5, 2), (10, 6, 2), (11, 6, 2)
 and (12, 6, 2), besides the data for the two-component systems; ● — additionally assuming formation of the species (14, 9, 1), (15, 9, 1) and (16, 9, 1).

(Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., A29, 677 (1975))

values (14, 9, 1), (15, 9, 1) and (16, 9, 1). In this latter case the difference fluctuates around zero, i.e. very slight systematic differences are still observable. However, the magnitude of the differences is not sufficient to justify the assumption that even more species are formed; the small systematic differences almost certainly stem from the error possibilities mentioned above.

The question of the goodness of the fitting was dealt with in detail by Vacca et al. [139], who proposed the introduction of a factor, which can be calculated

5.2 Computer evaluation of equilibrium measurement data

279

from the laws of error propagation via a 'pessimistic estimation' of the possible experimental errors. They also pointed out that in some cases the experimental data may be described within the resulting limiting values by a number of models, and the choice of model then reflects the personal judgement of the research worker.

In a study of the Cu^{2+} -glycylglycine system, Gergely and Nagypál [140] demonstrated that the formation constant of the complex CuL_2 could not be calculated directly: when the formation constant of the complex was regarded as a parameter to be calculated, the equation system obtained in the Gauss-Newton iteration became poorly conditioned.

At the same time, when the formation constants of the other complexes were calculated at various fixed values of β_{CuL_2} , the fitting improved slightly; the 'best fitting' was found at a β_{CuL_2} value corresponding to roughly 15% CuL₂ formation at pH ~ 5. This means that the complex CuL₂ can not be detected even when it is formed to an extent of about 15%. The probable cause of this is that it can not be formed at a ligand-metal ion concentration ratio of 1:1, even if the constant is comparatively large, while at a ligand excess its effect appears in the pH range where the predominant complex is CuLH₋₁, which similarly leads to the release of two protons.

These examples, and the numerous others to be found in the literature, confirm the truth of the statement made in the introduction: the checking and the acceptance or rejection of the goodness of the fit is the step demanding the greatest circumspection in the calculation of the constants, and assistance towards the correct solution of this task is primarily provided by experience.

5.2.4.3 Estimation of errors in constants

We shall deal with this question only in order to discuss the real meaning and significance of the errors of only $\pm 0.001-0.002 \log$ unit reported for the equilibrium constants in the literature in some cases. Naturally, this topic has already been treated by a number of authors, but it appears that the misunderstandings have not yet been completely dispelled.

In an interpretation of the meaning of the errors, the starting point must be that, as mentioned at the end of Section 5.2.4.1, not a single general program satisfies the strictly taken rules of statistical evaluation. Further, in the sense of the considerations outlined in the previous section, the model error (no matter how small, but unavoidable) finally appears as the error in the constants. Accordingly, the calculated errors in the stability constants characterize the reproducibility of the determination of the constants under the given experimental conditions. The true errors in the stability constants can be estimated with a high degree of certainty only through the comparison of constants obtained with methods differing in basic principle, or of constants obtained in independent laboratories. These considerations explain why, in the publications of the Commission on Equilibrium Data of the Analytical Chemistry Section of the IUPAC dealing with critical evaluations of stability constants in various systems, agreement within $\pm 0.05 \log$ unit is classified as very good agreement, even in systems that can be studied experimentally without difficulty [148–152].

5.2.5 Determination of microconstants

We have so far surveyed the methods serving for the determination and calculation of the compositions and formation constants of complexes, but without considering the structures of the complexes. It is obvious, however, that a species of given stoichiometry, that can be described thermodynamically by a single formation constant, may occur in various structural forms; the microconstants mentioned in the title to this section are the constants of the equilibrium processes between given species with different structural forms.

Let us consider, for example, a ligand capable of taking up two protons, the protonation sites not being equivalent chemically (e.g. aminocarboxylates or aminophenolates), and let us denote the protonation sites by A and B. The uptake of the protons in this case can proceed in accordance with the following scheme



The constants describing the processes $L \rightarrow HL \rightarrow H_2L$ are often termed macroconstants, but this nomenclature is justified only in work involving microconstants, in the interest of differentiating between the two types of constants. It can readily be seen that the following correlations hold between the micro- and the macroconstants

$$K_{1}^{p} = \frac{[\text{HL}]}{[\text{H}][\text{L}]} = \frac{[(\text{AH})\text{B} + \text{A}(\text{BH})]}{[\text{H}][\text{L}]} = k_{1}^{\text{A}} + k_{1}^{\text{B}}$$
$$\frac{1}{K_{2}^{p}} = \frac{[\text{HL}][\text{H}]}{\text{H}_{2}\text{L}]} = \frac{[(\text{AH})\text{B} + \text{A}(\text{BH})][\text{H}]}{[\text{H}_{2}\text{L}]} = \frac{1}{k_{2}^{\text{A}}} + \frac{1}{k_{2}^{\text{B}}}.$$

It can readily be shown that, as the number of donor groups able to undergo protonation increases, the number of microconstants is 2^n . It must also be borne in mind that a hydrogen-bond may be formed between adjacent donor groups, the number of microconstants then naturally decreasing, for by this means the structures (AH)B and A(BH) become indistinguishable, as (A ... H ... B).

The introduction of the concept of microconstants was necessitated by the consideration of the structural differences; hence, it is obvious that, for their determination, primarily those equilibrium study methods are suitable which, besides changes in the equilibrium state, provide information on the structural changes (spectrophotometry, NMR, CD). There is no difference in principle between the experimental methods for the determination of micro- and macroconstants; only the means of evaluating the experimental results differ. In connection with the evaluation methods, it is necessary to stress one circumstance (this is frequently not sufficiently emphasized, and it appears at times that it is not sufficiently well understood): the calculation of the microconstants is always based on some obvious assumption, but this assumption cannot be proved in a strict thermodynamic sense.

The assumption most frequently utilized in the chemical modification [153–157] is that the electronic structure of the molecule does not change if the hydrogen of the carboxyl group is replaced by a methyl group, e.g. the protonation constant of the amino group in glycine methyl ester is the same as the microconstant for the process

$HOOC-CH_2-NH_2+H^+ \rightleftharpoons HOOC-CH_2-NH_3^+$.

The starting point in the use of visible-UV spectrophotometry is the assumption that a spectral change relating to some chromophoric group of the molecule (e.g. a phenolic OH) is independent of the state of protonation of groups more distant from the chromophoric group [158–160].

The most direct method, and the most promising one from the aspect of determination of the microconstants, is NMR spectroscopy. When this is used, it can similarly be assumed that the chemical shift of some NMR-active nucleus close to the group undergoing protonation is not influenced by the state of protonation of the more distant groups [161–163]; in the refined variant, the effects of the neighbouring groups may be taken into account on the basis of measurements on model compounds [164, 165].

The references reveal that there is already an extensive literature on the determination of the microconstants. However, the great majority of the publications discuss the methods and results of studies on the protonation processes. Different structural forms corresponding to the same stoichiometric composition can naturally also occur among the metal complexes. In a wide-ranging equilibrium study of the DOPA (3,4-dihydroxyphenylalanine) complexes of transition metal ions, Kiss and Gergely [166] determined the

microconstants of a number of metal complexes, while Kiss and Tóth [167] took the first steps towards separating the microconstants into the microenthalpy and microentropy changes.

Noszál and Burger [168] introduced the concept of the group constant to characterize the overlapping protonation equilibria of polyfunctional ligands. The essence of this is that, in the case of identical groups that do not mutually influence the respective protonation processes (when the macroconstants differ only because of the statistical effects), the protonation processes are described by means of the group constants freed from the statistical effects.

References

- 1. Romary, J. K., Donnelly, D. L. and Andrews, A. C., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 29, 1805 (1967).
- 2. Thun, H., Verbeck, F. and Vanderleen, W., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 29, 2109 (1967).
- 3. Barcza, L., Magy. Kém. Folyóirat, 75, 513 (1969).
- 4. Nagypál, I., Gergely, A. and Jékel, P., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 31, 3447 (1969).
- 5. Cumming, G. L., Rollett, J. S., Rossotti, F. J. C. and Whewell, R. H., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 2652 (1972).
- 6. Maier, T. O. and Drago, R. S., Inorg. Chem., 11, 1861 (1972).
- 7. Feldberg, S., Klotz, P. and Newman, L., Inorg. Chem., 11, 2860 (1972).
- 8. Sabatini, A. and Vacca, A., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1693 (1972).
- 9. Gans, P. and Vacca, A., Talanta, 21, 45 (1974).
- 10. Ingman, F., Talanta, 20, 993 (1973).
- 11. Dunsmore, H. S. and Midgley, D., Anal. Chim. Acta, 72, 121 (1974).
- 12. Chattopadhyaya, M. C. and Singh, R. S., Anal. Chim. Acta, 70, 49 (1974).
- 13. Kaden, T. and Zuberbühler, A. A., Talanta, 18, 61 (1971).
- 14. Gaizer, F., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 83, 250 (1977).
- 15. Karlson, F. and Vestin, R., Chem. Scr., 2, 207 (1972).
- 16. Wentworth, W. E., Hirsch, H. and Chen, E., J. Phys. Chem., 71, 218 (1971).
- 17. Leggett, D. J. and McBryde, W. A. E., Anal. Chem., 47, 1065 (1975).
- 18. Meites, T. and Meites, L., Talanta, 19, 1131 (1972).
- 19. Meloun, M. and Cermak, J., Talanta, 23, 15 (1976).
- 20. Kaneda, A. and Martell, A. E., J. Coord. Chem., 4, 137 (1975).
- 21. Childs, C. W. and Perrin, D. D., Talanta, 16, 1119 (1969).
- Rossotti, F. J. C., Rossotti, H. S. and Whewell, R. J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 2051 (1971).
- 23. Gaizer, F., Coord. Chem. Rev., 27, 195 (1979).
- 24. see Chapter 3, Ref. [3].
- 25. Ting-Po I and Nancollas, G. H., Anal. Chem., 44, 1940 (1972).
- 26. Sarkar, B. and Kruck, T. P. A., Can. J. Chem., 51, 3541 (1973).
- 27. Sabatini, A., Vacca, A. and Gans, P., Talanta, 21, 53 (1974).
- 28. Nagypál, I., Acta Chim. Hung., 82, 29 (1974).
- 29. Alcock, R. M., Hartley, F. R. and Rogers, D. E., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 115 (1978).

References

- 30. Arena, G., Rizzarelli, E., Sammartano, S. and Rigano, C., Talanta, 26, 1 (1979).
- 31. Gorton, J. E. and Jameson, R. F., J. Chem. Soc., 310 (1972).
- 32. Irving, H. and Rossotti, H. S., J. Chem. Soc., 3397 (1953).
- 33. Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 10, 186 (1956).
- 34. Rossotti, F. J. C., Rossotti, H. S. and Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 10, 203 (1956).
- 35. Ramamoorthy, S. and Manning, P. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1977 (1972).
- 36. Goel, D. P., Dutt, Y. and Singh, R. P., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 3119 (1970).
- 37. Chawla, I. D. and Andrews, A. C., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 91 (1970).
- 38. Gupta, M. R. S., Das, H. R. and Shane, S. C., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 350 (1972).
- 39. Singh, M. K. and Srivastava, M. N., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 567 (1972).
- 40. Trivedi, C. P., Sunar, O. P. and Tak, S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 907 (1972).
- 41. Shori, N., Dutt, Y. and Singh, R. P., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 2007 (1972).
- 42. Singh, M. K. and Srivastava, M. N., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 2067 (1972).
- 43. Mittal, M. L. and Pandey, A. V., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 2962 (1972).
- 44. Mittal, M. L., Saxena, R. S. and Pandey, A. V., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 1691 (1973).
- 45. Tripathi, S. C. and Paul, S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 2465 (1973).
- Kakkar, S. N., Poonia, N. S. and Khadikar, P. V., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 3021 (1973).
- 47. Govil, P. K. and Banerji, S. K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 3932 (1973).
- 48. Saxena, R. S. and Scheelwant, S. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 3963 (1973).
- Sanyal, R. M., Srivastava, P. C. and Banerjee, B. K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 343 (1975).
- 50. Rangaraj, K. and Ramamjam, V. V., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 489 (1977).
- 51. Fukuda, Y., Kyuno, E. and Tsuchiya, R., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 43, 745 (1970).
- 52. Dube, S. S. and Dhindsa, S. S., Can. J. Chem., 48, 1007 (1970).
- 53. Persson, H., Acta Chem. Scand., A28, 885 (1974).
- 54. Nagypál, I., Gergely, A. and Farkas, E., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 699 (1974).
- 55. Ritsma, J. H., Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas, 94, 210 (1975).
- Corrie, A. M., Makar, G. K. R., Touche, M. L. D. and Williams, D. R., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 105 (1975).
- 57. Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 8, 299 (1954).
- 58. Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 8, 318 (1954).
- 59. Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 16, 1051 (1962).
- 60. De Brabander, H. F. and Van Poucke, L. C., J. Coord. Chem., 3, 301 (1974).
- 61. Carpéni, G., Bull. Soc. Chim. France, 629 (1948).
- 62. Souchay, P., Bull. Soc. Chim. France, 395 (1953).
- 63. McBryde, W. A. E., Can. J. Chem., 47, 691 (1969).
- 64. Van Poucke, L. C. and De Brabander, H. F., Talanta, 20, 733 (1973).
- 65. Van Poucke, L. C. and De Brabander, H. F., Talanta, 21, 279 (1974).
- 66. De Brabander, H. F., Goeminne, A. M. and Van Poucke, L. C., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 799 (1975).
- 67. Sillén, L. G., Proc. Welch Foundation Conf. Chem. Res., 187 (1964).
- Ringbom, A., Complexation in Analytical Chemistry, Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1963.
- 69. Ringbom, A. and Harju, L., Anal. Chim. Acta, 59, 33 (1972).
- 70. Ringbom, A. and Harju, L., Anal. Chim. Acta, 59, 49 (1972).

- 71. Österberg, R., Acta Chem. Scand., 19, 1445 (1965).
- 72. Gergely, A., C. Sc. Thesis (1967).
- 73. Dunsmore, H. S. and Midgley, D., Anal. Chim. Acta, 67, 341 (1973).
- 74. Aiba, H., Yokoyama, A. and Tanaka, H., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 47, 1437 (1974).
- 75. Klausen, K. S. and Langmyhr, F. J., Anal. Chim. Acta. 28, 501 (1963).
- 76. Asmus, E., Anal. Chem., 178, 104 (1960).
- 77. Cannon, R. D. and Gholami, M. J., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1574 (1976).
- 78. Napoli, A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 987 (1972).
- 79. He Xi-Wen and Poe, D. P., Anal. Chim. Acta, 136, 353 (1982).
- 80. Boggess, R. K. and Martin, R. B., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 1097 (1975).
- 81. Weber, G., Nature, 190, 27 (1961).
- 82. Wallace, R. M., J. Phys. Chem., 64, 889 (1960).
- 83. Ainsworth, S., J. Phys. Chem., 65, 1908 (1961).
- 84. Hugus, Z. Z. and El-Awady, A. A., J. Phys. Chem., 75, 2954 (1971).
- 85. Coleman, J. S., Varga, L. P. and Martin, S. H., Inorg. Chem., 9, 1015 (1970).
- 86. Coleman, J. S., Petersen, H. and Penneman, R. A., Inorg. Chem., 4, 135 (1965).
- 87. Shlafer, H. L., Komplexbildung in Lösung. Springer Verlag, Berlin p. 290, 1961.
- 88. McBryde, W. A. E. and Atkinson, G. F., Can. J. Chem. 39, 510 (1961).
- 89. Nowiczka-Jankowska, T., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 2043 (1971).
- 90. Stynes, D. V., Inorg. Chem., 14, 453 (1975).
- 91. Mayer, R. G. and Drago, R. S., Inorg. Chem., 15, 2010 (1976).
- 92. Vadasdi, K., J. Phys. Chem., 78, 816 (1974).
- 93. Sarkar, B. and Kruck, T. P. A., Can. J. Chem., 51, 3541 (1973).
- 94. McBryde, W. A. E., Can. J. Chem., 51, 3573 (1973).
- 95. Avdeef, A. and Raymond, K. N., Inorg. Chem., 18, 1605 (1979).
- 96. Guevremont, R. and Rabenstein, D. L., Can. J. Chem., 55, 4211 (1977).
- 97. Hedström, B., Acta Chem. Scand., 9, 613 (1955).
- 98. McKay, H. A. C., Trans. Faraday Soc., 49, 237 (1953).
- 99. Youden, W. J., Statistical Methods for Chemists. Wiley, New York, 1951.
- 100. Eckschlager, K., Errors, Measurements and Results in Chemical Analysis. Van Nostrand-Reinhold, London, 1969.
- 101. Dixon, L. C. W., Nonlinear Optimisation. English Universities Press, London, 1972.
- Ortega, J. M. and Rheinboldt, W. C., Iterative Solution of Nonlinear Equations in Several Variables, Academic Press, New York (1970).
- Forsythe, G. E. and Moler, C. B., Linear algebraic problems, Müszaki Könyvkiadó, Budapest (1976).
- 104. Norris, A. C., Computational Chemistry, Wiley, (1981).
- 105. Zalotai, L., Seres, L. and Fejes, P., FORTRAN programs for the solution of physical chemical problems (in Hungarian), Műszaki Könyvkiadó, Budapest (1978).
- 106. Leggett, D., Computational Methods for the Calculation of Stability Constants, Plenum Press, New York, 1985.
- 107. Rossotti, F. J. C. and Rossotti, H. S., The Determination of Stability Constants. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1961.
- 108. Perrin, D. D. and Sayce, I. G., Talanta, 14, 1261 (1967).
- 109. Sayce, I. G., Talanta, 15, 1397 (1967).
- 110. May, P. M., Linder, P. W. and Williams, D. R., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 588 (1977).

- 111. Cumme, G. A., Talanta, 20 1009 (1973).
- 112. Ginzburg, G., Talanta, 23, 149 (1976).
- 113. Maggiore, R., Musumeci, S. and Sammartano, S., Talanta, 23 43 (1976).
- 114. Zékány, L. and Nagypál, I., PSEQUAD, a Comprehensive Program for the Evaluation of Potentiometric and/or Spectrophotometric Equilibrium Data Using Analytical Derivatives in Ref. [106].
- 115. Bjerrum, J., Metal Ammine Formation in Aqueous Solution. Haase, Copenhagen, 1941.
- 116. Souchay, P. and Chauveau, F., Bull. Soc. Chim. France, 810 (1960).
- 117. Bye, J., Compt. Rend., 238, 239 (1954).
- 118. Lefebrve, J., J. Chim. Phys., 54, 553 (1957).
- 119. Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 15, 1981 (1961).
- 120. Österberg, R., Acta Chem. Scand., 19, 1445 (1965).
- 121. Martin, R. P., Rev. Pure and Appl. Chem., 19, 171 (1969).
- 122. Freeman, H. C. and Martin, R. P., J. Biol. Chem., 244, 4823 (1969).
- 123. Nagypál, I., Páka, I. and Zékány, L., Talanta, 25, 549 (1978).
- 124. Zeleznik, F. J. and Gordon, F., Ind. and Eng. Chem., 60, 27 (1968).
- 125. Bugaevsky, A. A. and Dunai, B. A., Zh. Anal. Khim., 26, 205 (1972).
- 126. Bugaevsky, A. A. and Rudnaya, L. E., Zh. Neorg. Khim., 21, 2827 (1976).
- 127. Bugaevsky, A. A. and Nikishina, L. E., Zh. Neorg. Khim., 25, 2854 (1980).
- 128. Österberg, R., Acta Chem. Scand., 14, 471 (1960).
- 129. McBryde, W. A. E., Can. J. Chem., 45, 2093 (1967).
- 130. Smith, W. R., Ind. Eng. Chem. Fundam., 19 1 (1980).
- 131. Zuberbühler, A. D. and Kaden, T. A., Talanta, 29, 201 (1982).
- 132. Kostromicki, J. and Liwo, A., Comput. Chem., 8, 91, 101 (1984).
- 133. Lingane, P. J. and Hugus, Z. Z., Inorg. Chem., 9, 757 (1970).
- 134. Linnik, Yu. V., Methods of Least Squares and Principles of the Theory of Observations. Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1961.
- 135. Varga, L. P. and Hume, D. N., Inorg. Chem., 2, 201 (1963).
- 136. Hugus, Z. Z., in Advances in the Chemistry of Coordination Compounds (Ed.: Kirschner, S.), MacMillan, New York, 1961.
- 137. Lansbury, R. C., Price, V. E. and Smeeth, A. G., J. Chem. Soc., 1896 (1965).
- 138. Pettersson, L., Acta Chem. Scand., A29, 677 (1975).
- 139. Vacca, A., Sabatini, A. and Gristina, M. A., Coord. Chem. Rev., 8, 45 (1972).
- 140. Gergely, A. and Nagypál, I., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1104 (1977).
- 141. Forsling, W., Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 857 (1978).
- 142. Borgen, O., Mahmoud, M. R. and Skauvik, I., Acta Chem. Scand., A31, 329 (1977).
- 143. Lee Ying-Hua, Acta Chem. Scand., A30, 593 (1976).
- 144. De Brabander, H. F., Creyf, H. S., Goeminne, A. M. and Van Poucke, L. C., *Talanta*, 23, 405 (1976).
- 145. Busey, R. H. and Mesmer, R. E., Inorg. Chem., 16, 2444 (1977).
- 146. Tsukuda, H., Kawai, T., Maeda, M. and Ohtaki, H., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 48, 691 (1975).
- 147. Stünzi, H. and Anderegg, G., J. Coord. Chem., 7, 239 (1978).
- 148. McBryde, W. A. E., IUPAC Chemical Data Series No. 17, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1978.

References

- 149. Anderegg, G., *IUPAC Chemical Data Series* No. 14, Pergamon Press, Oxford (1977).
- 150. Stary, J. and Liljenzin, J. O., Pure and Appl. Chem., 54, 2557 (1982).
- 151. Kolarik, Z., Pure and Appl. Chem., 54, 2593 (1982).
- 152. Beck, M. T., Pure and Appl. Chem., 49, 127 (1977).
- 153. Ebert, L., Z. Physik. Chem., 121, 385 (1926).
- 154. Leevenstein, A. and Roberts, J. D., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 82, 2705 (1960).
- 155. Rigler, N. E., Bag, S. P., Leyden, D. E., Sudmeier, J. L. and Reilley, C. N., Anal. Chem., 37, 872 (1965).
- 156. Ishimitsu, T., Hirose, S. and Sakurai, H., Chem. Pharm. Bull., 26, 74 (1978).
- 157. Ishimitsu, T., Hirose, S. and Sakurai, H., Chem. Pharm. Bull., 24, 3195 (1976).
- 158. Benesch, R. E. and Benesch, R., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 77, 5877 (1955).
- 159. Kurz, J. L. and Harris, J. C., J. Org. Chem., 35, 3086 (1970).
- 160. Boggess, R. K. and Martin, R. B., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 97, 3076 (1975).
- 161. Rabenstein, D. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 95, 2797 (1973).
- 162. Martin, R. B., J. Phys. Chem., 65, 2053 (1961).
- 163. Kesselring, U. W. and Benet, L. Z., Anal. Chem., 41, 1535 (1969).
- 164. Rabenstein, D. L., Greenber, M. S., Evans, C. A., Biochem., 16, 977 (1977).
- 165. Jameson, R. F., Hunter, G. and Kiss, T., J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Comm., 768 (1978).
- 166. Kiss, T. and Gergely, A., Proc. 8th Conf. on Coord. Chem., Smolenice p. 181, 1980.
- 167. Kiss, T. and Tóth, B., Talanta, 29, 539 (1982).
- 168. Noszál, B. and Burger, K., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 85, 160 (1979).

Chapter 6

Factors determining the compositions and stabilities of metal complexes

A number of reviews have already appeared on the complex-forming properties of the individual metal ions and on the complexes of the various ligands with the different metal ions. Here, therefore, we shall devote our attention mainly to those phenomena which hold in general for a wide range of complexes. In the broadest sense, the compositions and stabilities of the complexes formed are determined by the chemical properties of the metal ion(s) and the ligand(s) as internal factors, and by the characteristics of the solvent, the temperature and the ionic strength as external factors. Complex formation in solution is always accompanied by the release of solvent molecules bound to the ligand, and by the solvation of the resulting complex. Accordingly, we shall deal first with the role of the solvent, with phenomenon of solvation (and in more detail with that of hydration), and then with attempts to determine the stabilities of aqua complexes and to eliminate the role of the solvent. Subsequently, we shall examine how the compositions of the resulting complexes are influenced by the chemical properties of the metal ions, the structures of the ligands and the nature of the donor atoms and donor groups, and finally we shall discuss the factors determining and influencing the values of the stability constants and the various derived equilibrium constants.

Since the bonding in outer sphere complexes and in mixed metal complexes generally differs in nature from that in complexes of other types, such complexes will be treated separately at the end of this chapter. The present aims and the nature of this book do not allow us to provide a detailed discussion of every question; we shall merely emphasize the main correlations and try to assist the reader in his orientation with as many useful literature references as possible.

6.1 Solvation and complex formation

Complex formation is accompanied by the displacement of solvent molecules from the coordination sphere of the metal ion, i.e. it can be described by the following general equations

$$MeS_Q + L = MeS_{Q-i}L + iS$$

$$\operatorname{MeS}_{i}L_{N-1} + L = \operatorname{MeL}_{N} + jS$$

where Q = number of solvent molecules coordinated to the metal ion; N = maximum number of ligands; i = number of solvent molecules displaced by the first ligand; j = number of solvent molecules displaced by the Nth ligand.

Accordingly, instead of the expression

$$K_1 = \frac{[\text{MeL}]}{[\text{Me}][\text{L}]} \tag{6.1}$$

the processes actually taking place are reflected by the equilibrium constant defined by the expression

$$K_1^* = \frac{[\operatorname{MeS}_{Q-i}L][S]^i}{[\operatorname{MeS}_Q][L]}.$$
(6.2)

In dilute solutions, however, the concentration of the solvent is practically constant, and the quantities denoted by K_1 and K_1^* therefore differ only by a constant multiplication factor

$$K_1^* = K_1[S]^i. (6.3)$$

Thus, the constants defined by Eq. (6.1) are also suitable for characterization of the concentration distribution and thermodynamic stabilities of the various complexes. Equation (6.2), however, draws attention to the fact that, during the interpretation of the values of the constants, special attention must be paid to the phenomenon of solvation (in aqueous solutions hydration) and the manner in which this influences the values of the stability constants.

For the sake of completeness, it must be noted that there may be a specific interaction between the ligand and the solvent molecules too, which ceases as a consequence of complex formation. At the same time, new, likewise specific interactions may develop between the complex formed and the solvent molecules. These features further complicate the equilibrium conditions, and hence the equilibrium constant defined by Eq. (6.2) can not be regarded as complete either.

The role of the solvent in the energy conditions of complex-formation processes is strikingly illustrated, as an example, by the fact that the enthalpy of hydration of the Cu^{2+} ion is $-2100 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$, whereas the enthalpy change accompanying the process

$Cu(H_2O)_6^{2+} + 4NH_3 \Longrightarrow Cu(NH_3)_4(H_2O)_2^{2+} + 4H_2O$

is -92 kJ mol^{-1} [1], i.e. merely a few per cent of the hydration heat. If the energy conditions of solvation and of complex formation in solution are compared, it generally holds that the enthalpy change accompanying the complex formation is of a lower order of magnitude than the solvation heat. It is understandable, therefore, that change of the solvent may have an extremely great influence on the compositions and stabilities of the complexes formed. The solvents may be classified from numerous aspects. From the aspect of the analysis of the connection of solvation and complex formation, however, the most convenient classification is based on the nature of the interaction between the solvent molecules. On this basis, protic and aprotic solvents are distinguished.

The molecules of protic solvents are capable of forming hydrogen-bonds, i.e. they contain protons linked to O, N or F atoms; examples include water, methanol, ethanol and formamide. It is characteristic of these solvents that, due to the relatively strong, directed hydrogen-bonds, their molecules are situated in a more or less ordered way, and their melting and boiling points are therefore substantially higher than might be expected from their molecular masses alone.

Between the molecules of aprotic solvents, there are merely dipole-dipole or induced dipole-induced dipole interactions. In the former case we speak of polar aprotic solvents (e.g. dimethylformamide, dimethylsulphoxide, acetone or pyridine) and in the latter case of apolar aprotic solvents e.g. benzene, cyclohexane, hydrocarbons or carbon tetrachloride. In general, neither the metal ions nor the ligands dissolve in apolar aprotic solvents; thus, from the aspect of the equilibrium conditions of metal complexes it is only necessary to consider the solvation conditions prevailing in protic and polar aprotic solvents. The most typical protic solvent is water. In aqueous solutions, the metal ions are to be found in hydrated form or as agua complexes. We speak of hydration in aqueous solutions of alkali metal and alkaline earth metal ions, for instance, where only ion-dipole interactions occur between the metal ions and the water molecules. For metal ions with unfilled p, d or f subshells (Be²⁺, Al³⁺, transition metal ions, rare earth metal ions), however, it is more correct to speak of aqua complex formation, for in this case the water is coordinated via one of the non-bonding electron pairs of its oxygen atom to an empty orbital of the metal ion. Naturally, a sharp dividing line can not be drawn between these two phenomena. In practice, the two phenomena may be distinguished by heating

the aqueous solutions of metal chlorides. If, when the aqueous solution of the metal chloride in question is evaporated down, an anhydrous salt is formed, we may speak of hydration; if the evaporation gives rise to partial hydrolysis, i.e. hydrogen chloride is evolved, we may speak of aqua complex formation. No matter whether hydration or aqua complex formation is involved, the dissolution of metal ions is always accompanied by the breaking of hydrogenbonds between the water molecules and by the formation of ion-dipole or coordinate bonds, i.e. by the rearrangement of the water molecules. However, the water molecules bound directly to the metal ions form further hydrogenbonds through their hydrogen atoms, so that a second, more or less similarly ordered coordination sphere results. This is followed by the third sphere, a transition between the second coordination sphere and the bulk of the solvent.

In the case of cations dissolved in polar aprotic solvents, there is no second coordination sphere. The molecules bound in the first coordination sphere are no longer able for further interaction to form a definite shell with a different degree of ordering from that of the bulk of the solvent. The solvation conditions for cations in solvents of the above two types are illustrated in Fig. 6.1 [2].

Although the degree of ordering is lower in Case (b) than in Case (a) in Fig. 6.1, nevertheless (since there are only weak dipole-dipole interactions compared to hydrogen-bonds between the solvent molecules) solvation of Type (b) generally involves a larger solvation enthalpy change than does that of Type (a). Accordingly, the enthalpy change accompanying the transfer of a metal ion from aqueous solution into a polar aprotic solvent is negative. At the same time, solvation of Type (a) entails a considerable increase in the degree of disorder (relative to the bulk of the solvent), i.e. an entropy increase, which is in contrast with the effect of solvation of Type (b). To generalize, it may be stated that water and protic solvents in general are good solvents for the various



Fig. 6.1. Solvation of cations in (a) protic, and (b) polar aprotic solvents [2] (Reproduced with permission from Aust. J. Chem., 27, 477 (1974))

3. 6 13	Di	imethylsulpho	oxide	N, N	-dimethylformamide		
5- 14	⊿G _{trans}	ΔH_{trans}	- TAS _{trans}	⊿G _{trans}	14H _{trans}	- TAStrans	
	and the second		kJ n	nole ⁻¹	1012111	Sand The	
Li ⁺	-14.6	-26.4	/ 11.8	-9.6	- 32.2	22.6	
Na ⁺	-13.8	-27.6	1 13.8	-10.5	- 33.1	22.6	
K +	-12.1	- 34.7	22.6	-9.6	- 39.3	29.7	
Ag ⁺	- 33.5	- 54.8	21.3	-17.2	- 38.5	21.3	
NEt ⁺	-12.6	4.2	-16.8	-8.4	-0.8	-7.6	
C1-	38.5	18.8	19.6	46.0	21.3	247	
Br ⁻	25.5	3.3	22.2	30.1	3.3	26.8	
[-	9.2	-13.4	22.6	18.8	-13.8	32.6	
ClO_4^-	-1.3	-19.2	17.9	0.4	-22.6	23.0	

Table 6.1 Free energy	, enthalpy and	entropy c	hanges of	transfer of	some i	ons from	water
to dimethyls	ulphoxide and	to N, N'	-dimethylf	ormamide	at 25	С° [2]	

metal salts because of the positive solvation entropy, while the polar aprotic solvents are good solvents because of the negative solvation enthalpy.

As an illustration of the above considerations, Table 6.1 (based on the data of Cox *et al.* [2]) lists the free enthalpy, enthalpy and entropy changes for the transfer of some ions between water and two typically polar aprotic solvents. Table 6.1 also lists the halide ions serving as ligand.

The solvation conditions of the ligands are in general much less well clarified; quantitative data are available only for a few simple anion-ligands.

As concerns the halides as ligands, one of the most important points is that the fluoride ion forms very strong hydrogen-bonds with protic solvents, the chloride ion forms moderately strong ones, and the bromide ion forms weak ones, while the iodide ion is practically not incorporated into the system of hydrogen-bonds. One of the consequences of this is that the enthalpy change accompanying the transfer of the halide ions from water into polar aprotic solvents decreases in the sequence $Cl^- > Br^- > I^-$. For this reason, the chloride ion forms essentially more stable complexes in polar aprotic solvents than in water, whereas the stabilities of iodo complexes are almost the same in the two types of solvent. The data of Ahrland [3] are utilized in Table 6.2 to illustrate this phenomenon; Table 6.2 contains the stability constants of the halogeno complexes of Zn²⁺, Cd²⁺ and Hg²⁺ in water and in dimethylsulphoxide. The tabulated data reveal that the stabilities of the chloro complexes in the two solvents differ by several orders of magnitude, whereas those of the iodo complexes differ by only a few tenths of a log unit. It is interesting to observe that in aqueous solution the halocomplexes of Cd2+ are characterized by the sequence $\log K_1^{Cl} < \log K_1^{Br} < \log K_1^{l}$, while in dimethylsulphoxide the opposite sequence holds.

			and the second s	DMSO, 1 M NH ₄ ClO ₄		
in the second	CI-	Br ⁻	Ι-	Cl-	Br ⁻	Ι-
log K.	-0.19	-0.57	-1.50	1.94	0.84	-0.70
log K	-0.40	-0.8	-	0.89	2.89	1.41
log K ₃	0.75	0.5		2.26	1.34	0.15
log K,	1.49	1.76	2.08	3.23	2.92	2.18
log Ka	0.64	0.59	0.70	1.91	1.40	
log K	0.18	0.98	2.14	2.57	2.75	2.93
log K4	-	0.38	1.60	1.75	1.68	1.17
log K.	6.74	9.05	12.87	10.87	12.14	13.52
log Ka	6.48	8.28	10.95	7.10	8.06	9.76
log Ka	0.85	2.41	3.78	3.99	5.14	6.01
log K4	1.00	1.26	2.23	2.08	2.54	2.62
	og K ₁ og K ₂ og K ₃ log K ₂ log K ₃ log K ₄ log K ₂ log K ₃ log K ₄	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c } \hline Cl^- & Br^- & I^- & Cl^- \\ \hline \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$

Table 6.2 Stepwise stability constants of the halogeno complexes of Zn^{2+} , Cd^{2+} and Hg^{2+} [3]

It is well known that one basis for the classification of the metal ions with respect to their complex-forming tendencies is the sequence of stability of their halogeno complexes. However, the above data on the halogeno complexes of Cd^{2+} reveal that not only the properties of the metal ions, but also the tendencies of the halide ions to form hydrogen-bonds play important roles in the establishment of the stability sequence, which can therefore not be ascribed merely to the differences in the properties of the metal ions.

Information relating to the solvation conditions, to the geometry of the complexes formed and to variations in the geometry can also be obtained by comparing the enthalpy and entropy changes for the individual complex

Table 6.3 Stepwise formation enthalpy and entropy of cadmium halogeno complexes in water (25 C°, 3 M NaClO₄) and in DMSO (25 C°, 1 M NH₄ClO₄) (kJ mole⁻⁴) [3]

	Water						
	Cl-	Br ⁻	1-	Cl-	Br ⁻	Ι-	
-⊿H ₁	0.4	4.1	9.5	6.3	3.9	-2.4	
$-\Delta H_2$	-0.1	2.4	0.8	-15.0	-17.0	-27.0	
$-\Delta H_3$	-7.7	-7.2	3.1	-1.0	-2.0	5.0	
$-\varDelta H_4$	-	-1.3	15.9	12.2	13.0	9.5	
TAS,	8.6	5.9	2.4	12.2	12.8	14.9	
TAS2	3.8	0.9	3.1	26.2	28.0	34.9	
TAS3	8.6	12.8	9.2	15.8	17.6	11.9	
TAS4	-	3.3	-6.8	-2.1	-3.6	- 3.0	

formation steps [3]. Table 6.3 likewise presents data of Ahrland [3] on the halogeno complexes of Cd^{2+} .

It may be observed from the Table that ΔH_2 and ΔS_2 in dimethylsulphoxide, and ΔH_3 and ΔS_3 in water, are abnormally positive, which points to a change in the geometry in the corresponding steps. In the absence of any other ligand, cadmium is known to form octahedral solvates in both solvents [4-6]. In both solvents, the saturated CdI_4^{2-} has a tetrahedral structure [7, 8], and there is no doubt that $CdCl_4^2$ and $CdBr_4^2$ are also tetrahedral. In some step of the complex formation, therefore, a change in structure occurs, i.e. the coordination of a single ligand is accompanied by the release of three solvent molecules. It is obvious that this process entails a very considerable entropy increase. At the same time, because of the breaking of the bonds, this step is endothermic, or only slightly exothermic. The tabulated data clearly show that the octahedral +tetrahedral rearrangement takes place in the third step of complex formation in water, and in the second step in dimethylsulphoxide. It appears probable, however, that the whole series of complexes is characterized by the equilibrium of the octahedral and tetrahedral structures; at the beginning of the series, this equilibrium is shifted completely in favour of the octahedral configuration, whereas the tetrahedral structure becomes predominant at the step in question.

It is interesting to observe that in the initial steps, where the role of the change in geometry is not yet significant, the $-\Delta H$ values increase in the ligand sequence Cl⁻, Br⁻, I⁻ in water, whereas they decrease in the same sequence in dimethylsulphoxide. The role of the term $T\Delta S$ in the determination of the stability varies in exactly the opposite way. At the same time, it is obvious that the ionic or covalent nature of the Cd²⁺—X⁻ bonds is practically unchanged in the two solvents. This tendency draws attention to the fact that conclusions as to the covalent or ionic nature of the coordinate bonds can not be drawn by resolving the $-\Delta H$ and $T\Delta S$ data into separate terms; the relative values of the $-\Delta H$ and $T\Delta S$ data are basically determined by the properties of the solvent. This was pointed out by Prue [9] in 1969; by means of detailed theoretical considerations, he demonstrated that the proportions of the $-\Delta H$ and the T\Delta S data are governed not by the nature of the coordinate bond, but by the physicochemical parameters of the solvent [9].

The main regularities of the connection between solvation and the formation of metal complexes have become known only as a result of work during the past 10–15 years, and only for the simplest systems. It is clear that the connection between the two phenomena may be discovered primarily through comparative investigations in the pure solvents. An analysis of the conditions prevailing in mixed solvents would require the consideration of the interactions between the molecules of the two solvents too, which naturally makes evaluation of the results much more difficult.

20 Beck-Nagypál

In spite of this, during the past 10 years substantially more equilibrium studies have been carried out in mixed solvents containing water than in pure solvents. One of the reasons for this is undoubtedly that it is technically far easier to perform equilibrium investigations in water-containing mixed solvents than in absolute solvents. As the starting-point for the results obtained in watercontaining mixed solvents is virtually always the purely aqueous medium, a consideration of these results will be delayed until the questions of hydration and the formation of aqua complexes have been discussed.

It must additionally be noted that, in the large majority of the cases, the formation of ion pairs and the formation of molecular complexes are studied in absolute solvents, and such work has given rise to many results leading to a deeper understanding of the phenomenon of solvation. A discussion of this topic falls outside the scope of the present book, however, and we therefore merely refer the reader to some reviews and monographs [10–15].

6.2 The hydration numbers of ions and the stabilities of aqua complexes

In the course of the comparison of the solvation conditions in protic and in polar aprotic solvents, we have already touched upon the phenomena of hydration and the formation of aqua complexes. A characteristic datum of the process in both cases is the hydration number. A number of methods are known for the determination of the hydration number. It can be calculated, for example, from the solvent transport data relating to the migration of ions in an electric field [16], from the effects of electrolytes on the dissolution of non-electrolytes [17], from water activity data [18], from the densities of salt solutions [19, 20], from the quantity of water extracted together with salts during their extraction with organic solvents [21, 22], etc.

There are often very large differences between the data obtained with the various methods. In the case of aqua complexes, the number of water molecules coordinated directly to the metal ion can be determined by means of an NMR method, isotope exchange or density measurement, and the result accords with the characteristic coordination number of the ion in question with small ligands. However, the results obtained with other methods may differ considerably from this. Such differences can be understood by reference to Fig. 6.1: in the course of the migration of ions, for instance, the metal ion in question may be accompanied by the water molecules attached by hydrogen-bonds to the directly coordinated water molecules.

Further, even the 'characteristic' coordination number is questionable within the series of rare earth metal ions. Numerous data indicate that the characteristic coordination number decreases by one in the middle of the series [23]. Many investigations have recently been carried out to determine the coordination number and to establish the exact position of the decrease in the series [24–26]. Even without providing the detailed results, it appears highly likely that the reason why the coordination number is uncertain is that the methods applied for its determination are not equally sensitive to the presence of water molecules bound with different strengths. At the same time, it is also probable that the change in the coordination number does not occur as a sharp break in the series; it is more likely that there is a progressive shift in the equilibrium of the various structures throughout the series of rare earth metal ions [27].

In connection with the aqua complexes, the question arises of the necessity to know the stabilities and the stability constants: these data might serve as the bases of comparison for all of the stability constants measured in aqueous solution. It is quite obvious that, in the case of the aqua complexes, there is no sense in speaking of stepwise complex formation: the coordination spheres of the metal ions in aqueous solutions are always saturated. The stabilities of aqua complexes with the maximum coordination number can be calculated from data determined in the gas phase, on the basis of the corresponding thermodynamic cycles. Calculations of this nature were made by Yatsimirskii [28], whose results are presented in Table 6.4.

Cation	$-\Delta H$ kJ mole ⁻¹	T⊿S kJ mole ⁻¹	-⊿G kJ mole ⁻¹	$\log \beta_6$
Ca ²⁺	1217	-172	1045	184
Mn ²⁺	1289	-172	1117	196
Co ²⁺	1527	-172	1355	238
Ni ²⁺	1560	-172	1388	244
Cu2+	1565	-172	1393	245
Zn ²⁺	1502	-172	1330	234

Fable	6.4	Thermodynamic	constants	of	$Me_{(g)}^{2+}$	+6	$H_2O_{(g)} =$
		= Me(H ₂ O) _e	(g) reactions	[28]		

In mixed solvents, the concentration of water can be regulated so that the coordination sphere is only partially saturated with water molecules. However, if the counter-ion is not coordinated, the remaining coordination sites will be occupied by molecules of the organic solvent. If the concentration of water is then increased, the organic solvent molecules will be progressively displaced from the coordination sphere. Accordingly, in mixed solvents there is a possibility to examine substitution reactions of this type. Such equilibria were first studied by Bjerrum and Jørgensen [29]. They followed the variation in absorbance accompanying increase of the concentration of water in methanolic solutions of a number of metal ions. By using the method of corresponding

solutions, they calculated the values of the stepwise constants

$$K_{i} = \frac{[\text{MeS}_{N-i}(\text{H}_{2}\text{O})_{i}][\text{S}]}{[\text{MeS}_{N-i+1}(\text{H}_{2}\text{O})_{i-1}][\text{H}_{2}\text{O}]}.$$
(6.4)

Jørgensen later extended these investigations to other solvents [30].

The results were subsequently questioned by Katzin and Gebert [31]; they attributed the change in absorbance to the interaction between the metal ions and the counter-ions, in their opinion this interaction being influenced by variation of the water concentration. Finally, Jørgensen [32] came to the conclusion that the visible-ultraviolet spectra of salts in solvents of this type can not be interpreted by means of simple equilibrium considerations. The phenomenon that the anions are very strongly bound to the metal ions if the solvent is not capable of a sufficiently strong coordination is termed the Katzin effect [32]. With regard to the considerations and results discussed in Section 6.1, it is probable that a deeper interpretation of the phenomenon would also require that the interaction between the molecules of the two different solvents be taken into account, so that in effect the question remains open.

The data obtained by Bjerrum and Jørgensen [29] and by Jørgensen [30] are average constants. Later, the values of the stepwise constants too were determined; such values are given in Table 6.5. It should be mentioned that these tabulated data were calculated from the originally reported results, by taking into account the concentration of the organic solvent, via Eq. (6.4).

The values of the stepwise formation constants for the various systems may be plotted as a function of the ligand number and extrapolated to zero; such values were interpreted by Swinarski [33] as the stability constants of the aqua complexes. There is obviously no basis whatsoever for this assumption: the formation constants have chemical meaning only in the interval $1 \le i \le N$, the values of the formation constants being one by definition when i=0.

It has already been mentioned that the equilibrium relations in dilute or moderately concentrated solutions are characterized unambiguously by the constants calculated via Eq. (6.1), the solvent concentration being neglected. However, if the concentration of water differs substantially in the different systems, the values of the constants can no longer be compared directly. During the past 15 years, a number of attempts have been made to take into account the concentration of water, or the changes in its concentration, and to eliminate the role of water.

The results of these considerations will be surveyed in the next section.

The stepwise coordination of the solvent molecules must naturally be taken into consideration in all solvent mixtures, regardless of whether water is one of the components or not. As an example, mention may be made of the stepwise coordination of dimethylformamide to the central copper(II) ion in a solvent mixture of acetonitrile and dimethylformamide, studied by Ishiguro and Ohtaki

Table 6.5 Stepwise stability constants defined by Eq. (6.4)

Reference	[34] [34] [35] [35] [35] [35] [37] [37] [37] [37] [37] [37]
Remark	0.1 M Et ₄ NCIO ₄ K [*] ₅ K [*] ₅ From ref. [38] 0.1 M LiCIO ₄ 0.1 M Et ₄ NCIO ₄
Method	Polarography Spectrophot. Spectrophot. Spectrophot. Polarography Spectrophot. Spectrophot. Spectrophot. Spectrophot.
log K [*] ₆	$\begin{array}{c} 1.77\\ -0.04\\ -0.26\\ -\\ -0.57\\ -0.46\\ -0.56\\ -0.56\\ -0.24\\ -0.79\end{array}$
log K [*] ₅	1.79 1.79 0.07 1.41 1.41 2.51 2.22 1.82 2.33 1.82
log K [*]	2.29 2.12 0.28 1.78 1.78
log K [*]	2.41 2.58 0.35 1.93 1.93 1.93
log K [*] ₂	3.23 3.16 0.70 2.63 2.38 2.38
$\log K_1^*$	4.12 4.21 0.98 2.88 2.88 2.88
Solvent	Nitromethane Nitromethane Ethanol Ethanol Acetone Acetone Acetone Ethanol Acetone Ethanol Acetone Ethanol
Metal	Cu ²⁺ Cu ²⁺ Cu ²⁺ Cu ²⁺ Cu ²⁺ Cu ²⁺ Cu ²⁺ Cu ²⁺ Cu ²⁺

6.2 The hydration numbers of ions and the stabilities of aqua complexes

6 Compositions and stabilities of metal complexes



Fig. 6.2. Distribution curves of the $[Cu(DMF)_n]^{2+}$ (n=1-4) solvate complexes in the 0.1 M $(C_2H_5)_4$ NClO₄ acetonitrile solution. Numbers represent *n*, the number of DMF molecules within the complexes [302]

(Reproduced with permission from S-I., Ishiguro, and H., Ohtaki, *Thermodynamics and* Structure of Metal Complexes in Various Solvents, Dept. Electronic Chemistry, Tokyo Institute of Technology at Nagatsuta, 1985, p. 46.)

[302]. The stability constants were determined calorimetrically in Cu(ClO₄)₂ solutions, 0.1 M (C₂H₅)₄NClO₄ being applied to ensure a constant ionic medium. The stepwise coordination of dimethylformamide is described by the curves in Fig. 6.2. In fact, these complex formation processes are also substitution reactions, in the course of which the more weakly bound acetonitrile molecules are progressively replaced by dimethylformamide molecules.

6.3 Water as a component of complex formation equilibria

The vast majority of the complex equilibrium investigations during the past decades were carried out in aqueous medium. It became widely recognized that water as a solvent plays a fundamentally important role in the determination of the stability constants of metal ion complexes, and even in the sequence of their stabilities. It is understandable, therefore, that the attention of researchers turned towards the clarification of the role of water and the discovery of the quantitative correlations relating to its equilibrium chemical effects. For these purposes, many studies have been performed in water-containing solvent mixtures.

In water-containing solvent mixtures, the dielectric permittivity varies with the composition of the solvent, which therefore obviously influences the

constants of complex formation equilibria that involve a change in charge or in the charge distribution. The electrostatic considerations of Born and Bjerrum [48] suggested that the logarithms of the equilibrium constants should vary linearly as a function of the reciprocal of the permittivity. The experimental results, however, reveal that linearity is observed only in exceptional cases [49–51]; in a large majority of the more complicated systems, the variation is not linear [52–60]. In the interpretation of the causes of this, and in the establishment of the quantitative correlations concerning the role of water, work of outstanding importance was carried out by Marshall and Quist [39–45]. They determined the equilibrium constants of numerous relatively simple systems as a function of the concentration of water. The water concentration was changed by varying the pressure in the interval above the critical temperature, or by applying a water-dioxane solvent mixture. The results of



Fig. 6.3. Contrast in the dependence of molar ionization constant of NaI on the fugacity and the molar concentration of water, 500-800 °C [44] (Reproduced with permission from J. Phys. Chem., 74, 346 (1970))

6 Compositions and stabilities of metal complexes

their own studies and of their calculations utilizing the data of other authors indicated that the logarithm of the ion-pair formation constant varies strictly linearly as a function of the logarithm of the water concentration.

As an example, Fig. 6.3 depicts the logarithm of the dissociation constant of the ion pair NaI as a function of $\log C_{\rm H_2O}$. These data were measured in the temperature interval 500-800 °C and the pressure interval 1000-4000 bar. The upper part of the Figure depicts the dependence of the logarithm of the equilibrium constant on the fugacity of water in the same system. The Figure clearly demonstrates that the variation is much more difficult to interpret as a function of the fugacity than as a function of the water concentration. To explain their results, they proposed the introduction of the concept of the complete equilibrium constant. The essence of this is that the role of water is also taken into consideration in the equilibrium process

$$Me(H_2O)_x + L(H_2O)_y \rightleftharpoons MeL(H_2O)_w + k H_2O$$
(6.5)

where k = x + y - w. The following correlation holds between the complete constant defined in accordance with this equation (K°) and the traditionally defined equilibrium constant (K)

 $K^{\circ} = K/[H_2O]^k$

i.e.

$$\log K = \log K^{\circ} + k \log [H_2O].$$

(6.6)

According to Eq. (6.6), a linear change is in fact to be expected; the slope of the function is k, the difference between the sum of the hydration numbers of Me and L and that of the complex MeL. The validity of the Marshall considerations is particularly well illustrated by Fig. 6.4, in which the K° values found for a number of systems are to be seen as a function of the water concentration in the dioxane-water system on the left-hand side, and as a function of the pressure on the right-hand side.

Since the data in Fig. 6.4 relate to very wide ranges of solvent concentration, pressure, dielectric constant, etc., it may be stated that the value of the complete equilibrium constant is independent of all these parameters. For the sake of completeness, it must be noted that Bjerrum and Jørgensen too essentially determined the complete equilibrium constants in their investigations of aqua complexes [29, 30].

The practical importance of the approach involving the complete equilibrium constant is indisputable, but the theoretical interpretation of the results has been strongly criticized by Gilkerson [46] and Matheson [47]. The basis of their criticism is that in the Marshall definition the activity of water is the same as the prevailing molar concentration (at any temperature and pressure), i.e. the standard state too varies throughout the functions presented in the Figures. In the view of Marshall, although the standard state does vary, and therefore

6.3 Water as a component of complex formation equilibria



Fig. 6.4. Examples of the invariance of the complete equilibrium constant over extreme ranges of temperature, pressure, and dioxane-water composition [45] (Reproduced with permission from J. Phys. Chem., **76**, 720 (1972))

the free enthalpies of the individual ionic species also vary throughout the curves, their difference (K°) remains constant. The data in the Figures attest that this latter conclusion does hold for a wide range of examined systems, but it must be regarded merely as a practical observation; this relation can not be the general theoretical basis of thermodynamic considerations.

It is evident from the dispute that Marshall's treatment, just like any other description of a complicated system, is a simplification of the real situation, and that n should be regarded as an adjustable parameter rather than as the effective change in hydration. Nevertheless, it may be expected that it will be of use from both practical and theoretical points of view.

Setting out from Marshall's considerations, a number of other authors have interpreted the results of studies in solvent mixtures in terms of the change in water concentration. However, in 1970 the investigations by Faraglia, Rossotti and Rossotti [56] drew attention to the fact that, although the change in water concentration does play an important role in the case of the complexes of Ni²⁺,

Cu²⁺ and Zn²⁺ with pyridine, ethylenediamine and glycine, in itself this is not sufficient to explain the solvent effect. Their result that the ratios of the stepwise stability constants are the same in water, in 54.3 wt. % water-methanol and in 48.1 wt. % water-dioxane solvent mixtures is consistent with the view that water behaves as a component. The ratio K_1/K_2 is in fact the equilibrium constant of the process

$Me + MeL_2 \rightleftharpoons 2MeL$.

In these reactions, therefore, a water molecule is not released.

The studies by Mui, McBryde and Nieboer [55] demonstrate that, in a total description of the equilibrium conditions in a mixture containing two solvents capable of coordinating, it is necessary to take into consideration the coordination by both solvents and also their displacement from the coordination sphere.

Essentially the same conclusion was reached by Van Uitert, Spicer and Van Uitert [61].

They developed a method for the determination of the solvation number and the hydration constants of metal ions. By means of this method, it is possible (in principle) to determine 'intrinsic' stability constants that are independent of



 Fig. 6.5. Variation of the stability constant of transition metal complexes of N-p-tolylp-methylbenzohydroxamic acid with mole fraction of dioxane (x) [62].
 (Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 1663 (1976))

the nature of the solvent. Their aim in this case, therefore, was not to take into account the role of water, but rather to eliminate it. The method was discussed on the example of the pH-metric equilibrium study of ethyl acetoacetate complexes in water — ethanol solvent mixtures. The theoretical significance of the procedure based on the fairly involved considerations is obvious; however, too few data have yet been determined to allow an assessment of the capabilities and practical importance of the method.

In spite of the efforts that have been made to take into account or to eliminate the role of water, the effects of water and the various other solvents on the equilibrium conditions are far from clarified. In some cases, for example, the logarithm of the equilibrium constant varies linearly as a function of the mole fraction of the solvent (see Fig. 6.5). The main difficulty in the evaluation of equilibrium measurements made in solvent mixtures is that, with the change in composition of the mixture, all of the physico-chemical parameters of the solution will naturally also change. If the equilibrium constant is plotted as a function of any of these parameters, some characteristically shaped curve or even a straight line will be obtained. A plot of this type provides a good illustration of the correlation between the two quantities, but it can not be regarded as a functional connection expressing the causal relation.

The evaluation of data obtained in water-containing solvent mixtures is further complicated by the fact that pure water contains self-associations with different degrees of polymerization; accordingly, the concentration of monomeric or free water is not the same as the formally calculated water concentration. When the solution composition changes, or even when the salt concentration changes in more concentrated electrolyte solutions, the concentration of the monomeric, non-associated water will vary in an unknown manner.

6.4 Classification of metal complexes on the basis of composition

In the previous sections, we have seen that the metal ions are to be found in the form of aqua or solvo complexes in solution, and that the interaction with ligands is accompanied by the displacement of solvent molecules from the coordination sphere. In solvents with a tendency to undergo autoprotolysis, however, not only the neutral molecules, but also the products of autoprotolysis are present. The anionic product of the autoprotolysis is coordinated to metal ions substantially more strongly than the neutral solvent is. As concerns the equilibria between metal ions and solvent anions as ligands, investigations have been performed to date practically only on the hydrolysis of metal ions in aqueous solutions or in water-containing solvent mixtures. On the basis of their composition, therefore, the hydroxo complexes are to be regarded as the simplest complexes.

The mechanism of formation of hydroxo complexes differs fundamentally from that for other complexes: the OH⁻ does not displace a water molecule from the coordination sphere, but is produced by the dissociation of one of the protons of a coordinated water molecule

$$Me \leftarrow O \qquad H^{n+} + H_2 O \rightleftharpoons Me \leftarrow O - H^{(n-1)+} + H_3 O^+$$

Accordingly, this equilibrium indicates that metal ions in their solutions can be characterized by their acidic dissociation constants, in the same way as for simple weak acids. This analogy is not a total one, however, for the hydroxo complexes generally display a very strong tendency to polymerization, i.e. to the formation of complexes with the general formula $Me_x(OH)_y$. In the case of simple weak acids, di- and polymerization processes occur to only very slight extents. It is a further general characteristic feature of hydroxo complexes that the process of formation of the parent complexes $Me(OH), \ldots, Me(OH)_i, \ldots,$ $Me(OH)_N$ is very fast, whereas polymerization is otherwise a slow process. Thus, metal ions are very prone to form solutions that are supersaturated with respect to metal hydroxides, and in these solutions it is necessary to take into account metastable equilibria.

Apart from the series Me(OH), ..., Me(OH), ..., Me(OH),, all those complexes are termed parent complexes that can be characterized by the general formula MeL, ..., MeL_i, ..., MeL_N. In the sense of the previous sections, in these complexes too effectively two ligands, L and the solvent, are to be found in the coordination sphere, but as regards classification on the basis of composition the solvent is disregarded. A datum characteristic of the parent complexes is the maximum ligand number; for monodentate ligands this is the same as the maximum coordination number, while for multidentate ligands it naturally decreases as the number of functional groups in the ligand increases. The exclusive formation of parent complexes may be assumed only for ligands that are monodentate and contain only one electron pair capable of coordination (ammonia, amines). In all other cases, there is (in principle) a possibility for the formation of complexes with other compositions too; in practice, however, the formation of parent complexes is typical for the halides and for chelating ligands with relatively simple structures (glycine, ethylenediamine, glycollic acid). It must be mentioned that complexes with different compositions can also be formed in appreciable concentrations in solutions of ligands generally forming parent complexes, if the concentration conditions are extreme (see Figs 3.26 (a)-(d)).

Complexes containing more than one metal ion are termed polynuclear complexes. The simplest group of these consists of the polynuclear hydroxo complexes. In the Sillén school, the correlations, laws and calculation methods (already discussed in detail in Chapters 3 and 5) relating to the processes of formation of polynuclear complexes were elaborated with a view to interpreting the results obtained essentially from studies of metal ion hydrolysis. In the polynuclear hydroxo complexes, the OH^- ion acts as a bridging ligand; with the exception of the Hg_2^{2+} ion, direct metal ion-metal ion bonding occurs only exceptionally in solution. The Hg_2^{2+} ion does not dissociate in aqueous solution, and its complexes can therefore be treated as mononuclear complexes.

There is a possibility for the formation of polynuclear complexes if a donor atom coordinated to a metal ion has an additional pair of electrons capable of coordination, or if the situation of the donor atoms does not allow all of them to coordinate to one metal ion. The group acting as the bridge may therefore be a monoatomic, an oligoatomic or a polyatomic, polyfunctional ligand. In complexes containing monoatomic bridges, the bridging atom may be coordinated to two or more metal ions, e.g.

Ag—I—Ag	2+	Zn—O—Zn	3+
Ag	1.000	H	

It is obvious that only atoms containing more than one non-bonding electron pair can behave as bridging ligands, though this in itself is not a sufficient, only a necessary condition. It has not yet been demonstrated that water can act as a bridging ligand, though this possibility can not be ruled out in a watercontaining solvent mixture with appropriate composition. The following ions may act as monoatomic bridging ligands: F^- , Cl^- , Br^- , I^- , O^{2-} , OH^- , RO^- , S^{2-} , HS^- , RS^- , Se^{2-} , HSe^- , RSe^- , Te^{2-} , HTe^- , and RTe^- , where R is an organic group.

The characteristic feature of the oligoatomic bridging ligands is that the different donor atoms are either bonded directly to one another, or are separated by at most one other atom, e.g.



There are extremely varied types of polyatomic bridging ligands. However, an essential difference may and must be made between the complexes formed with monoatomic or oligoatomic bridging ligands and those formed with polyatomic bridging ligands. The mono- and oligoatomic ligands form polynuclear complexes only with a well-defined group of metal ions, the properties of the metal ions governing whether or not the structure in question is stabilized.

The donor groups of the polyatomic ligands, however, are situated at greater distances from one another, and they are practically capable of mutually independent coordination; thus, if a metal ion forms a complex at all, then it will automatically form mono- and polynuclear complexes. This latter phenomenon may be illustrated on the example of the equilibrium constants of the copper(II) complexes of 2,7-diaminosuberic acid, HCOO—CH(NH₂)—CH₂—CH₂—CH₂—CH₂—CH₂—CH(NH₂)—COOH. In agreement with statistical considerations, in this system the logarithm of the formation constant of the complex Cu—L—Cu is exactly twice the logarithm of the formation constant of the complex Cu(LH) [63]. Other polynuclear complexes too are formed in this system, of course; of these, the cyclic complex Cu $<_{I}$ Cu is of outstanding

stability. Ring formation of this nature is typical for virtually all types of polynuclear complexes; the phenomenon is to be observed particularly clearly during the hydrolysis of metal ions, and the hydroxo complexes MOH are stabilized in the form $HO < \frac{M}{M} > OH$.

The energetic background of the tendency to ring formation has been studied quite comprehensively in the cases of chelate and macrocyclic complexes, and we shall deal with this question in some detail later. Ring formation in polynuclear complexes can in all probability be interpreted in terms of the entropy effect accepted as a simplified explanation of the chelate effect; nevertheless, the deeper correlations remain unclarified.

The metal ions coordinated to a given ligand in polynuclear complexes may be identical or different. In the event of the coordination of different metal ions, we speak of the formation of mixed metal complexes. A special type of mixed metal complexes comprises those complexes in which the ligand is coordinated to ions of one metal, but in different oxidation states. Such complexes are known as mixed valent metal complexes.

In the course of equilibrium studies in aqueous solutions, it is often necessary to take into account the acid-base reaction between H_3O^+ and the complex(es) formed. The reaction may take place by two different pathways: by complete displacement of the ligand from the coordination sphere of the metal ion, through rupture of the corresponding coordinate bonds, or without this. An exception is the protonation of hydroxo complexes, when the bond between the metal ion and the O donor atom does not break; however, the composition of the ligand is changed, and hence this process too can be regarded as total displacement.

The general equation of the process involving total displacement of the ligand is

$$MeL + H \rightleftharpoons Me + HL$$
.

The equilibrium constant of this reaction is not independent of the constants for the processes $Me + L \rightleftharpoons MeL$ and $H + L \rightleftharpoons HL$; it can be calculated directly from them.

In processes in which the ligand is not displaced completely, protonated complexes are formed. In this case, the equilibrium constant of the reaction

MeL+H≓MeLH

is independent of the constants for the other equilibria, and is a characteristic datum for the protonation of the complex.

In the appropriate concentration and pH ranges, ligands containing several functional groups practically always form protonated complexes. The protonated donor group is generally not coordinated to the metal ion, but the other donor groups of the ligand remain in the coordination sphere. Exceptionally, however, even in the cases of mono- and oligoatomic ligands, it does occur that the protonated donor atom too remains in the coordination sphere. The complex acid of composition FeCl₃HCl, for example, can be regarded as the protonated complex FeCl₄H. The extensive solubilities of Ag₂SO₄ or PbSO₄ in concentrated sulphuric acid may similarly be interpreted in terms of the formation of protonated sulphato complexes. The changes induced by perchloric acid in the NMR relaxation properties and the visible spectrum of an aqueous solution of the vanadyl ion have been explained by the protonation of one of the equatorially coordinated water molecules, and by the continued presence of the H_3O^+ ion in the coordination sphere [64]. A similar protonation without the rupture of the bond between the metal ion and the donor atom can naturally also occur in the case of the more complicated chelating ligands. It should be noted, however, that structural questions of this nature can not be decided from the results of equilibrium investigations. Findings as to the structures of protonated complexes can be made only from the simultaneous application of equilibrium methods and structural examination procedures.

The schemes for the protonation of complexes may be particularly complicated if the ligands contain a number of donor groups, each of which is independently capable of forming a coordinate bond. As an example, Fig. 6.6 presents the scheme of protonation and complex formation in the system Ni²⁺-2,5diaminopentanoic acid (ornithine); the ligand here is a relatively simple one, containing donor groups corresponding to one α -amino acid and one aliphatic amine. By means of careful pH-metric examinations in a wide range of 6 Compositions and stabilities of metal complexes





concentrations, Brookes and Pettit [65] succeeded in demonstrating the formation of all of the complexes indicated in Fig. 6.6.

In the system presented in the Figure, practically only the chelating coordination of the amino acid group need be considered; coordination by the chain terminal amino group may be disregarded.

The situation is more complicated if the ligand in question contains two different donor groups, both of which are able to take part in chelate formation, and which are of comparable strengths from the aspect of complex formation. In such cases (as we have already mentioned), the formation occurs of both binuclear (or possibly polynuclear complexes, linked together in a chain-like manner) and protonated complexes. A possibility also exists for the formation of a new type of complex, mixed bonding mode complexes. The most typical and the most generally investigated ligand of this nature is 3,4-dihydroxy-L- β phenylalanine DOPA. In the DOPA-metal ion systems, the complexes containing two ligands can occur in different structural arrangements, with one ligand being coordinated to the metal ion in a pyrocatechol-like manner, and the other in an α -amino acid-like manner. In systems of this type, of course, equilibrium chemical analysis is suitable only for establishment of the composition of the complex formed; conclusions as to the bonding mode can be drawn only from the results of structural studies.

Naturally, a complex of this type can also be formed if the solution in question contains pyrocatechol and α -alanine as independent ligands. In this case we speak of the formation of mixed ligand complexes. If we consider the findings in the earlier subsections dealing with solvation, with the exceptions of the coordinately saturated and the solvated metal ion, all of the members of the series MeL, ..., MeL_i, ..., MeL_N can in effect be regarded as mixed ligand complexes; however, from the aspect of the classification based on the
composition, the solvent is disregarded. We generally speak of mixed ligand complex formation only if two different ligands (not identical with the solvent) are coordinated in the inner coordination sphere of the same metal ion. Two different ligands may also be associated with one metal ion in a different way: one of these ligands reacts with the metal ion to form a coordinately saturated complex, which is generally an ionic complex; the second ligand is then coordinated to this through electrostatic bonds, in the second coordination sphere. Such complexes are termed outer sphere complexes.

6.5 The chelate effect and the macrocyclic effect

The chelate effect, first defined by Schwarzenbach [66], is one of the oldest known phenomena in the chemistry of complex equilibria; even today, it remains a dispute topic. Its essence is that ligands containing two or more donor groups in such an arrangement that they are able to form five- or six-membered rings on coordinating to the metal ion yield complexes with substantially larger stability constants than those of the analogous complexes of the corresponding monodentate ligands. As an example, the formation constants of the zinc(II) complexes of ethylenediamine are $\log \beta_1 = 5.92$ and $\log \beta_2 = 11.07$. The formation constant of the complex of the tetrafunctional triethylenetetramine, which contains the same number of Zn—N bonds, is one order of magnitude higher: $\log \beta_1 = 12.1$. Likewise, the formation constants of the diamino and tetraamino complexes, which do not produce a chelate ring are more than one order of magnitude lower: $\log \beta_2 = 4.81$ and $\log \beta_4 = 9.46$.

The simplest explanation for the increased stability of chelate complexes is the entropy increase accompanying their formation [67, 68]. Let us compare the formation of the zinc(II) complexes of ammonia and ethylenediamine in aqueous solution:

$$Zn(H_2O)_6^{2+} + 2NH_3 \rightleftharpoons Zn(NH_3)_2(H_2O)_4^{2+} + 2H_2O$$

$$Zn(H_2O)_6^{2+} + en \rightleftharpoons Zn(en)(H_2O)_4^{2+} + 2H_2O.$$

In the ammonia reaction, the number of mutually independent species in solution does not vary, whereas in the ethylenediamine reaction three species are formed from two. By this means, the degree of order of the system decreases, and the entropy increases, which is reflected in a higher stability.

The chelate effect can also be interpreted on the basis of considerations relating to probability calculations and kinetics. It may be presumed that, when behaving as a monodentate ligand, ethylenediamine forms a complex with almost the same stability as that of ammonia. The other donor group of ethylenediamine is situated in the vicinity of the metal ion. This can be conceived

21 Beck-Nagypál

6 Compositions and stabilities of metal complexes

as a situation in which the concentration of the donor group is essentially higher in the vicinity of the reaction partner; accordingly, it is much more probable that ring closure will occur than that a second ammonia molecule (to be found at a much greater distance in the solution) will be coordinated [66].

To confirm the correctness of this interpretation, instead of giving the numerical values of the formation constants let us examine the extent to which the concentration of metal ion not bonded in the complex decreases as a function of the free ligand concentration.

Figure 6.7 depicts the log $\alpha_{Zn^{2+}} = \log\left(1/\sum_{0}^{N} \beta_{i}[L]^{i}\right)$ functions for the ammo-

nia, ethylenediamine and triethylenetetramine complexes of Zn(II) as functions of the logarithm of the equilibrium ligand concentration. Figure 6.7 clearly shows that, with the increase of the concentration, there is a steady decrease in the difference in ability to complex the metal ion; indeed, at certain extremely high concentrations, ammonia diminishes the concentration of free zinc(II) ions to a better extent than do the other two ligands.



Fig. 6.7. $-\log \alpha_{Zn^2}$, functions, representing the complex forming ability of ammonia, ethylenediamine and trimethylenetetramine, as a function of the free ligand concentration

310

The vertical section in the Figure (full line) relates to a ligand concentration of 1 M. At this concentration there is still a considerable difference in metal ion-binding capacity: the difference in the log $\alpha_{Zn^{2+}}$ values is practically equal to the difference in the log β_1^{trien} , log β_2^{en} and log $\beta_4^{\text{NH}_3}$ data. The concentration of 1 M indicated in the Figure effectively corresponds in the standard state used to express equilibrium constants. Thus, the given concentration-dependence too suggests the justification of the interpretation put forward by Adamson in 1954 [69]: the chelate effect is a consequence of the asymmetry of the standard states. The asymmetry of the standard states means that the concentrations of the reacting species are expressed in M, while the concentration of the solvent (water) playing important role in the process is expressed by convention in mole fraction, i.e. the concentration of the solvent does not feature in the equations defining the equilibrium constants. Comparative calculations on numerous systems have demonstrated that in many cases the chelate effect disappears; indeed, for complexes of Zn²⁺ and Cd²⁺ it changes sign if the concentrations of all the reacting ionic species are expressed uniformly in mole fractions, i.e. the pure forms of the reacting substances are regarded as the reference or standard states. Figure 6.7 reveals that, in the concentration interval 10-50 M, corresponding to ligands with unit mole fraction, ammonia is the strongest complex former in the systems in question. The same conclusion is reached if the constants expressed in the concentration units M are calculated in terms of mole fractions. In such calculations, it must be considered that the concentration of water in dilute solutions is ca. 55.5 M, and relative to this the amounts of all other ionic species are negligible. Accordingly*

 $\log \beta_4^{x_{\text{NH}_3}} = 9.46 + 4 \log 55.5 = 16.44 > \log \beta_2^{\text{en}} = 11.07 + 2 \log 55.5 = 14.56 >$ $> \log \beta_1^{x_{\text{trien}}} = 12.1 + \log 55.5 = 13.84$

The vertical dashed line in Fig. 6.7 denotes the conditions prevailing in dilute aqueous solutions, but relating to unit mole fraction as standard state. It is readily observed and confirmed that the difference in the $\log \alpha_{Zn^{2+}}$ values for the individual ligands at this point is equal to the difference in the constants expressed in terms of mole fractions.

For the sake of completeness, it should be noted that, as shown in Fig. 6.7, the chelate effect disappears only for some metal ions; for the widely studied Cu^{2+} , Ni^{2+} and Co^{2+} complexes, the log α_{Me} curves intersect one another only in chemically meaningless concentration ranges, i.e. the equilibrium constants

* The symbol x above the β indicates that the formation constants are expressed in terms of mole fractions.

21*

expressed in terms of mole fractions likewise display a considerable difference in favour of the polyfunctional ligands. As an example, for Cu^{2+}

$\log \beta_4^{\text{NH}_3} = 12.67 + 4 \log 55.5 = 19.65 < \log \beta_2^{\text{en}} = 20.03 + 2 \log 55.5 = 23.52$

For the constants expressed in terms of mole fractions too, the aqueous ethylenediamine complex is nearly four orders of magnitude more stable than the tetrammine complex.

From a comparison of the ring-closure of paraffins and chelate-formation processes, Westheimer and Ingraham [70] drew attention to the fact that, although the number of species with independent states of motion increases as a consequence of chelate formation, the closure of the chelate ring is accompanied by a loss in the possibilities of the ligand to rotate, i.e. by an entropy decrease, and hence the stability decreases. In the sections dealing with solvation, we have seen that the entropy change accompanying complex formation is influenced fundamentally by whether the solvent molecules leaving the coordination sphere become 'free', or take part in the relatively strong hydrogenbonding system of the solvent. Another factor impeding the comparison of the stabilities of complexes formed from mono- or from polydentate ligands is that the values of the constants are also influenced by the different basicities of the donor groups of the ligand.

The outlined problems explain why the interpretation and quantitative description of the chelate effect remain at the centre of interest. The results and considerations published up to 1966 were reviewed by Martell [71]. The subsequent period has not led to comprehensive discoveries valid for a wide range of systems; the recent work has concentrated primarily on the laws relating to the various types of systems.

By taking into account the steric hindrance and the difference in the basicities of the ligands, Hancock and Marsicano [72] introduced the equation

$$\log K_1^{\text{polyamine}} = 1.152 \log \beta_n^{\text{NH}_3} + (n-1) \log 55.5 \tag{6.7}$$

between the formation constants of the corresponding complexes of ammonia and the polyfunctional amines $H(NHCH_2CH_2)_yNH_2$ (y=1-4). Figure 6.8 confirms the validity of this equation [73].

The full lines in this Figure are not the best-fitting lines, but those with slope 1.152 and intercept $(n-1) \log 55.5$ calculated from Eq. (6.7). The enthalpy and entropy changes accompanying complex formation by polyamines forming five- and six-membered chelate rings were interpreted with satisfactory accuracy on the basis of calculations designed to minimize the conformational energy [73, 74].

As a result of calculations involving cyclic processes of Born-Haber type, Myers [75] demonstrated that the difference in dissolution heats of the



Fig. 6.8. Plot of log K_1 (polyamine) vs. log β_n (NH₃) for complexes of various metal ions with *n*-dentate polyamine ligands forming five-membered rings on complex formation Dotted lines connect points for the same metal ion with different polyamines [73]

(Reproduced with permission from Inorg. Chem. 18, 2847 (1979))

mono- and the polyfunctional ligands plays a part in the stability of chelate complexes; in some cases, however, it must be taken into consideration as a stability-decreasing factor. The enthalpy change accompanying the reaction

$$Cd(NH_2CH_3)_4^{2+} + 2en \rightleftharpoons Cd(en)_2^{2+} + 4CH_3NH_2$$

in aqueous solution is $+2.9 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$, for instance. Myers assumed that the enthalpy change accompanying formation of the Cd–N bond is the same in the hypothetical gas phase; since the difference in the corresponding dissolution heats of the ligands, $2\Delta H_s^{en} - 4\Delta H_s^{CH_3NH_2}$, is $+34.9 \text{ kJ mol}^{-1}$, it turns out that each Cd–N bond in the complex Cd(en)₂²⁺ in aqueous solution is 8 kJ mol⁻¹ weaker than those in the complex Cd(CH₃NH₂)₄²⁺.

Rosseinsky regarded the solvent as a featureless continuum, and on this basis carried out comparative calculations to interpret the complex-forming properties of ligands containing sterically near and sterically distant donor atoms [76].

The authors of publications with the aim of explaining the chelate effect often pose the question of whether the effect is a real phenomenon in equilibrium chemistry, or whether it arises from the contradictions in the choice of standard state. In our view, this is not the essence of the question. It must be borne in mind that, by defining the standard state, we effectively define the reaction conditions. More exactly, we extrapolate to the reaction conditions corresponding to the standard states on the basis of studies made under given experimental conditions, and calculate the ΔG , ΔH and ΔS values holding under these defined reaction conditions.

The equilibrium $MX_2 + Y \Longrightarrow MY + 2X$ which serves to characterize the chelate effect is clearly just as sensitive to the reaction conditions as any other equilibrium reaction. The customary definition of the standard state is 1 *M* with respect to the dissolved components, and unit mole fraction with respect to the solvent. Under such reaction conditions, the above equilibrium is generally shifted to the right, and this phenomenon is known as the chelate effect. Without a definition of the conditions, i.e. of the standard state, however, we must beware of such general statements as "Y is a stronger complex former than X". (Or "Cd²⁺ ion forms a more stable complex with chloride than with iodide", unless we add "in dimethylsulphoxide" (see Table 6.2).)

The stability constants of complexes of chelate-forming ligands obviously depend on the distance between the donor atoms, i.e. the number of atoms in the chelate ring, and also on the size of the metal ion and the geometry of the complex formed. For bidentate ligands it is a general rule that ligands containing donor atoms in an arrangement suitable for the formation of a five-membered ring yield more stable complexes than ligands containing the same donor atoms, but able to form only a six-membered chelate ring. For example, the stability constants of ethylenediamine, oxalate and glycinate complexes are larger than those of the corresponding complexes of 1,3-diaminopropane, malonate and β -alanine. Metals which tend to form complexes with linear geometry (e.g. Ag⁺, Cu⁺ and Hg²⁺) are exceptions: for these, the complexes containing the higher number of ring atoms may be more stable.

The connection between the number of ring atoms and the stability is particularly interesting in the complexes of ligands that are able to form coupled chelate rings, or when the chelate rings form macrocyclic complexes. The complex-forming properties of ligands yielding coupled chelate rings, and the connection between the number of ring atoms and the stability, have been investigated by a number of authors. For the linear polyamine complexes, for instance, Margerum *et al.* [77] found that the Ni²⁺ complexes of polyamines forming 5,5 or 5,6-membered chelate rings are of roughly the same stability, whereas the Cu²⁺, Ni²⁺ and Zn²⁺ complexes of a polyamine forming 5,5,5-membered chelate rings. The difference in stability depends to a large extent on the metal ion: the difference between the constants is 3.8 for the Cu²⁺ complexes, 2.0 for the Ni²⁺ complexes, and merely 0.7 log unit for the Zn²⁺ complexes.

The difference in stability is naturally also dependent on the structure of the ligand. For example, Nakahara *et al.* [78, 79] reported that the Cu^{2+} complexes

of Schiff bases forming 5,6-membered coupled chelate rings are more stable than those of Schiff bases forming 5,5-membered chelate rings, while dipeptides forming 5,5 or 5,6-membered chelate rings give complexes of the same stability.

Many authors have studied this phenomenon [80–88], and accordingly the sequence of stability is known for numerous types of systems. It is a general rule that the complexes of ligands able to form only 5-membered coupled chelate rings are less stable than those complexes in which a 6-membered ring too occurs. The stability sequence varies, however; it depends on the nature of the donor atom, its hybrid state, the size of the metal ion and the geometry of the complex.

Macrocycles can be regarded as a special type of ligands that form coupled chelate rings. As long ago as 1969, Cabbiness and Margerum [89] established that 5,7,7,12,14,14-hexamethyl-1,4,8,11-tetraazacyclotetradecane forms a Cu²⁺ complex which is four orders of magnitude more stable than the analogous complex of the linear tetramine that forms coupled chelate rings with the same number of ring atoms. They named this phenomenon the macrocyclic effect and, similarly to the chelate effect, interpreted it as an entropy effect. Following this, wide-ranging research work began with a view to determining and explaining the equilibrium, thermodynamic and structural data on the metal complexes of macrocycles [90–96]. The results to date reveal that the maximum macrocyclic effect is to be observed for 1,4,8,11-tetraazacyclotetradecane (cyclam) and its derivatives, which yield 5,6,5,6-membered chelate rings, and that the more favourable enthalpy and entropy changes also play a part in the stability increase relative to the linear amines.

6.6 Factors determining the ratios of the equilibrium constants

As a result of application of the experimental methods and evaluation procedures discussed in Chapters 4 and 5, we obtain the β values characteristic of the formation of the various associations from the components. In themselves, these data are generally not suitable for a comparative analysis of the equilibrium conditions in the system in question. The interpretation of the data requires the derived equilibrium constants, which are typical of the equilibrium state of each part-process, of the relative stabilities of the various complexes, of the stabilities of the metal complexes relative to those of the proton complexes, etc. These data may be given as an appropriate combination of the β values, generally as their quotients.

For some types of complexes, the expected values of the derived constants may also be calculated on the basis of statistical considerations. The startingpoint in the statistical considerations is the assumption that the same interactions must be considered in each of the part-processes of complex formation; thus, the values of the constants, or their ratios, are determined by the number of possibilities of formation of the complex of given composition. From a chemical aspect, this starting assumption is clearly incorrect. Nevertheless, there is a need for the data calculated on the statistical basis, for the differences from these provide an indication of the specific interactions. Accordingly, we shall deal first with the statistical procedures that have been developed for the various types of equilibrium systems, and then with the considerations designed to interpret the differences from the expected values.

6.6.1 Statistical considerations

In Section 3.5 we have seen that, as concerns the formation of the parent complexes, the values of the stepwise stability constants must decrease for statistical reasons. Table 3.13 showed the expected values of the ratios of the constants for various maximum numbers of ligands, assuming the coordination of monodentate ligands. The Bjerrum considerations were extended by Sen [97], who took into account the coordination of polydentate ligands in a definite geometry. We shall deal here in any detail only with the octahedral coordination of a ligand containing two identical donor atoms. In the first step, the ligand may coordinate along any of the 12 edges of the octahedron, while its dissociation can occur in only one way. The second ligand can coordinate only along 5 edges, but dissociation can now take place in 2 ways. Finally, the third ligand can coordinate only along one edge, whereas there are now 3 possibilities for dissociation. This ratio must be modified, for one of the five possible complexes with composition MeA2 (in which the ligands are to be found in one plane) is not capable of accepting a third ligand. For the expected ratios of the constants, therefore, we have

$$\left(\frac{K_1}{K_2}\right)_{\text{stat}} = \frac{12}{1} \times \frac{2}{5} = 4.8$$
 (6.8)

i.e. $\log (K_1/K_2)_{\text{stat}} = 0.68$, and

$$\left(\frac{K_2}{K_3}\right)_{\text{stat}} = \frac{5}{2} \times \frac{3}{1} \times \frac{5}{4} = 9.375$$
 (6.9)

i.e. $\log (K_2/K_3)_{\text{stat}} = 0.97$.

From an analysis of the possibilities of formation, it is also possible to calculate the statistical value of the equilibrium constant for the formation of the mixed ligand complex from the parent complexes,

$$MeA_2 + MeB_2 \Longrightarrow 2MeAB.$$

Let us take a system containing a metal ion and two ligands, in which the possibilities of coordination of ligands A and B are the same. The probabilities of occurrence of the various reactions are shown by Scheme 1:





The scheme reveals that the probabilities of formation of the complexes MeA₂ and MeB₂ are each $\frac{1}{2} \times \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{4}$, while that for MeAB is $2 \times \frac{1}{2} \times \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2}$. Thus, the value expected for the equilibrium constant of the process on a statistical basis is $(1/2)^2/(1/4)^2 = 4$. The statistical value of the equilibrium constant for the process Me + A + B \cong MeAB also follows from this

$$\beta_{\text{MeAB}}^{\text{stat}} = 2\sqrt{\beta_{\text{MeA}_2}\beta_{\text{MeB}_2}}$$

$$\log \beta_{\text{MeAB}}^{\text{stat}} = \frac{1}{2} (\log \beta_{\text{MeA}_2} + \log \beta_{\text{MeB}_2}) + \log 2$$
(6.10)

The values to be expected on a statistical basis for the formation constants of the complexes with compositions MeA_2B , MeB_2A and MeABC can be calculated in a similar way:

$$\log \beta_{MeA_2B}^{stat} = \frac{2}{3} \log \beta_{MeA_3} + \frac{1}{3} \log \beta_{MeB_3} + \log 3$$
(6.11)

$$\log \beta_{MeAB_2}^{stat} = \frac{1}{3} \log \beta_{MeA_3} + \frac{2}{3} \log \beta_{MeB_3} + \log 3$$
(6.12)

$$\log \beta_{\text{MeABC}}^{\text{stat}} = \frac{1}{3} \log \beta_{\text{MeA}_3} + \log \beta_{\text{MeB}_3} + \log \beta_{\text{MeC}_3} + \log 6 \qquad (6.13)$$

The same results can naturally also be reached by other means too [98].

In the earlier statistical considerations relating to the formation of mixed ligand complexes, the starting-point was always that the statistical laws hold for the entire equilibrium system, and within this for the parent complexes too. However, the equilibrium constants of the parent complexes are generally known prior to the studies on the mixed ligand complexes, and it was found that their ratios agree with the values to be expected on a statistical basis only exceptionally. We therefore regarded it as reasonable to perform partially statistical considerations, in which the actual equilibrium conditions for the parent complexes are taken into account, and only the probabilities of formation of the mixed ligand complexes are calculated statistically.

Let us take as an example a system containing a metal ion and two ligands. It can readily be seen that, as concerns the monocoordinated complexes, the probability of formation of the complex MeA is $K_1^{A}[A]/(K_1^{A}[A] + K_1^{B}[B])$, while that of the complex MeB is $K_1^{B}[B]/(K_1^{A}[A] + K_1^{B}[B])$. (The sum of the two probabilities is 1, of course.) If we consider the reactions of the complexes MeA and MeB with further ligands in terms of the analogous probability data, we obtain Scheme 2:



As regards the values of X and Y, we may make use of the following assumptions:

(a) The monocoordinated complexes display the same affinity towards both ligands. The affinity of MeA for ligand A is characterized by K_2^A , and the assumption of the identical affinities therefore leads to $X = K_2^A$ and $Y = K_2^B$.

(b) The ligands display the same affinity for the monocoordinated complexes, i.e. $X = K_2^B$ and $Y = K_2^A$.

Assumptions (a) and (b) are clearly contradictory. This arises from the fact that the processes MeA + B \rightleftharpoons MeAB and MeB + A \rightleftharpoons MeAB, which depend on both reaction partners, are characterized merely on the basis of the properties of one of the partners. In actual systems, on a statistical basis it is to be expected that the properties of both partners play equal roles in the determination of X and Y, i.e. we have $X = Y = (K_2^A K_2^B)^{1/2}$. Setting out from this latter relation

$$K_{\text{stat}} = \frac{[\text{MAB}]^{2}}{[\text{MA}_{2}][\text{MB}_{2}]} = \frac{\left(\frac{K_{1}^{\text{A}}[\text{A}]}{K_{1}^{\text{A}}[\text{A}] + K_{1}^{\text{B}}[\text{B}]} \cdot \frac{\sqrt{K_{2}^{\text{A}}K_{2}^{\text{B}}[\text{B}]}}{K_{2}^{\text{A}}[\text{A}] + \sqrt{K_{2}^{\text{A}}K_{2}^{\text{B}}[\text{B}]}} + \frac{K_{1}^{\text{B}}[\text{B}]}{K_{1}^{\text{A}}[\text{A}] + K_{1}^{\text{B}}[\text{B}]} \cdot \frac{\sqrt{K_{2}^{\text{A}}K_{2}^{\text{B}}[\text{A}]}}{K_{2}^{\text{B}}[\text{B}] + \sqrt{K_{2}^{\text{A}}K_{2}^{\text{B}}[\text{B}]}} + \frac{K_{1}^{\text{B}}[\text{B}]}{K_{1}^{\text{A}}[\text{A}] + K_{1}^{\text{B}}[\text{B}]} \cdot \frac{\sqrt{K_{2}^{\text{A}}K_{2}^{\text{B}}[\text{A}]}}{(K_{1}^{\text{A}}[\text{A}] + K_{1}^{\text{B}}[\text{B}])^{2}(K_{2}^{\text{A}}[\text{A}] + \sqrt{K_{2}^{\text{A}}K_{2}^{\text{B}}[\text{B}]})(K_{2}^{\text{B}}[\text{B}] + \sqrt{K_{2}^{\text{A}}K_{2}^{\text{B}}[\text{A}]})}$$
(6.14)

Equation (6.14) may be rearranged and simplified in a series of simple elementary steps, so as to give the following relation

$$K_{\text{stat}} = 2 + \frac{K_1^{\text{A}}}{K_1^{\text{B}}} \sqrt{\frac{K_2^{\text{B}}}{K_2^{\text{A}}}} + \sqrt{\frac{K_2^{\text{A}}}{K_2^{\text{B}}}} \frac{K_1^{\text{B}}}{K_1^{\text{A}}}.$$
 (6.15)

Equation (6.15) means that the equilibrium constant of the process $MeA_2 + MeB_2 \rightleftharpoons$ $\rightleftharpoons 2MeAB$ is 4 only if it holds that $K_1^A/\sqrt{K_2^A} = K_1^B/\sqrt{K_2^B}$. In cases where this is not so, a value larger than 4 is to be expected on a statistical basis. Figure 6.9 shows a plot of the value of log K_{stat} calculated via Eq. (6.15), as a function of log $(K_1^A/\sqrt{K_2^A})(\sqrt{K_2^B}/K_1^B)$. In those systems in which the values of the constants agree with the data calculated via (6.15), the mixed ligand complex reflects the equilibrium conditions prevailing in the parent complexes. Differences from the calculated data are indicative of the specific effects characterizing formation of the mixed ligand complex. The interpretation here requires special chemical considerations.

For the sake of completeness, it should be noted that, if assumption (a) holds, i.e. $X = K_2^A$ and $Y = K_2^B$, we have

$$K_{\text{stat}} = 2 + K_1^{\text{A}} / K_1^{\text{B}} + K_1^{\text{B}} / K_1^{\text{A}}$$
(6.16)

6 Compositions and stabilities of metal complexes





while if assumption (b) holds

$$K_{\text{stat}} = 2 + \frac{K_1^A/K_2^A}{K_1^B/K_2^B} + \frac{K_1^B/K_2^B}{K_1^A/K_2^A}.$$
 (6.17)

In systems satisfying the above relations, however, a separate explanation must be given as to why the affinities of the monocoordinated metal complexes or of the ligands for the reaction partner are independent of the nature of the partner.

Strictly speaking, the considerations of Sigel [99] can not be regarded as statistical, but merely of a statistical nature. Sigel characterized the formation of the mixed ligand complexes by means of the equilibrium constant of the reaction

$$MeA + MeB \Longrightarrow MeAB + Me$$

and denoted its logarithm as $\Delta \log K$. The numerical value of this can be calculated from the relation

$$\Delta \log K = \log \beta_{MeAB} - \log \beta_{MeA} - \log \beta_{MeB}.$$
(6.18)

However, the meaning of $\Delta \log K$ stands out more clearly if it is interpreted as the difference between the logarithms of the equilibrium constants of the processes

Me+B≓MeB

320

and

MeA+B⇒MeAB.

In this comparison, the value of $\Delta \log K$ expresses the extent to which the affinity of the metal ion for ligand B varies as a consequence of the coordination of ligand A. Since the overall system is 'symmetrical', this means at the same time the extent to which the affinity of the metal ion for ligand A varies as a consequence of the coordination of ligand B.

Processes analogous to these can also be written for the parent complexes

$$2MeA \rightleftharpoons MeA_2 + Me$$

and

Me+A≓MeA

$MeA + A \rightleftharpoons MeA_2$.

The difference between the logarithms of the equilibrium constants of the latter two processes is $\log (K_2/K_1)$. $\Delta \log K$ is therefore a quantity analogous to $\log (K_2/K_1)$. For copper(II) complexes of bidentate ligands in which there is no steric hindrance, $\log (K_2/K_1)$ is known to have a value of ~ -1.2 . If it is considered that the number of possibilities for the formation of MeAB is twice the number for MeA₂ or MeB₂, the value should be increased by $\log 2$, i.e. a value of $\Delta \log K \sim -0.9$ is to be expected for the mixed ligand copper(II) complexes. Differences from the found $\Delta \log K$ data are indicative of specific interactions that are characteristic not of the parent complexes, but merely of the mixed ligand complexes.

6.6.2 The statistical considerations in practice

The statistically calculated constant ratios are encountered only very rarely in practice for the various complexes. To illustrate this, Table 6.6 contains the differences from the log (K_1/K_2) and the log (K_2/K_3) values to be expected on a statistical basis for the copper(II), nickel(II) and zinc(II) complexes of some simple ligands. The tabulated data show that the ratios of the constants are larger than the statistically expected values. This is understandable if it is borne in mind that, with the formation of a coordinate bond between the ligand and the metal ion, the electron density on the metal ion generally increases, with the result that the affinity for the subsequent ligand decreases. It may also be observed that the difference from the statistical value is much smaller for the complexes of ligands forming a five-membered chelate ring than for those of ligands forming a six-membered chelate ring (cf. the data on the complexes of the ligand pairs glycine and β -alanine, oxalate and malonate, and ethylenediamine and 1,3-diaminopropane). The partial shielding of the donor group

System	$\Delta \log (K_1/K_2)$	$\Delta \log (K_2/K_3)$
Cu ²⁺ -ethylenediamine	0.48	
Ni ²⁺ -ethylenediamine	0.44	1.07
Zn ²⁺ -ethylenediamine	0.09	2.07
Cu ²⁺ -1,3-diaminopropane	1.80	an water and
Zn ²⁺ -1,3-diaminopropane	1.36	2.36
Cu ²⁺ -N-methyl-ethylenediamine	0.88	-
Ni ²⁺ -N-methyl-ethylenediamine	0.89	2.78
Zn ²⁺ -N-methyl-ethylenediamine	0.29	-
Cu ²⁺ -glycine	0.41	-
Ni ²⁺ -glycine	0.10	0.39
Zn ²⁺ -glycine	0.02	0.67
Cu ²⁺ -N-methyl-alanine	0.64	Carry Land Long
Ni ²⁺ -N-methyl-alanine	0.40	0.70
Cu ²⁺ -N-methyl-glycine	0.44	
Ni ²⁺ -N-methyl-glycine	0.26	0.54
Cu ²⁺ -oxalate	0.34	
Zn ²⁺ -oxalate	0.68	NUMBER OF STREET
Cu ²⁺ -malonate	1.65	Add the lot the
Zn ²⁺ -malonate	0.90	and the post

Table 6.6 The deviation of $\log (K_i/K_{i+1})$ data* from the statistically expected** values in case of Cu(II), Ni(II) and Zn(II) complexes with some simple ligands

* Data from Martell, A. E. and Smith, R. M., *Critical Stability Constants.* ** Statistically expected ratios of the stability constants: $\log (K_1/K_2) = 0.9$ for copper(II) and $\log (K_1/K_2) = 0.68$, $\log (K_2/K_3) = 0.97$ for nickel(II) and for zinc(II) complexes.

similarly results in an increase in the ratio of the constants (cf. the data on the complexes of the ligand pairs ethylenediamine and N-methylethylenediamine, and glycine and N-methylglycine).

In the latter two cases, we have spoken of a steric hindrance factor, which means that the uptake of further ligand(s) is obstructed by the incorporation into the coordination sphere of ligands that are relatively large or contain partially shielded donor groups.

The extent of steric hindrance naturally also depends on the size of the metal ion: it decreases with increase in the size of the ion. This phenomenon can be observed clearly in the data in Table 6.7, i.e. the $\log(K_1/K_2)$ data on the complexes obtained between certain ligands and copper(II) and chromium(II) [109]; although these ions have different sizes (copper(II) 69 pm, chromium(II) 82 pm), their complexes have similar structures.

The tabulated data demonstrate that, in spite of the different ionic radii of the two metal ions, with ligands forming a five-membered chelate ring they give complexes with nearly the same values of K_1/K_2 . In contrast, there are

6.6 Factors determining the ratios of equilibrium constants

Linud	$\log\left(K_{1}/K_{2}\right)$		
Ligand	Cu ²⁺	Cr ²⁺	
Glycine	1.31	1.15	
Ethylenediamine	1.38	1.34	
Malonate	2.56	1.65	
Iminodiacetate	4.58	1.83	
Nitrilotriacetate	8.46	3.18	

Table 6.7	$\log\left(K_1/K_2\right)$	data for	some comple	exes
	of Cu(II) an	nd Cr(II)	[108]	

substantial differences between the K_1/K_2 values for the complexes of malonate, which forms a six-membered chelate ring, and for those of ligands containing more donor groups.

Analysis of the ratios of the constants permits other structural conclusions. Dellien [100], for example, compared the data on the complexes in the Sc^{3+} -thiodiacetate system with those on complexes of ligands with similar structures; from the low K_2 values and the high K_1/K_2 values, he concluded that the second ligand (at least in part) is bonded to the central metal ion through only one of its donor groups. Powell, Farrel and Kulprathipanja [101] studied the lanthanide complexes of 3,4-dihydroxy-2-methylbutanoate. The K_1 values did not vary monotonously, but exhibited a maximum at samarium and a minimum at dysprosium, whereas the K_1/K_2 values varied practically monotonously between 6.5 and 4.7. From this, they concluded that there is a decrease from three to two in the number of coordinated donor atoms between samarium and dysprosium.

Ohyoshi [102] investigated the possibilities of separating the nitrilotriacetate complexes of the lanthanide ions, and pointed out that the separation factor depends not only on the stepwise stability constants K_1 and K_2 , but also on the difference in the quotients K_1/K_2 .

The equilibrium systems with K_i/K_{i+1} data that are smaller than the statistically expected ones are particularly interesting. It is obvious that all such data reflect the special behaviour that the coordination of some ligand to the metal ion facilitates the coordination of the subsequent ligand. In spite of this, a number of cases are to be found in the literature where the authors report such unusual data, but do not call attention to them or even attempt to explain them [103–107]. As mentioned in Sections 3.5 and 6.1, such a constant ratio is to be expected if a structural rearrangement occurs in some step of the complex formation, or if, because of back-coordination, the incorporation of the first ligand does not increase, but decreases the electron density on the metal ion.

It is of interest to consider the ratios of the statistical constants relating to the formation of mixed ligand complexes. For illustrative purposes, Table 6.8 Table 6.8 The formation constants of some parent and mixed complexes of Cu(II), and the stabilization constants calculated in different ways

Ligand A	Ligand B	$\log K_1^A$	$\log K_2^A$	log K ^B ₁	log K ^B ₂	log Bmeab	A log BMeAB	A log B'MeAB	A log K	
Oxalate	Ethylenediamine	4.84	3.6	10.44	9.16	14.49	0.17	-0.94	-0.79	
Glycine	Ethylenediamine	8.27	6.92	10.44	9.16	17.91	0.21	-0.05	-0.80	
Malonate	Ethylenediamine	5.10	2.55	10.44	9.16	14.78	0.85*	0.13	-0.76	
8-Alanine	Ethylenediamine	7.07	5.61	10.44	9.16	16.58	0.14	-0.37*	-0.93	
"3-Diaminopropane	Ethylenediamine	9.82	7.22	10.44	9.16	18.71	60.0	0.05	-1.55*	
Dxalate	1,3-Diaminopropane	4.84	3.6	9.82	7.22	14.31	1.27*	-0.01	-0.35*	
Glycine	1,3-Diaminopropane	8.27	6.92	9.82	7.22	17.30	0.88*	0.47*	-0.79	
Malonate	1,3-Diaminopropane	5.10	2.55	9.82	7.22	13.62	*76.0	0.08	-1.30*	
8-Alanine	1,3-Diaminopropane	7.07	5.61	9.82	7.22	15.71	0.55*	-0.13	-1.18	
$\Delta \log \beta_{MeAB} = \log \beta_N$	$I_{\text{LeAB}} - 1/2 (\log \beta_{\text{MeA}_2} + \log \beta)$	MeB2 + log 4	(
$\Delta \log \beta_{\rm MeAB} = \log \beta_{\rm M}$	$l_{eAB} - 1/2 \left(\log \beta_{MeA_3} + \log \right)$	BMeB, +log	$2+\frac{K_1^A}{2+\frac{K_1^B}{2}}$	$\frac{K_2^{\rm B}}{\frac{1}{100} + \frac{1}{100} + 1$	$\left(\frac{K_2^A}{\frac{1}{2}}\right)$					
			VIN V	K2 K1	V K2//					

 $\Delta \log K = \log \beta_{\rm MeAB} - \log \beta_{\rm MeA} - \log \beta_{\rm MeB}$

6 Compositions and stabilities of metal complexes

6.6 Factors determining the ratios of equilibrium constants

contains data reported by Sigel *et al.* [108] on some simple systems. Quite deliberately, the Table involves only simple ligands, where a specific interaction is not expected for the mixed ligand complexes. Besides the experimental results, the Table contains three 'stabilization' data: the differences from the log β_{MeAB}^{stat} values calculated by means of Eqs (6.8) and (6.13), and the Sigel $\Delta \log K$ data. It is observed that for every mixed ligand complex the equilibrium constant is larger than the statistical value interpreted uniformly for the overall system and characterized by (MeAB)²/[MeA₂] [MeB₂] = 4. In five cases, the difference from the statistical value is so large that it definitely requires explanation. These data in the Table are denoted by*. According to the statistics employed in the derivation of Eq. (6.13), where the actual equilibrium conditions for the parent complexes are also reflected in the mixed ligand complexes, in two systems a considerable destabilization is observed, and in one case there is an appreciable stabilization [109].

Similarly, three of the $\Delta \log K$ data differ to a significant extent from the expected value of ~ -0.9 . It is further clear that no correlation can be found between the differences from the values derived via the three approaches. There is no system which behaves in a special way in all three senses, and only two systems are characterized by mixed ligand complexes with stabilities that are special from two different aspects.

The initially surprising result becomes understandable if it is remembered that the value of $\log \beta_{MeAB}$ to be expected from Eq. (6.10) is calculated only from the $\log \beta_{MeA2}$ and $\log \beta_{MeB2}$ data, regardless of how the β_2 values can be broken down into the stepwise constants. At the same time, the $\Delta \log K$ values are calculated from $\log \beta_{MeAB}$ and the experimental $\log K_{MeA}$ and $\log K_{MeB}$ data, regardless of the constants for the second steps. It emerges from Eq. (6.15), however, that the expected stability of the mixed ligand complex is influenced by all of the data relating to the parent complexes, which is in accordance with the chemical considerations.

Finally, it must be emphasized that the statistical considerations do not serve for the interpretation of the values and ratios of the constants, but merely for the establishment of a basis of comparison, differences from which point to specific interactions. For this reason, it is more advantageous to carry out comparisons with the data calculated via Eq. (6.15) than simply to examine differences from the expected value $[MeAB]^2/[MeA_2][MeB_2]=4$.

22 Beck-Nagypál

6.6.3 Specific factors influencing the ratios of the constants

We have seen that the majority of systems are characterized by K_i/K_{i+1} data that are larger than the ratio of these constants calculated on a statistical basis. There are two general reasons for this: the progressive increase in the electron density on the metal ion, and steric hindrance. In this section, we shall consider those specific effects occurring only in a definite group of equilibrium systems, which likewise exert a significant effect on the ratios of the constants.

6.6.3.1 Structural changes

Among the structural changes, the changes in the geometry of the coordination sphere are of particular importance. A deep analysis and interpretation of this phenomenon was given by Ahrland [110], on the basis of the hard-soft theory. From a large number of experimental data, he concluded that a change in the geometry of the coordination sphere is not to be expected for complexes of hard metal ions with ligands containing hard donor atoms; in these cases the constants display a regular tendency to decrease. Primarily the soft metal ions are prone to undergo a change in the geometry of the coordination sphere. Table 6.9 presents some $\log(K_i/K_{i+1})$ data to illustrate the equilibrium consequences of such changes in geometry.

The effect of the change in geometry is particularly interesting in the $Hg^{2+}-Cl^-$ system. The Hg^{2+} aqua ion has an octahedral structure. The constant relating to the uptake of the first chloride ion is therefore governed by the affinity of the octahedral aqua ion for the chloride ion. With the formation of the monochloro complex, the structure becomes linear, whereby the affinity of the second coordination site for chloride ion increases. This increased affinity

System	$\log\left(K_{1}/K_{2}\right)$	$\log\left(K_2/K_3\right)$	$\log\left(K_3/K_4\right)$	Reference
Hg ²⁺ -Cl ⁻	0.26	5.63	-0.15	[116]
$Hg^{2+}-I^{-}$	1.92	7.17	1.55	T1167
Cd ²⁺ -Br ⁻	1.16	-0.39	0.60	Γ1171
Cd ²⁺ -I ⁻	1.38	-1.43	0.53	Γ1171
Zn ²⁺ -Cl ⁻	-0.15	-0.79	_	E1187
Zn ²⁺ -Br ⁻	0.26	-1.34		F1181
Zn ²⁺ -SCN ⁻	0.38	0.20	-0.20	Г1197
$Zn^{2+}-CN^{-}$		-	1.41	[120]*

Table 6.9 Some examples for extreme $\log (K_i/K_{i+1})$ explained by the change of the geometry of the coordination sphere

* Only the $K_1K_2 = \beta_2$ formation constant could be determined for Zn^{2+} -CN⁻ system, therefore the K_1/K_2 and K_2/K_3 can not be calculated. explains why log (K_1/K_2) is smaller than the statistical value. The linear complex HgCl₂ resulting from the incorporation of the second ligand is stable in a broad chloride ion concentration range. The uptake of a third ligand is hampered by the fact that this necessitates a further change in the geometry: rearrangement of the linear structure to a tetrahedral one. However, if the tetrahedral structure is produced through the incorporation of a third ligand, the fourth chloride ion can coordinate to the metal ion more easily. This change explains why the actual value of log (K_3/K_4) is much smaller than the statistical one. Similar changes obviously occur during the stepwise complex formation in the Hg²⁺-I⁻ system too, but (probably due to the steric hindrance resulting from the larger size of the iodide ion) a constant quotient smaller than the statistical one is not observed in this system.

If the data for the Cd^{2+} complexes are considered in a similar way, it may be stated that the change in geometry from octahedral to tetrahedral takes place in the second step. In the $Zn^{2+}-Cl^-$ and the $Zn^{2+}-Br^-$ systems, however, the structure is progressively shifted in the direction of tetrahedral geometry in the first and second steps, and only the halogen complexes ZnX_3^- are stabilized. In contrast, in the $Zn^{2+}-CN^-$ system, the geometry change probably proceeds in the first step; this increases the affinity of the residual coordination sites for cyanide to such an extent that the second ligand is incorporated in the same step, i.e. only the value of $\log \beta_2$ can be determined. It is a very commonly observed phenomenon for cyano complexes that several ligands are incorporated simultaneously in the first step of complex formation, the intermediate complexes effectively not being observed in the process [111, 112]. This means in fact that $K_2 \gg K_1$.

The structural changes accompanying the equilibrium processes are sometimes also reflected in the ratios of the constants relating to the uptake or loss of protons by the ligands and the metal complexes. A case essentially belonging in this type is the relation $pK_1 > pK_2$ for the Hg^{2+} aqua complexes as dibasic weak acids. In this case, however, the loss of protons means the formation of hydroxo complexes, as discussed in connection with the chloro complexes of Hg^{2+} .

For the macrocyclic ligands too, it occurs that the difference between the logarithms of the successive protonation constants is smaller than the statistical value, or certain of the protonation steps cannot be observed. The protonation equilibria of α , β , γ , δ -tetra(4-N-methylpyridyl)porphyrin were studied by Hambright and Fischer [113], who found that only the constant of the process $H_2L + 2H \Rightarrow = H_4L$ can be determined; the formation of H_3L can not even be detected. According to the investigation of this phenomenon by Stone and Fleischer [114], it can be explained by the fact that in the ionic species stabilized in the form H_4L the porphyrin ring is distorted, i.e. it is not planar. The loss of a single proton diminishes the stability of the distorted structure to such an extent that this eliminates a further proton and is stabilized in the planar form H_2L .

The unusual ratio of the constants relating to the third and fourth steps of protonation of 1,4,8,11-tetraazacyclotetradecane can be explained in a similar way [93]. As an example of protonation constants of complexes with an unusual ratio that can be explained by a change in structure, we may mention the copper(II)-glycylglycylhistidine system studied by Aiba, Yokoyama and Tanaka [115]. These authors reported that at low pH values glycylglycylhistidine behaves as a bidentate ligand: the terminal amino group remains in a protonated form. As the pH is raised, the peptide group adjacent to the imidazole also undergoes deprotonation and coordination, which would be a process involving loss of a proton. As a consequence of the rearrangement necessary for this, however, a structure results in which the following peptide group too comes into the environment of the metal ion. Accordingly, besides proton loss, this too is readily coordinated, and the coupled chelate ring system is closed through coordination of the terminal amino group. The structural rearrangement between bidentate and tetradentate coordination leads to the loss of 3 protons in one step, i.e. the complexes in intermediate states of protonation can not be detected (see Fig. 6.10).

A phenomenon similar to that presented in Fig. 6.10 frequently occurs with the complexes of other tri- and oligopeptides with copper(II) and other metal ions. Sigel and Martin [121] referred to this phenomenon as cooperative deprotonation.

We have so far concentrated primarily on constant ratios that are smaller than the statistical values and that can be explained in terms of changes in structure. However, a change in structure often gives rise to just the opposite effect: an extremely large ratio of the constants. In connection with the Hg^{2+} -Cl⁻ system discussed above, it was seen that an expansion of the coordination sphere, in this case the structural rearrangement from linear to tetrahedral, explains the extremely large value of log (K_2/K_3). A similar situation frequently arises for other metal ions too. For example, the pentammine effect in the copper(II)-ammonia system [122] can be explained in this way. The first four ammonia molecules are coordinated in the equatorial plane of the copper(II), and up to the fourth step the system is characterized by K_i/K_{i+1} values only slightly larger than statistical. The incorporation of the fifth ligand



Fig. 6.10. 'Cooperative deprotonation' in the copper(II)-glycylglycylhistidine system [115]

is accompanied by the transformation of the tetragonally strongly distorted octahedral structure into a tetragonal pyramid, i.e. by an expansion of the coordination sphere, which shows up in a very large value of $\log (K_4/K_5) = \sim 2.5$. An expansion of the coordination sphere and the resulting large ratio of the constants are primarily typical of square planar complexes, but the phenomenon also occurs for linear and tetrahedral complexes.

A change in structure similarly explains the relatively large difference in the pH values of ligands containing closely situated donor groups with a tendency to undergo protonation. The phenomenon was presented in another connection in Table 3.13. In these cases, the structural rearrangement merely means that a hydrogen-bond is formed between the two donor groups in the ionic species HL: Consequently, the dissociation of H_2L has a relatively small pK value, while that of HL has a large one, i.e. $pK_1 \ll pK_2$. As a result of the hydrogen-bond, the microconstants discussed in Section 5.2.5 cannot be determined, or (as pointed out by Kiss and Tóth [123]) the microconstants calculated by means of the usual assumption agree with one another.

6.6.3.2 Interaction between coordinated ligands

The interaction of the ligands or of the donor atoms of the ligands through the coordination sphere is one of the most general phenomena in the chemistry of complex equilibria; a full survey of this can naturally not be given. We shall discuss mainly those specific interactions which also appear between the non-coordinated ligands, but which become particularly marked when the ligands are coordinated to the same metal ion. This interaction is manifested quite characteristically in the ratio of the constants. As concerns the interactions occurring through the coordination sphere, we shall deal only with the Tanaka considerations relating to complexes of copper(II) and nickel(II) with ligands containing nitrogen and oxygen donor atoms, and with the specific interactions between ligands containing aromatic nitrogen and oxygen donor atoms.

Interactions outside the coordination sphere are responsible for the outstandingly high stability of the Ni(dimethylglyoxime)₂ complex, and for the observed value of $K_1/K_2 \sim 0$ in this system. The explanation of this phenomenon is the formation of hydrogen-bonds between the coordinated ligands; this makes formation of the bis complex especially favoured, and stabilizes the square planar arrangement



A similar phenomenon naturally occurs in the complexes of other metal ions and other dioxime ligands [124].

A stabilizing effect may likewise be exerted by the electrostatic interaction between non-coordinated, charged groups of the ligands. Sakurai *et al.* carried out extensive studies to establish the laws governing interactions of this nature [125–128]. As an example, the following formulae depict the assumed structures of the mixed ligand complexes formed between copper(II), aspartic acid and lysine, with coordination of the different optical isomers



The diagrams indicate that the trans structure is stabilized when the two L ligands are coordinated, whereas the cis structure is stabilized when the D and L ligands are coordinated; this effect can be observed in the stability constants of the corresponding mixed ligand complexes.

Another considerable stabilizing factor is the stacking interaction in polar solvents between molecules containing aromatic rings. For instance, it was found by Naumann and Sigel [129] that an adduct with $\log K = 0.9 \pm 0.2$ is formed between ATP and bipyridyl. At the same time, the formation constant of the complex formed in the reaction between ATP and the monobipyridyl complex of copper(II) is $\log K = 6.96$. Naumann and Sigel interpreted this phenomenon in that the adduct is stabilized by coordination of a phosphate group of the ATP to the central copper(II) ion. From a coordination chemical aspect, however, it is more reasonable to state that the mixed ligand complex is stabilized by the two ligands interacting outside the coordination sphere.



330

Finally, Schiff base formation between the coordinated ligands also belongs formally in this category. The phenomenon was subjected to very wide-ranging investigations by Leussing *et al.* [130–134]. Water is formed in the reaction, but, since water is generally neglected as a component of equilibrium reactions in the definition of the equilibrium constants, the formation of these Schiff bases can be regarded as a consequence of the ligands in question forming particularly stable complexes.

In another type of interactions of the ligands or of the donor atoms, the characteristic feature is that the interactions occur only through the electron system of the metal ion; in the absence of the metal ion they cannot be observed. Tanaka set out from kinetic considerations, and derived a general formula for the formation constants both of the parent complexes (containing more than one ligand) and of the mixed ligand complexes of nickel(II) [135] and of copper(II) [136] with amines and aminocarboxylates; these general formulae also took into account the interaction of the donor atoms within the coordination sphere. The starting-points in his considerations were as follows: the Eigen mechanism of formation of metal complexes [137]; the special mechanism of formation of copper(II) complexes; and the assumptions that the rate of the dissociation MeAL MeA+L is (1) inversely proportional to the Brønsted basicity and the electron-donating ability of the ligand L, and (2) directly proportional to the electron-donating ability of the residual ligand A. (Data relating to this latter point were reported by Edwards [138].) On this basis, the general equations for copper(II) complexes are

$$\log K_{\text{CuAL}}^{\text{CuA,L}} = \log K_{\text{CuL}}^{\text{Cu,L}} + \log K_{\text{os}(\text{CuA,L})} - (\log K_{\text{os}(\text{Cu,L})}) + \sum_{i=1}^{J} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_{ij} X_i(A) Y_j(L)$$
(6.19)

$$\log K_{\text{CuL}_{n}}^{\text{CuL}_{n-1},\text{L}} = \log K_{\text{CuL}}^{\text{Cu},\text{L}} + (\log K_{\text{os}(\text{CuL}_{n-1},\text{L})} - \log K_{\text{os}(\text{Cu},\text{L})} + \sum_{i=1}^{I} \sum_{j=1}^{J} \delta_{ij} X_{i}(\text{L}) Y_{j}(\text{L}) - \log n.$$
(6.20)

The species featuring as the lower and upper indices of the constants define the equilibrium in question. K_{os} is the formation constant of the outer sphere complex relating to the ionic species following the lower index os. These values can be calculated from the Eigen-Fuoss equation [139–140]. Thus δ_{ij} is the effect of the donor atom X_i of ligand A (or L) on the donor atom Y_j of ligand L, while $X_i(A)$ and $Y_j(L)$ are the numbers of donor atoms X_i and Y_j in ligands A and L.

For nickel complexes, the only modification to the above equations is that the logarithms of the ratios of the numbers of water molecules bound to the complexes MeA or MeL and to the nickel aqua ion also feature on the right-hand side. Tanaka calculated the δ_{ij} values reflecting the interaction of the donor atoms from the experimental data on more than 150 systems, and obtained the following results. For the nickel(II) complexes

$$\delta_{N,N} = -0.25; \quad \delta_{0,0} = -0.16; \quad \delta_{0,N} = \delta_{N,0} = +0.11.$$

For the copper(II) complexes

$$\begin{array}{l} \delta_{\mathrm{N(al), N(al)}} = -0.35; \quad \delta_{\mathrm{N(ar), N(ar)}} = -0.39; \\ \delta_{\mathrm{N(al), N(ar)}} = \delta_{\mathrm{N(ar), N(al)}} = -0.25; \\ \delta_{\mathrm{N(ar), 0}} = +0.09; \quad \delta_{\mathrm{N(al), 0}} = -0.26; \quad \delta_{0, 0} = -0.29 \end{array}$$

for ligands in which an aromatic π -system is not linked to the oxygen donor atom;

 $\delta_{0,0} = -0.10$ for ligands in which a π -system is linked directly to the oxygen donor atom (acetylacetone, salicylaldehyde, etc.).

N(al) and N(ar) in the indices of δ denote aliphatic and aromatic nitrogen donor atoms.

If the repulsion of the donor atoms through the coordination sphere is taken into consideration, negative values would be expected for δ_{ij} in every case. This expectation does not materialize in the case of nitrogen and oxygen donor atoms for nickel(II), or in the case of aromatic nitrogen and oxygen donor atoms for copper(II); accordingly, some explanation is required.

The positive $\delta_{N,O}$ value for the nickel(II) complexes resulted from an analysis of the equilibrium constants for only a few systems, and thus it may be rather inexact. We are not aware of any attempts to interpret it.

In contrast, the positive $\delta_{N(ar),0}$ value for the copper(II) complexes is well known; a comprehensive study of the phenomenon was carried out by Sigel *et al.* [141]. It is important that, besides the σ -donor coordination of the nitrogen atoms in the aromatic ring, the *d* electrons of the copper(II) ion interact with the aromatic π -system through back-coordination. This leads to a decrease in the electron density on the metal ion, which increases the possibility of coordination of the second ligand. This effect is particularly marked for ligands containing oxygen donor atoms, in all probability as a consequence of the non-bonding electron pairs of oxygen participating (through the mediation of the metal ion) in the development of a π -electron system extending to the entire molecule. In the absence of a non-bonding electron pair, there is no possibility of this with nitrogen donor atoms of amine type. The phenomenon has not been subjected to a deeper theoretical interpretation. One reason why this is necessary is that it would greatly promote an understanding of the role of

Me	A	В	$\Delta \log K$	Reference
Cu ²⁺	Bipyridyl	Ethylenediamine	-1.29	[142]
Cu ²⁺	Bipyridyl	Glycine	-0.35	[142]
Cu ²⁺	Bipyridyl	Oxalate	+0.70	[145]
Cu ²⁺	Bipyridyl	Pyrocatechol	+0.43	[142]
Co ²⁺	Bipyridyl	Ethylenediamine	-0.27	[142]
Co ²⁺	Bipyridyl	Glycine	-0.14	[142]
Co ²⁺	Bipyridyl	Pyrocatechol	+0.76	[142]
Ni ²⁺	Bipyridyl	Ethylenediamine	-0.18	[142]
Ni2+	Bipyridyl	Glycine	-0.21	[142]
Ni ²⁺	Bipyridyl	Pyrocatechol	+0.36	[142]
Cu ²⁺	Histamine	Ethylenediamine	-1.49	[144]
Cu ²⁺	Histamine	Glycine	-0.65	[144]

Table 6.10 The equilibrium constant for some MeA + MeB = MeAB + Mereactions for illustration of the interaction between the aromatic nitrogen and the oxygene donor atoms

copper(II) in biological systems. A similar phenomenon has been demonstrated in cobalt(II) and nickel(II) complexes [142, 143].

Table 6.10 presents the equilibrium constants for a number of systems; these reflect the special affinity of aromatic nitrogen atoms, through the coordination sphere of the metal ion, for ligands containing oxygen donor atoms.

6.7 Factors determining the values of stability constants

The values of the stability constants are determined by the properties of the metal ions and the ligands, but also by external factors. In a strict sense, these latter can not be separated, for they mutually influence one another. Nevertheless, in the following sections we shall discuss separately the connections between the ionic strength, the pressure, the temperature, the parameters reflecting the chemical properties of the metal ions and the ligands, and the values of the stability constants.

Establishment of such correlations naturally requires a comparison of reliable stability constants. First of all, therefore, we shall deal with some questions of the critical evaluation of the stability constants to be found in the literature.

6.7.1 Critical evaluation of stability constants

An enormous number of stability constants have been reported, and the number of systems examined continues to grow rapidly. Orientation for those interested in complex stability data is greatly facilitated by the series "Stability Constants", which started in 1957. The most recent volumes contain the literature data published on the complexes or organic ligands up to 1973, and on those of inorganic ligands up to 1974. The data are continuously processed by the IUPAC Commission on Equilibrium Data, and a data bank will shortly be created.

By the end of the 1960's, it became clear that an appreciable proportion of the published data are not reliable. For research workers who are not fully familiar with this subject, and for those who merely wish to make use of the values of the stability constants, the situation is made extremely difficult by the numerous contradictory data. For this reason, the above commission has decided that critical evaluations must be performed for the complexes of the most important ligands, and the "Critical Evaluation of Equilibrium Constants" volumes have already appeared for a number of ligand families [146–150]. However, a considerable time will elapse before truly critically evaluated data are available for all of the more important complexes. The "Critical Stability Constants" volumes by Martell and Smith [152] may conveniently be used (with certain reservations), but we feel that a really critical evaluation of all existing stability constants is beyond the power of a small number of chemists, no matter how outstanding and experienced they may be.

We shall not deal here with the aspects involved in the critical evaluation of stability constants; in the present book, in the course of the discussion of the various experimental procedures and evaluation methods, we have paid special attention to the sources of error in the determination and the evaluation, and these considerations were reported recently [151]. Here, we merely draw attention to the fact that the most recent data are not necessarily to be considered as the most reliable, and that even agreeing results by different authors do not always stand the test of thorough critical evaluation [152].

Even in spite of the extensive investigations, the situation often arises that data are not to be found in the literature for the complexes of some not very unusual ligand. In such a case, of course, the only reliable course of action is to determine the missing data by means of an adequate method. In many cases, however, there is a possibility for the sometimes surprisingly accurate estimation of the data through various interpolation procedures [153]. In a large number of systems, however, some characteristic behaviour is observed which prevents even an approximate estimation for analogous systems. As an example, molybdenum(V) forms a fairly stable complex with EDTA, whereas with DCTA complex formation can not even be detected [154].

6.7.2 Effects of external factors on the values of stability constants

6.7.2.1 Roles of the ionic strength and the ionic medium

The various salts applied to keep the ionic strength constant may influence the values of the various types of constants in different ways. They have the common feature, however, that, on variation of the nature and the concentration of such salts, changes occur in the values of the activity coefficients, and hence the equilibrium constants expressed in terms of concentrations are also modified. The effects of the ionic strength and the ionic medium on the values of the constants can to a first approximation be classified into two types: (a) the effects of changes in the activity coefficients, and (b) specific interactions.

The nature of an ionic strength-dependence that can be interpreted in terms of changes in the activity coefficients is related to the charges on the ionic species participating in the equilibrium. As an example of an ionic strength-dependence typical of processes not involving charge compensation, Figs 6.11 and 6.12 depict the protonation constants of ethylenediamine and the stepwise stability constants of its complexes with the copper(II) ion, as functions of the square root of the ionic strength, which was adjusted with sodium perchlorate; these data are based on the studies by Koskinen [153].



Fig. 6.11. The stepwise protonation constants of ethylenediamine as a function of ionic strength adjusted with NaClO₄

6 Compositions and stabilities of metal complexes



Fig. 6.12. The stepwise formation constants of copper(II)–ethylenediamine complexes as a function of ionic strength adjusted with NaClO₄

It may be seen that, although neither charge compensation nor charge accumulation occur in the process, the first protonation constant of ethylenediamine changes by ca. 0.7 log unit between ionic strengths of 0 and 2 M. Although the second step is theoretically accompanied by a charge accumulation, the value of the constant varies in nearly the same way as that for the first protonation process.

The similarity between the ionic strength-dependences suggests that the ionic species H_2en^{2+} should not be treated as a point-like ion with a charge of +2; it is more correct to regard it as an ion with two charges of +1. In this approach there is in fact no charge accumulation, but repetition of the charge rearrangement corresponding to the first step. Accordingly, the two protonation steps are best written in the following way, with the charges being given

$$K_{1}^{p} = \frac{[\text{en}H^{+}]}{[\text{en}][H^{+}]}$$
$$K_{2}^{p} = \frac{[^{+}\text{Hen}H^{+}]}{[\text{en}H^{+}][H^{+}]}.$$

Similar considerations must naturally be applied in the interpretation of the protonation processes of all ligands in which the donor groups that undergo protonation are situated relatively distant from one another.

As an example of the ionic strength-dependence of the formation constants of complexes formed with charge compensation, Fig. 6.13 shows the results obtained for the copper(II)-glycine system, based on the studies by Gergely *et al.* [154]. In systems of this tpye, it is a general experience that the constants vary in accordance with minimum curves.





(Reproduced with permission from Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 80, 25 (1974))

The upper part of the Figure confirms that the activity coefficients do not differ significantly in the three electrolytes employed to adjust the ionic strength. The complex formation constants, however, vary in essentially different ways as functions of the KCl concentration, though the nature of the change is the same: the values of the constants decrease considerably compared to the data obtained in KNO_3 or in $NaClO_4$. This difference is indicative of the occurrence of specific interactions: in the given system the effect of the formation of chloro complexes, for instance.

In favourable cases, the specific interactions can be evaluated quantitatively; this permits calculations of the equilibrium constants involved in the interactions. Danielle, Rigano and Sammartano [155] determined the protonation constant of the sulphate ion in the presence of various alkali metal and tetraethyl-ammonium salts. Their experimental data are shown in Fig. 6.14 as a function of the ionic strength.

On the basis of Fig. 6.14, they concluded that weak (but not insignificant) complex formation takes place between the alkali metal ions and the sulphate ion, and they calculated the formation constants of the complexes at various ionic strengths. Their results at $I=0.1 \ M$ were: $\log K_{\text{LiSO}_4^-}=0.77$, $\log K_{\text{NaSO}_4^-}=$ = 0.40, $\log K_{\text{KSO}_4^-}=0.54$, $\log K_{\text{RbSO}_4^-}=0.60$, and $\log K_{\text{CsSO}_4^-}=0.70$.

The protonation constant of bipyridyl in the presence of various electrolytes is depicted in Fig. 6.15 as a function of the ionic strength [151]. For purposes of comparison, the ionic strength-dependence of the constant for the protonation of ammonia, which similarly proceeds without charge compensation, is shown in Fig. 6.16. A comparison of the two Figures reveals that the protonation constant of ammonia varies almost in parallel in the five different electrolytes, whereas the protonation constant of bipyridyl increases much more rapidly in the presence of perchlorates than in solutions of nitrates. For a deeper interpretation of the phenomenon, the values of the protonation constants in the perchlorate ion concentration interval 0–0.5 M were also determined in electrolytes containing 2 M (NO₃⁻ + ClO₄⁻). The results are presented in Fig. 6.17.

It may be seen from Fig. 6.15 that, in the interval in question, the protonation constant of ammonia is independent of the concentration of the perchlorate



Fig. 6.14. Conditional protonation constant of the sulphate ion in different background electrolytes [155]

 \bigcirc — Et₄N⁺, \blacktriangle — Na⁺, \blacksquare — K⁺, \bigtriangleup — Rb⁺, \square — Cs⁺, \bigcirc — Li⁺ (Reproduced with permission from *Inorg. Chim. Acta*, 63, 267 (1982))

338

6.7 Factors determining the values of stability constants





ion, whereas the protonation constant of bipyridyl increases linearly. The change can be interpreted in terms of a specific interaction between the protonated bipyridyl and the perchlorate ion: ion-pair formation. This indicates that the measured value is in fact an apparent protonation constant, defined by the equation

$$K_{p}^{m} = \frac{[\mathrm{HBp}^{+}] + [\mathrm{HBp}^{+}\mathrm{ClO}_{4}^{-}]}{[\mathrm{H}^{+}][\mathrm{Bp}]}.$$
 (6.21)

6 Compositions and stabilities of metal complexes





If we take into account the equation defining the constant for ion-pair formation

$$K_{ip} = \frac{[\mathrm{HBp}^{+}\mathrm{ClO}_{4}^{-}]}{[\mathrm{HBp}^{+}][\mathrm{ClO}_{4}^{-}]}$$
(6.22)

and also the relation $[ClO_4^-] \sim T_{ClO_4^-}$ under the given experimental conditions, Eq. (6.21) can be transformed into

$$K_{p}^{m} = K_{p}^{\circ} + K_{ip} K_{p}^{\circ} T_{\text{CIO}_{4}^{-}}$$
(6.23)

where

$$K_{p}^{\circ} = \frac{[HBp^{+}]}{[H^{+}][Bp]}.$$
 (6.24)

Equation (6.23) indicates, in accordance with Fig. 6.16, that a linear variation is to be expected; the constant for ion-pair formation can be calculated from the slope of the straight line: $K_{ip} = 0.54$ in 2 M NaNO₃, and $K_{ip} = 0.45$ in 2 M LiNO₃.

In spite of the presented examples and the abundant literature relating to the ionic strength-dependence of the equilibrium constants, the laws governing the changes are still not known. There is as yet no comprehensive theory that can answer the fundamental questions concerning the dependence of the constants on the ionic strength. The situation is complicated by the fact that

340

6.7 Factors determining the values of stability constants





the concentration of water also varies in relatively concentrated electrolyte solutions; hence, the effects arising from the role of water as a component of the equilibrium reactions appear as an ionic strength-dependence. Consequently, it may even occur that the effects resulting from variation in the water concentration are attributed to a fictive equilibrium process, and constants are calculated for equilibria which do not exist.

6.7.2.2 Effect of temperature

The thermodynamic correlations describing the effects of variation of the temperature are well known

$$\Delta G = -RT \ln K \tag{6.25}$$

$$\Delta G = \Delta H - T \Delta S \tag{6.26}$$

23 Beck-Nagypál

6 Compositions and stabilities of metal complexes

$$\left(\frac{\delta \Delta G}{\delta T}\right)_{p} = -\frac{\Delta H}{RT^{2}}.$$
(6.27)

According to Eq. (6.26), just as for all equilibrium processes, complex formation is promoted by a negative enthalpy and a positive entropy change. It may be seen from Eq. (6.27) that the enthalpy and entropy change accompanying complex formation may be determined from the temperature-dependence of the constants, and that the temperature-dependence of the constants is governed by the enthalpy change accompanying the process. Accordingly, all factors that influence the resolution of ΔG , into ΔH and $T\Delta S$ terms play roles in shaping the temperature-dependence of the constants. Some of the factors influencing the resolution of the ΔG values into ΔH terms have been considered in section 6.1, and we also deal with this question in section 6.7.3. Therefore, we shall discuss here only specific effects of the temperature-dependence, and certain questions relating to the experimental study of the temperature-dependence.

In order to be able to calculate ΔH , there is a need either for calorimetric measurements or for determination of the equilibrium constants at various temperatures. With the present technical possibilities, calorimetry generally yields data that are much more accurate; the determination of ΔH with the 'temperature coefficient' method is much more sensitive to the experimental error. Nevertheless, even very recently numerous systems have been investigated by means of the latter method [156–160], and it has also occurred that the value of ΔH has been calculated from the difference between the equilibrium constants measured at merely two, relatively close-lying temperatures [161].

The method of temperature coefficients has the virtually unavoidable error that the concentration expressed in terms of molarity is temperature-dependent, and thus the coefficient of thermal expansion of the solvent is also transformed into ΔH values. This obvious circumstance is neglected in the vast majority of studies.

However, the high-accuracy measurement of the equilibrium constants defined in molality concentration units, in a wide range of temperature, yields deeper information even than that obtained by calorimetry, as it also provides a possibility for the determination of the temperature-dependence of ΔH , and hence the value of ΔC_p [162]. The same aim can naturally be attained through the calorimetric determination of ΔH at various temperatures [163]. The log K = f(1/T) data may similarly be required if the aim is the separation of the components of the thermodynamic quantities that are dependent on temperature and on the dielectric constant [164].

Certain nickel(II) and cobalt(II) complexes provide a dramatic example of the temperature-dependence of the equilibrium state [165–172]. The essence of the phenomenon is that the configuration of the complex is strongly temperature-dependent: the complex with larger coordination number predominates at lower temperature, whereas that with smaller coordination number does so at higher temperature. Accordingly, the solutions of the complexes are characterized by the unusual temperature-sensitivity of their visible spectra, i.e. of their colours. The temperature-sensitivity of the spectrum is illustrated in Fig. 6.18 [166]. The constant of the equilibrium between the two forms may be determined through measurement of the spectrum or of the magnetic moment. The reason why measurement of the magnetic moment finds applications in equilibrium work is that the change in geometry means at the same time a transformation between the low-spin and the high-spin structures.

An interesting temperature-dependence, in contrast with the general change, was observed by Farkas, Homoki and Gergely [173] in the nickel(II)–2,3diaminopropionate system. The complex NiL₂ formed in this system is yellow and has a planar structure at room temperature; on elevation of the temperature, the structure changes to octahedral, and the complex becomes blue. The explanation given for this abnormal change was that there is an equilibrium between glycine-like and ethylenediamine-like structures in this system. Planar coordination is a general phenomenon among complexes of ethylenediamine substituted on the carbon, while the amino acids form octahedral complexes.

The heat of formation of nickel(II)-amino acid complexes of composition MeL_2 is ca. -20 kJ mol^{-1} , while that of the ethylenediamine complexes of



Fig. 6.18. Variable-temperature electronic spectral data for *n*-butyl-2-hydroxypropiophenimin in pyridine. Solute concentration is $\sim 7 \times 10^{-3} M$ [166] (Reproduced with permission from *Inorg. Chem.*, 9, 1153 (1970))

343

23*

analogous composition is ca. -40 kJ mol^{-1} . In the sense of Eq. (6.27), it follows from this that, on the elevation of the temperature, the stability of the ethylenediamine-like complex decreases to a greater extent than that of the glycine-like complex, i.e. as the temperature rises, the glycine-like, octahedral structure assumes predominance.

6.7.2.3 Effect of pressure

The effect of pressure on the equilibrium constants is described by the well-known thermodynamic correlation

$$\left(\frac{\delta \ln K}{\delta P}\right)_{T} = -\frac{\Delta V}{RT}$$

$$\left(\frac{\delta m}{\delta P}\right)_T = -\frac{dT}{RT}$$
(6.28)

Fig. 6.19. Pressure dependence of magnetic susceptibility.

△ - Tris (N,N-di-n-butyldithicarbamato iron(III) in CHCl₃; □ - bis (N-phenylsalicylaldimino) nickel(II) in CHCl₃; • - bis (N,N'-diethylamino-troponeimineato) nickel(II) in CHCl₃; A - tris (N-ethylxantoto) iron(III) in CHCl₃; O - tris (N-methylxantato)iron(III) in CHCl₃; - bis (N-n-heptylsalicylaldimino) nickel(II) in CH₂Cl₂; O - bis (N-n-propylsalicylaldimino) nickel(II) in CHCl₃. a,b,c - Common solvents, CHCl₃, CH₂Cl₂, (CH₂OH)₂, respectively [174] (Reproduced with permission from Coord. Chem. Rev., 12, 185 (1974))

344
where ΔV is the difference between the partial molar volumes of the species featuring on the right and on the left-hand side of the equilibrium process.

Study of the effects of pressure is not merely of theoretical significance: the equilibrium processes occurring in the sea, for instance, can be understood only through investigation of the pressure-dependence. The results of complex equilibrium studies carried out under pressure were reviewed by Sinn [174]. The temperature-dependent structural equilibria discussed in the previous section are also sensitive to pressure. The sign of the pressure dependence may vary with the system, as shown in Fig. 6.19, which depicts the pressure-dependence of the magnetic susceptibility.

It must be mentioned that there are essential differences between the pressure-dependences of the $Fe^{3+}-Cl^{-}$ and the $Fe^{3+}-NO_{3}^{-}$ equilibria [175]; this can be explained in that an outer sphere complex is formed in the $Fe^{3+}-NO_{3}^{-}$ system, and an inner sphere complex in the $Fe^{3+}-Cl^{-}$ system.

6.7.3 Connection between equilibrium constants and parameters describing the properties of the central ion and the ligand

The aim of comparative studies of the various equilibrium processes in virtually all cases is to find a correlation between the values of the equilibrium constants and the parameters reflecting the chemical properties of the components participating in the process. Basically two types of parameters reflecting the chemical properties are distinguished: (a) physical parameters due to the interaction of the component in question with physical fields (e.g. ionization potential, electroaffinity, ionic potential, polarizability); and (b) correlation coefficients expressing the connection between the various chemical properties, which can be determined from a large number of studies (e.g. Hammett σ value, electronegativity, data reflecting the hard-soft nature, etc.).

It is obvious that the different data describing the chemical properties are mutually interrelated; thus, the connections between the equilibrium constants and the physical parameters or the correlation coefficients can mutually be derived from one another, though at present very little quantitative knowledge is available concerning such possibilities.

6.7.3.1 Connection between metal ion properties and complex equilibrium constants

6.7.3.1.1 Effect of ionic radius

If the metal-ligand interaction were purely of an ionic nature, then the stabilities of complexes of a given ligand with central metal ions having the same charge would be proportional to the reciprocal of the ionic radius. For metal ions with similar electronic configurations, this correlation does hold by and large, but there is no such correlation between the stability constants of the complexes of metal ions from different groups of the periodic system.

In a comparison of the complexes of metal ions with different charges, in place of the ionic radius it is more reasonable to seek a correlation between the stability constants and the ionic potential (the ratio of the charge and the radius). If the condition concerning the given electronic structure is taken into account, however, in this way it is possible to find a connection between the complex-forming properties of only very few metal ions. A survey and a detailed analysis of the correlations between the ionic radius and the ratio of the charge and the ionic radius were given by Hefter [177] for the fluoro complexes.

The approach by Brown, Sylva and Ellis [176] appears to be promising; with this, at least for the hydroxo complexes, a linear correlation of almost completely general validity is found if the effective charges of the ions are considered.

6.7.3.1.2 Effect of ionization potential and electronegativity

The ionization potential is a direct measure of the electron-attracting ability of a metal ion. It is obvious, therefore, that there must be a connection between the ionization potentials and the complex stability constants. In some cases, a very good correlation has in fact been observed [178–180], or the deviations have been used to draw conclusions as to the change in electronic structure [181].

For the complexes of numerous metal ions, Van Panthaleon van Eck [182] found that the following correlation holds

$$\log K_1 = p(I - q) \tag{6.29}$$

where I is the ionization potential for the gas-phase process $Me \rightarrow Me^{n+} + ne$, while p and q are constants, the numerical values of which depend only on the ligand and the experimental conditions (temperature, ionic strength). p is characteristic of the number of donor groups and the polarizability of the ligand, while q is characteristic of the nature of the donor atoms. The complexes of 6.7 Factors determining the values of stability constants



Fig. 6.20. Stability constants of different metal complexes of glycine as a function of the ionization potential of the central ion. The stability constants are dimensionless quantities, the concentrations being expressed in mole fractions [182]

(Reproduced with permission from Rec. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas, 72, 50 (1953))

certain bidentate ligands can be divided into two groups, each group having its own characteristic p and q values. This is illustrated in Fig. 6.20.

From a comparison of the different systems, it was concluded [182] that in complexes of Type II the carboxylate group of the ligand is coordinated, while in complexes of Type I the amino group is coordinated or chelate formation occurs. Since the chelate effect is a general phenomenon (though its extent differs) and clearly exists in complexes of Type II too, it seems reasonable to explain the difference in that the carboxylate-metal ion bond is the stronger in the case of the metal ions in Group II, whereas the amine-metal ion coordinate bond is the stronger for those in Group I, while additionally the chelate effect is present as a stability-increasing factor in both types.

A number of authors have studied the connection between the electronegativity and the stability [183–187]. Similarly as in Fig. 6.20, Fig. 6.21 presents the stability constants of some complexes of glycine as a function of the electronegativity. It is an interesting phenomenon that, in spite of the correlation between the ionization potential and the electronegativity, the points lie on a single plot, in contrast with the two straight lines in Fig. 6.20.

The specific factors (discussed in detail in the previous section) determining the ratios of the constants will naturally also appear if the values of the stepwise stability constants are plotted as a function of the ionization potential or the electronegativity. 6 Compositions and stabilities of metal complexes





and the second second

6.7.3.1.3 Effect of electronic configuration of metal ion

The complex-forming properties of the transition metal ions are often characterized by means of stability sequences. Of these, the Irving–Williams series is of outstanding importance [188, 189]; this holds for the complexes of the 3d transition metal ions with ligands containing nitrogen and oxygen donor atoms. Irving and Williams explained the well-known sequence of stability $(Mn^{2+} < Fe^{2+} < Co^{2+} < Ni^{2+} < Cu^{2+} > Zn^{2+})$ in terms of the ionic radius and the second ionization potential of the metals. The data are listed in Table 6.11, while the validity of the series is depicted in Fig. 6.22.

In principle, it is to be expected that a similar series holds for the complexes of the d^0-d^5 transition metal ions, i.e. $Ca^{2+} < Sc^{2+} < Ti^{2+} < V^{2+} < Cr^{2+} > Mn^{2+}$. However, several of these metal ions are such strong reductants that their complex-forming properties can not be studied in aqueous solution.

In the sense of the crystal-field theory, the Irving-Williams series is a consequence of crystal-field stabilization [190, 191]. This means that, with the exceptions of the d^0 , d^5 and d^{10} configurations (Ca²⁺, Mn²⁺ and Zn²⁺), the splitting caused by the ligands in the energy levels of the *d* electrons diminishes the total energy of the system, i.e. it results in stabilization. The maximum in the stabilization occurs for complexes of Ni²⁺ and Cu²⁺. The crystal-field stabilization energy can be calculated from the spectra, and it frequently agrees well with the energy calculated from the difference between the experimentally

6.7 Factors determining the values of stability constants

Metal ion	Ionic radius (pm)	I ₂ kJ mole ⁻¹	$-\Delta H k J mole^{-1}$
Mg ²⁺	66	2200	1941
Mn ²⁺	78	2237	1861
Fe ²⁺	76	2337	1958
Co ²⁺	74	2452	2079
Ni ²⁺	73	2506	2121
Cu ²⁺	72	2714	2122
Zn^{2+}	72	2650	2056
Cd ²⁺	96	2510	1826
Ca ²⁺	99	1747	1598

Table 6.11 Ionic radius, ionization heat and hydration heat of some bivalent metal ions





 ○ — Salicylaldehide; ● — glycine; ● — ethylenediamine; ● — oxalate. Dashed lines are linear interpolations between Mn²⁺ and Zn²⁺

measured stability constant and that resulting from interpolation between the stability constants for the $Mn^{2+}-Zn^{2+}$ complexes.

It is worth noting that the analysis by Cannon [192] of the literature data, and also the results of Micskei *et al.* [109], indicated that the stabilization for Cr^{2+} complexes is about 0.55 times that for Cu^{2+} complexes, independently of the nature of the donor atoms. However, the Cr^{2+} complexes of polyfunctional ligands containing coupled five-membered chelate rings display destabilization [109], which may be explained by the much larger size of the metal ion.

These considerations hold only for high-spin complexes; deviations from the Irving-Williams stability series are common among low-spin complexes (of ligands with strong fields).

In principle, a similar crystal-field stabilization should be observed for the complexes of the lanthanide ions. In these systems, however, the splitting between the energy levels of the f electrons is of a much lower extent, and thus the stabilizing effect is not significant. The sequence of stability here is governed by the decrease in the ionic radius resulting from the change in the electronic configuration (lanthanide contraction) and by the accompanying change in the coordination number. For these and other, as yet not completely clarified reasons, the stability sequence varies, depending on the ligands, as demonstrated in Fig. 6.23.



Fig. 6.23. Typical plots of stability constants of complexes of trivalent lanthanide ions against the reciprocal of the ionic radius of the corresponding metal ion.
EDTA — Ethylenediamine-N,N'-tetraacetic acid; Dipic — dipicolinic acid; DTPA — diethylenetriamine-N,N,N',N',N''-pentaacetic acid (Reproduced with permission from Chem. Rev., 65, 1 (1965))

6.7.3.2 Connection between donor atom properties and complex equilibrium constants

In the overwhelming majority of ligands, the donor atoms exhibit a tendency to undergo protonation. Since both the protonation equilibria and the metal complex formation equilibria are influenced by the nature of the donor atom, it is understandable that the stabilities of the proton and metal complexes are interrelated. We shall deal in more detail with this question in Section 6.8, which discusses the correlations between the equilibrium constants. It was seen earlier that the stabilities of complexes of chelate-forming ligands are influenced fundamentally by the number of atoms in the chelate ring and by the number of such rings, i.e. by the structure of the ligand. Here, therefore, we shall consider only the connection between the stability and the nature of the donor atoms.

For the monoatomic halide ion ligands, it was demonstrated by Van Panthaleon van Eck that the stability constants of the Cd^{2+} and Hg^{2+} complexes vary as a function of the electron affinity in the same way as found for the dependence on the ionization potential:

$$\log K = a(E-b) \tag{6.30}$$

where a and b are constants depending on the metal ion. However, this correlation does not hold for the fluoro complexes. It is obvious that, just as was seen in the case of the metal ions, the charge and the radius of the donor atoms play determining roles from the aspect of the strength of the electrostatic interaction.

For ligands containing heavy donor atoms (P and S), the situation is complicated by the fact that, besides forming σ -donor bonds, these atoms take part in $d\pi - p\pi$ interactions with the electrons in the *d* orbitals of the metal ions. This phenomenon is referred to as back-coordination; it has a fundamental effect on the equilibrium conditions. Of course, the significance of the $d\pi - p\pi$ interaction can not always be ascribed to a given donor atom; it often results from the overall structure of the ligand (e.g. CO, CN⁻, bipyridyl). A detailed discussion of this question leads us to the hard-soft theory; within this, it is convenient to examine jointly the connections between the formation constants and the properties of the metal ions and the ligands.

6.7.3.3 Interpretation of formation constants via the hard-soft theory

The hard-soft theory permits the interpretation of an enormous amount of experimental data and experience, chemical phenomena that can be explained in terms of donor-acceptor interactions. Following the pioneering work by

Sidgwick [193] and Grinberg [194], the basic organizing principles relating to the complex-forming properties of the metal ions were put forward independently by Ahrland and Larsson [195] and Carleson and Irving [196]. Pearson [197] extended the basic principles to the ligands, and introduced the hard-soft nomenclature. Hard acceptors (acids) are small ions with a large positive charge, and hence with a rigid electron shell structure, and compounds which do not contain readily excitable electrons. Hard bases similarly have rigid electronic structures and are difficult to polarize and oxidize; they are ligands containing donor atoms with high electronegativity. The acceptor atoms of soft acids (soft metal ions) are large, with a low charge and a loose electron shell structure, and they contain readily excitable outer electrons. The soft bases are similarly ligands containing donor atoms with a loose electron shell structure, that are easily polarized and oxidized, and are of low electronegativity.

Practically the same features are expressed by the classification system of Ahrland, Chatt and Davies [198], presented in Fig. 6.24. Acceptors of a type and b type correspond to hard and soft acids, respectively.



Fig. 6.24. The distribution of acceptor ions in the periodic table [198] (Reproduced with permission from *Quart. Rev.*, 12, 265 (1958))

The basic criterion for the classification of the acceptors into the various types is the sequence of affinities for the various donor atoms (ions)

Metal ions of <i>a</i> type (hard)					Metal ions of b type (soft)								
F	>	ĆÌ	>	Br	>	I	F	*	Cl	<	Br	<	I
0	>	S	>	Se	>	Te	0	4	S	~	Se	~	Te
N	≫	Р	>	As	>	Sb	N	~	Р	>	As	>	Sb.

The properties of the hard and the soft ligands and the above stability sequences clearly show that hard metal ions form stable complexes with hard ligands, as do soft metal ions with soft ligands; hard-soft and soft-hard interactions result in relatively weak complexes. Table 6.12 classifies the various donors and acceptors on the basis of the hard-soft theory.

The bonding-theory background of the classification into the various types involves the tendencies to form covalent and electrostatic bonds. Hard metal ions and hard ligands primarily participate in electrostatic interactions; their

Hard acids	Soft acids
H ⁺ , Li ⁺ , Na ⁺ , K ⁺ , Be ²⁺ , Mg ²⁺	$Cu^+, Ag^+, Au^+, Ti^+, Hg_2^{2+}$
$Ca^{2+}, Sr^{2+}, Mn^{2+}$	Pb ²⁺ , Cd ²⁺ , Pt ²⁺ , Hg ²⁺ , CH ₃ Hg ⁺
Al ³⁺ , Sc ³⁺ , Ga ³⁺ , In ³⁺ , La ³⁺	Co(CN) ²⁻ , Pt ⁴⁺ , Te ⁴⁺
N ³⁺ , Cl ³⁺ , Gd ³⁺ , Lu ³⁺	Ti ³⁺ , Tl(CH ₃) ₃ , BH ₃ , Ga(CH ₃) ₃
Cr ³⁺ , Co ³⁺ , Fe ³⁺ , As ³⁺ , CH ₃ Sn ³⁺	GaCl ₁ , Gal ₁ , InCl ₁
Si ⁴⁺ , Ti ⁴⁺ , Zr ⁴⁺ , Th ⁴⁺ , U ⁴⁺	RS ⁺ , RSe ⁺ , RTe ⁺
Pu ⁴⁺ , Ce ³⁺ , Hf ⁴⁺ , WO ⁴⁺ MoO ³⁺	I ⁺ , Br ⁻ , HO ⁺ , RO ⁻
UO ₂ ²⁺ (CH ₃) ₂ Sn ²⁺ , VO ²⁺ , Sn ⁴⁺	I ₂ , Br ₂ , ICN, etc.
$Be(CH_3)_2$, BF_3 , $B(OR)_3$	Trinitrobenzene, etc.
Al(CH ₃) ₃ , AlCl ₃ , AlH ₃	Chloraniline, chinones, etc.
RPO ⁺ , ROPO ⁺	Tetracyanoethylene, etc.
RSO ⁺ , ROSO ⁻ , SO ₃	O, Cl, Br, I, N, RO, RO ₂
1 ⁷⁺ , 1 ⁵⁺ , Cl ⁷⁺ , Cr ⁶⁺	Me ⁰
RCO ⁺ , CO ₂ , NC ⁺	Metal surfaces
HX (hydrogene bonded molecules)	CH ₂ , carbenes

Table 6.12 Hard-soft classification of acids and bases

T3		1		
HOTO	(A.T.)	1770	9797	6
DUIU		unc	autu	1.3

Fe²⁺, Co²⁺, Ni²⁺, Cu²⁺, Zn²⁺, Pb²⁺, Sn²⁺, Sb³⁺, Bi³⁺, Rh³⁺, Ir³⁺ B(CH₃)₃, SO₂ NO⁺, Ru²⁺, Os²⁺, R₃C⁺, C₆H₅⁺, GaH₃

Hard bases	Soft bases			
H ₂ O, OH ⁻ , F ⁻ CH ₃ CO ₂ ⁻ , PO ₄ ³⁻ , SO ₄ ²⁻ Cl ⁻ , CO ₃ ³⁻ , ClO ₄ ⁻ , NO ₃ ⁻ ROH, RO ⁻ , R ₂ O NH ₃ , RNH ₂ , N ₂ H ₄	$ \begin{array}{c} R_{2}S, RSH, RS^{-} \\ I^{-}, SCN^{-}, S_{2}O_{3}^{2^{-}} \\ R_{3}P, R_{3}As, (RO)_{3}P \\ CN^{-}, RNC, CO \\ C_{2}H_{4}, C_{6}H_{6} \\ H^{-}, R^{-} \end{array} $			

Borderline bases

C6H5NH2, C5H5N, N3, NO2, SO37, N2

reactions are accompanied by charge compensation and by the release of water molecules bound strongly to the ligand and to the metal ion. Accordingly, the thermodynamic driving force of complex formation is the large positive entropy change; in comparison, the stabilizing role of the enthalpy change is insignificant, and in fact the reaction may even be endothermic. In contrast, the interactions of soft metal ions and soft ligands lead to covalent bonds, to the accompaniment of a considerable enthalpy decrease. The role of the entropy change is negligible, for the soft metal ions and the soft ligands are not very hydrated in aqueous solution. It must be emphasized that these statements relate to aqueous solution. In solvents with lower dielectric permittivities than that of water, the electrostatic interactions may be stronger, and the outlined stability sequences and tendencies, and even the proportions of involvement of the terms ΔH and $T\Delta S$ in ΔG , may be reversed.

Ever since the emergence of the hard-soft theory, it has been the subject of scientific debate, which has at times been sharp [199, 200]. It is generally agreed only that the theory provides a very illustrative picture of the stability conditions; a number of questions remain open, however. For example, various authors have attempted to characterize the hard and soft natures by means of quantitative data. This has even led to such results as that some acceptor A is markedly harder, but also markedly softer in nature than another acceptor B. Some authors have even questioned the necessity of using the expressions hard and soft.

The reader is referred to some of the original publications for the details of the dispute [201–210]. In our own view, the importance of the hard-soft theory is unquestionable as concerns the systematization and qualitative interpretation of the phenomena connected with donor-acceptor reactions. Nevertheless, if it is remembered that a chemical reaction always involves an interaction, which means that the extent to which some property of one of the reaction partners is manifested automatically also depends on the nature of the second reaction partner, it is clear that, even in the best case, formulae derived from the hard-soft theory can provide only a semiquantitative description of the phenomena. Efforts to discover the quantitative correlations inherent in the theory may shed light on many part-questions, but overall success is not to be expected. The data expressing the hard-soft nature can promote only a semiquantitative orientation, in a very similar way as the electronegativity values, which became a chemical concept much earlier.

6.8 Correlations of equilibrium constants

One of the earliest aims of solution equilibrium studies was to discover correlations between the stability constants of the complexes of a given metal ion with different ligands, or of the complexes of a given ligand with different metal ions. Before a discussion of such correlations and of the principles of comparison of the constants, it must be stressed that equations describing the connections between the equilibrium constants merely express the correlations between the constants; they cannot be regarded as causality relations. The reason for the correlation is always some (frequently unknown) common structural feature which is reflected in both series of data, the correlation being a consequence of this.

6.8.1 Paradoxes in correlations

Since the basis of the correlation is always some structural similarity, it is very important that only the values of constants reflecting the same structural feature should be compared. It is not always simple for the obvious criterion to be achieved: as discussed earlier, the macroscopic equilibrium constants define only the composition, and various structures may develop at the same composition. The consequences of this may be illustrated via some concrete examples. In the course of our examples, we shall sometimes deliberately point out false conclusions; however, these will serve only to illustrate the contradiction, and they are not to be regarded as the conclusions drawn by the authors referred to.

The equilibrium conditions for the copper(II) complexes of o-tyrosine were studied by Letter and Baumann [211], who found that the complex $Cu(HL)_2$ is formed in this system; as a dibasic acid, this complex has the dissociation constants $pK_1 = 8.79$ and $pK_2 = 9.71$. Since the pK value for the phenolic OH group of o-tyrosine was found to be 10.66, it appears clear that the ligand is coordinated in an amino acid-like way to the metal ion, and that the basicity of the phenolic OH decreases because of the electron-attracting effect of the metal ion. This conclusion, however, is wrong for two reasons:

(1) As mentioned previously, the hydrogen-bonding between the adjacent donor groups in *o*-tyrosine means that the measured pK values can not be ascribed to the protonation of either of the donor groups.

(2) Proton loss from the phenolic OH is accompanied by an extensive structural rearrangement of the complex; as demonstrated by means of calorimetry and spectrophotometry [211], o-aminophenol-like coordination occurs instead of the amino acid-like coordination.

Gergely *et al.* [212] determined a pK value of 9.08 for the amino group of phenylalanine, and pK values of 9.05 and 10.14 for the amino and hydroxy groups of *p*-tyrosine. If the smaller pK value were assigned to the amino group, and the larger one to the hydroxy group, it could be stated that the phenolic OH attracts electrons, for it decreases the pK value of the amino group. This

would be in contradiction with tendencies known from organic chemistry. The contradiction may similarly be solved by means of the microconstants. It was established by Kiss and Tóth [123] that both pK values to be ascribed to the amino group are larger than the pK value for phenylalanine, and the apparent contradiction arises merely because of the combination of the microconstants. The values of the microconstants must also be taken into consideration in the calculation of the formation constants of metal complexes. In their absence, for instance, the calculated stability constant for the copper(II) complex of tyrosine corresponds to the definition

$$K_{1} = \frac{[Cu(^{-}AH)]}{[Cu^{2+}]([AH^{-}] + [HA^{-}])}$$

whereas, if a comparison is to be made with the stability constant of the similar complex of phenylalanine, for example, it is necessary to know

$$K_1^* = \frac{[Cu(^-AH)]}{[Cu^{2+}][^-AH]}$$

where ⁻AH denotes the species containing the amino group in deprotonated form and the phenolic hydroxy group in protonated form.

Brookes and Pettit [65] found that the logarithm of the formation constant of the amino acid-like coordinated complex of Ni²⁺ with ornithine is 15.25, while glycine is well known to form a Ni²⁺ complex with log $K_1 \sim 5.8$. There is no chemically explainable reason for the difference in stability of nearly ten orders of magnitude; because of the difference in dimensions, the two constants are not comparable. In fact, the formation constant for the ornithine complex refers to the process

$$Ni^{2+} + L^- + H^+ \rightleftharpoons NiLH^{2+}$$

while that for the glycine complex refers to the process

$$Ni^{2+} + L^{-} \rightleftharpoons NiL^{+}$$
.

Data that can be compared are obtained if we take into account the equilibrium constant of the process

$$Ni + HL \rightleftharpoons Ni(HL)$$

which expresses the coordinating ability of the protonated form of ornithine, HL. Even in this case, of course, it must be borne in mind that the form HL may have two different structures.

Similar difficulties may be encountered in any relatively involved equilibrium system. Such questions can be solved only through efforts to establish the microconstants of the protonation equilibria and the metal complex formation equilibria [213–217], and by widening our equilibrium chemical horizons.

6.8.2 Correlation between protonation constants of ligands with similar structures and the formation constants of their complexes

Since complex formation is in most cases a process involving competition between the metal ion and the proton, it is understandable that it is often possible to find a close correlation between the protonation and the complex formation of ligands with similar structures. The first such example was reported by Larsson in 1934 [218]; more recently, it has become quite general for the factors influencing the values of the constants to be discovered and interpreted on the basis of correlations of this nature [219–226]. As an example of the ample literature material available, in Fig. 6.25 we present merely the correlation relating to the Mg^{2+} and Cu^{2+} complexes of 8-hydroxyquinoline and its derivatives [227].

Figure 6.25 reveals that the points deviate from linearity if the carbon atoms adjacent to the donor atoms are substituted, i.e. if there is steric hindrance to metal complex formation. Such hindrance is not observed with the much smaller proton.

Naturally, a comparison of this nature is possible only if the donor atoms of the ligands are identical, and even then only if they are in the same hybrid



Fig. 6.25. log K_{MeL} as a function of log K_{HL} for Mg²⁺ (a) and Cu²⁺ (b) complexes of 8-hydroxyquinoline and its derivatives in 50% v/v aqueous dioxane (0.3 *M* NaClO₄) at 20 °C.

Open points refer to ligands with a substituent adjacent to the chelating nitrogen atom. I - 2-Methyl-8-hydroxyquinoline; 2 - 1,2,3,4-tetrahydro-10-hydroxyacridine; 3 - 8-hydroxy-2,4-dimethylquinazoline; 4 - 4,8-dihydroxy-4-methyl-2-phenylquinazoline. Full points refer to the following ligands: 5 - 8-Hydroxyquinoline; 6 - 5-methyl-8-hydroxyquinoline; 7 - 6-methyl-8-hydroxyquinoline; 8 - 8-hydroxycinnoline; 9 - 8-hydroxyquinoline and its derivatives in 50% v/v aqueaus dioxane (0.3 M NaClO₄) at [227]

(Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., 10, 72 (1965))

24 Beck-Nagypál

state. The -- NH-- group of peptide bonds, for example, can not be compared with amine nitrogen or with nitrogen in a heteroaromatic ring.

The basis of the correlation between pK_{HL} and log K_{MeL} is the identical nature of the proton-ligand and the metal ion-ligand bonds. If these bonds differ in nature, a linear correlation is not to be expected; indeed, an inverse correlation may even be observed. Such examples are to be found among the complexes of soft metal ions with soft ligands, where the natures of the H-L and Me-L bonds may differ fundamentally as a consequence of back-coordination. Instances of these latter cases are presented in Table 6.13 and Fig. 6.26.

The most convenient method of plotting and studying the correlation between the pK_{HL} and log K_{MeL} values depends, among other factors, on how many

Table	6.13	pK	values	and	stability	cons	tant	of	copper(II)	
comple	exes	of bi	pyridin	ium	(H ₂ Bp ²⁺) ion	and	its	reduction	
				DI	oducts					

Ligand	p <i>K</i> ₁	pK ₂	$\log \beta_2$
2,2'-Bipyridyl	-0.20	4.37	13.66
2,2'-Pyridyl-pyperidyl	2.0	9.10	12.20
2,2'-Dipyperidyl	7.0	10.16	17.94



Fig. 6.26. Correlation between log K_{CuL} , log K_{NiL} and log K_{HL} for the following ligands. 1-3-Hydroxythiophen-2-carboxylic acid ethyl ester; 2-3-hydroxy-5-methylthiophen-2-carboxylic acid ethyl ester; 3 - 2-methyl-4-hydroxythiophen-3-carboxylic acid ethyl ester; 4 — 2-acetyl-3-hydroxythiophen; 5 — 3-acetyl-4-hydroxythiophen; 6 — 2hydroxynaphtaldehyde-1; 7 — 2-hydroxynaphtaldehyde-3; 8 — salicylaldehyde; 9 — 8-hydroxy-6-methyl-1,6-naphtyridinium iodide; 10 - 5-hydroxy-1-methylquinoxalinium iodide; 11 - 8-hydroxy-6-methylquinazolinium iodide

(Reproduced with permission from Helv. Chim. Acta, 49, 1617 (1966))



Fig. 6.27. Plot of log K, vs. $pK_1 + pK_2$ for the iron(III) complexes of some substituted salicylic acids.

1 — 3-Bromosalicylic acid; 2 — 4-hydroxysalicylic acid; 3 — 4-aminosalicylic acid;
 4 — 5-sulfosalicylic acid; 5 — 5-chlorosalicylic acid; 6 — 5-iodosalicylic acid; 7 —
 5-hydroxysalicylic acid; 8 — 3,5-dibromosalicylic acid; 9 — 3,5-dichlorosalicylic acid
 [223]

(Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 2388 (1974))



Fig. 6.28. Relation between ∆log K and pK^H_{HA} for the mixed ligand complexes Cu(bi-pyridyl) (carboxylate) (a) and Zn (bipyridyl) (carboxylate) (b) [224] (Reproduced with permission from J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 507 (1975))

24*

protons the ligand contains in the pH range of complex formation. For instance, the reason why it is preferable to plot the formation constants for the complexes of salicylic acid and substituted salicylic acids with iron(III) as a function of the sum of the two pK values [223] is that both donor groups of the ligand are protonated in the pH interval corresponding to the formation of the complexes, i.e. in fact the equilibrium process

$Me + H_2L \Longrightarrow MeL + 2H$

takes place in these systems (Fig. 6.27).

In a fairly broad range of mixed ligand complexes, Sigel [224] found a linear correlation between the pK values of the ligands and the $\Delta \log K$ data characterizing the stabilities of the mixed ligand complexes (Fig. 6.28).

6.8.3 Correlation between stability constants of complexes of two metal ions with ligands with similar structures

In the above sense, it is obvious that a correlation must also be found between the formation constants of the complexes formed by two metal ions with ligands with similar structures. This correlation may be even closer than that between pK_{HL} and $\log K_{MeL}$, for the probability is smaller (but not excluded) that the natures of the coordinate bonds will differ, and the effects of the steric factors too will be nearly the same. This phenomenon is presented in Fig. 6.29 on the example of complexes of Ni(II) and Cu(II) with 56 different ligands [227].

Freiser, Fernando and Cheney [228] studied the correlation between the constants for the complexes of Ni(II) and Zn(II) with 72 ligands. In 42 of these cases they found that the following correlation held

$$\log \beta_2^{\rm Ni} = 1.13 \log \beta_2^{\rm Zn}$$

For ligands containing two oxygen donor atoms in a configuration suitable for formation of a five-membered chelate ring, the correlation had the same slope as above, but there was an intercept of -2.0, while when the ligands contained two nitrogen atoms in a similar structural arrangement, the slope was found to be +2.0.

Yatsimirskii [229] compared the stability constants of complexes of Mg^{2+} and Zn^{2+} , and similarly found that the correlation between them was a function of the nature of the donor atoms.



Fig. 6.29. log K_{CuL} as a function of log K_{NiL} for complexes of different ligands. 1 — Triaminotriethylamine; 2 — diethylenetriamine; 3 — ethylenediamine-N-diacetic-N'-dipropionic acid; 4 - tiron (pyrocatechol-3,5-disulphonic acid); 5 - 1,3-diaminopropane-2-ammonium ion; 6 - 8-hydroxyquinoline; 7 - dibenzoylmethane; 8 thenoylbenzoylmethane; 9 - nitriloacetic acid; 10 - benzoylfuroylmethane; 11 - $CH_3CO \cdot CH_2 \cdot CO \cdot CH_2 \cdot CH_2 \cdot Si(CH_3)_3$; 12 — dithenoylmethane; 13 — acetylbenzoylmethane; 14 — acetylacetone; 15 — furoylthenoylmethane; 16 — acetylthenoylmethane; 17 - (CH₃)₃SiC₂H₄ · CO · C₂H₄Si(CH₃)₃; 18 - 1,2,3-triaminopropane; 19 -N-methylethylenediamine; 20 - ethylenediamine; 21 - 1,2-diamino-propane; 22 iminopropionicacetic acid; 23 — iminodiacetic acid; 24 — N-ethylethylenediamine; 25 — 8-hydroxy-2,4-dimethylquinazoline; 26 — 8-hydroxy-2-methylquinoline; 27 — 1,3diaminopropane; 28 - sym. N,N'-dimethylethylenediamine; 29 - 5-hydroxyquinoxaline; 30 — iminodipropionic acid; 31 — 8-hydroxycinnoline; 32 — folic acid; 33 — Npropylethylene-diamine; 34 - triethylenetetramine ion; 35 - aspartic acid; 36 - 1,10phenantroline; 37 - 2.2'-dipyridyl; $38 - \alpha$ -alanine; 39 - leucine; 40 - glycine; 41 — isonicotini hydrazide; 42 — 2-methyl-1,10-phenanthroline; 43 — salicylaldehyde; 44 — sarcosine; 45 — β-alanine; 46 — riboflavin; 47 — glycyl-glycine; 48 — oxalate ion; 49 - 2,9-dimethyl-1,10-phenanthroline; 50 - malonate ion; 51 - salicylaldehyde sulphonic acid; 52 — 4-hydroxypteridine; 53 — ammonia; 54 — pyridine; 55 — acetate ion; 56 — nitrocetate ion. The full line is of unit slope [227]

(Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., 10, 72 (1956))

6.8.4 Correlation between formation constants of two ligands with similar structures with different metal ions

It was first demonstrated by Irving and Rossotti [227] that if the logarithms of the stability constants of the metal complexes of two ligands with similar structures are plotted as a function of one another, a straight line is obtained with unit slope, its intercept being the difference between the logarithms of the first protonation constants of the two ligands. This correlation is shown in Fig. 6.30.



Fig. 6.30. Logarithm of the stability constants of complexes of ethylenediaminetetraacetate as a function of the logarithm of the stability constants of the corresponding complexes of 1,2-diaminocyclohexane-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetate. The constants were obtained at 20 °C, at 0.1 *M* ionic strength. All ions shown are in their usual valency state [227]

(Reproduced with permission from Acta Chem. Scand., 10, 72 (1956))

Similar correlations have been observed for other equilibrium systems. For the complexes of polydentate ligands, the value of the intercept may be open to question; in the sense of the considerations in the previous section, the value of the intercept depends on how many of the donor groups of the ligand are to be found in protonated form in the pH range relating to the formation of the complexes.

6.8.5 Other correlations

The publications by Nieboer and McBryde [230–232] provide a detailed survey and systematization of the theoretical background of the correlations of the types discussed in the foregoing two sections. In the derivation of general correlation equations between the values of the constants, they assumed that the difference between the free energy changes for the two mutually independent complex formation processes

Me+L≓MeL

$$Me_s + L_0 \rightleftharpoons Me_s L_0$$

can be given by means of two parameters. One of these parameters reflects the difference in properties of the metal ions, and the other the difference for the ligands. From this starting point, they obtained the following equations

 $\log K_{MeL} = B \log K_{Me_sL} + (\log K_{MeL_0} - B \log K_{Me_sL_0})$ $\log K_{MeL} = C \log K_{MeL_0} + (\log K_{Me_sL} - C \log K_{Me_sL_0})$

where Mes and Lo are the metal ion and ligand taken as the basis of comparison.

During the comparison of the correlations with the experimental data, two types of behaviour were observed. In certain systems, the values of B and C depended on the properties of the examined metal ions and ligands; in other systems, both parameters had a value of one. By developing their considerations further, Nieboer and McBryde essentially arrived at the hard-soft theory, with data indicative of the positions of the metal ions on the hard-soft scale.

Numerous other correlations are known within limited groups of complexes. One such correlation exists for mixed ligand complexes where the coordination of some ligand A, which forms a very stable complex, is followed by the coordination of another ligand, B

MeA+B⇒MeAB.

The equilibrium constant of this process is inversely proportional to the constant for the process

$Me + A \rightleftharpoons MeA.$

To a first approximation, this can be interpreted in that the complex formation processes of the metal ion in question are characterized by a tendency to an almost constant free energy change (coordination force), and if ligand A 'consumes' more of this, less 'remains' for ligand B. The validity of this correlation, reported in the first edition of our book, has since been confirmed in many systems [285, 286, 303–305].

6.9 Equilibrium conditions of outer sphere complexes

In the condensed phase, the coordination sphere of the central metal ion is generally saturated, i.e. the number of donor atoms bound to the metal ion is the same as the maximum coordination number. As we have already seen, however, the maximum coordination number depends on the size and electronic structure of the ligands. It is well known, for example, that the square planar copper(II) complexes can coordinate a further two ligands, giving rise to a distorted octahedral structure. As proposed by Jørgensen [233], complexes in which some of the donor atoms are strongly coordinated, i.e. the bond distance is relatively short, while the other donor atoms are to be found at a much greater distance, i.e. they are coordinated to the metal ion much more weakly, are referred to as anisotropic complexes.

Even the expansion of the coordination sphere does not mean that the coordinately saturated complex no longer displays any specific affinity for the other ionic species to be found in the solution. Attention was drawn to interactions of this type by Werner [234], and abundant experimental evidence has subsequently been accumulated demonstrating the formation of outer sphere complexes. A general feature of these complexes is that there is no direct coordinate bond between the metal ion and the ligands to be found in the outer sphere. There is naturally a continuous transition between inner sphere complexes, anisotropic complexes and outer sphere complexes, and their definite distinction is rarely possible.

Distinction is relatively simple if a complex with a coordinately saturated inner sphere is inert, and does not vary during the time of the equilibrium investigation. The differentiation of outer sphere complexes formed simultaneously with labile inner sphere complexes, however, poses certain problems. In aqueous solution, for example, the outer and inner sphere complexes of some metal ion Me and ligand L differ merely in that a water molecule is wedged between the two components in the former case, whereas this water molecule is missing from the inner sphere complex, a direct coordinate bond existing between L and Me. In the equations defining the equilibrium constants, the role of water as a component of the reactions is disregarded, and thus the compositions of the two complexes are formally the same. Accordingly, the experimentally measured formation constant is the sum of the formation constants of the two types of complexes

$$\beta_1^{exp} = \frac{[\operatorname{Me}(\operatorname{H}_2\operatorname{O})_5\operatorname{L}] + [\operatorname{Me}(\operatorname{H}_2\operatorname{O})_6\operatorname{L}]}{[\operatorname{Me}(\operatorname{H}_2\operatorname{O})_6][\operatorname{L}]} = \beta_1^{\operatorname{innersph.}} + \beta_1^{\operatorname{outersph.}}.$$

Analogous correlations naturally hold in the further steps of complex formation. For purposes of differentiation (similarly as for the determination of the microconstants), it is always necessary to utilize some assumption that can not be proved in a strict thermodynamic sense. In order for the assumptions to be well founded, it is important to carry out equilibrium studies on outer sphere complexes of inert inner sphere complexes.

The inner and outer sphere complexes can be investigated with practically the same experimental methods; in this respect, therefore, we merely provide some literature references relating to the possibilities of application of polarography [235–240], conductivity measurements [241–244], solubility measurements [245–248], liquid–liquid extraction [249], the study of ion-exchange equilibria [250, 251], pH measurements [252, 253], NMR [254–256], spectrometry [257–261], polarimetry and CD studies [262–271], and reaction kinetic measurements [259].

One of the greatest problems in the experimental study of outer sphere complexes is to ensure a suitable constant ionic strength. The vast majority of these complexes have low stabilities, and thus a high ligand concentration must be employed to attain a measurable equilibrium conversion. It follows from this that the experiments must be carried out at relatively high ionic strength. At the same time, the ions applied in the study of inner sphere complexes naturally tend to form outer sphere complexes.

A comprehensive analysis of the tendency of the perchlorate ion to undergo complex formation, and within this to form outer sphere complexes, was performed by Johansson [272]. The studies by Ilcheva and Beck [261] indicated that, in investigations of outer sphere complexes, it is advisable to apply fluoride ion to maintain the ionic strength at a constant level. It is also possible to encounter examples of equilibrium investigations performed with violation of the principle of a 'constant ionic medium' [262].

Basically, an electrostatic interaction is responsible for the stability of outer sphere complexes. This statement is supported by the fact that no outer sphere complex has yet been found which contains a neutral inner sphere complex. Accordingly, there is a very close connection between the theory of electrolyte solutions and the theory of ion association, ion-pair formation and outer sphere complex formation; Yokoyama and Yamatera [273] have in fact attempted to unify these theories completely. Because of the determining role of the electrostatic interaction, it is obvious that the stability of outer sphere complexes depends primarily on the charge conditions and the dielectric constant of the solvent. The stability may also be affected by other factors, however. For instance, the ligand in the outer sphere may be linked to the ligands in the inner sphere through hydrogen-bonding, while certain photometric investigations suggest an interaction that can be explained in terms of charge transfer. In such charge transfer, the ligands of the inner sphere play the role of the 'bridge'.

Within the chemistry of complex equilibria as a whole, the proportion of publications dealing with studies of outer sphere complex formation is quite low, and it has displayed a tendency to decrease in the past 10 years. The cause of this is probably that the fundamental questions were solved by the end of the 1960's [274], while the theoretical knowledge required for a detailed analysis is still not available.

6.10 Equilibrium conditions in mixed metal complexes

The complexes belonging in this category on the basis of their compositions exhibit great differences in structure and bonding conditions. However, so few investigations have been performed in this field that the results can not be discussed from a uniform system of aspects. Here, therefore, we shall merely survey some of the main results of work of special importance.

Mixed metal complexes include those complexes in which ions of the same metal are to be found in different oxidation states. It is a general feature of such complexes that their colour is appreciably deeper than that corresponding to the average colour of their constituents. Werner [275] reported that the colour of complexes containing both Pt(II) and Pt(IV) ions is much deeper than the colours of the mononuclear complexes of the same ions. He called attention to the analogy of this phenomenon and the behaviour of the quinone–hydro-quinone system. The best-known phenomenon in this field is the variation in colour of the iron hydroxides. Iron(II) hydroxide is white, iron(III) hydroxide is reddish-brown, and the mixed hydroxide is black. Wells [276] pointed out that even a similar electronic configuration is sufficient for development of the deep colour; it is not essential that the ions with different oxidation numbers be derived from the same element. As an example, $Cs_2Ag(I)Au(III)Cl_6$ is a complex with a much deeper colour than those of the mononuclear components.

Davidson [277–280] made a systematic study of interactions of this type. He found that interactions may be detected in hydrochloric acid solutions of the pairs Sb(III)–Sb(V), Sn(II)–Sn(IV), Cu(I)–Cu(II), and Fe(II)–Fe(III), but that the equilibrium conversion is not sufficient for the constants to be calculated. Figure 6.31 illustrates the interaction between the chloro complexes of iron(II) and iron(III).

The fact of interaction can also be detected in the iron(II)-iron(III)-citrate system [283], but the value of the constant cannot be calculated here, either. An interaction of this nature has not been experienced between the aqua ions, i.e. a chloride ion, or some other, appropriate bridging ligand appears necessary



Fig. 6.31. Effect of different salts on the spectrum of iron(III) in 12 M HCl. Curve $I = 0.88 M \text{ FeCl}_3$; Curve $II = 0.88 M \text{ FeCl}_3 + 0.13 M \text{ MeCl}_2$ (Me = Mn, Mg, Zn); Curve $III = 0.88 M \text{ FeCl}_3 + 0.13 M \text{ FeCl}_2$ [279] (Reproduced with permission from J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 5557 (1950))

for the formation of metal complexes with mixed oxidation numbers. It was not possible either to detect an interaction between the coordinately saturated complexes $Fe(CN)_6^{3-}$ and $Fe(CN)_6^{4-}$ [281], or between tris(phenanthroline)iron(II) and tris(phenanthroline)iron(III) [282]. Complexes of this type are often formed in the redox reactions of certain ligands and metal ions. One of the best-known reactions is that between Cu^{2+} and penicillamine, the reaction depending on the molar ratio and on the nature and concentration of the background electrolyte; one of the products formed in this reaction is a red, water-soluble complex with composition $[Cu(II)_6Cu(I)_8(PA)_{12}X]^{5-}$ [284].

In most of the work designed to reveal the equilibrium conditions concerning mixed metal complexes, studies have been carried out on the interactions of metal ions and some coordinately saturated cyano, thiocyanato or isothiocyanato complex. A characteristic feature of all three ligands is that they can act as bridging ligands; the 'other end' of a ligand bound in the stable (often inert), coordinately saturated complex still possesses a significant ability to coordinate to certain metal ions.

Falk and Linck [287] demonstrated the formation of metal complexes with compositions of 1:1 and 1:2 between the mercury(II) aqua ion and complexes

containing thiocyanate ligand bound to cobalt(III). The similar reaction of Hg^{2+} and $Cr(H_2O)_5NCS$ was studied by Armor and Haim [288]. In this system, however, binuclear mixed metal complex formation is the rapid pre-equilibrium of the metal ion exchange reaction. Mixed metal complexes are similarly formed in pre-equilibrium processes of central atom exchange reactions in the course of the reactions of cobalt(II)aminopolycarboxylates and Fe(CN)_6^{-1} [289, 290]. A number of interactions of the same nature have been detected in the reactions of cyano and mixed cyano complexes [291–295].

Pereira and Malin [296] reported that pyrazine can act as a bridging ligand in the formation of complexes of this type, and Országh and Beck [297] came to the same conclusion as concerns the chloride ion. Beck and Porzsolt [298] demonstrated that not only the Hg^{2+} aqua ion, but also $Hg(CN)_2$ can interact with coordinately saturated inert cyano complexes.

An interaction of a fundamentally different nature was discovered by Adin, Klotz and Newman [299] in equilibrium systems containing In^{3+} and UO_2^{2+} ions and various hydroxycarboxylic acids. Both metal ions form dimeric or polymeric complexes with the ligands, but the most stable of the polynuclear complexes are the mixed metal complexes with composition $InUO_2L_2$.

Touche and Williams [300] investigated the equilibrium conditions relating to mixed metal complexes of glutathione, containing donor groups of different natures within one molecule; the metal ions were selected on the basis of the hard-soft theory, so as to exhibit preferred affinity for the various donor groups. Finally, mention must be made of the work of Galembeck *et al.* [301], who demonstrated the formation of 18 mixed metal complexes with different compositions in aqueous solution in the $Fe(CO)_4^2 - Zn^{2+}$ system. This system displays the feature that, in the course of complex formation, metal-metal bonds undergo formation and dissociation even in aqueous medium.

References

- 1. Yatsimirskii, K. V. and Miliukov, P. M., Zhur. Neorg. Khim., 31, 842 (1957).
- 2. Cox, B. G., Hedwig, G. R., Parker, A. J. and Watts, D. W., Aust. J. Chem., 27, 477 (1974).
- 3. Ahrland, S., Kémiai Közlemények, 53, 41 (1980).
- 4. Sandström, M., Persson, I. and Ahrland, S., Acta Chem. Scand., A32, 607 (1978).
- 5. Bol, W., Gerrits, G. J. A. and van Panthaleon van Eck, C. L., J. Appl. Cryst., 3, 486 (1970).
- 6. Ohtaki, H., Maeda, M. and Ito, S., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 47, 2217 (1974).
- 7. Pocev, S., Triolo, R. and Johansson, G., Acta Chem. Scand., 27, 2146 (1973).
- 8. Gerding, P., Acta Chem. Scand., 20, 79 (1968).
- 9. Prue, J. E., J. Chem. Educ., 46, 12 (1969).

- 10. Fuoss, R. M. and Accascina, F., Electrolytic Conductance, Interscience, New York, 1959.
- 11. Mayer, U. and Gutmann, V., Structure and Bonding, 12, 113 (1972).
- Gutmann, V., Coordination Chemistry in Non-Aqueous Solutions. Springer, Wien-New York, 1968.
- Addison, C. C., Intern. Conf. Nonaqueous Solvents. McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada
- Lagowsky, J. J. (Ed.) Chemistry of Non-aqueous Solvents, Academic Press, New York, 1967.
- 15. Mayer, U., Kémiai Közlemények, 48, 5 (1977).
- 16. Buchböck, G., Z. Physik. Chem. Leipzig, 55, 563 (1906).
- 17. Kosakewich, P. P. and Ismailov, N. A., Z. Physik. Chem. Leipzig, 150A, 308 (1930).
- 18. Bjerrum, N., Z. Anorg. Allgem. Chem., 109, 275 (1920).
- 19. Bernal, B. J. and Fowler, R. H., J. Chem. Phys., 1, 515 (1933).
- 20. Čelada, J., Sci. Papers Inst. Chem. Technol. Pardubice, 3, 15 (1959).
- 21. Katzin, L. I. and Sullivan, J. C., J. Phys. Colloid. Chem., 55, 346 (1951).
- Yates, P. C., Laran, R., Williams, R. E. and Moore, T. E., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 75, 2212 (1953).
- 23. Geier, G. and Karlen, U., Helv. Chim. Acta, 54, 135 (1971).
- 24. Geier, G., Karlen, U. and Zelewsky, A. V., Helv. Chim. Acta, 52, 1967 (1969).
- 25. Nakamura, K. and Kawamura, K., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44, 330 (1971).
- 26. Salama, S. and Richardson, F. S., Inorg. Chem., 19, 635 (1980).
- Gmelin Handbuch der Anorganische Chemie. 8th Ed. Springer Verlag, Syst. No. 39 B37, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York (1979).
- 28. Yatsimirskii, K. B., in Advances in the Chemistry of the Coordination Compounds. (Ed.: Kirschner, S.) MacMillan, New York, p. 96, 1961.
- 29. Bjerrum, J. and Jørgensen, C. K., Acta Chem. Scand., 8, 175 (1954).
- 30. Jørgensen, C. K., Acta Chem. Scand., 7, 951 (1954).
- 31. Katzin, L. I. and Gebert, E., Nature, 175, 425 (1955).
- 32. Jørgensen, C. K., Inorganic Complexes. Academic Press, New York, p. 100, 1963.
- Swinarski, A. in *Theory and Structure of Complex Compounds*. (Ed.: Trzebiatowska, B. J.) Pergamon Press, London, p. 487, 1964.
- 34. Larson, R. C., and Iwamoto, R. T., Inorg. Chem., 1, 316 (1962).
- 35. Friedman, M. J. and Plane, R. A., Inorg. Chem., 2, 11 (1963).
- 36. Nelson, I. V. and Iwamoto, R. T., Inorg. Chem., 3, 661 (1964).
- 37. Pasternack, R. F. and Plane, R. A., Inorg. Chem., 4, 1171 (1965).
- 38. Minc, S. and Libus, W., Roczniki Chem., 29, 1073 (1955).
- 39. Marshall, W. L. and Quist, A. S., Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 58, 901 (1967).
- 40. Marshall, W. L., Rev. Pure Appl. Chem., 18, 167 (1968).
- 41. Quist, A. S. and Marshall, W. L., J. Phys. Chem., 72, 1536 (1968).
- 42. Quist, A. S. and Marshall, E. L., J. Phys. Chem., 72, 3122 (1968).
- 43. Marshall, W. L., Record of Chem. Progr., 30, 61 (1969).
- 44. Marshall, W. L., J. Phys. Chem., 74, 346 (1970).
- 45. Marshall, W. L., J. Phys. Chem., 76, 720 (1972).
- 46. Gilkerson, W. R., J. Phys. Chem., 74, 746 (1970).
- 47. Matheson, R. A., J. Phys. Chem., 73, 3635 (1969).

- 48. Harned, H. S. and Owen, B. B., The Physical Chemistry of Electrolytic Solutions. Reinhold Publishing Corp., New York, 1959.
- 49. Delorenzo, R. A. and Kowalak, A. D., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 2329 (1974).
- 50. Taneja, A. D. and Srivastava, K. P., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 2697 (1971).
- 51. Dadgar, A. and Delorenzo, R. A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 4255 (1971).
- 52. Gergely, A., Nagypál, I., Kiss, T. and Király, R., Acta Chim. Hung., 82, 257 (1974).
- 53. Gergely, A. and Kiss, T., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 82, 89 (1976).
- 54. Gergely, A. and Kiss, T., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 109 (1977).
- 55. Mui, K. K., McBryde, W. A. E. and Nieboer, E., Can. J. Chem., 52, 1821 (1974).
- 56. Faraglia, G., Rossotti, F. J. C. and Rossotti, H. S., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 4, 488 (1970).
- 57. Burger, K., Zelei, B., Szántó-Horváth, G. and Tran Thi Binh, J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 2573 (1971).
- 58. Gaizer, F., Buxbaum, P., Pappné Molnár, E. and Burger, K., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 79, 420 (1973).
- 59. Burger, K., Gaizer, F., Pappné Molnár, E. and Tran Thi Binh, Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 79, 425 (1973).
- 60. Gaizer, F., Tran Thi Binh and Burger, K., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 79, 466 (1973).
- 61. Van Uitert, C. E., Spicer, L. D. and Van Uitert, L. G., J. Phys. Chem., 81, 40 (1977).
- 62. Agrawal, Y. K. and Khare, V. P., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 1663 (1976).
- 63. Hawkins, C. J. and Perrin, D. D., Inorg. Chem., 2, 639 (1963).
- 64. Nagypál, I., Fábián, I. and Connick, R. E., Acta Chim. Hung., 110, 447 (1982).
- 65. Brookes, G. and Pettit, L. D., J. Chem. Soc., Dalton, 42 (1976).
- 66. Schwarzenbach, G., Helv. Chim. Acta, 35, 2344 (1952).
- 67. Spike, C. G. and Parry, R. W., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 75, 2726 (1953).
- 68. Cotton, A. and Harris, F. E., J. Phys. Chem., 59, 1203 (1955).
- 69. Adamson, A. W., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 76, 1578 (1954).
- 70. Westheimer, F. H. and Ingraham, L. L., J. Phys. Chem., 60, 1668 (1956).
- 71. Martell, A. E., Adv. Chem. Ser., 62, 272 (1966).
- 72. Hancock, R. and Marsicano, F., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1096 (1976).
- 73. Hancock, R. D., McDougall, G. J. and Marsicano, F., Inorg. Chem., 18, 2847 (1979).
- McDougall, G. J., Hancock, R. D. and Boeyens, J. C. A., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1438 (1978).
- 75. Myers, R. T., Inorg. Chem., 17, 952 (1978).
- 76. Rosseinsky, D. R., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 731 (1979).
- Weatherburn, D. C., Billo, E. J., Jones, J. P. and Margerum, D. W., Inorg. Chem., 9, 1557 (1970).
- 78. Yamauchi, O., Hirano, Y., Nakao, Y. and Nakahara, A., Can., J. Chem., 47, 3441 (1969).
- 79. Nakao, Y., Sakuri, K. and Nakahara, A., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 39, 1471 (1967).
- 80. Barbucci, P., Paoletti, P. and Vacca, A., Inorg. Chem. 14, 302 (1975).
- 81. Fabbrizzi, L., Paoletti, P. and Lever, A. B. P., Inorg. Chem., 15, 1502 (1976).
- 82. Fabbrizzi, L., Barbucci, R. and Paoletti, P., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1529 (1972).
- 83. Hedwig, G. R. and Powell, H. K. J., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1942 (1973).
- 84. Palmer, B. N. and Powell, H. K. J., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 2086 (1974); 2089 (1974).
- 85. Laurie, S. H. and Sarkar, B., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1822 (1977).
- 86. Yamauchi, O., Miyata, H. and Nakahara, A., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44, 2716 (1971).

- Yamauchi, O., Nakao, Y. and Nakahara, A., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 46, 2119 (1973);
 46, 3479 (1973).
- 88. Herman, G. G., Goeminne, A. M. and Eeckhaut, Z., J. Coord. Chem., 7, 53 (1977).
- 89. Cabbiness, D. K. and Margerum, D. W., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 91, 6540 (1969).
- 90. Cabbiness, D. K. and Margerum, D. W., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 2151 (1970).
- 91. Olson, D. C. and Vasilevski, J., Inorg. Chem., 8, 1611 (1969).
- 92. Anichini, A., Fabbrizzi, L. and Paoletti, P., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 577 (1978).
- 93. Micheloni, M., Sabatini, A. and Paoletti, P., J. Chem. Soc. Perkin II., 828 (1978).
- 94. Fabbrizzi, L., Micheloni, M. and Paoletti, P., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1581 (1979).
- 95. Hancock, R. D. and McDougall, G. J., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 102, 6551 (1980).
- 96. Micheloni, M. and Paoletti, P., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 43, 109 (1980).
- 97. Sen, B., Anal. Chim. Acta, 27, 515 (1962).
- 98. Sharma, V. S. and Schubert, J., J. Chem. Educ., 46, 506 (1969).
- 99. Griesser, R. and Sigel, H., Inorg. Chem., 9, 1238 (1970).
- 100. Dellien, I., Acta Chem. Scand., A36, 576 (1976).
- 101. Powell, J. E., Farrell, J. L. and Kulprathipanja, S., Inorg. Chem., 14, 786 (1975).
- 102. Ohyoshi, E., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44, 423 (1971).
- 103. Ma, J. K. H., Wang, J. T. and Li, N. C., J. Coord. Chem., 2, 281 (1973).
- 104. Baumann, E. W., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 84, 687 (1972).
- 105. Gaur, J. N. and Palrecha, M. M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 1375 (1970).
- 106. Aziz, A. and Lyle, S. J., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 32, 1925 (1970).
- 107. Khopkar, P. K. and Mathur, J. N., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 3819 (1974).
- 108. Sigel, H., Caraco, R. and Prijs, B., Inorg. Chem., 13, 462 (1974).
- 109. Micskei, K., Debreczeni, F. and Nagypál, I., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1335 (1983).
- 110. Ahrland, S., Structure and Bonding, 15, 167 (1973).
- 111. Beck, M. T., "Critical Survey of Stability Constants of Cyano Complexes", Pure and Appl. Chem., 59, 1703 (1987).
- 112. Hancock, R. D., Finkelstein, N. P. and Evans, A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 3747 (1972).
- 113. Hambright, P. and Fischer, E. B., Inorg. Chem., 9, 1757 (1970).
- 114. Stone, A. and Fleischer, B. B., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 90, 2735 (1968).
- 115. Aiba, H., Yokoyama, A. and Tanaka, H., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 47, 1437 (1974).
- 116. Sillén, L. G., Acta Chem. Scand., 3, 539 (1949).
- 117. Gerding, P., Acta Chem. Scand., 20, 79 (1966).
- 118. Gerding, P., Acta Chem. Scand., 23, 1695 (1969).
- 119. Ahrland, S. and Kuulberg, L., Acta Chem. Scand., 25, 3692 (1971).
- 120. Izatt, R. M., Christensen, J. J., Hansen, J. W. and Watt, G. D., Inorg. Chem., 4, 718 (1965).
- 121. Sigel, H. and Martin, R. B., Chem. Rev., 82, 385 (1982).
- 122. Bjerrum, J., Ballhausen, C. J. and Jørgensen, C. K., Acta Chem. Scand., 8, 1275 (1954).
- 123. Kiss, T. and Tóth, B., Talanta, 29, 539 (1982).
- 124. Burger, K., Chelates in Analytical Chemistry. (Eds.: Flaschka, H. A. and Barnard, A. J.) Marcel Dekker, Vol. 2. p. 179, New York, 1969.
- 125. Sakurai, T., Yamauchi, O. and Nakahara, A., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 49, 169 (1976).
- 126. Sakurai, T., Yamauchi, O. and Nakahara, A., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 49, 1579 (1976).
- 127. Yamauchi, O., Sakurai, T. and Nakahara, A., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 50, 1776 (1977).

128. Sakurai, T., Yamauchi, O. and Nakahara, A., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 51, 3203 (1978).

- 129. Naumann, C. F. and Sigel, H., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 96, 2750 (1974).
- 130. Scheidegger, H., Felty, W. and Leussing, D. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 808 (1970).
- 131. Felty, W., Ekström, C. G. and Leussing, D. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 3006 (1970).
- 132. Leach, B. E. and Leussing, D. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 3377 (1971).
- 133. Hilton, A. and Leussing, D. L., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 6831 (1971).
- 134. Felty, W. and Leussing, D. L., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 617 (1974).
- 135. Tanaka, M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 965 (1973).
- 136. Tanaka, M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 151 (1974).
- 137. Eigen, M. and Tamm, K., Z. Electrochem., 66, 93 (1962).
- 138. Edwards, J. O., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 76, 1540 (1954).
- 139. Eigen, M., Z. Phys. Chem. (Frankfurt), 1, 176 (1954).
- 140. Fuoss, R. M., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 80, 5059 (1958).
- 141. Sigel, H., Angew. Chem. Int. Ed., 14, 394 (1975); and references therein.
- 142. Griesser, R. and Sigel, H., Inorg. Chem., 10, 2229 (1971).
- 143. Munakata, M., Harada, M. and Niina, S., Inorg. Chem., 15, 1727 (1976).
- 144. Sóvágó, I. and Gergely, A., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 20, 27 (1976).
- 145. Sigel, H., Huber, P. R. and Pasternack, R. F., Inorg. Chem., 10, 2226 (1971).
- 146. Beck, M. T., "Critical Evaluation of Equilibrium Constants in Solution" Pure and Appl. Chem., 49, 127 (1977).
- 147. Anderegg, G., "Critical Survey of Stability Constants of Edta Complexes", *IUPAC Chemical Data Series*, No. 14, Pergamon Press, 1977.
- 148. McBryde, W. A. E., "A Critical Review of Equilibrium Data for Proton- and Metal Complexes of 1,10-Phenantroline, 2,2'-Bipyridyl and Related Compounds", *IUPAC Chemical Data Series*, No. 17 Pergamon Press, 1978.
- 149. Stary, J. and Liljenzin, J. O., "Critical Evaluation of Equilibrium Constants involving Acetylacetone and its Metal Chelates", Pure and Appl. Chem., 54, 2593 (1982).
- 150. Anderegg, G., "Critical Survey of Equilibrium Constants of NTA Complexes", Pure and Appl. Chem., 54, 2693 (1982); Pettit, L. D. "Critical Survey of Formation Constants of Complexes of Histidine, Phenylalanine, Tyrosine, L-DOPA and Trypto-phan", Pure and Appl. Chem., 56, 247 (1984).
- 151. Szabó, K., Nagypál, I. and Fábián, I., Talanta, 30, 801 (1983).
- Martell, A. E. and Smith, R. M., Critical Stability Constants. Plenum Press, Vols. 1–5, 197, 1982.
- 153. Koskinen, M., Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn., Series A., No. 155.
- 154. Gergely, A., Nagypál, I. and Farkas, E., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 80, 25 (1974).
- 155. Daniele, P. G., Rigano, C. and Sammartano, S., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 63, 267 (1982).
- Maksimovic, Z. B., Miksa-Spiric, A. and Ribnikar, S. V., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 35, 1239 (1973).
- 157. Taneja, A. D., Rao, N. U. M., Tiwari, H. P. and Prasad, C. S. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 2039 (1974).
- 158. Das, A. R. and Nair, V. S. K., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 2121 (1975).
- 159. Silva, J. J. R. F. and Vaz, M. C. T. A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 613 (1977).
- 160. Izatt, R. M., Johnson, H. R. and Christensen, J. J., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1152 (1972).
- 161. Saxena, R. S. and Chaturvedi, U. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 913 (1972).

- 162. Roy, R. N., Robinson, R. A. and Bates, R. G., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 95, 8231 (1973).
- 163. Grenthe, I. and Otas, H., Acta Chem. Scand., 26, 1217 (1972).
- 164. Dadgar, H. and Delorenzo, R., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 33, 4155 (1971).
- 165. Pignolet, L. H., Horrocks, W. D. W. and Holm. R. H., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 1855 (1970).
- 166. Kannan, T. S. and Chakravorty, A., Inorg. Chem., 9, 1153 (1970).
- 167. Rusnak, L. and Jordan, R. B., Inorg. Chem., 10, 2199 (1971).
- 168. Nowlin, T. and Cohn, K., Inorg. Chem., 11, 560 (1972).
- 169. Farina, R. D. and Swinehart, J. H., Inorg. Chem., 11, 645 (1972).
- 170. Graybill, G. R., Wrathal, J. W. and Ihring, J. L., Inorg. Chem., 11, 722 (1972).
- 171. Cusumano, M., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 2139 (1976).
- 172. Tshabalala, C. F. and Giesekke, E. W., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 40, 225 (1978).
- 173. Farkas, E., Homoki, E. and Gergely, A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 43, 624 (1981). 174. Sinn, E., Coord. Chem. Rev., 12, 185 (1974).
- 175. Horne, R. A., Myers, B. R. and Frysinger, G. R., Inorg. Chem., 3, 452 (1964).
- 176. Brown, P. L., Sylva, R. N. and Ellis, J., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 723 (1985).
- 177. Hefter, G., Coord. Chem. Rev., 12, 221 (1974).
- 178. Mellor, D. P. and Maley, L., Nature, 159, 370 (1947).
- 179. Ackermann, H., Prue, J. E. and Schwarzenbach, G., Nature, 163, 723 (1949).
- 180. Fyfe, W. S., J. Chem. Soc., 2018 (1952).
- 181. Agrawall, Y. K. and Tandon, S. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 869 (1974).
- 182. Van Panthaleon van Eck, C. L., Rec. Trav. Chim., 72, 50 (1953).
- 183. Van Uitert, L. G., Fernelius, W. C. and Douglas, B. E., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 75, 2736 (1953).
- 184. Izatt, R.M., Fernelius, W. C., Haas, C. G. and Block, B. P., J. Phys. Chem., 59, 170 (1955).
- 185. Chapman, D., Nature, 174, 887 (1954).
- 186. Uusitalo, E., Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn., A87, (1957).
- 187. Swinarski, A. and Lodzinska, A., Proc. 7th Intern. Conf. Coord. Chem., Stockholm, p. 320, 1962.
- 188. Irving, H. and Williams, R. J. P., Nature, 162, 746 (1948).
- 189. Irving, H. and Williams, R. J. P., J. Chem. Soc., 3192 (1953).
- 190. Bjerrum, J. and Jørgensen, C. K., Rec. Trav. Chim., 75, 658 (1956).
- 191. Orgel, L. E., Proc. 13th Solvay Conference in Chemistry. Brussel, p. 289, 1956.
- 192. Cannon, R. D., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 1222 (1976).
- 193. Sidgwick, N. V., J. Chem. Soc., 433 (1941).
- 194. Grinberg, A. A., Introduction to the Chemistry of Complex Compounds. Pergamon Press, London, 1962.
- 195. Ahrland, S. and Larsson, R., Acta Chem. Scand., 8, 354 (1954).
- 196. Carleson, B. G. F. and Irving, H., J. Chem. Soc., 4390 (1954).
- 197. Pearson, R. G., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 85, 3539 (1963).
- 198. Ahrland, S., Chatt, J. and Davies, N. R., Quart. Rev., 12, 265 (1958).
- 199. Drago, R. S. and Kobler, R. A., Inorg. Chem., 11, 3144 (1972).
- 200. Pearson, R. G., Inorg. Chem., 11, 3146 (1972).
- 201. Williams, R. J. P. and Hale, J. P., Structure and Bonding, 1, 249 (1966).
- 202. Ahrland, S., Helv. Chim. Acta, 50, 306 (1967).

25 Beck-Nagypál

- 203. Jørgensen, C. K., Structure and Bonding, 3, 106 (1967).
- 204. Ahrland, S., Structure and Bonding, 5, 118 (1968).
- 205. Ahrland, S., Chem. Phys. Letters, 2, 303 (1968).
- 206. Misono, M. and Saito, Y., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 43, 3680 (1970).
- 207. Yingst, A. and McDaniel, D. H., Inorg. Chem., 6, 1067 (1967).
- 208. Garnett, M. W. and Halstead, T. K., Chem. Comm., 587 (1972).
- 209. Yamada, S. and Tanaka, M., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 587 (1975).
- 210. Hancock, R. D. and Marsicano, F., Inorg. Chem., 17, 560 (1978).
- 211. Letter, J. E. and Baumann, J. E., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 92, 443 (1970).
- 212. Gergely, A., Nagypál, I. and Király, B., Acta Chim. Hung., 68, 285 (1971).
- 213. Martin, R. B., Edsall, J. T., Wetlaufer, D. B. and Hollingworth, B. R., J. Biol. Chem., 233, 1429 (1958).
- 214. Martin, R. B., J. Phys. Chem., 75, 2657 (1971).
- 215. Sawyer, T. L. and Rabenstein, D. L., Can. J. Chem., 54, 3392 (1976).
- 216. Noszál, B. and Burger, K., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 85, 160 (1979).
- 217. Jameson, R. F., Hunter, G. and Kiss, T., J. Chem. Soc. Perkin II, 1105 (1980).
- 218. Larsson, E., Z. Physik, Chem. Leipzig, A169, 207 (1934).
- 219. Shawali, A. S. and Alhilaly, A. E., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 26, 67 (1978).
- 220. Haruta, M., Yoshida, Z. and Ogoshi, J., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 47, 3029 (1974).
- 221. Magon, L., Portanova, R., Zarli, B. and Bismondo, A., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 1971 (1972).
- 222. Agrawall, Y. K. and Tandon, S. G., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 869 (1974).
- 223. Jahagirdar, D. V., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 36, 2388 (1974).
- 224. Sigel, H., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 37, 507 (1975).
- 225. Shawali, A. S. and El-Ezaby, M. S., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 38, 2097 (1976).
- 226. Choppin, G. R., Goledken, M. P. and Gritmon, T. F., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 39, 2025 (1977).
- 227. Irving, H. and Rossotti, H. S., Acta Chem. Scand., 10, 72 (1956).
- 228. Freiser, H., Fernando, Q. and Cheney, G. E., J. Phys. Chem., 63, 250 (1959).
- 229. Yatsimirskii, K. B., Zh. Neorg. Him., 5, 264 (1961).
- 230. Nieboer, E. and McBryde, W. A. E., Can. J. Chem., 48, 2549 (1970).
- 231. Nieboer, E. and McBryde, W. A. E., Can. J. Chem., 48, 2565 (1970).
- 232. Nieboer, E. and McBryde, W. A. E., Can. J. Chem., 51, 2512 (1973).
- 233. Jørgensen, C. K., Proc. Symp. Coord. Chem., Tihany, Hungary 1964 Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, p. 11, 1965.
- 234. Werner, A., Neuere Anschaungen der anorganischen Chemie. Vieweg, Braunschweig, 1913.
- 235. Laitinen, H. A., Bailar, J. C. Jr., Holtzlaw, H. F. and Quagliano, J. V., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 70, 2999 (1948).
- 236. Laitinen, H. A. and Grieb, M. W., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 77, 5201 (1955).
- 237. Tanaka, N., Ogino, K. and Sato, G., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 39, 366 (1966).
- 238. Vleck, A. A., Progr. Inorg. Chem., 5, 268 (1963).
- 239. Tanaka, N. and Yamada, A., Z. Anal. Chem., 224, 117 (1967).
- Matsuura, N., Umemoto, K., Takizawa, M. and Sasaki, Y., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 47, 1172 (1974).
- 241. Davies, C. W., Ion Association. Butterworths, London, p. 12, 1962.

- 242. Hughes, M. N. and Tobe, M. L., J. Chem. Soc., 1204 (1965).
- 243. Burnett, M. G., J. Chem. Soc. A., 2480 (1970).
- 244. Katayama, S. and Tamamushi, R., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 43, 2354 (1970).
- 245. Davies, C. W., J. Chem. Soc., 2421 (1930).
- 246. Larsson, R., Acta Chem. Scand., 12, 708 (1958).
- 247. Heck, L., Inorg. Nucl. Chem. Letters, 7, 701 (1971).
- 248. Johansson, L., Acta Chem. Scand., 25, 3763 (1971).
- 249. Larsson, R., Acta Chem. Scand., 16, 2305 (1962).
- 250. Larsson, R., Acta Chem. Scand., 14, 697 (1960).
- 251. Larsson, R. and Tobiason, I., Acta Chem. Scand., 16, 1919 (1962).
- 252. Peacock, J. M. and James, J. C., J. Chem. Soc., 2233 (1951).
- 253. Archer, D. W., East, D. A. and Monk, C. B., J. Chem. Soc., 720 (1965).
- 254. Alei, M., Inorg. Chem., 3, 44 (1964).
- 255. Stengle, T. R. and Langford, C. H., J. Phys. Chem., 69, 3299 (1965).
- 256. Fung, B. M., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 89, 5788 (1967).
- 257. Kiss, A. and Czeglédy, D., Z. Anorg. Allgem. Chem., 239, 27 (1938).
- 258. Linhard, M., Z. Electrochem., 50, 224 (1944).
- 259. Taube, H. and Posey, F. A., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 75, 1463 (1953).
- 260. Ogino, K. and Saito, U., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 40, 826 (1967).
- 261. Ilcheva, L. and Beck, M. T., Acta Chim. Hung., 97, 45 (1978).
- 262. Yoneda, H., Miyoshi, K., Suzuki, S. and Taura, T., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 47, 1661 (1974).
- 263. Werner, A., Ber., 45, 121 (1912).
- 264. Jaeger, F. M., Z. Krist., 55, 209 (1915).
- 265. Albinak, M. J., Bhatnagar, D. C., Kirschner, S. and Sonnessa, A. J., Can. J. Chem., 39, 2360 (1961).
- 266. Kirschner, S. and Bhatnagar, D. C., Proc. Symp. Coord. Chem., Tihany, Hungary, 1964. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, p. 23, 1965.
- 267. Larsson, R., Acta Chem. Scand., 16, 2267 (1962).
- 268. Larsson, R. and Johansson, L., Proc. Symp. Coord. Chem. Tihany, Hungary, 1964 Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, p. 31, 1965.
- 269. Larsson, R. and Norman, B., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 28, 1291 (1966).
- 270. Larsson, R., Mason, S. F. and Norman, B. J., J. Chem. Soc. A., 301 (1966).
- 271. Mason, S. F. and Norman, B. J., J. Chem. Soc. A., 307 (1966).
- 272. Johansson, L., Coord. Chem. Rev., 12, 241 (1974).
- 273. Yokoyama, H. and Yamatera, H., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 48, 1770 (1975).
- 274. Beck, M. T., Coord. Chem. Rev., 3, 91 (1968).
- 275. Werner, A., Z. Anorg. Chem., 12, 53 (1896).
- 276. Wells, H. L., Am. J. Sci., 3, 315 (1922).
- 277. Whitney, J. E. and Davidson, N., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 69, 2076 (1947).
- 278. Whitney, J. E. and Davidson, N., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 71, 3809 (1949).
- 279. McConnell, H. and Davidson, N., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 5557 (1950).
- 280. McConnell, H. and Davidson, N., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 72, 3168 (1950).
- 281. Ibers, J. Unpublished results, quoted in Ref. [280].
- 282. Seres, I. and Beck, M. T., unpublished.
- 283. Godwin, J. B. and Meyer, T., Inorg. Chem., 10, 2150 (1971).

25*

- Gergely, A. and Sóvágó, I., in *Metal Ions in Biological Systems*. (Ed.: Sigel, H.) Vol.
 9. Ch. 3, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1979.
- 285. Polyak, E. A., Zh. Obshch. Khim., 45, 635 (1975).
- 286. Korsse, J., Pronk, L. A., van Embden, C., Leurs, G. A. and Lowrier, P. W. F., *Talanta*, **30**, 1 (1983).
- 287. Falk, L. C. and Linck, R. G., Inorg. Chem., 10, 215 (1971).
- 288. Armor, J. N. and Haim, A., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 93, 867 (1970).
- 289. Huchital, D. H. and Hodges, R. J., Inorg. Chem., 12, 998 (1973).
- 290. Huchital, D. H. and Hodges, R. J., Inorg. Chem., 12, 1004 (1973).
- 291. Stampfli, R. and Choppin, G. R., J. Inorg. Nucl. Chem., 34, 205 (1971).
- 292. McKnight, G. F. and Haight, G. P., Inorg. Chem., 12, 1934 (1973).
- 293. Zmikic, A., Cvrtila, D., Pavlovic, D., Murati, I., Reynolds, W. and Asperger, S., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1284 (1973).
- 294. Bustin, D. I., Rievaj, M. and Mocák, J., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 26, 5 (1970).
- 295. Shirai, M., Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan, 44, 400 (1971).
- 296. Pereira, M. S. and Malin, J. M., Inorg. Chem., 13, 386 (1974).
- 297. Országh, I. and Beck, M. T., Magyar Kémiai Folyóirat, 81, 106 (1975).
- 298. Beck, M. T. and Porzsolt, É., J. Coord. Chem., 1, 57 (1971).
- 299. Adin, A., Klotz, P. and Newman, L., Inorg. Chem., 9, 2499 (1970).
- 300. Touche, M. L. D. and Williams, D., J. Chem. Soc. Dalton, 1355 (1976).
- 301. Galembeck, F., Dias, G. H. M., Vanin, N. and Krumholz, P., Inorg. Chim. Acta, 20, 1 (1976).
- 302. Ishiguro, S-I. and Ohtaki, H., Thermodynamics and Structures of Metal Complexes in Various Solvents. Dept. Electronic Chemistry, Tokyo Institute of Technology at Nagatsuta, p. 46, 1985.
- 303. Smith, R. M., Martell, A. E. and Motekaitis, R. J., *Inorg. Chim. Acta*, 99, 207 (1985). Smith, R. M., Motekaitis, R. J. and Martell, A. E., *Inorg. Chim. Acta* 103, 73 (1985).
- 304. Haynes, L. V. and Sawyer, D. T., Inorg. Chem., 6, 2146 (1967).
- 305. Korsse, J., Leurs, G. A. J. and Louvrier, P. W.F., Talanta, 32, 451 (1985).

Chapter 7 Prospects

A few decades ago the formation of complexes was considered more as an exception than a rule. Owing to the very intensive researches from the early fifties, the ubiquitous nature of complex formation has become evident. Since equilibrium "constants" can in most cases be obtained with readily available instruments, many laboratories became engaged in investigations in this field. It was almost inevitable that besides papers offering reliable data obtained by careful experimental work and using well-chosen methods, a great number of papers were published whose data are either not accurate or even wrong. As discussed in the previous chapters, we now have reliable experimental methods and calculation procedures for the determination of equilibrium constants for all types of complex equilibria. Consequently, nowadays it cannot be regarded as forgivable to determine and publish erroneous constants as it was a quarter of century ago, in the time of 'gold fever' in coordination chemistry. It is a very important task of the studies to clean up the polluted areas.

We believe that the most important directions of future equilibrium studies are as follows:

(1) Determination of formation enthalpy and entropy of different species.

(2) Study of protonated, mixed ligand, polynuclear and outer-sphere complexes.

(3) Resolution of macroscopic thermodynamic constants to microconstants of well-defined isomeric species.

(4) Determination of stability constants of weak complexes.

(5) Study of complex equilibria in non-aqueous media and in the gas phase.

(6) Study of complexes of new ligands of fundamental or practical importance.

In the determination of formation enthalpies and entropies the application of direct calorimetry is preferable to the evaluation of these quantities from equilibrium measurements at different temperatures. Nevertheless, the two approaches can be regarded as complementary. In most of the solutions which chemists use generally not only the mononuclear binary complexes exist but protonated (deprotonated), polynuclear, mixed ligand and outer-sphere complexes, too. For a while, these species used to be regarded as exotic types of complexes but now it is evident that these very species are the normally occurring constituents of the solutions, and that the simple parent complexes exist under carefully selected experimental conditions only. Therefore equilibrium studies of these types of complexes require much more attention in the future.

The resolution of thermodynamic constants to microconstants referring to well-defined isomeric species makes necessary the judicious application of the different spectroscopic (optical and resonance) techniques. After having enough data of this kind, it might be necessary to reconsider the different correlations between stability constants and other parameters.

The main task of equilibrium studies is not to decide the existence of the different complexes, but to learn the concentrations of these species under different conditions. Each judiciously imaginable complex exists in the solutions although its existence may not be manifested in the different properties of the solutions. This situation is due to either the small concentration of the complex and/or the small value of the corresponding intensive parameter. The small concentration may be the consequence of either the absolute or the relative instability of the species in question. In the former case the absolute value of the stability constant is small, in the latter case the absolute value of the stability constant can be quite big, but the stability constants of the related species are even larger. Both cases frequently occur, and the determination of the stability constants requires particular care. It seems likely that a number of unstable species may play important roles in different chemical phenomena where the corresponding intensive factor can be quite high. Such is the case with the kinetics of reaction where the rate studies may compellingly indicate the formation of unexpected species. For example, that dimeric and perhaps trimeric iodine species are present in CS2 solution of iodine was first indicated by rate equation of iodination reactions of unsaturated organic compounds.

Recently, unexpectedly high orders were found in redox reactions involving oxyanions. This could be an indication of the formation of iso and heteropolyanions which are unstable because of irreversible redox reactions. One must bear in mind that very high degrees of aggregation were found in a number of anions. Equilibrium analysis undoubtedly proved the occurrence of species like $V_{10}O_{28}^{6-}$, $W_{12}O_{46}H_2^{10-}$ etc., even in rather dilute solutions. In case of oxyanions where an irreversible redox reaction is superimposed to the polycondensation or polymerization processes, the application of the traditional methods is not possible.

Statistical mechanical calculations have shown the possibility of ion-pair formation between ions of like charge. According to the considerations by Dang

and Pettit [1], the strength of interaction in the Cl^--Cl^- ion pair is about three-four fold of the thermal energy, which mean that stability constant amounts rougly to 20–60. It seems likely that under the umbrella of the activity concept there is a considerable fraction of contributions of short range interactions. The difficulties of the chemical characterization of such species as Cl_2^{2-} are obvious and the efforts in the coming decades certainly will be rewarding.

It is likely that there is an interaction between the di- and triatomic anions, like CN⁻, SCN⁻, OCN⁻, etc. and also between the corresponding acids. The study of the formation of such species both in solution and in the gas phase seems very promising.

The importance of study of complex equilibria in non-aqueous organic and inorganic solvents and solvent mixtures is obvious and the possibilities are literarily unlimited. Some of these studies might be necessary in connection with practical applications, other studies may contribute to the general understanding of chemistry of complex equilibria.

Complex equilibria are not restricted to the liquid phase. We do believe that such investigations will be rewarding, although a much faster increase of interest was expected in the time of the preparation of the first edition of this book.

All in all, we expect that most of the efforts in the equilibrium studies in the coming decades will be directed to determine the thermodynamic constants of complexes of new ligands. Either naturally occurring or synthetic organic compounds of biological interest will be selected in order to clarify the biological role of metal ions or to achieve and/or understand beneficial effects of different compounds.

Reference

1. Dang, L. X. and Pettit, B. M., J. Am. Chem. Soc., 109, 5531 (1987).

Appendix

A.1. An example for the transformation of the composition matrix

It was shown in Section 3.3 that the rows of the composition matrix relating to the components comprise a unit matrix. Thus, if we wish to pass from one component series of the equilibrium system to another, we must seek the matrix that transforms the square matrix formed from the vectors of the components to be selected into a unit matrix. This transformation matrix is the inverse of the square matrix relating to the species to be selected as components.

The new composition matrix for the components is obtained by performing the matrix inversion, and then multiplying the composition matrix from the right by the inverse matrix.

As an example, let us consider the system in Table 3.1, and characterize the system by the species HL, MeL and MeL_2 as components. The row vectors for these form the following square matrix:

	ann mian	Starting components			
		Н	L	Me	
Species to be	HL	1	1	0	
selected as	MeL	0	1	1	
components	MeL ₂	0	2	1	

The determinant of the resulting matrix is -1 (i.e. not zero), therefore HL, MeL and MeL₂ are suitable for a description of the system. Inversion of the resulting matrix (subsequently denoted by **M**) leads to the following matrix

 $\mathbf{M}^{-1} = \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 1 & -1 \\ 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 2 & -1 \end{vmatrix}$
i.e.

$$\begin{vmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 2 & 1 \end{vmatrix} * \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 1 & -1 \\ 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 2 & -1 \end{vmatrix} = \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{vmatrix}$$

$$\mathbf{M}^{-1} \ast \mathbf{M} = \mathbf{E}. \tag{A.1}$$

If the starting composition matrix is multiplied from the right by M^{-1} , we obtain the composition matrix for the components HL, MeL and MeL₂

inconer	Starting components			-					e HL Ma	New components		
Lornan Des	k ₁	k ₂	k ₃							k'1	k_2'	k'3
Species	Н	L	Me						Species	HL	MeL	MeL ₂
Н	1	0	0						Н	1	1	-1
L	0	1	0						L	0	-1	1
Me	0	0	1						Me	0	2	-1
HL	1	1	0	1	1	1	-1	1	HL	1	0	0
H ₂ L	2	1	0	*	0	-1	1	=	H ₂ L	2	1	-1
MeL	0	1	1		0	2	-1		MeL	0	1	0
MeL ₂	0	2	1						MeL ₂	0	0	1
MeLH	1	1	1						MeLH	1	2	-1
MeLH ₋₁	-1	1	1						MeLH_1	-1	0	1

$$A * M^{-1} = A'.$$
 (A.2)

The composition matrix for the starting components has been denoted by A, and that for the new components by A'.

Equation (3.6) defining the formation constants naturally remains valid; thus, the value of the formation constants relating to the new components is 1, and the other constants are transformed accordingly. The total concentrations likewise undergo transformation. By means of the transformation matrix M^{-1} , the transformation between the total concentrations of the starting components and the total concentrations defined for the new components can be performed

as follows

$$|T_{\rm H}T_{\rm L}T_{\rm Me}| * \begin{vmatrix} 1 & 1 & -1 \\ 0 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & 2 & -1 \end{vmatrix} = |T_{\rm HL}T_{\rm MeL}T_{\rm MeL_2}|$$
$$T_{\rm HL} = T_{\rm H}$$

i.e.

$$T_{HL} = T_{H}$$

$$T_{MeL} = T_{H} - T_{L} + 2 * T_{Me}$$

$$T_{MeL_{2}} = -T_{H} + T_{L} - T_{Me}.$$
(A.3)

The composition matrix, formation constants and total concentrations relating to the components HL, MeL and MeL_2 are given in Table A.1, in a manner formally agreeing with that in Table 3.2.

Table A.1 Differential quotients of the r functions, expressed in terms of the differential

		dx
the shade anone	the state of the second second	d log [k ₁]
Condition	y = f(x)	dy/dx
$[k_1] = Constant$	$\log r_{1(k_1)} = \log [k_1] - \log T_1$	
A second	$\log r_{2(k_1)} = \log [k_2] - \log T_2$	and the second second second
[k ₂]=Constant	$\log r_{1(k_2)} = \log [k_1] - \log T_1$	$1 - \left(\frac{d\log T_1}{d\log [k_1]}\right)_{[k_2]}$
	$\log r_{2(k_2)} = \log [k_2] - \log T_2$	$-\left(\frac{d\log T_2}{d\log [k_1]}\right)_{[k_2]}$
$T_{\rm r} = {\rm Constant}$	$\log r_{1(T_1)} = \log [k_1] - \log T_1$	in an
	$\log r_{2(T_1)} = \log [k_2] - \log T_2$	$\left(\frac{d \log [k_2]}{d \log [k_1]}\right)_{T_1} - \left(\frac{d \log T_2}{d \log [k_1]}\right)_{T_1}$
$T_2 = \text{Constant}$	$\log r_{1(T_2)} = \log [k_1] - \log T_1$	$1 - \left(\frac{d \log T_1}{d \log [k_1]}\right)_{T_2}$
	$\log r_{2(T_2)} = \log [k_1] - \log T_2$	$\left(\frac{d \log [k_2]}{d \log [k_1]}\right)_{T_2}$

The correlations in Tables 3.2 and A.1 are clearly equivalent from the mathematical description of the system. Indeed, a further 69, similarly equivalent arrangements could be made with the given transformation. However, the only arrangement containing the chemical content in illustrative form is that in which H, L and M feature as components. The importance of this transformation is that the rules governing the concentration distribution can be established comparatively simply (see Section 3.6), and similar transformations can essentially simplify and speed up the computational procedure involved in evaluation of the equilibrium measurements.



quotients of the total and equilibrium concentrations of the components

A.2. Differential connections of the r and p functions

The borate-proton two-component system has been chosen to illustrate the 24 different plotting modes (functions). The composition matrix of the system, the values of the formation constants are listed in Table A.2, and the $\log r$ functions are presented in Figs A.1–A.8. Logarithmic scale is used in the plotting, and an indication is always given of the fixed concentration.

	12111	$(\mathbf{D} = \mathbf{D})$	$(OH)_4$	
	Н	В	A NAME AND A	in tank
Species	р	q	$\log \beta_{pq}$	$\log K_{pq}$
HB	1	1	8.87	0
HB ₃	1	3	10.31	-16.30
H ₂ B ₃	2	3	19.71	- 6.90
H ₃ B ₅	3	5	30.55	-13.80
H ₄ B ₅	4	5	37.80	-6.55
		[H,]	$\mathbf{B}_{q}][\mathbf{H}]^{p-q}$	

Table A.2 Species formed in the $H^+-B(OH)_4^-$ equilibrium system, and their formation constants

$$\int_{pq} = \frac{\left[H_p B_q\right] \left[H\right]^{p-q}}{\left[H B\right]^p}$$

For clarity, the obvious results of the first step of differentiation are presented in Table A.3.

The Table demonstrates that the derivatives of the equilibrium and total concentrations of the components with respect to one another are necessary to give the differential correlations. These can be obtained most simply by starting from the equations generally describing two-component equilibrium systems

$$T_1 = \sum \alpha_{j1} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}$$
(A.4)

$$T_2 = \sum \alpha_{j2} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}}.$$
 (A.5)

We consider first the derivatives obtained at $[k_1] = constant$. Differentiation of A.4 with respect to [k₂] gives

$$\left(\frac{dT_1}{d[k_2]}\right)_{[k_1]} = \sum \alpha_{j_1} \alpha_{j_2} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j_1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j_2} - 1}.$$
 (A.6)

Multiplying by [k2]

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}T_1}{\mathrm{d}[k_2]} \ast [k_2]\right)_{[k_1]} = \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}T_1}{\mathrm{d}\ln[k_2]}\right)_{[k_1]} = 0.4343 \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}T_1}{\mathrm{d}\log[k_2]}\right)_{[k_1]} = p_{12} \ast T_1 = p_{21} \ast T_2.$$
(A.7)





Equation (A.5) can be differentiated similarly, and leads to

$$0.4343 \left(\frac{\mathrm{d} T_2}{\mathrm{dlog} [k_2]} \right)_{[k_1]} = p_{22} \ \ast \ T_2. \tag{A.8}$$

Dividing Eq. (A.7) by Eq. (A.8)

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}T_2}{\mathrm{d}T_1}\right)_{[k_1]} = \frac{p_{12} \ast T_1}{p_{22} \ast T_2} = \frac{p_{21}}{p_{22}}.$$
(A.9)

Under the condition $[k_2] = \text{constant}$, equations analogous to Eqs (A.7)-(A.9) are obtained, but the indices 1 and 2 are interchanged

$$0.4343 \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}T_2}{\mathrm{dlog}\,[k_1]}\right)_{[k_2]} = p_{21} \ \ast \ T_2 = p_{12} \ \ast \ T_1 \tag{A.10}$$





$$0.4343 \left(\frac{\mathrm{d} T_1}{\mathrm{dlog} [k_1]} \right)_{[k_2]} = p_{11} * T_1 \tag{A.11}$$

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}T_2}{\mathrm{d}T_1}\right)_{[k_2]} = \frac{p_{21} * T_2}{p_{11} * T_1} = \frac{p_{12}}{p_{11}}.$$
(A.12)

The derivatives defined by the condition $T_1 = \text{constant}$ are similarly produced by setting out from (A.4)

$$\left(\frac{dT_1}{d[k_1]}\right)_{T_1} = 0 = \sum \alpha_{j1}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}^{-1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}} + \sum \alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j2} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}^{-1}} \left(\frac{d[k_2]}{d[k_1]}\right)_{T_1}.$$
(A.13)

By rearrangement

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}[k_2]}{\mathrm{d}[k_1]} * \frac{[k_1]}{[k_2]}\right)_{T_1} = \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\log\left(k_2\right)}{\mathrm{d}\log\left[k_1\right]}\right)_{T_1} = p_{11}/p_{12}.$$
 (A.14)



Fig. A.3. $\log r_1 = f(\log [k_1])$ functions at various fixed values of $\log [k_2]$, $\log T_2$ and $\log T_1$, in the H⁺-B(OH)₄⁻ system [12]

To obtain $(dT_2/dlog[k_1])_{T_1}$, (A.5) is differentiated at $T_1 = constant$

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}T_2}{\mathrm{d}[k_1]} \right)_{T_1} = \sum \alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j2} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}^{-1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}} + \\ + \sum \alpha_{j2}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}^{-1}} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}[k_2]}{\mathrm{d}[k_1]} \right)_{T_1}.$$
 (A.15)

Multiplying by $[k_1]$ and substituting Eq. (A.14)

$$0.4343 \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}T_2}{\mathrm{dlog}\,[k_1]}\right)_{T_1} = T_2 \left(p_{21} - p_{22}\frac{p_{11}}{p_{12}}\right) = T_1 \left(p_{12} - \frac{p_{11} * p_{22}}{p_{21}}\right).$$
(A.16)

Table A.3 lists all of the differential connections between the r and p functions, obtained in the above manner.



Fig. A.4. $\log r_1 = f(\log [k_2])$ functions at various fixed values of $\log [k_1]$, $\log T_1$ and $\log T_2$, in the H⁺-B(OH)₄⁻ system [12]

The system of differential correlations for the r and p functions defined by Eqs (3.46), (3.47) is not given here, because of the great space required. The manner of obtaining two of the derivatives in case of a three-component system will be presented merely as examples. On this basis, any optional derivative could be deduced.

One of the fundamental aims of complex equilibrium investigations is to determine the stoichiometric composition and stability of the main associations in the equilibrium systems, and hence to calculate the concentration distribution curves. In three-component systems, the concentration distribution curves are generally obtained by maintaining the total concentrations of two components at a constant value, and plotting the concentrations of the various associations as functions of the equilibrium concentration of the third component (usually the negative logarithm of this). In equilibrium systems containing the proton, a ligand and a metal ion, for instance, the concentrations of the complexes





Fig. A.5. $\log r_2 = f(\log T_1)$ functions at various fixed values of $\log [k_2]$, $\log [k_1]$ and $\log T_2$, in the H⁺-B(OH)₄⁻ system [12]

formed are normally plotted as functions of pH at constant total metal ion and total ligand concentrations. The establishment of the rules of concentration distribution requires a knowledge of the function $dlog [k_3]/dlog [k_1]$ at constant T_2 and T_3 . This function is obtained by setting out from the basic equations describing the three-component equilibrium systems

$$T_1 = \sum \alpha_{j1} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}} [k_3]^{\alpha_{j3}}$$
(A.17)

$$T_2 = \sum \alpha_{j2} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}} [k_3]^{\alpha_{j3}}$$
(A.18)

$$T_3 = \sum \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}} [k_3]^{\alpha_{j3}}.$$
(A.19)

The conditions $T_2 = \text{constant}$ and $T_3 = \text{constant}$ mean that $dT_2/d\ln [k_1] = 0$ and

26 Beck-Nagypál



Fig. A.6. $\log r_2 = f(\log T_2)$ functions at various fixed values of $\log [k_2]$, $\log [k_1]$ and $\log T_1$, in the H⁺-B(OH)₄⁻ system [12]

 $dT_{3}/d\ln [k_{1}] = 0. \text{ Hence, differentiation of Eqs (A.18) and (A.19) gives}$ $\left(\frac{dT_{2}}{d\ln [k_{1}]}\right)_{T_{2}, T_{3}} = \sum \alpha_{j1}\alpha_{j2}\beta_{j}[k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}}[k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}[k_{3}]^{\alpha_{j3}} +$ $+ \sum \alpha_{j2}^{2}\beta_{j}[k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}}[k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}[k_{3}]^{\alpha_{j3}} \left(\frac{d\ln [k_{2}]}{d\ln [k_{1}]}\right)_{T_{2}, T_{3}} + (A.20)$ $+ \sum \alpha_{j2}\alpha_{j3}\beta_{j}[k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}}[k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}[k_{3}]^{\alpha_{j3}} \left(\frac{d\ln [k_{3}]}{d\ln [k_{1}]}\right)_{T_{2}, T_{3}} = 0$ $\left(\frac{dT_{3}}{d\ln [k_{1}]}\right)_{T_{2}, T_{3}} = \sum \alpha_{j1}\alpha_{j3}\beta_{j}[k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}}[k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}[k_{3}]^{\alpha_{j3}} +$ $+ \sum \alpha_{j2}\alpha_{j3}\beta_{j}[k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}}[k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}[k_{3}]^{\alpha_{j3}} \left(\frac{d\ln [k_{2}]}{d\ln [k_{1}]}\right)_{T_{2}, T_{3}} + (A.21)$ $+ \sum \alpha_{j3}^{2}\beta_{j}[k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}}[k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}}[k_{3}]^{\alpha_{j3}} \left(\frac{d\ln [k_{3}]}{d\ln [k_{1}]}\right)_{T_{2}, T_{3}} = 0.$



Fig. A.7. $\log r_2 = f(\log [k_1])$ functions at various fixed values of $\log [k_2]$, $\log T_1$ and $\log T_2$, in the H⁺-B(OH)₄⁻ system [12]

Equations (A.20) and (A.21) together can be regarded as a linear equation system involving two unknowns: $dln[k_3]/dln[k_1]$ and $dln[k_2]/dln[k_1]$. Through use of the appropriate determinants, we can write

$$\left(\frac{\ln [k_3]}{\ln [k_1]}\right)_{T_{2i},T_3} = \frac{\sum \alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j2} \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} * \sum \alpha_{j2} \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} - \\ - \sum \alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} * \sum \alpha_{j2}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} - \\ - \sum \alpha_{j2}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} * \sum \alpha_{j3}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} - \\ - (\sum \alpha_{j2} \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} * \sum \alpha_{j3}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} - \\ - (\sum \alpha_{j2} \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} + \sum \alpha_{j3}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} - \\ - (\sum \alpha_{j2} \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} + \sum \alpha_{j3}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} - \\ - (\sum \alpha_{j2} \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} + \sum \alpha_{j3}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} - \\ - (\sum \alpha_{j2} \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} + \sum \alpha_{j3}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} - \\ - (\sum \alpha_{j2} \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} + \sum \alpha_{j3}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} - \\ - (\sum \alpha_{j2} \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} + \sum \alpha_{j3}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} - \\ - (\sum \alpha_{j2} \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_1]^{a_{j1}} [k_2]^{a_{j2}} [k_3]^{a_{j3}} + \sum \alpha_{j3}^2 \beta_j [k_3]^{a_{j3}} - \\ - (\sum \alpha_{j2} \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_3]^{a_{j3}} + \sum \alpha_{j3}^2 \beta_j [k_3]^{a_{j3}} + \sum \alpha_{j3}^2$$

Further analysis of Eq. (A.22) leads to the rules of the concentration distribution in the equilibrium systems (see Section 3.6).

An important parameter characterizing the processes taking place in a proton-metal ion-ligand equilibrium system is the proton release factor at each fixed pH value. This quantity expresses the change in the total proton

26*

	Service Services	dx
		$d \log [k_1]$
Condition	y = f(x)	dy/dx
[k,]=Constant	$\log r_{1(k_1)} = \log \left[k_1 \right] - \log T_1$	
	$\log r_{2(k_1)} = \log [k_2] - \log T_2$	
D. J. Constant	$\log r_{1(k_2)} = \log [k_1] - \log T_1$	1-p ₁₁
$[k_2] = Constant$	$\log r_{2(k_2)} = \log [k_2] - \log T_2$	- p ₂₁
T	$\log r_{1(T_1)} = \log [k_1] - \log T_1$	1
$I_1 = \text{Constant}$	$\log r_{2(T_1)} = \log [k_2] - \log T_2$	$\frac{(p_{22}-1)p_{11}-p_{12}p_{21}}{p_{12}}$
T - Constant	$\log r_{1(T_2)} = \log [k_1] - \log T_1$	$\frac{(1-p_{11})p_{22}+p_{12}p_{21}}{p_{22}}$
$r_2 = \text{Constant}$	$\log r_{2(T_2)} = \log [k_2] - \log T_2$	$-\frac{p_{21}}{p_{22}}$

concentration when the total concentration of the metal ion is varied, but the pH is kept constant. Let us denote the total concentration of the proton by T_1 , and that of the metal ion by T_3 . The proton release factor is then expressed by the differential coefficient $(dT_1/dT_3)_{[k_1], T_2}$. At constant T_2 and constant $[k_1]$, this is found by differentiating Eq. (A.18) with respect to $[k_2]$

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}T_2}{\mathrm{d}[k_2]}\right)_{[k_1], T_2} = 0 = \sum \alpha_{j_2}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j_1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j_2} - 1} [k_3]^{\alpha_{j_3}} + + \sum \alpha_{j_2} \alpha_{j_3} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j_1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j_2}} [k_3]^{\alpha_{j_3} - 1} \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}[k_3]}{\mathrm{d}[k_2]}\right)_{[k_1], T_2}.$$
(A.23)

AN COMPANY STATE	dx	
$d \log [k_2]$	d <i>T</i> 1	d <i>T</i> ₂
dy/dx	dy/dx	dy/dx
-p ₁₂	$-\frac{0.4343}{T_1}$	$-\frac{0.4343 \cdot p_{12}}{p_{22} \cdot T_2}$
· 1-p ₂₂	$\frac{0.4343(1-p_{22})}{T_1 \cdot p_{12}}$	$\frac{0.4343(1-p_{22})}{T_2 \cdot p_{22}}$
	$\frac{0.4343(1-p_{11})}{p_{11}\cdot T_1}$	$\frac{0.4343(1-p_{11})}{p_{21}\cdot T_2}$
	$-\frac{0.4343p_{21}}{p_{11}\cdot T_1}$	$-\frac{0.4343}{T_2}$
$-\frac{p_{12}}{p_{11}}$		$\frac{0.4343 \cdot p_{12}}{(p_{12}p_{21} - p_{11}p_{22})T_2} \equiv \left(\frac{d\log[k_2]}{dT_1}\right)_{T_2}$
$\frac{(1-p_{22})p_{11}+p_{12}p_{21}}{p_{11}}$		$\frac{0.4343}{T_2} \left(\frac{p_{11}}{p_{22}p_{11} - p_{12}p_{21}} - 1 \right)$
$\frac{(p_{11}-1)p_{22}-p_{12}p_{21}}{p_{21}}$	$\frac{0.4343}{T_1} \left(\frac{p_{22}}{p_{11}p_{22} - p_{12}p_{21}} - 1 \right)$	
1	$\frac{0.4343 \cdot p_{21}}{(p_{12}p_{21} - p_{11}p_{22})T_1} = \left(\frac{d\log[k_1]}{T_2}\right)_{T_1}$	

connections between the r and p functions

Hence

$$\left(\frac{d[k_3]}{d[k_2]}\right)_{[k_1], T_2} = -\frac{\sum \alpha_{j2}^2 \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}-1} [k_3]^{\alpha_{j3}}}{\sum \alpha_{j2} \alpha_{j3} \beta_j [k_1]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_2]^{\alpha_{j2}} [k_3]^{\alpha_{j3}-1}}.$$
 (A.24)

Differentiating (A.17) and (A.19) with respect to $[k_2]$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{dT_{1}}{d[k_{2}]} \end{pmatrix}_{[k_{1}], T_{2}} = \sum \alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j2} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}-1} [k_{3}]^{\alpha_{j3}} + \\ + \sum \alpha_{j1} \alpha_{j3} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}} [k_{3}]^{\alpha_{j3}-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d[k_{3}]}{d[k_{2}]} \end{pmatrix}_{[k_{1}], T_{2}} \\ \begin{pmatrix} \frac{dT_{3}}{d[k_{2}]} \end{pmatrix}_{[k_{1}], T_{2}} = \sum \alpha_{j3} \alpha_{j2} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}-1} [k_{3}]^{\alpha_{j3}} + \\ + \sum \alpha_{j3}^{2} \beta_{j} [k_{1}]^{\alpha_{j1}} [k_{2}]^{\alpha_{j2}} [k_{3}]^{\alpha_{j3}-1} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{d[k_{3}]}{d[k_{2}]} \end{pmatrix}_{[k_{1}], T_{2}}$$
(A.25)
(A.26)



Fig. A.8. $\log r_2 = f(\log \lfloor k_2 \rfloor)$ functions at various fixed values of $\log \lfloor k_1 \rfloor$, $\log T_1$ and $\log T_2$, in the H⁺-B(OH)₄⁻ system [12]

Substituting Eq. (A.24) into Eq. (A.25) and Eq. (A.26), dividing, simplifying and substituting the p functions leads to

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}T_1}{\mathrm{d}T_3}\right)_{[k_1], T_2} = \frac{p_{21}p_{32} - p_{31}p_{22}}{p_{23}p_{32} - p_{22}p_{33}}.$$
 (A.27)

Any differential quotient can be derived in an analogous way in three- or multicomponent equilibrium systems.

acetylglycinate 148 acidity constant 13 Ackerman, K. 214 activity 14 coefficients 15, 335 additivity of subsystems 80 Adhikari, S. K. 188 Adin, A. 368 Agarwall, R. P. 78 Aggett, J. 180 Ahrland, S. 186, 291, 326, 352 Aiba, H. 328 β-alanine 21 Alekseyeva, I. I. 164 Algavish, G. 108 algorithm of concentration distribution 102 Al-Niaimi, N. S. 197 Al-Saadi, B. M. 197 aluminium chloride 4 ambivalent ligand 21 Anderegg, G. 217 aniline 167 anion-exchangers 190 Anon, M. C. 218 antagonism 174 aqua complexes 7, 294 Armor, J. N. 368 Arnek, R. 155 Arrhenius theory 2 asparagine 212 aspartic acid 251 ATP 140

Avdeef, A. 270, 271 Ayres, G. H. 121

Baumann, E. W., 216 Baumann, J. E. 355 Beattie, J. K. 76 Beck, M. T. 2, 78, 89, 110, 129, 164, 365, 368 Bell, R. P. 162 Belyevantseev, V. I. 123 Bent, H. E. 119 Beronius, P. 223 Bianchini, G. 156 Biedermann, G. 17 biopolymers 5 bipyridyl 160 Bjerrum, J. 1, 5, 26, 110, 188, 207, 270, 295, 300 Bjerrum, N. 4, 26, 45 Bodländer, G. 2, 17, 184 Borák, J. 114 borate concentrations 70 Born, M. 299 Born-Haber cyclic processes 312 Bouguert-Lambert-Beer equation 109, 223 bridging ligand 10 Brønsted theory 15, 35 Brookes, G. 308, 356 Brown, P. L. 346 Brücher, E. 201 Budesinsky, B. W. 119 Budevsky, O. 169

Bugaevsky, A. A. 271 Bukietynska, K. 225 Burger, K. 22, 282 Burlamacchi, L. 152 Butler, J. N. 62 Bye, J. 270

Cabbiness, D. K. 315 cadmium chloride 15 calorimetry 106, 153 Cannon, R. D. 349 carbethoxymethyltriethylammonium iodide 162 Carleson, B. G. F. 352 Chatt, J. 352 chelate effect 8, 309 ring 8 Cheney, G. E. 360 chromium(II)diammine 18 chromium(III)-thiocyanate 4 Cilento, G. 123 citrate-proton system 72 Clarke, C. R. 163 cobalt(II) perchlorate 7 Coleman, J. S. 260, 261 colligative properties 107 COMICS program 268 Commission on Equilibrium Data 280 competition methods 136 complex equilibria 7 composition matrix 27 composition of complexes 244 computational revolution XI computer evaluation of equilibrium data 263 concentration distribution rules 61 conjugate acids 9 continuous variation method 112 coordination chemistry 1 number 7 copper(II) amine 5 correction term methods 53 Corrie, A. M. 251 Coryell, L. D. 190 counter ions 7 Cox, B. G. 291

Critical Evaluation of Equilibrium Constants 334 Critical Stability Constants 334 Cumme, G. A. 268 Cumming, G. L. 265, 275 curve fitting methods 53 cyclic polyethers (crown ethers) 215 cyclohexyl-15-crown-5 215 Dahlquist, K. I. 153 Daniele, P. G. 212, 338 Das, A. R. 133 data bank 334 Datta, S. P. 16 Davies, C. W. 16, 223 Davies, N. R. 352 Dawson, H. M. 167 De Brabander, H. F. 252 Debye, P. 16 Debye-Hückel theory 4, 108 definitions 27 DeFord, D. D. 221 Dellien, I. 218, 323 Delwaulle, M. L. 225 Denison, R. B. 112 dialkylphosphoric acid 177 2,5-diaminopentanoic acid 307 2,7-diaminosuberic acid 306 diethylbiguanidine 57 diethylenetriamine 90 diethylenetriamine-N,N,N'N'N"-pentaacetic acid 350 2,3-dihydroxybenzoic acid 125 3,4-dihydroxy-2-methylbutanoate 323 L-B-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)alanine, DOPA 246, 247 dimerization 36 dimethylformamide 78, 85 dimethylglyoximate 145 dimethylglyoxime 57 dinonylnaphthalenesulphonic acid 173 dipicolinic acid 350 disproportionation 51 reactions 33 dithionite 152 dl-tartaric acid 248

Donnan equilibrium 22, 190 Drew, H. D. K. 8 Dubey, K. P. 218 Duke, F. R. 164 Dunsmore, H. S. 214, 257 Dyrssen, D. 55, 145, 175 Edwards, J. O. 331 effective activity coefficient 19 effective stability constant 19 Eigen, M. 159 Eigen-Fuoss equation 331 Eisenman, G. 214 Elding, L. I. 131 electrolyte solutions 2 electron pairs 7 Eliezer, I. 108 Ellis, J. 346 EMF 2 of concentration cell 3 EQUIL program 268 equilibrium constant 7 -correlation 354 Eriksson, L. 222 ESR spectra 106, 142 ethyl acetate 162 ethylenediamine 8, 42, 265, 309 ethylenediaminetetraacetate 42, 198 ethylenediamine-N,N'- tetraacetic acid 350 experimental methods 106 extraction methods 166

Fábián, I. 208 Falk, L. C. 367 Faraglia, G. 301 Farkas, E. 343 Farrel, J. L. 323 fast exchange 147 Fernando, Q. 360 Fischer, E. B. 327 Fleischer, B. B. 327 Flurry, R. L. 151 formation constant 28, 273 function 26 Fouche, K. F. 179 Freiser, H. 360 French, C. L. 119 Frensdorff, H. K. 215 Fronaeus, S. 190 Fuentes, R. 142

Gaizer, F. 78, 129, 274 Galembeck, F. 368 gas-phase 26 Gauss-Newton method 273 Gebert, E. 296 Gergely, A. 155, 198, 203, 279, 281, 336, 343, 355 Gibbs energy 23 Gilkerson, W. R. 300 Gimesi, I. 164 Ginzburg, G. 268 glass electrode 5 L-glutamic acid 149 glutathione 368 glycine 8 methyl ester 281 glycylglycine 279 glycylglycylhistidine 258, 328 Gorton, J. E. 246 Gran functions 195 graphical analyses 130 graphical curve-fitting 248 Grinberg, A. A. 352 Groning, A.-B. 131 Grzybowski, A. K. 16 Guastalla, G. 23 Guggenheim, E. A. 16 Güntelberg, E. 16

Haight, G. P. Jr. 186 Haim, A. 368 Halloff, E. 188 Halpern, J. 164 HALTAFALL program 268 Hambright, P. 327 Hammett σ value 345 Hammett acidity function 125 Hancock, R. 312 Hansen, E. H. 216 hard-soft acids and bases 352

Harju, L. 254 Harvey, A. E. 119 Hawland, D. L. 151 Hay, R. W. 163 Hedström, B. 263, 270 Hedström, H. 188 Hefter, G. 346 Henry, P. M. 108 hexamethylenediaminetetraacetate 201 5,7,7,12,14,14-hexamethyl-1,4,8,11-tetraazacyclotetradecane 315 Heyrovsky, J. 4 Heyrovsky-Ilkovič equation 220 Higginson, W. C. E. 164 histidine 151 histidylglycine 259 Hittorf, J. H. 2 Homoki, E. 343 Hückel, E. 16 Hudis, J. 163 Hugus, Z. Z. 274 Hume, D. N. 119, 129, 221 Hutchinson, M. H. 164 hydration numbers 294 hydrazine 167 hydrogen bond formation 22 8-hydroxyquinoline 140, 357 Ilcheva, L. 365 Inczédy, J. 189 inert complexes 1

Ingraham, L. L. 312 inner sphere complex 345 inorganic chemistry 1 instability constants 12 ion-exchange equilibria 188 ion-selective electrodes 106, 213 ionic medium 335 ionic radius effect 346 ionic strength 335 IR spectra 142 iron(III)-thiocyanate 5 Irving, H. M. N. H. 136, 195, 198, 202 Irving-Williams series 348

Ishiguro, S-I 296, 298 isomerism 1 isomerization constant 22 isosbestic point 261 **IUPAC** Commission on Equilibrium Data 12, 334 Jameson, R. F. 246 Jaques, A. 3, 5 Jensen, J. B. 108 Job's method 110, 133 Johansson, L. 120, 186, 187, 365 Johansson, S. 155 Jones, D. E. H. 142 Jørgensen, C. K. 295, 296, 300, 364 Kaden, T. 89 Kakolowicz, W. 155 Karadakov, B. P. 135 Katzin, L. I. 296 Kenttamaa, J. 107, 108 Kingerly, W. D. 119 Kiss, T. 281, 282, 329, 356 Klausen, K. S. 114, 259 Klotz, P. 217, 368 Kodama, M. 161 Kojima, I. 179 Koskinen, M. 335 Koul, M. K. 218 Kraus, K. A. 190 Kruck, T. P. A. 270 Kulprathipanja, S. 323

lactic acid 144 Langmyhr, F. J. 114, 259 Larsson, E. 357 Larsson, R. 352 law of mass action 2, 25 LEAST NR program 269 LEAST program 275 Leden, I. 5, 186, 190 Lefebrve, J. 270 Leggett, D. 263 Lengyel, T. 189 LETAGROP 264, 275 Letter, J. E. 355

Leussing, D. L. 331 Lewis-Randall principle 15 Lieser, K. H. Z. 186 ligand 7 Likussar, W. 114 Liljenzin, J. O. 175 Linck, R. G. 367 Linder, P. W. 268 Lingane, J. J. 220 Lingane, P. J. 274 Lister, M. W. 165 macroconstants 22 macrocyclic effect 309 Maggiore, R. 268 Makar, G. K. R. 251 Malin, J. M. 368 Manning, D. L. 119 Marcus, Y. 19, 119, 189, 190 Margerum, D. W. 314, 315 Marks, O. W. 108 Marshall, W. L. 299, 300 Marsicano, F. 312 Martell, A. E. 312, 334 Martin, R. B. 328 Martin, R. P. 270 mass balance 25 Matheson, R. A. 300 matrix transformations 380 May, P. M. 268 McBain, J. W. 4 McBryde, W. A. E. 198, 203, 216, 266, 302, 363 McCrae, J. 167 McKay, H. A. C. 263, 270 mean activity coefficients 16 3-mercapto-1,2propanediol 253 meso-tartaric acid 248 methylmercury 168 5-methyl-2-phenyl-3Hpyrazol-3-one 171 Meyer, A. S. 121 microconstants 20, 280 Micskei, K. 349 Midgley, D. 214, 257

MINIQUAD program 275 mixed ligand complexes 8 mixed metal complexes 366 Mohan, M. S. 215 molarity scale 11 mole fraction scale 11 Molina, M. 219 Møller, M. 5 Momoki, K. 114 monoiodochromium(III) 24 mononuclear binary complex 8 mononuclear complexes IX Morgan, T. 8 Mössbauer spectroscopy 78 Mui, K. K. 302 multicentre complexes 9 multicomponent systems 41 multidentate complexes 8 Myers, R. T. 312 Nagypál, I. 78, 89, 171, 198, 203, 208, 270,

275, 279 Nair, V. S. K. 133, 187 Nakagawa, G. 216 Nakahara, A. 314 Nakamura, T. 216 Nancollas, G. H. 269 Naumann, C. F. 330 Nelson, F. 190 Newman, L. 368 Newton-Raphson method 268 Nieboer, E. 302, 363 nitrilotriacetic acid 198 nitromethane 85 5-nitrosalicylic acid 133 1-nitroso-2-naphthol 57 NMR method 140 spectra 106, 142 nomograms 62 Norby, I. G. 139 Noszál, B. 22, 282

Ohtaki, H. 296 Ohyoshi, E. 323 one-component systems 34

Országh, I. 110, 368 ortho-ethylthiobenzoic acid 57 orthogonal regression 275 ortho-phosphorylethanol-amine 271 ortho-phosphorylserylglutamic acid 255 Ostacoli, G. 212 Österberg, R. 219, 255, 270, 271 Ostromisslensky, J. 112 Ostwald, W. 2 outer sphere complexes 10, 345, 364

Palaty, V. 214 Parcher, F. Z. 164 parent complexes 8 Paris, M. R. 224 partial mole fraction 46 Pearson, R. G. 352 penicillamine 367 Pereira, M. S. 368 Perrin, D. D. 78 Persson, H. 249 Peshevitskii, B. I. 123 Peters, E. 164 Petit-Ramel, M. M. 224 Pettersson, L. 275 Pettit, B. M. 379 Pettit, L. D. 308, 356 pH-metric procedure 26 1,10-phenanthroline 57, 160 picolinamide 222 plotting modes 384 polarography 220 polyions 253 polymerization 39 polynuclear and outer sphere complexes IX polynuclear complexes 9 Popel, A. A. 152 Porzsolt, E. 368 potentiometrically corresponding solutions 123 potentiometry 106, 192 Powell, J. E. 323 pressure effect 344

programs 26 projection strip methods 53 protonation constant 13 Prue, J. E. 293 PSEQUAD program 269, 275 pyridine 145, 167

Quist, A. S. 299

Rabenstein, D. L. 87, 148 Rafaeloff, K. 179 Ramanathan, P. S. 113 Raman spectra 106, 113, 142 Rao, I. R. 225 ratios of constants 326 Raymond, K. N. 171, 270 Rechnitz, G. A. 214, 215 Reeder, R. R. 144 Regnault-Pfaundler method 156 Reinhardt, H. 166 Rieger, P. H. 144 Rigano, C. 338 Ringbom, A. 222, 254 Rosseinsky, D. R. 313 Rossotti, F. J. C. 107, 202, 264, 301 Rossotti, H. S. 107, 264, 301, 362 Ruzicka, J. 216 Ryan, J. L. 20 Rydberg, J. 166, 175

Sabatini, A. 267, 269 Sakurai, T. 330 Sammartano, S. 338 Sanioto, D. L. 123 Sano, K. 186 Sarkar, B. 270 Sayce method 268 Scatchard, G. 16 Schaarschmidt, K. 108 Schainblatt, M. 161 Schiff bases 315 Schippert, E. 85 Schlyter–Sillén calorimeter 155 Schwarzenbach, G. 214, 217, 309

SCOGS program 268, 274, 275 Sen, B. 48 Sengupta, A. K. 188 Sharpe, K. 136 Sherrill, M. S. 162 Sidgwick, N. V. 352 Sigel, H. 320, 328, 330, 360 Sillén, L. G. 17, 55, 59, 252, 264, 270 Sinn, E. 345 Sjöberg, S. 98 Slovák, Z. 114 Smith, R. M. 334 Smith, W. R. 274 sodium perchlorate 17 solubility studies 187 solution-phase 26 solvation 288 solvo complexes 7 Souchay, P. 107, 270 Sóvágó, I. 155 spectrophotometry 106 Spiro, T. 129 stability constants 5, 12, 334 stability constant tables 106 standard activity scale 15 standard state 65 statistical consideration 321 stepwise association 44 stepwise complex formation 4 stepwise stability constants 45 Stevenson, G. R. 153 stoichiometric dilution method 123 stoichiometric number 27 Stone, A. 327 Streitwieser, A. 162 Sveč, J. Z. 119 Swaddle, T. W. 23 Swinarski, A. 296 Sylva, R. N. 346 symmetry 80

synergism 174 Szabadváry, F. 2

Tabak, S. 219 Tamamushi, R. 221 Tanaka, H. 328 Tanaka, M. 329, 331 Tanaka, N. 221 tartaric acid 14 Tarui, T. 107 Taube, H. 165 Tedesco, P. H. 218, 222 temperature effect 341 1,4,8,11-tetraazacyclotetradecane 328 a.B.y. S-tetra(4-Nmethylpyridyl)porphyrin 327 thermodynamic asymmetry 98 thermodynamic equilibrium constants 15 thioglycollic acid 57 thiolactic acid 253 thionyltrifluoroacetone 174 thiosalicylic acid 197 three-component systems 74 threonine 256 Tiezzi, E. 152 Tobias, S. R. 107 N-p-tolyl-p-methylbenzohydoxamic acid 302 Törkő, J. 189 Tóth, B. 282, 329, 356 Touche, M. L. D. 251, 368 triethylenetetramine 309 trimerization 38 trimethylenetetramine 310 two-component systems 35, 41

unidentate ligand 8

Vacca, A. 267, 269, 278 Vadasdi, K. 262, 263, 273 Van Panthaleon van Eck, C. L. 55, 346 Van Pouke, L. K. 252

Van Rysselberghe, P. J. 4 Vannerberg, N. G. 188 Venkova, P. I. 135 Vértes, A. 78

Wadsö, I. 156 Wahl, A. C. 163 Wallace, R. M. 226 Wells, H. L. 366 Werner, A. 1, 364, 366 Westheimer, F. H. 312 Williams, D. R. 251, 268, 368 Yamatera, H. 108, 365 Yatsimirskii, K. B. 164, 295, 360 Yokoyama, A. 328 Yokoyama, H. 108, 365

Zamochnick, S. B. 214 Zangen, M. 179 Zuberbühler, A. 89













Mihály T. Beck is Professor of Physical Chemistry, Kossuth Lajos University (Debrecen, Hungary) since 1968. He is Member of the Hungarian Academy of Sciences, author of more than 200 papers, mainly in the field of chemistry of complex equilibria and kinetics of redox reactions.

István Nagypál is Professor of Physical Chemistry, József Attila University (Szeged, Hungary) since 1987, formerly Associate Professor at the Kossuth Lajos University (Debrecen, Hungary). He received Ph. D., C. Sc. and D. Sc. degrees. He has published more than 60 papers, mainly in the field of coordination chemistry and chemical dynamics.

CHEMISTRY OF COMPLEX EQUILIBRIA

provides a balanced treatment of all problems of complex equilibria starting from theoretical considerations, dealing with traditional and modern evaluation methods, and discussing the chemical meaning of equilibrium constants.

The new features of the second edition are the unified treatment of all types of complex equilibria, detailed study of the distribution of different complex species and application of results of the computational revolution in the evaluation of equilibrium constants.

